
 

 
Published and despatched by democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk on Friday, 20 August 2021.  

 01476 406080 
Karen Bradford, Chief Executive 

www.southkesteven.gov.uk  
 

 

     

 

 

 
 

Thursday, 9 September 2021 at 1.00 pm 
Council Chamber - Council Offices, St. Peter's Hill, 

Grantham. NG31 6PZ 
 

 
Cabinet 
Members: 

 
Councillor Helen Crawford (Chairman) 
Councillor Mrs Judy Smith (Vice-Chairman) 
 
Councillor David Bellamy 
Councillor Harrish Bisnauthsing 
Councillor Phil Dilks 
Councillor Mrs Rosemary Kaberry-Brown 
Councillor Penny Milnes 
Councillor Charmaine Morgan 
Councillor Robert Reid, Cabinet Member for Housing and Property 
Councillor Penny Robins 
Councillor Ian Selby 
Councillor Jacky Smith 
Vacancy 

 
 

Agenda 

1.   Register of attendance, membership and apologies for absence  
   

2.   Disclosure of interests 
Members are asked to disclose any interests in matters for consideration 

at the meeting 

 

   
  

Planning 

Committee 

mailto:democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 

 

 
Planning matters 

To consider applications received for the grant of planning permission – reports prepared by 

the Case Officer. 

The anticipated order of consideration is as shown on the agenda, but this may be subject to 

change, at the discretion of the Chairman of the Committee. 

 
3.   Application S17/2155 

 
 
Proposal: Outline planning permission for 

the erection of a Designer Outlet 
Centre of up to 20,479 sqm 
(GEA) of floorspace comprising 
retail units (A1), restaurants and 
cafes (A3), and storage. 
Additional large goods retail 
(5,574 sqm GEA), garden centre 
(5,521 sqm GEA) and external 
display area for garden centre 
(1,393 sqm), tourist information 
and visitor centre, training 
academy, leisure unit and offices. 
Demolition of existing garden 
centre and sales area and 
existing warehouse. 
Improvements to existing Downtown 
Grantham store elevations. 
Reconfigured car parking and 
provision of new multi-storey car 
park. Increased coach parking. 
Access improvements, drainage 
works, hard and soft landscaping 
and all ancillary works. All 
matters reserved with the 
exception of access. 

Location: Downtown Garden Centre, 
Old Great North Road, 
Great Gonerby, Lincolnshire 

Recommendation: That the application is approved 
conditionally and subject to a S106 
agreement 

 

 

(Pages 3 - 261) 

   
4.   Any other business, which the Chairman, by reason of special 

circumstances, decides is urgent 
 

   



1.1.1  

 

 

Planning Committee 

9 September 2021 

  

   

         
  

 

S17/2155 

Proposal: Outline planning permission for the erection of a Designer Outlet 
Centre of up to 20,479 sqm (GEA) of floorspace comprising retail units 
(A1), restaurants and cafes (A3), and storage. Additional large goods 
retail (5,574 sqm GEA), garden centre (5,521 sqm GEA) and external 
display area for garden centre (1,393 sqm), tourist information and 
visitor centre, training academy, leisure unit and offices. Demolition of 
existing garden centre and sales area and existing warehouse. 
Improvements to existing Downtown Grantham store elevations. 
Reconfigured car parking and provision of new multi-storey car park. 
Increased coach parking. Access improvements, drainage works, hard 
and soft landscaping and all ancillary works. All matters reserved with 
the exception of access. 

Location: Downtown Garden Centre, Old Great North Road, Great Gonerby, 
Lincolnshire 

Applicant: Oldrid & Co. Ltd, 11 Strait Bargate, Boston, Lincolnshire, PE21 6UF 
Agent: Ms Angela Smedley, Fisher German LLP, The Estates Office, Norman 

Court, Ashby De La Zouch, LE65 2UZ 
Application Type: Outline Planning Permission with EIA 
Reason for Referral to 
Committee: 

This application is for a major retail development and includes a S106 
Agreement 

Key Issues: Principle of Development 
Retail Impact and Sequential Test 
Socio Economic Considerations 
Transport and Access 
Landscape and Visual Impact 
Design and Sustainable Building 
Ecology and Biodiversity 
Flood Risk and Drainage 
Ground Conditions  
Air Quality, Dust and Odour 
Noise and Vibration 
Utilities Infrastructure and Waste 
Minerals and Waste 
Lighting 
Historic Environment 
Residential Amenity 
S106 Planning Obligations 

3

Agenda Item 3

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 

Additional Technical 
Documents: 

Planning Statement 
Supplementary Planning Policy Note 
Design and Access Statement and Update Note 
Retail Impact Assessment and Update 
Socio-Economic Impact Assessment and Update 
Transport Review and Update 
Travel Plan 
Flood Risk Assessment 
Statement of Community Involvement and Addendum 
Sustainability Statement and Addendum 
Environmental Statement and Addendum 
Environmental Statement and Addendum Appendices 
Non-Technical Summary of the Environmental Statement  

 

Report Author 

Phil Jordan, Principal Planning Officer 

 
 01476 406074 

  p.jordan@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards: 

Growth Regulatory Peascliffe & Ridgeway 

Reviewed by: Chris Brown, Principal Planning Officer 31 August 2021 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s) 

Recommended for approval subject to the completion of a Section 106 Agreement  

 

 

4

mailto:p.jordan@southkesteven.gov.uk


 

 

S17/2155 - Downtown Garden Centre, Old Great North Road, Great Gonerby 

   

5



 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

This is a complex major application that proposes the creation of a Tier 1 Designer Outlet Centre, 

with an amount of associated retail and leisure focused development including additional car 

parking, on brownfield land at the existing Downtown retail site which is located off the Old Great 

North Road at Great Gonerby. The application is in outline form and because of its scale and 

complexity it is also accompanied by an Environmental Impact Assessment. Members previously 

resolved to approve the application at Planning Committee in February 2019, subject to 

completion of a S106 Agreement. During the interim period, the S106 Agreement has progressed 

to an advanced point and updated information has been submitted to reflect the current policy and 

retail context. This is an updated version of the February 2019 committee report which assesses 

the updated application against the current policy context and other material considerations.  

 

As part of the review of the updated submission, two further rounds of consultation (23 November 

2020 and 12 March 2021) have taken place post the February 2019 Planning Committee. 

Independent reviews of the updated Retail Impact Assessment and Environmental Impact 

Assessment have been carried out by specialist advisors to the Council. In respect of the updated 

Retail Impact Assessment, the advice remains that the updated proposals have satisfied both the 

impact and sequential tests. Likewise, the Council’s advisors are satisfied with the updated 

Environmental Impact Assessment and it is considered that a robust decision can be made on the 

basis of this updated submission.  

 
The applicants propose that the Designer Outlet Centre (DOC) would be a Tier 1 operation that 
would retail upscale brands at the location and there are planning conditions and obligations which 
would be in place to ensure that the DOC is of the intended quality. Because of the specialised 
nature of the development proposal and material planning considerations, the Council, acting in 
respect of its role as the Local Planning Authority, has retained expert advisors to support its 
consideration and determination of this application. 
 
Planning permission was granted in April 2018 for a Tier 1 Designer Outlet Village by Rioja 
Developments on land to the south of Grantham which has recently been implemented. Should 
this application for the Downtown DOC be approved, there is the potential for both schemes to 
come forward, albeit this is considered to be unlikely. However, both the cumulative and net 
impacts and benefits of both schemes need to be considered for various scenarios should 
permission be granted and these are important material considerations in the determination of this 
application.  
 
The key planning considerations are: 
 

• Potential retail impact on vitality and viability of nearby town and city centres 

• Cumulative retail impact with the implemented Rioja Designer Outlet Village 

• Socio-economic considerations 

• Landscape and visual impact 

• Transport and access 

• Environmental considerations 

• Mitigation measures via planning condition or S106 Agreement 
 
The proposed development is considered to be in accordance with the development plan when 
taken as a whole. This is a different conclusion to that previously reached under the old 
development plan when the site was designated as employment land and the loss of employment 

6



 

 

land to a retail use was concluded to be contrary to policy at that time. The proposal would deliver 
significant benefits to the wider area, to Grantham and its economy. In the scenario that only one 
of the designer outlet schemes comes forward (i.e. the Rioja DOV scheme or the Downtown DOC 
scheme), the overall benefits of each of the two schemes are considered to be broadly similar to 
the existing situation i.e. the solus benefits of either the Rioja development or this Downtown 
development would be realised. In order to ensure a robust assessment, the cumulative retail and 
associated impacts of granting permission for this scheme in addition to the implemented Rioja 
DOV have been considered. Following this assessment it is considered that the application should 
be supported. 
 
The application is recommended for approval, subject to conditions and the completion of a 
related S106 Agreement to ensure that the form of development which would be delivered 

matches that which has been assessed. 

 

This report is accompanied by the following appendices: 

 

Appendix A – Independent retail advice from Stantec 

Appendix B – Independent review of Environmental Statement Addendum by Barton Willmore 

Appendix C – Objection from Newark and Sherwood District Council 

Appendix D – Objections from Buckminster Estates, Rioja Developments and their advisors 

Appendix E – S106 obligations CIL Regulation 122 compliance table 

  

7



 

 

1 Introduction 
 

1.1 Members will recall that this application was previously considered at the Planning 

Committee meeting on 5 February 2019. The minutes of the meeting stated that the 

application should be approved for the reasons set out in the Officer Report and subject to: 

 

(i) The application not being called in by the Secretary of State; 

 

(ii) The conditions set out on pages 77 to 92 of the case officer's report (the final 

wording being delegated to the Head of Development Management after 

consultation with the Chairman or the Vice-Chairman of the Development 

Management Committee); 

 

(iii) Completion of a Section 106 Agreement to secure the requirements set out in 

paragraph 9 of the case officer's report (including consideration of the comments 

noted above) within a period not exceeding six months after the date upon which the 

Secretary of State has confirmed that the application will not be called in. In the 

event that the Section 106 Agreement has not been completed within this period and 

the Head of Development Management, after consultation with the Chairman or 

Vice-Chairman of the Development Management Committee, considers that there 

are no extenuating circumstances which would justify an extension (or further 

extension) of time, the Head of Development Management be authorised to refuse 

the application on the basis that the necessary controls, infrastructure or community 

contributions essential to make the development acceptable have not been 

forthcoming. 

 

1.2 Following the meeting, the Secretary of State confirmed that the Council may determine the 

application. Because of the changed development plan context, it is considered that there is 

no further need to refer the application to the Secretary of State should members resolve to 

approve the application. A detailed schedule of planning conditions are recommended and 

are set out at the end of the report. The S106 Agreement has been progressed to an 

advanced point and detail of the planning obligations in that draft agreement is included at 

section 8.38. 

 

1.3 Whilst it is relevant to know that members previously resolved to approve this application, 

members are not bound by that decision. To the contrary this is a decision which members 

must take afresh irrespective of that previous resolution, based upon all of the considerations 

set out below. 

 

1.4 Following the previous resolution of approval, the South Kesteven Local Plan 2011-2036 was 

adopted in January 2020. As a result it was considered that the application should be 

returned to Planning Committee, with the proposal being reconsidered against the policies in 

that development plan. In addition, the applicants have undertaken a further review of the 

application and updated supporting information where appropriate, and further consultation 

has taken place. 

 

1.5 The description of development includes a minor amendment from that previously proposed. 

The proposal previously apportioned 5,251 sqm of B1 office space across B1 offices (2,796 

sqm) and B1 start-up offices (2,455 sqm). The amended proposal seeks to remove this 

8



 

 

apportionment across the total B1 office floorspace of 5,251 sqm with the proposed B1 

offices to be occupied by Oldrids & Downtown and the Downtown Grantham Designer Outlet 

Management Suite. An additional condition (Condition 72) has been recommended to control 

this use which is considered necessary and discussed further in the report.   

 

1.6 Further consultation has taken place on the additional and updated information that has been 

submitted, including the change to the description of development, and the Council has 

sought specialist advice in respect of the updated retail impact assessment work from 

Stantec (Appendix A) and the updated environmental impact assessment work from Barton 

Willmore (Appendix B).  

 

2 Description of Site 
 

2.1 The site is located on brownfield land within an existing and established retail site at Gonerby 

Moor, approximately 3 miles north-west of Grantham and 1.3 miles north of Great Gonerby. 

The site which was considered as part of the Environmental Statement measures 10.26 

hectares. This differs slightly from the planning application site which specifically excludes 

the Downtown Grantham Superstore and measures 9.24 hectares. The application site 

comprises the area of land around the existing Downtown Grantham retail superstore as well 

as the adjacent garden centre and distribution warehouse, associated hardstanding and 

parking areas. 

 

2.2 Part of the site was previously designated as employment land in the superseded 

development plan, however the site has now been removed from the Gonerby Moor 

Employment designation (Policy E4: Protection of Existing Employment Sites) and is now not 

designated for any use. The adjacent land, south-west of the Great North Road (B1174), 

west of the railway line and east of the A1 remains designated employment land under policy 

EMP-R3 in the Local Plan. That land is occupied by various companies including a 

Travelodge and petrol filling station, some warehousing as well as some vacant land, part of 

which is subject to a current application for a McDonald’s drive through restaurant. The Moto 

Services site was also recently granted permission for the expansion of the existing HGV 

parking to form an additional 40 spaces under S20/1485. There are also three residential 

properties within close proximity of the site. 

 

2.3 Planning permission was granted in September 2017 for the erection of two units for the 

manufacturing of pre-cast concrete and pre-fabricated products and associated offices 

(Ref:S17/0158) on the allocated employment land located to the east of the application site 

adjacent to the B1174 Great North Road. The permission was not implemented and has 

since lapsed. 

 

2.4 To the south-east lies a small component plastic manufacturer, a door supplier and 

manufacturer, and a furniture store. To the south lies Brakes PLC, with Northgate Vehicle 

Hire and Treasure Transport beyond. To the east of the site on Occupation Lane is 

Tegometall and Lincolnshire County Council’s waste Transfer site, beyond which there is a 

railway line, approximately 200 metres from the site boundary. 

 

2.5 There are multiple points of access to the site including: 
 

a) Occupation Lane, via the B1174 Great North Road/Newark Hill; 

9



 

 

b) Access slip road from the A1 South slip road via Gonerby Moor roundabout; 

c) Separate access is provided to the site via the B1174 with links to the Moto Service 

Station and Travelodge hotel; and 

d) Service access for the garden centre is taken from Palmer Road. 

 

2.6 There are a number of public footpaths and a bridleway in close proximity to the site. Great 

Gonerby Public Footpath No.2 runs parallel to the site’s southern boundary adjacent to 

Palmer Road. There is also a Public Bridleway which runs along the western side of the A1. 

 

3 Description of Proposal 
 

3.1 The application is a major outline planning application accompanied by an Environmental 

Impact Assessment for the development of a Tier 1 Designer Outlet Centre (DOC), large 

goods retail unit, replacement garden centre, tourist information centre, training academy, 

leisure unit, offices, multi storey car park and associated development on the existing 

Downtown site at Occupation Lane, Gonerby Moor, Grantham.  

 

3.2 The proposed development includes the following elements: 

 

3.2.1 Retention and Demolition 

• The existing Downtown Grantham / Boundary Mill retail store and café, totalling 
18,580sqm will remain and its floorspace is excluded from the application site. 
Improvements to the south, south-eastern and south-western elevations are however 
proposed as part of the application. The application redline site boundary is set-back 
into the fabric of the building allowing for the proposed upgrades to be included within 
this application. 

• The existing distribution warehouse and garden centre will be demolished. (The garden 
centre will be replaced with a small unit as detailed below) 

 

3.2.2 Designer Outlet Centre (discounted goods) 

• The erection of a Designer Outlet Centre comprising of up to 20,479 square metres of 
gross external area (GEA) / 17,704 square metres gross internal area (GIA) of 
floorspace across 107 units comprising: 

− 15,305sqm (GIA) of retail floorspace 

− 1,252sqm (GIA) of Café/restaurant floorspace 

− 1,147sqm (GIA) of storage 
 

3.2.3 Large Goods Retail (full price goods) 

• A new large goods ‘Downtown@Home’ flagship store comprising: 

− 5,574sqm (GEA) over two storeys 
 

3.2.4 Garden Centre (full price goods) 

• The existing garden centre will be demolished and replaced with a new, smaller, 
garden centre consisting of: 

− 5,521sqm floorspace over two storeys 

− 1,393sqm outdoor display area 
 

3.2.5 Tourist Information and Visitor Centre 

10



 

 

• A Tourist Information and Visitor Centre will provide information to visitors to the site 
and encourage them to visit Grantham and surrounding attractions: 

− 62sqm floorspace 

 
3.2.6 Training Academy 

• A training academy facility will be provided to help deliver learning and development 
programmes in association with local educational establishments and businesses. The 
developer is working with Grantham College to assist in the delivery of skills training at 
the proposed venue. The unit will comprise: 

− 439sqm floorspace 

− Alternatively, a financial contribution of £65,000 will be made towards a training 
scheme to be delivered in association with Grantham College. 

 

3.2.7 Leisure 

• An indoor leisure unit to complement the retail offer on-site providing visitors the 
opportunity to combine shopping and leisure in a single destination. 

• 2,096sqm floorspace 
 

3.2.8 Office space 

• 5,251 sqm with the proposed  offices to be occupied by Oldrids & Downtown and the 
Downtown Grantham Designer Outlet Management Suite.  

 

3.2.9 Access 

• The proposed development will use the existing vehicular access points to the site. 
However, the access strategy for the proposed development includes: 

− The realignment of the existing eastern access off Occupation Lane, so that priority 
is given to vehicles entering/exiting the site with the southern Occupation Lane arm 
giving-way. 

− Access will also be available from the northern entrance, which takes the form of a 
roundabout junction. This provides access to the site from the A1 southbound on-
slip and Allington Lane East. 

− The main access point for deliveries to the proposed garden centre and retail units 
will be via the existing service road off Palmer Road located to the south of the site. 

− The service yards for the retail units towards the north of the site will be accessed 
via the roundabout to the north of the site. 

 

3.2.10 Parking 

• The proposed masterplan indicates a total of 1,979 parking spaces on site comprising: 

− 959 surface car parking spaces 

− 1,020 multi –storey car parking spaces (provided across four levels). 

− 11 coach parking spaces 

− Cycle spaces 

− New bus stop to facilitate an enhanced bus service 

− Electric vehicle charging spaces will also be provided 
 

3.3 The proposed development remains unchanged in respect of overall floorspace proposed 

from that originally submitted. However, the description of development includes a minor 

11



 

 

amendment, removing the apportionment of office space between offices and start-up 

offices. The overall amount of office floorspace sought remains as previously proposed and 

is also located as previously planned. This change would allow Oldrids and Downtown to 

consolidate and expand their office space from across a number of sites as well as providing 

ancillary office space for those retailers and businesses occupying and with a functional link 

the site. The applicant has stated that this would bring the ability to work more efficiently and 

cost-effectively which is critical to the operation and success of the Downtown business. The 

office space would also host the Downtown Grantham Designer Outlet Management Suite. 

 

3.4 All matters are reserved for subsequent approval apart from access, however, parameter 

plans have been submitted showing the indicative scale and heights for the proposed 

buildings. Building heights will vary across the site up to a maximum of 20 metres. 

 

3.5 On a day-to-day basis the proposed Designer Outlet Centre would trade as per the following: 

Monday 9.30am – 7pm 

Tuesday 9.30am – 7pm 

Wednesday 9.30am – 7pm 

Thursday 9.30am – 9pm 

Friday 9.30am – 7pm 

Saturday 9.30am – 6pm 

Sunday 10.00am – 4pm 

 
3.6 It is also proposed that the retail units would be able to trade until 10pm on up to 12 

occasions in a calendar year. This would normally be in association with seasonal activities 

(such as Christmas and Halloween etc.) 

 

3.7 The applicants have indicated that the proposed Designer Outlet Centre (DOC) would be 

provided by a partnership between Oldrids and Freeport Retail. The term DOC refers to a 

managed, purpose-built shopping centre development where a range of quality brands 

operate selling products and merchandise at discounts to regular prices. Often this may 

incorporate excess stock, discontinued lines, end-of-season products and imperfect / factory 

seconds. The applicants are proposing to develop a Tier 1 DOC, and the application has 

been assessed on this basis. The imposition of appropriate conditions (as set out in section 

11 of this report) and S106 obligations are therefore necessary to ensure the scheme would 

operate as a Tier 1 DOC. The development is therefore likely to attract visitors from beyond 

Grantham and its immediate hinterland. 

 

3.8 The DOC would sit alongside the existing Downtown Store, replacement garden centre and 

the proposed large goods retail unit which will sell goods at full prices. Whilst the existing 

Downtown store includes the sale of discounted goods within the Boundary Mills section of 

the store the only restriction on the use of that building for retail purposes is that it can only 

be used for the sale of non-food products. The S106 agreement recommended for this 

development includes controls upon the existing Downtown building that would prevent the 

existing bulky goods space being replaced with other non-fashion retail space and would 

also prevent the sub-division of the existing building to smaller retail units. Further, the ‘no 

poaching’ clause relating to existing town centre retailers in Grantham, Newark and 

12



 

 

Balderton town centres extends to the existing Downtown building, which is considered to be 

a significant betterment on the degree of control of the existing situation.  

 

3.9 Some of the plans and supporting information submitted with the application refer to an 

aspirational ‘Northern Gateway’ to Grantham which include a potential Downtown Grantham 

Railway Station and a Park & Ride area. However, it is important to note that these 

aspirations do not form part of the development being considered under this application and 

should not be afforded any weight in the determination of the application. 

 

13



 

 

4 Relevant History 

Reference Proposal Decision Date 

S17/1626 
EIA Scoping Opinion for a Designer Outlet 
Centre Opinion Issued  28/09/2017 

S16/1909 Siting of Ice Rink and chillers 
Approved 
Conditionally  07/10/2016 

S15/1498 
Use of land for car washing and erection 
of canopy and portable building 

Approved 
Conditionally  04/09/2015 

S15/0064 
Demolition of brick building with display 
conservatories attached 

Details Not 
Required  05/02/2015 

S13/1722 
Erection of 4 internally illuminated fascia 
signs 

Approved 
Conditionally  05/09/2013 

S13/1043 

Non-material amendments to S13/0196 
(Amendments to steel and wall cladding 
details and removal of old plant screen on 
the roof) Approved  17/05/2013 

S13/0241 

New signs to proposed new cladding on 
walls stating name of stores and erection 
of flag 

Approved 
Conditionally  18/03/2013 

S13/0196 

Re-building of entrances and re-cladding 
roof and walls including cladding parapet 
wall 

Approved 
Conditionally  14/03/2013 

S12/3026 New car wash Answered  01/08/2012 

S11/0678 
External alterations to allow sub-division 
into two units 

Approved 
Conditionally  02/06/2011 

S09/1871 

Formation of farm shop/ coffee tearoom 
and erection of orangery and formation of 
doorway 

Approved 
Conditionally  01/06/2010 

S09/1870 

Variation of Condition 2 of Planning 
Permission S99/0560 to allow storage and 
sales of caravans, motor homes and 
associated products 

Approved 
Conditionally  05/01/2010 

S09/1434 
Proposed extension to existing garden 
centre Answered  15/10/2009 

S07/1187 
Variation of condition 2 (sale of garden 
related products only) on p/p S99/0560 Refused  15/10/2007 

S02/1682 Conservatory display area 
Approved 
Conditionally  12/02/2003 

S01/0866 
Change of use of part of 1st floor  coffee  
shop  to  travel consultancy bureau 

Approved 
Conditionally  20/08/2001 

S01/0542 
Extension of open display area to garden 
centre Approved  18/06/2001 

S01/0212 Extension to garden centre building 
Approved 
Conditionally  02/04/2001 

S01/0026 Extension to existing garden centre 
Approved 
Conditionally  13/02/2001 

S00/0833 Fascia sign advertisements Approved  26/09/2000 

S00/0832 Customer entrance/exit building 
Approved 
Conditionally  26/09/2000 

S00/0101 Creation of car park and access 
Approved 
Conditionally  21/09/2000 

S00/0488 
Alterations to form exit to garden centre 
building 

Approved 
Conditionally  12/06/2000 

S99/0560 Erection of garden centre 
Approved 
Conditionally  28/07/1999 

SK.98/0190 Garden Centre 
Approved 
Conditionally  26/10/1998 

14



 

 

SK.97/1192 
Alterations to south elevation of retail 
premises 

Approved 
Conditionally  27/01/1998 

SK.97/1193 Erection of warehouse 
Approved 
Conditionally  27/01/1998 

SK.97/0708 Industrial development (warehousing) 
Approved 
Conditionally  16/09/1997 

SK.97/0197 Illuminated site signs Approved  22/04/1997 

SK.95/798(18890) 
Change of use of land to car/coach 
parking 

Approved 
Conditionally  24/10/1995 

SK.95/982(18884) Replacement signage 
Approved 
Conditionally  24/10/1995 

SK.95/797(18888) New entrance canopies to shop (x2) 
Approved 
Conditionally  03/10/1995 

SK.95/816(18883) Additional signage to retail unit Refused  03/10/1995 

SK.94/1364 

Change of use of part of 1st floor 
stockroom to retail and additional new 
store entrance 

Approved 
Conditionally  24/01/1995 

SK.94/0349 Fascia sign advertisements Approved  10/05/1994 

SK.94/349(18886) Fascia sign advertisements 
Approved 
Conditionally  10/05/1994 

SK.93/1201 Advertisements (fascia signs) Approved  04/01/1994 

SK.93/1201(18887) Fascia sign advertisements 
Approved 
Conditionally  04/01/1994 

SK.93/1149 
Site access road, drainage system and 
lagoons for surface water 

Approved 
Conditionally  04/01/1994 

SK.93/1149(18875) 
Site access road, drainage system and 
lagoons for surface water 

Approved 
Conditionally  04/01/1994 

SK.93/0829 Non illuminated advertisements Refused  05/10/1993 
SK.93/829(18885) Non illuminated advertisements Refused  05/10/1993 

SK.92/0619 

Amendment to condition 2 from previous 
approval (37/1076/91 - Trading hours for 
Sunday Market) 

Approved 
Conditionally  04/08/1992 

SK.619/92(18882) Amendment to condition (Sunday Market) 
Approved 
Conditionally  04/08/1992 

SK.1076/91(18669) 
Change of use of superstore rear car park 
to Sunday Market 

Approved 
Conditionally  10/12/1991 

SK.947/90(18671) 
Access, estate road, infrastructure and 
landscaping for industrial warehouse park 

Approved 
Conditionally  06/11/1990 

SK.916/90(18670) 

Change of use of part of furniture retail 
area to Café, Downtown Furniture 
Superstore 

Approved 
Conditionally  07/08/1990 

SK.515/90(18442) Advertisement 
Approved 
Conditionally  26/06/1990 

SK.480/89(18443) 
Non illuminated  flat surface mounted 
signs 

Approved 
Conditionally  06/06/1989 

SK.2181/88(18673) Industrial and warehousing development 
Approved 
Conditionally  27/02/1989 

SK.2266/88(18441) 
Externally illuminated fascia and non-
illuminated sign Refused  14/02/1989 

SK.1380/87(18444) Erection of furniture retail warehouse 
Approved 
Conditionally  27/05/1988 

 

5 Policy Considerations 
 

5.1 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that proposals 

are determined in accordance with the development plan unless material considerations 

indicate otherwise. The Development Plan comprises the South Kesteven Local Plan 2011-

15



 

 

2036 and Lincolnshire Minerals and Waste Core Strategy 2016. Other important material 

considerations to be taken into account include the National Planning Policy Framework 

(NPPF July 2021) and associated Planning Policy Guidance. 

 

5.2 The key Local Plan policies relating to this site are: 

• SD1: The Principles of Sustainable Development in South Kesteven 

• SP1: Spatial Strategy 

• SP2: Settlement Hierarchy 

• E4: Protection of Existing Employment Sites 

• E5: Expansion of Existing Businesses 

• E6: Loss of Employment Land and Buildings to Non Employment Uses 

• E9: Visitor Economy 

• EN1: Landscape Character 

• EN2: Protecting Biodiversity and Geodiversity 

• EN4: Pollution Control 

• EN5: Water Environment and Flood Risk Management 

• EN6: The Historic Environment  

• DE1: Promoting Good Quality Design 

• GR2: Sustainable Transport in Grantham 

• GR4: Grantham: Town Centre Policy 

• SB1: Sustainable Building 

• ID1: Infrastructure for Growth 

• ID2: Transport and Strategic Transport Infrastructure 

• ID3: Broadband and Communications Infrastructure 
 

5.3 Relevant Policies from the Lincolnshire Minerals and Waste Local Plan include: 

• MW8 - Safeguarding Waste Management Sites 

• SL3 – Waste Site and Area Allocations 
 

5.4 Relevant parts of the National Planning Policy Framework (2019) include: 

• Section 2 – Achieving sustainable development 

• Section 4 – Decision-making 

• Section 6 - Building a strong, competitive economy 

• Section 7 - Ensuring the vitality of town centres 

• Section 9 - Promoting sustainable transport 

• Section 11- Making effective use of land 

• Section 12 – Achieving well-designed places 

• Section 14 - Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change 

• Section 15 - Enhancing the natural environment 

• Section 16 – Conserving and enhancing the historic environment 

• Section 17 - Facilitating the sustainable use of minerals 
 

5.5 The South Kesteven Planning Obligations Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 

provides a framework for the consideration of potential planning obligations. 

 

6 Representations Received 
 

6.1 Several rounds of consultation have taken place on the application, as well as additional and 

amended information that has been submitted, in accordance with the Council’s Statement of 

Community Involvement and relevant legislation. Most recently and following the previous 

16



 

 

resolution to grant planning permission and submission of updated and additional 

information, two full rounds of consultation were undertaken on 23 November 2020 and 12 

March 2021. The responses below summarise the substantive response from each consultee 

from the earlier rounds of consultation, as well as any updates received following the most 

recent rounds of consultation. All representations from consultees that have been received 

are available to members either electronically or in hard copy upon request. 

 

6.2 Lincolnshire County Council (as Highway Authority and Lead Local Flood Authority) 

6.2.1 The local highway authority has raised no objections to the proposed development but has 

requested that the developer enter into a planning obligation to secure improvements to the 

existing Bus Services between the site and Grantham town centre. 

 

6.2.2 The highway authority have also requested that a planning condition is also attached to any 

consent to secure the junction improvements at Belton Lane and Newark Hill. 

 

6.2.3 The highway authority has also reviewed the objections made by Rioja and confirm that 

they have no objections to the proposal. Rioja raised concerns with the level of parking 

proposed, however, the highway authority are of the view that the level of parking is 

appropriate for the mix of uses proposed and that there can be cross use of spaces (e.g. 

retail customers will park in office spaces at the weekends). 
 

6.2.4 Have confirmed that the baseline traffic data from 2017 is acceptable. 

 

6.3 Highways England  

6.3.1 Highways England has no objections to the amended proposals subject to conditions being 

attached to any planning permission that may be granted. 

 

6.3.2  In relation to the Transport Review and Update, advise that the traffic data collected in 

2017 does not need to be revised. They noted that there has been a period of more than 

three years since the data was collected, however, the approach taken is still likely to 

provide a robust assessment due to the long-term impact of the Coronavirus pandemic. 

 

6.4 Environment Agency  

6.4.1 No objections to the proposed development. 

 

6.5 Anglian Water Services  

6.5.1 Anglian Water advised that the development would lead to an unacceptable risk of flooding 

downstream without suitable mitigation measures in place. A drainage strategy will need to 

be prepared in consultation with Anglian Water to determine mitigation measures. Anglian 

Water has therefore requested a condition requiring the drainage strategy covering the 

issues to be agreed. 

 

6.5.2 The surface water strategy/flood risk assessment submitted with the planning application 

relevant to Anglian Water is unacceptable. Anglian Water therefore recommend that the 

applicant needs to consult with them and the Environment Agency. They have however 

indicated that these issues can be suitably controlled by way of conditions being imposed 

on any grant of planning permission. 

 

6.6 Upper Witham Internal Drainage Board 

17



 

 

6.6.1 The Board has no objection to the proposed development provided it is constructed in 

accordance with the principles of the Drainage Strategy. 

 

6.6.2 They advised that no development should be commenced until the Local Planning 

Authority, in consultation with the Lead Local Flood Authority has approved a scheme for 

the provision, implementation and future maintenance of a surface water drainage system. 

 

6.7 Welland & Deeping Internal Drainage Board 

6.7.1 Advised that site falls outside of both the Board's area and extended area. 

 

6.8 Natural England  

6.8.1 Based on the plans submitted, Natural England considers that the proposed development 

will not have significant adverse impacts on designated sites and has no objection. 

 

6.8.2 Natural England's advice on other natural environment issues is set out below: 

 

6.8.3 Allington Meadows SSSI Site of Special Scientific Interest 

 

6.8.4 Based on the plans submitted, Natural England considers that the proposed development 

will not damage or destroy the interest features for which the site has been notified and has 

no objection for the following reasons: 

− The Construction Environment Management Plan (CEMP) proposed in the 
Environment Statement (P129) will prevent adverse effects relating to 
contamination of the water environment during the construction phase. 

− The run-off from the Sustainable Drainage System (SuDS) will be discharged into a 
beck as shown in Appendix 3 of the Sustainable Drainage Statement (which is 
appendix 10.2 of the Environmental Statement). This beck is not part of the 
catchment for Allington Meadows and so the SSSI will not be impacted by changes 
to water volume. 

 

6.9 Historic England  

6.9.1 Did not wish to offer any comments on the application. Suggested seeking views of 

specialist conservation and archaeological advisors. 

 

6.10 Heritage Trust of Lincolnshire 

6.10.1 Advise that there is a low potential for archaeological remains to be encountered during the 

development. Archaeological investigation work is not required. 

 

6.11 Historic Buildings Advisor (SKDC) 

6.11.1 As part of the environmental statement a study area of 5km of the site has been adopted. 

Belvoir Castle (Grade I) and its registered park and gardens lie beyond this distance, but 

are the only heritage assets beyond this threshold which would be affected by the proposed 

development.. This is due to having a significance which is partly contributed to by the 

landscape setting of the Belvoir Vale, with views from the site towards the Castle and 

gardens and vice versa being particularly important. 

 

6.11.2 On the whole the Council’s Historic Building Advisor is in agreement with the assessment 

submitted for the heritage effects table, with all of the designated heritage assets having a 

neutral effect rating. Where there are effects, these relate to views mainly from the 

designated heritage asset towards the site, where it forms part of the Belvoir Vale, e.g. 

18



 

 

views from Allington Conservation Area or views from Barrowby Conservation Area. They 

advised that the views form part of a much wider setting and the development blends in 

with the existing development along this part of the A1 triangle. In relation to the setting of 

Belvoir Castle, the Historic Buildings Advisor recommended that Melton Borough Council 

should be consulted. Melton Borough Council has been consulted and have made no 

objections to the proposed development. 

 

6.12 Crime Prevention Design Advisor 

6.12.1 Lincolnshire Police do not have any objections to this development but make general 

recommendations in relation to the safety and security of this development which applies to 

all or any phases subject to amendments or variations. 

 

6.13 Environmental Protection Services (SKDC) 

6.13.1 Environmental Protection has reviewed the documents in respect of the application and has 

no further comments to make. 

 

6.14 Cadent Gas Limited  

6.14.1 The apparatus that has been identified as being in the vicinity of the proposed development 

is: 

− Low or Medium pressure (below 2 bar) gas pipes and associated equipment. (As a 
result it is highly likely that there are gas services and associated apparatus in the 
vicinity) 

− Above ground gas sites and equipment 
 

6.14.2 No objections have been raised to the development. 

 

6.15 Western Power Distribution  

6.15.1 Western Power Distribution have rights to retain electricity cables over this land and their 

easement prevents the building or altering of ground levels. Any alterations would therefore 

require an application to Western Power Distribution. 

 

6.16 Lincolnshire County Council - Footpaths Officers 

6.16.1 The proposed development layout affects Great Gonerby Public Footpath No. 2. 

 

6.16.2 In the absence of any further information, it is expected that the definitive line and 

customary width of the path will not be affected by any proposed development. 

 

6.16.3 During any works allowed by this proposal, users of the Public Right of Way should not be 

inconvenienced or exposed to hazards by any such works. 

 

6.17 Minerals And Waste Planning (LCC) 

6.17.1 The proposed development is located in close proximity to an existing waste site (Grantham 

Waste Transfer Station – south of Occupation Lane) which is safeguarded by Policy W8 

(Safeguarding Waste Management Sites) of the Lincolnshire Minerals and Waste Local 

Plan: Core Strategy and Development Management Policies, adopted June 2016. 

 

6.17.2 This safeguarded waste site also sits within a larger area of land allocated as a waste site 

in Policy SL3 of the Lincolnshire Minerals and Waste Local Plan: Site Locations document, 

adopted December 2017 (allocation reference WS17-SK Vantage Park, Gonerby Moor). 

The Minerals and Waste Planning Policy Team have therefore requested that appropriate 

19



 

 

consideration is given to the need to safeguard these existing and allocated waste sites in 

line with the requirements of Policy W8. 
 

6.17.3 Following the submission of additional information by the applicant the Minerals and Waste 

Planning Policy Team has confirmed that subject to the proposed acoustic glazing being 

included in the design of the proposed training centre they have no waste site safeguarding 

objections to the proposed development. 

 

6.18 Lincolnshire Fire & Rescue Services 

6.18.1 Confirm that Lincolnshire Fire and Rescue Service has no objections to the planning 

application. They have confirmed that there are adequate water supplies with two hydrants 

in close proximity to the premises (which should remain unaffected by building works) as 

well as sufficient access for appliances. The Fire and Rescue Service have also highlighted 

the need for the development to comply will the relevant Building Regulations. 

 

6.19 Network Rail – Civil Engineering 

6.20 Network Rail notes from the Transport Assessment that enhancements to links between the 

site and Grantham Railway Station are proposed. Grantham Station is operated and 

maintained by Virgin Trains East Coast who should also be contacted in relation to this 

consultation in order that they may provide comment 

(niall.melvin@virgintrainseastcoast.com). It may be that station enhancements (e.g. bus 

shelters, cycle storage etc.) are appropriate to accommodate this aspect of the proposals. 

 

6.21 Great Gonerby Parish Council 

6.21.1 No objections with the development but Council has concerns over the long term capacity 

of the B1174/ Belton Lane junction. This junction is already overwhelmed and with this plan, 

the linking of the Pennine Way and the proposed Manthorpe development, this junction 

requires a complete redesign. This needs to be considered alongside these other 

applications. 

 

6.21.2 There are also concerns about traffic levels through the village, traffic could be directed 

onto the A1. 

 

6.22 North Kesteven District Council 

6.22.1 No objections to the proposed development. 

 

6.23 Newark & Sherwood District Council 

6.23.1 Continue to raise strong objections to the proposed development raising concerns that 

cumulatively the Downtown proposal with that of the approved Designer Outlet Village 

(DOV) at the King 31 site could have significant adverse impacts on the vitality and viability 

of Newark Town Centre. 

 

6.23.2 Considers that the sequential test has not been passed as separate sites should be 

considered for the proposed large format retail and leisure uses, as opposed to considering 

the proposed development as a whole. 

 

6.23.3 Considers there has been a decline in the health of Newark Town Centre since the 

February 2019 decision.  

 

20



 

 

6.23.4 Newark and Sherwood District Council formally request attendance by both an Officer and 

elected Member to speak at South Kesteven District Council's Planning Committee to set 

out the reasons Newark and Sherwood District Council are objecting to the scheme. A full 

copy of this objection is provided at Appendix C.  

 

6.24 Melton Borough Council  

6.24.1 No objections. 

 

6.25 Nottinghamshire County Council 

6.25.1 NCC have reviewed the TA attached to this application. The impacts in Nottinghamshire will 

be principally on the A52 and the A1, both of which are trunk roads and managed and 

operated by Highways England, NCC trust that any matters arising on the SRN will have 

been satisfactorily addressed England. There is not likely to be any discernible impact on 

the local highway network in Nottinghamshire given the distance involved and the multiple 

routes available for traffic to gain access to the trunk road network when travelling to and 

from the Downtown site. 

 

6.25.2 NCC has no additional comments to make on the amended plans. 

 

6.26 Peterborough City Council  

6.26.1 Peterborough City Council object to this proposal, as it would have an impact on the 

viability Peterborough City Centre, and could have an impact on future proposals for the 

City Centre redevelopment allocated in the Local Plan.  

 

6.27 City Of Lincoln Council  

6.27.1 Have concerns that the development could be harmful to retail trading in Lincoln. They 

argue that it would not be appropriate for either of the proposed developments (this 

proposal or the application for the Designer Outlet Village on the King 31 site) to go ahead, 

and that it would certainly be unsustainable for both proposals to go ahead together. 

Moreover, the establishment of both proposals would significantly undermine retailing in 

Grantham and would be to the detriment of sustainable development and the wider growth 

of other centres in the County of Lincolnshire. 

 

6.27.2 They suggest that SKDC consider the cumulative impact of both schemes upon the basis 

that they are both granted permission. Similarly, they strongly advised SKDC to liaise with 

the Planning Casework Service to establish whether the Secretary of State would need to 

call-in the applications for determination. 

 

6.27.3 City Of Lincoln Council advise that if SKDC is minded to grant planning permission for one 

of the proposals, they suggest that it should be for amended proposals for Downtown. This 

stems from the fact that those proposals would be in connection with similar development 

and would be more sustainable in general terms than the development to the south of 

Grantham.  

 

6.28 Allington Parish Council  

6.28.1 The Parish Council has concerns that this development would create high traffic levels, with 

the accompanying noise and pollution that this would bring. 

 

6.28.2 The highest predicted increase in traffic on any one link is 84% on Allington Road East 

(Gonerby Lane). 

21



 

 

 

6.28.3 Parish Councillors comment that providing appropriate signage to guide traffic down the 

A52 and then down the A1 is unlikely to make much impact. A lot of road users using 

satnav devices, travelling to and from the A52, will undoubtedly travel though Allington 

village regardless of advisory signage. 

6.28.4 With an increase in traffic the condition of the roads in the area would deteriorate even 

more. There is also a highway safety issue as Allington with Sedgebrook Primary School is 

in very close proximity to Gonerby Lane and at school times the roads become single file 

due to parking. 

 

6.28.5 The County Council’s publication "The 4th Long Term Vision for Transport in Lincolnshire" 

comments upon "a well-managed and safe road network to maximise the reliability of 

journeys and reduce the impacts on communities". It is questionable whether this 

application fulfils this objective. 

 

6.28.6 The Parish Council concludes that should this application be approved it strongly requests 

restrictive traffic calming measures for all roads which would be a route to the development. 

 

6.29 Belton and Manthorpe Parish Council 

6.29.1 All the Councillors are concerned and worried about the entry/exit, to/from the site from the 

east. People travelling from the east will have to use A607 through Belton and Manthorpe, 

and Belton Lane, Great Gonerby. 

 

6.29.2 Belton Lane is quite unsuitable for the anticipated increase in traffic flow, and will make this 

location a real road safety risk. A607 junction with Belton Lane is an identified collision site, 

and an increase in the traffic flow will heighten the risk at this location. 

 

6.29.3 Belton Lane in its present state is not suitable for any increase [in] traffic flow. If traffic flow 

does increase it increases the risk on this road in general and the junction (Belton Lane / 

A607) in particular. 

 

6.29.4 There is also concern that placing traffic lights at the junction of Belton Lane/Newark Hill, 

Great Gonerby is creating an unnecessary risk to motorists as the approach to this junction, 

from the north will be blind and is on a national speed limit road. 

 

6.29.5 Regarding the B1174/Belton Lane Junction, Tables 12,13 and 14 of the amended Transport 

Assessment states that this junction is running at near capacity and is likely to fail in the 

near future even without increased traffic from their development. They propose a 

mitigation scheme in the form of a three-arm signalled junction to alleviate the build-up of 

traffic on Belton Lane, all this will do in our opinion is spread the queues and hold ups over 

three lanes and cause a back log of southbound traffic from the Occupation Lane 

roundabout to the B1174/Belton Lane junction which is ludicrous and please bear in mind 

that their Transport Assessment doesn’t include Larkfleet’s development. 

 

6.30 Foston Parish Council 

6.30.1 Foston Parish Council supports the application. 

 

6.31 Sedgebrook Parish Council  

6.31.1 With regard to this planning application the Parish Council is grateful for opportunity to 

make further comment on the additional revised proposals. 

22



 

 

 

6.31.2 The Parish made a full response to this application in November 2017 when it highlighted a 

number of concerns of which the potential additional traffic using Allington Road was the 

major one along with the inadequacies of the applicant's Transport Assessment. In its 

summary the Parish concluded that initial consultation response with the following: - 

6.31.3 'The Parish Council would suggest that given the above and the overall vagueness of the 

current document it is clear that the applicant needs to carry out a far more encompassing 

Transport Assessment and give careful consideration as to how it might mitigate the issues 

that are likely to be caused by an increased patronage to the site. If the applicant is 

unwilling to do this or the Local Planning Authority unable to support the Parish Council's 

suggestion, the Parish Council would wish to record its objection to the proposal based on 

the likely highway impacts both within the village itself as well as the adjoining highway 

network.' 

 

6.31.4 It is noted that the applicant has indeed updated their Transport Assessment but 

unfortunately only to take account of the now committed development related to the retail 

park being promoted by the Buckminster Group. Whilst the Transport Assessment makes a 

small mention of Allington Road and 'robust' signing to direct visitors to the proposed 

development via the A52 and A1 along with a note of having met with local residents at 

Allington to reassure them of the applicant’s abilities and desire to prevent additional traffic 

using the road, it is noted that the application and supporting documents make no attempt 

to model the likely traffic flows on Allington Road and the potential impacts that these would 

have in relation to overall traffic levels particularly at the junction of Allington Road with the 

A52 at Sedgebrook. To highlight again the Parish Council would again draw attention to the 

fact that Allington Road has been subject to a recent comprehensive traffic survey carried 

out by Lincolnshire Highways which has shown that the road is already used by over 2000 

vehicles a day. 

 

6.31.5 Whilst the Parish is supportive of the local opportunities that the development may give rise 

to, given that the applicant has failed in his latest amended submission to address the 

serious concerns related to traffic that the Parish Council outlined in its initial consultation 

response, the view of the Council is that it formally objects to the proposals on the basis 

that the applicant has failed to fully and satisfactorily demonstrate either the potential 

impact of additional traffic that the development will generate on all the local road network 

that will be impacted or formally detailed any mitigation measures that would be included in 

the planning application either via the relevant planning condition or Section 278 

Agreement. 

 

6.31.6 Sedgebrook Parish Council have also commented on the additional information received in 

relation to the planning application. The comments raise concerns with the additional 

transport information. And the final paragraph of the letter states: 

 

6.31.7 “In relation to the points made by the applicant it should be noted that in Section 3.3.2. 

above there is reference to the assignment presented in the TA to support the planning 

application indicating that the level of traffic that would potentially route through Allington is 

minimal. The Parish would highlight that whilst the base data is accurate in that it has 

identified present traffic movements the subsequent modelling has assumed that vehicular 

traffic associate and generated as a direct result of the development will follow the A1/A52 

and vice versa routes possibly assuming that the also aforementioned signing scheme will 

be successful. The modelling fails to take account of the attraction to drivers of the ‘short 

23



 

 

cut’ through Allington and Sedgebrook and the increasing reliance upon satnav systems 

which will direct vehicles through these villages as the shortest route. Unfortunately, whilst 

capacity improvements at the A52/A1 junctions, signing schemes and routing instructions 

will be welcomed they will not affect satnav operation and in the case of signing strategies 

and routing instructions these are legally unenforceable unless the signing strategy is 

backed up with relevant highway prohibitions of access or similar Traffic Regulation Orders. 

In view of the above the Parish formally objects to the applicant’s proposals.” 

 

7 Representations as a result of publicity 
 

7.1 This application has been advertised in accordance with the Council's Statement of 

Community Involvement and a total of 272 representations have been received. Two further 

rounds of consultation (23 November 2020 and 12 March 2021) have taken place following 

the additional and updated information received post the February 2019 Planning 

Committee. Below summarises the comments received from the initial and follow-on 

consultation exercises.  

 

7.2 43 letters of representation raising concern/seeking further information have been received. 

The points raised can be summarised as follows: 

 

1. Concerns about increase in traffic that will be generated between the A52 and the 

proposed development. 

 

2. If the development is approved signage should be installed on the A52 directing 

traffic away from the villages of Sedgebrook and Allington. Traffic calming should be 

introduced in the villages to ensure that the route from the A52 to Downtown as a 'rat 

run' would be rendered undesirable. 

 

3. Whilst not objecting to the development itself and welcoming the improvements to 

retail services I am extremely concerned about the how this development will 

adversely impact on my family's life, namely through increase traffic, noise and air 

pollution. 

 

4. Concerns about increase in traffic through Allington. 

 

5. As local residents we are already faced with roads covered in pot holes, the 

incredibly poor condition of Gonerby Lane and the already dangerous narrowing hair 

pin bridge along it, we already face damage to our cars because of these issues. 

Imagine how much worse their condition will be if even more people use these roads 

or even cause accidents? School buses use these roads on a twice daily basis and 

we cannot have them in a worse condition. 

 

6. Robust and enforceable measures must be used to protect the quality of life of 

Allington residents and ensure traffic through the village is controlled. Examples 

would include fixed penalty cameras. 

 

7. The site is next to the A1 but there are no key East/West road connections close to 

the development meaning there will be issues in managing traffic travelling from 

24



 

 

those directions. The Traffic Assessment (TA) focuses on the immediate proximity of 

the site but traffic issues exist slightly further away. 

 

8. Eastbound traffic must travel through the busy A607/Belton Lane junction or through 

the already congested Grantham town centre. 

9. From the West (including Nottingham and Leicester) traffic will take the short route 

from the A52 using unclassified country lanes through Sedgebrook & Allington which 

are unable to absorb an increase in traffic. 

 

10. The unclassified Allington lanes are narrow roads meant only for local traffic & are 

prone to standing water & icing, there are also documented issues of speeding. The 

lanes are used by cyclists, horses & by farm machinery & parking by parents 

leaving/collecting children at Allington school creates single file traffic at peak times. 

 

11. The TA compares the Bicester Designer (BDO) village in terms of volumes but local 

press & Bicester Traffic Action Group information reveals the severe problems 

experienced there because of the unsuitable road network. 

 

12. Given the above the application does not appear to fulfil the objective set out in the 

4th Long Term Vision For Transport In Lincolnshire; a well-managed & safe road 

network to maximise the reliability of journeys & reduce the impact on communities. 

 

13. This application will have a massive impact on a struggling Grantham town centre 

causing a further depletion of the already run-down, empty, shopping areas. 

 

14. The development will increase traffic from all directions impacting severely on the 

road networks in the area. 

 

15. Road signage directing traffic away from Sedgebrook and Allington will not be 

effective as people will use satellite navigation to find the quickest journey. 

 

16. Traffic measures will simply slow traffic and not reduce the volume. Pollution will be 

increased. 

 

17. Downtown Designer Village will be on a similar theme to Bicester Village, in 

Oxfordshire, there are details that can be viewed on line of the devastation caused to 

the local communities. 

 

18. Downtown will naturally advertise their presence and welcome the traffic increase 

(from all over the country) as they will want a return on their huge investment. 

 

19. Grantham High Street and the George centre are already significantly underused 

with a predominance of empty shops. This will further drain Grantham's retail 

business trade. 

 

20. The North-South traffic flows will put a real strain on the A1 which is only dual 

carriageway, and already carrying a high density of traffic. 

 

21. Bottom Street should be made into a one-way street, being closed to traffic coming 

from Sedgebrook. 

25



 

 

 

22. Fundamental repair is needed on Bottom Street from Sedgebrook Road turn, and 

Gonerby Lane through to Gonerby Moor A1 junction. It would be better to build a 

loop road connecting Sedgebrook Road to Gonerby Lane to take traffic entirely away 

from the village; or to close Gonerby Lane to through traffic at some point near the 

nook. 

 

23. Another traffic count should be done as the last one was 8 years ago. 

 

24. There is a local primary school situated on School Lane. Any extra traffic in this area 

would increase road safety issues for the school. 

 

25. The present Downtown store is brightly lit at night and the lights can be seen quite 

clearly from the village (Allington). Additional lighting due to a larger complex 

wouldn't be welcome especially in this day and age of environmental issues. 

 

26. The current road infrastructure from Sedgebrook through Allington to Gonerby Moor 

is incapable of supporting any extra traffic. 

 

27. The road from Sedgebrook to Allington is not gritted at present which regularly 

results in vehicles in the ditches at the side of the road. 

 

28.  The bridge height markings at Sedgebrook are too late for high sided vehicles 

resulting in pandemonium as they try to reverse back. 

 

29.  The condition of Bottom Street in Allington is in a terrible state with the road surface 

breaking up and with numerous potholes that reappear every year. 

 

30.  Bottom Street in Allington is subject to regular flooding due to damaged drains. 

 

31.  The school is accessed around a blind bend without suitable crossings for young 

children and parental parking makes the situation worse. 

 

32.  Residential access along Bottom Street would suffer to any increase in traffic. 

 

33.  Gonerby Lane already suffers from significant, i.e. dangerous, subsidence from the 

current level of traffic. 

 

34.  Access in and out of Peach Lane to the Park Homes is already difficult at peak times  

and would suffer greatly if the traffic levels increased. 

 

35.  Signage on the A52 and at Downtown indicating access and egress to the A52 via 

the A1 might mitigate this. 

 

36.  Traffic calming measures in the form of road narrowing into and out of Allington as 

well as on Bottom Street might help alleviate the situation and reduce speed thus 

increasing safety aspects for pedestrians along Bottom Street and to/from the 

school. 

 

26



 

 

37.  Roads leading to and from Allington are unsuitable to high volumes of traffic, being 

largely unmarked, with soft verges, and with a significant narrowing of the route on 

Gonerby Lane at the water gauging station over Foston Beck. Verges are already in 

a very bad state because of horsebox traffic accessing Arena UL, and HGV traffic 

accessing the Kestrel Distribution centre near Arena UK. 

38.  There is already too much rubbish along the verges in the area and the development 

will add to this pollution problem. 

 

39.   Downtown products on sale are at a similar level to those sold in Grantham town 

centre and are therefore in direct competition and will cause more shop closures in 

the town centre. 

 

40.  The proposed outlet village on the site is unlikely to attract designer labels as the 

store so far has not managed to do this. 

 

41.  The environmental statement does not mention the issues of traffic coming from the 

A52 and through Allington. 

 

42.  More traffic will lead to an inevitable increase in anti-social behaviour such as 

littering, noise, theft and general environmental damage. 

 

43.  There will be increased traffic flow through Grantham, Gonerby and Allington as staff 

commute to work due to the lack of adjacent housing. This will continue to drive 

business from Grantham. 

 

44.  The proposals come at a time when Grantham High Street, and the George centre 

are already significantly underused with a predominance of empty shops. My 

experience of other such developments (such as that at Bicester in Oxfordshire) is 

that these proposals will do nothing to help this situation and is highly likely to further 

drain Grantham's retail businesses of trade. I do understand that the proposals 

would bring a number of new jobs to the area - this I think is the biggest positive of 

the scheme as this would no doubt bring a slight element of stimulus to the local 

economy but if the jobs drive people out of the town centre then we will further lose 

the heart of the town. I would be far more positive about any proposal (including 

radical rebuilding) that sought to stimulate the town centre into an attractive place to 

live and work. 

 

45.  Out of town centres have surely had their day. Such a design as this must surely 

have a very large carbon footprint and yet offer no advantage to Grantham as all of 

the amenities it offers could be housed in the town itself. 

 

46.  Better things to spend money on. 

 

47.  One supporter of the scheme also raised concerns that there are several properties 

already lying empty in the town centre. 

 

48.  If approved this scheme will adversely impact on the sales from the Buckminster 

designer outlet development. 

 

27



 

 

49. Buckminster may pull out of their proposed development if this application is 

approved. 

 

50.  A full retail assessment must be carried out before this development is considered. It 

is unclear how the original store got permission in 1989 for retail development 

outside of the town centre. 

51.  There is no longer a need or benefit to the area in pursuing this scheme which has 

been overtaken by events. It is questionable if the application now meets policy 

criteria in terms of strategy, planning policy and the changes in UK Government 

environmental policies. The plans need to be reconsidered in the context of changing 

economic realities rather than accepting the bold statements from the applicant that 

their assumptions are unaffected by economic events. 

 

52.  The socio economic environment has changed compared to the outline approval in 

2019 following the Covid epidemic which has resulted in the worst downturn in 300 

years. Daily there are reports of existing retailers in cities (Nottingham & Leicester) 

and towns (Grantham & Newark) struggling and many are closing, there are many 

vacant retail units in Grantham. Consumers have changed their buying habits 

towards online channels and many established brands are switching to online only. 

We also had the commencement of development on the Buckminster Designer 

Outlet Village this week. 

 

53.  Downtown have argued there is room for both villages but the world has moved on. 

Existing retailers in the catchment area need to be supported and Grantham needs 

one designer village to be a success not 2 developments which will struggle - 

Buckminster is well ahead and the council should now focus energy on making that a 

success. 

 

54.  The ES still fails to address local traffic concerns, specifically Sedgebrook and 

Allington are already rat runs for people trying to avoid the A1/A52 Barrowby 

junction. As a minimum the plan needs to include actions to direct traffic away from 

these villages and local roads but road safety will be much improved by focusing on 

the Buckminster village as traffic will avoid residential areas completely given the 

direct access from the A1 and southern relief road which is nearing completion. 

 

7.3 229 representations in support making the following comments: 

 

1.  I fully support this application as long as traffic is kept to main roads. It would bring 

about many jobs to the area for young people. This could be a good opportunity to 

enforce Arena UK's planning rule that their traffic should use the A1 too (which a lot 

doesn't) 

 

2.  Will be a real asset to nearby towns. 

 

3.  Site is well positioned with great link roads. 

 

4. I would be more likely to visit Grantham if this development is allowed as it would 

make the journey worthwhile and Grantham would overall be a more appealing 

destination. 

 

28



 

 

5.  Having been to similar centres it will be great not to have travel and to have one in 

Grantham. 

 

6.  Environmentally it makes sense given the infrastructure is already practically there 

and employability wise even better. 

7.  Anything that can create jobs on that scale and more importantly save jobs on that 

scale can only be a huge plus for the future. 

 

8.  Surely it is better to back an application with a proven retail history and infrastructure 

in place with good access to the A1. 

 

9.  The fact that there are possibilities to open a rail link and then the possibility of park 

and ride into the historic centre of Grantham is another reason to support the 

application. 

 

10. The new retail outlet will keep the people of Grantham spending within our town and 

not having to go further afield. 

 

11.  The alternative scheme, being on a green field site, with no sufficient existing road 

infrastructure would surely be better suited to housing. 

 

12.  To refuse planning permission would endanger existing jobs. 

 

13. The development would draw customers from across the country to Grantham. 

 

14.  The Downtown site already has a good bus link to Grantham and has everything in 

place to support this development. 

 

15.  This is a real opportunity to develop local businesses and create jobs. 

 

16.  The proposed railway link will be a major benefit. 

 

17.  The development will bring much needed investment to the area. 

 

18.  Like the idea of adding a new training academy, office space and tourist information 

centre to promote the many other attractions in the area. 

 

19.  The Downtown scheme is superior to the competing scheme, as the Downtown 

proposal will create more jobs, further investment, and improve transport links. 

 

20. Makes use of an existing 'brownfield' site. 

 

21.  The development would be a catalyst for much needed redevelopment of the 

existing service station. 

 

22.  Local businesses which supply Downtown will hopefully see demand increase in the 

future as a result of the development. 

 

29



 

 

23.  The proposal is well thought out and addresses aspects of access and tasteful 

design sympathetic to the identity of Grantham as a key regional destination for 

investment, shopping, hospitality and tourism. 

 

24.  What good sense to increase the size/facilities of an existing unit where there is 

already good road access from the A1? 

25.  Oldrids are a major local employer and have operated in Grantham for many years 

and shown a commitment to local people and the economy which would only be 

enhanced if the development went ahead. 

 

26.  Concerned that if the development does not go ahead 700 people could be out of 

work. Can the Council accommodate 700 people if they cannot pay the mortgage or 

council tax? 

 

27.  The development will make Grantham a place to come and visit to spend time and 

money. 

 

28.  Would add additional retail units to a site which is already commercially viable with 

existing infrastructure. 

 

29.  Development and additional passing trade would help to support existing car wash 

business. 

 

30.  Grantham Museum submitted a representation supporting the proposals especially 

the development of a visitor and tourism centre. 

 

31.  Buckminster have sent out letters implying that local residents support their 

application. This is not the case. Several residents supporting the proposed 

development have suggested that they consider this to be an underhand tactic by 

Buckminster to promote their own scheme. 

 

7.4 Objection from Intu: 

7.4.1 Intu owns and manages 17 prime regional shopping centres in the UK, including intu 

Victoria Centre and intu Broadmarsh in Nottingham city centre and intu Derby in Derby city 

centre. 

 

7.4.2 Intu raised concerns that the Retail Impact Assessment does not consider the impact on 

existing committed planned investment in Nottingham City centre (i.e. the into Broadmarsh 

redevelopment and extension and the intu Victoria Centre extension). 

 

7.4.3 They have also suggested that the Council should impose suitably worded conditions to 

ensure the development is implemented in accordance with that described in the 

application, and to ensure that development does not adversely impact on the vitality and 

viability of Nottingham or Derby city centres or other centres.  

 

7.5 Centrebus: 

7.5.1 Has advised that they fully support the proposed development. Centrebus currently provide 

the 14 and 24 services to the Downtown site, which run regularly from Newark, through the 

villages, on to Downtown and into Grantham town centre and Grantham bus station, via 

Great Gonerby. 

30



 

 

 

7.5.2 They have advised that the increase in visitors to the Downtown site would increase 

occupancy on existing routes and that they envisage a real potential to increase the 

frequency and extend the existing 14 and 24 services in future. 

 

7.6 East Midlands Trains: 

7.6.1 East Midlands Trains (EMT) is the incumbent franchised passenger operator on the 

Nottingham-Grantham-Skegness route. Its franchise is currently contracted to 3rd March 

2019. Therefore, EMT does not consider that this proposal will have an impact on its 

current operations. EMT has recommended that Oldrids & Downtown engage with the 

Department for Transport (DfT) and prospective bidders for the next East Midlands 

Franchise, for which the procurement process is anticipated to be commencing in 2018. 

 

7.6.2 EMT have advised that it is vital that Oldrids & Downtown work closely with Network Rail 

and the future East Midlands Franchise operator to ensure that any future aspirational 

scheme for a new station delivers a station at which stops can be accommodated in the 

timetable. 

 

7.7 Pyle Own (Commercial property advisers to the freeholder of the moto Grantham 

north service stations) 

7.7.1 "The site is adjacent to the MOTO A1 / Gonerby Moor services. As landowners of the 

MOTO site, we fully support these development proposals. Given the complimentary nature 

of sites, together we can provide a more comprehensive development option. We have also 

reviewed the recently approved Grantham Designer Outlet Village at Spittlegate (LPA Ref: 

S17/1262) and feel the Downtown application represents a more comprehensive DOV and 

mixed use development. Together with the Gonerby Moor site it will provide a northern 

gateway into Grantham as well as a welcome facility for users of the A1. 

 

7.7.2 There is significant opportunity for the regeneration of this site to assist in establishing a 

gateway, including the opportunity to upgrade our own site. We believe granting planning 

permission for the designer outlet will act as an important catalyst to the wider upgrade of 

facilities at this strategic location, which we would fully embrace." 

 

7.8 Grantham College: 

7.8.1 Grantham College has indicated that they fully support Downtown's planning application. 

The college has been in ongoing discussions with Downtown regarding the proposed 

development and in particular the proposed establishment of a Training Academy at the 

site. 

 

7.8.2 They have agreed the principle of working in partnership with the applicants to plan, deliver 

and operate a Training Academy at the site. 

 

7.8.3 The college has indicated that the Training Academy would become a centre of excellence 

for training and apprenticeships and would also give them scope to significantly extend their 

educational programmes. 

 

7.9 Buckminster and Rioja Developments: 

7.9.1 Buckminster, Rioja Development and their legal and planning advisors have maintained 

strong objections to the proposed developments. The objections from both Buckminster, 

31



 

 

Rioja and their legal and planning advisors can be summarised as follows (a full copy of the 

objections received post the February 2019 decision are included at Appendix D): 
 

1. The threat that the development will pose to Grantham Town Centre. 

 

2.  Given the very limited nature of the restrictions offered by the applicant in the Oldrid 

application together with the five year limit on those restrictions it is clear that they 

will be ineffectual in achieving the objective of protecting the Town Centre. 

 

3.  The scheme cannot be considered the same or similar to the Rioja and Buckminster 

development. 

 

4.  The full retail impact of the development has not been assessed by the applicant or 

the Local Planning Authority. 

 

5.  The proposed development will not achieve the critical mass required for a tier 1 

operation. 

 

6.  There are concerns about the accuracy of the information contained in the Transport 

Assessment and that not enough car parking has been provided, that there is 

insufficient space for manoeuvring of delivery vehicles. 

 

7.  Concern has also been raised that data and information has been copied from the 

Rioja and Buckminster application. 

 

8.  Grantham already has an approved Tier 1 Outlet Village Scheme 

 

9. The Grantham Designer Outlet Village (Rioja Development) would be a Tier 1 Outlet; 

the Downtown scheme could never become a Tier 1 Outlet. 

 

10.  The planning assessment of the two different schemes by SKDC needs to be 

different. 

 

11.  Granting permission to the Downtown scheme would at best result in Grantham not 

securing the benefits of a Tier 1 Outlet Village on either site and at worst, if the 

Downtown scheme hybrid ‘non-Tier 1’ scheme was built, the town centre, already 

struggling, would be severely impacted. 

 

12.  Questions Freeport Retail’s role and function in the development  

 

13.  Proposal is a ‘one-stop’ destination that would not encourage visitors to link their trip 

with the town centre 

 

14.  Proposed development would draw existing retailers away from the town centres 

 

15.  DGDO could be built and then fail due to competition with GDOV, which would lead 

to the scheme being diluted and result in further harm to town centres 

 

32



 

 

16.  The various elements of the proposed development should be disaggregated for the 

purpose of the sequential test 

 

17.  The Rioja GDOV is sequentially preferable 

 

18.  Paragraph 89 of NPPF needs to be considered 

 

19.  The development would jeopardise committed funding and investment to Grantham 

town centre 

 

20.  The DGDO is an outdated outline application 

 

21.  The draft S106 fails to secure a Tier 1 scheme 

 

22.  Concerns with draft S106 agreement – in particular 5-year non-poaching clause 

 

23.  If one of the schemes fails it could lead to a net reduction in jobs 

 

24.  The need for the application to consider the changes to Class E 

 

25.  The need for the application documents to be updated to take into account the 

short and longer-term impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on the high street 

 

26.  Inconsistency between construction timetable and design year forecast 

 

27.  Increased impact on town centres – particularly Newark 

 

28. Other updated development plans have not been considered 

 

29.  Failure to include precise jobs for office aspect of development 

 

30.  Highways data is based on 2017 baseline 

 

31.  The percentage deductions for Special Forms of Trading are outdated 

 

32.  Outdated market share data 

 

33.  Town centre health checks are out of date 

 

34.  The PCA/SCA trade draw adopted is unrealistic  

 

8 Officer Evaluation  
 

8.1 Principle of development 

 

8.1.1 Local Plan Policy SD1 sets out the broad principles for achieving sustainable development 

in South Kesteven. The policy requires consideration of a number of criteria (a-m) including 

the impact of development on climate change, avoiding flood risk, encouraging the use of 

previously developed land and contributing towards creating a strong, stable and more 

33



 

 

diverse economy. The proposed redevelopment of the existing Downtown site is considered 

to broadly comply with the principles of sustainable development set-out by Policy SD1 and 

further consideration of each of those criteria is provided in the relevant sections below.  

 

8.1.2 Policy SP1 establishes the spatial strategy for guiding the location of development across 

the District. Together with policy SP2, the spatial strategy seeks to focus major 

development proposals on Grantham to support and strengthen its role as a sub-regional 

centre. The site is located outside of Grantham, on the edge of Great Gonerby at Gonerby 

Moor. However, with the Downtown Superstore and existing employment well established, 

Gonerby Moor makes a significant contribution to the Grantham economy and the proposed 

development is therefore considered to be in accordance with policies SP1 and SP2. 

 

8.1.3 Part of the site was previously designated as existing employment land, however it has 

been removed from the Gonerby Moor Employment designation (Policy E4: Protection of 

Existing Employment Sites) in the current Local Plan and is now not designated for any 

use. Development of the site therefore does not result in the loss of employment land as set 

out in Policy E6. By way of background, the Schedule of Policy Map Modifications; which 

was prepared in consultation with the Inspector and published for consultation through the 

Local Plan Examination, removes the EMP-R3 Downtown/Boundary Mill site (Modification 

SKDCMC - 8) in anticipation of the proposals, stating "Downtown/Boundary Mill area is 

subject to separate planning application for a retail outlet village. No longer needs to be part 

of the protected employment area." The Planning Inspectorate agreed with this amendment 

in their final report on the Local Plan, recognising the established retail use of the land at 

paragraph 177. This had previously been reported as the central reason why the proposals 

conflicted with the development plan taken as a whole. 

 

8.1.4 Policy E5 supports the expansion of existing businesses provided the following criteria are 

met: 

 

a)  existing buildings are re-used where possible;  

b) vacant land on existing employment sites is first considered;  

c)  the expansion does not conflict with neighbouring land uses;  

d)  the expansion will not impact unacceptably on the local and/or strategic highway 

network; and  

e)  the proposal will not have an adverse impact on the character and appearance of the 

area and/or the amenities of neighbouring occupiers. 

 

This is considered to be the most relevant of the employment policies in the Local Plan in 

relation to this application, as redevelopment of the site would effectively be an expansion 

of the existing business. The proposal would ensure the site retained a primary retail use, 

as recognised through the Local Plan examination, which justified it’s exclusion from 

remaining within a protected employment land designation. In terms of criterion a, the 

existing Downtown Grantham / Boundary Mill retail store and café, totalling 18,580sqm 

would remain. The remaining existing buildings are proposed to be demolished to facilitate 

the proposed development, however the development would all remain within the extent of 

the current site boundary which is recognised as having an established retail use. As 

such, criteria a and b are both considered to have been complied with. Likewise, the 

proposed development is not considered to conflict with neighbouring land uses, 

unacceptably impact on the local or strategic highway network and would not result in 

34



 

 

significant adverse impact on the character and appearance of the area or the amenities 

of neighbouring occupiers. A further detailed consideration of these criteria is provided in 

sections 8.36 (Residential Amenity), 8.13 (Transport and Access) and 8.15 (Landscape 

and Visual Impact) of this report. 

 

8.1.5 In terms of the principle of development the proposal relates to retail development on a site 

which is outside the town centre. Nonetheless, there has been a retail presence on the site 

since the early 90’s. Further consideration is given below to whether the site selection 

meets the sequential test requirements set out in policy GR4 and the NPPF. The impact of 

the proposal on the vitality and viability of nearby town centres and the retail provision 

within them has also been assessed along with the socio-economic benefits of developing a 

DOC on this site. Consideration has also been given to cumulative impacts including in 

relation to the implemented Rioja Designer Outlet Village. The conclusion draws these 

elements together to form a balanced judgement on the planning merits of the scheme, 

taking into account all relevant material considerations. 

 

8.2 Sequential Test 

 

8.2.1 Local Plan Policy GR4 seeks to focus town centre developments within the identified town 

centre boundary for Grantham. The supportive text to Policy GR4 states that the Local Plan 

will seek to encourage retail proposals that support and enhance Grantham's developing 

role as a sub-regional shopping and leisure destination.  Local Plan Policy GR4 states: 

 

8.2.2 "A sequential approach will be applied to the location of proposals for main town centre 

uses which prioritises sites within the town centre ahead of edge of centre sites.  Out of 

centre locations will only be considered if sequentially preferable sites are not available. 

Retail impact assessments are required to accompany proposals for main town centre uses 

in edge of centre locations where the gross floorspace proposed is above 1,000 sqm." 

 

8.2.3 Paragraph 87 of the NPPF (July 2021) states that local planning authorities should apply a 

sequential test to planning applications for main town centre uses which are neither in an 

existing centre nor in accordance with an up-to-date Local Plan. Main town centre uses 

should be located in town centres, then in edge of centre locations; and only if suitable sites 

are not available (or expected to become available within a reasonable period) should out 

of centre sites be considered. 

 

8.2.4 Paragraph 88 states when considering edge of centre and out of centre proposals, 

preference should be given to accessible sites which are well connected to the town centre. 

Applicants and local planning authorities should demonstrate flexibility on issues such as 

format and scale, so that opportunities to utilise suitable town centre or edge of centre sites 

are fully explored. 

 

8.2.5 The National Planning Practice Guide (PPG) advises that it is for the applicant to 

demonstrate compliance with the sequential test and that the test should be proportionate 

and appropriate for the given proposal. The PPG states that the following considerations 

should be taken into account in determining whether a proposal complies with the 

sequential test: 

 

• with due regard to the requirement to demonstrate flexibility, has the suitability of more 
central sites to accommodate the proposal been considered? Where the proposal 

35



 

 

would be located in an edge of centre or out of centre location, preference should be 
given to accessible sites that are well connected to the town centre. Any associated 
reasoning should be set out clearly. 

 

• is there scope for flexibility in the format and/or scale of the proposal? It is not 
necessary to demonstrate that a potential town centre or edge of centre site can 
accommodate precisely the scale and form of development being proposed, but rather 
to consider what contribution more central sites are able to make individually to 
accommodate the proposal. 
 

• if there are no suitable sequentially preferable locations, the sequential test is passed. 
 

8.2.6 The PPG also recognises that certain main town centre uses have particular market and 

locational requirements which mean that they may only be accommodated in specific 

locations. The PPG advises that robust justification must be provided where this is the 

case. 

 

8.2.7 For the purposes of the sequential test the application site is considered to be situated in an 

out-of-centre location. It is therefore necessary to consider if there are any other more 

preferable sites within existing town centres, edge-of-centre locations and other out-of-

centre sites, which are more accessible and better connected to the town centre. 

 

8.3 Expert Evaluation of the Sequential Test 

 

8.3.1 The applicant submitted a Retail Impact Assessment (RIA) in support of the application, as 

part of this they undertook a sequential assessment. The Council engaged a specialist retail 

consultant, Stantec (formerly Peter Brett Associates (PBA)), to assess the submission. The 

consultant’s initial assessment was received and following this the applicant submitted an 

Addendum to the Retail Impact Assessment (Addendum RIA). Following the 2019 

committee, a further updated version of the Retail Impact Assessment (RIA (July 2020)) 

was submitted for consideration. 

 

8.3.2 In order to undertake an assessment, a catchment area covering a drive time of 

approximately 60 minutes was considered. For the purposes of the sequential approach 

and assessing the impacts of the proposed development on existing centres, the catchment 

area was separated into the Primary Catchment Area (PCA) and the Secondary Catchment 

Area (SCA) as follows: 

 

• PCA based on 30-minute drive time; 

• SCA based on 30- to 60-minute drive time. 
 

8.3.3 The RIA indicates that the proposed development is based on the DOC business model 

and requires a level of ‘critical mass’ to draw trade from a wide area. It goes on to state that 

any alternative sites should be capable of serving substantially the same catchment area, 

and that locating the development on the edges of the identified 60-minute drive time 

catchment area would exclude large parts of the scheme’s catchment area ‘because it 

would involve substantially longer drive times’. As such, the applicant’s sequential 

assessment only considers alternative sites within the proposed primary catchment area 

(PCA), which is defined by a 30-minute drive time from the application site. This includes 

Bingham, Bourne, Grantham, Melton Mowbray, Newark-on-Trent, Oakham, Sleaford and 

36



 

 

Stamford. The Council’s retail consultant has indicated that this is an appropriate area of 

search and that locations within the secondary catchment area are unlikely to serve 

substantially the same catchment area as the application site. 

 

8.3.4 The applicant’s RIA sets parameters for the assessment of sequentially preferable sites, 

having regard to the requirements of paragraphs 87 and 88 of the NPPF and the need to 

demonstrate that a flexible approach to issues such as format and scale has been taken. 

The applicants have considered the potential to reduce the footprint of proposed buildings 

using mezzanine floorspace, reducing the size of the proposed replacement garden centre 

(approximately 34% smaller than the existing garden centre), making use of first floor 

trading within the garden centre and @Home store and providing a multi-storey car park. 

The applicants have therefore sought to ensure the most efficient use of land, and reduce 

the overall footprint of the development. Taking this into account the application site 

extends to 9.24 hectares comprising 39,517sqm of new floorspace. In undertaking the 

sequential assessment, the applicants considered that reducing the minimum site area to 

around 45% of the application site (4 hectares) was a reasonable approach. However, in 

order to demonstrate further flexibility and robustness they considered sites as small as 2 

hectares within and on the edge of existing centres. 

 

8.3.5 The Council’s retail consultant considers and officers agree that the parameters set out 

within the RIA represent a significant degree of flexibility and a reasonable basis on which 

to assess the suitability of sequentially preferable sites.  

 

8.3.6 A further consideration in relation to flexibility is whether the proposal can be 

disaggregated, in other words, considered as separate elements for the purposes of the 

sequential test. Stantec have advised as follows on this point: “Dundee, Rushden Lakes, 

Scotch Corner, Tollgate and Aldergate are well-known for being key judgments/appeal 

decisions when considering the interpretation of the sequential test. There has been no 

Secretary of State decision, post Dundee, where the Secretary of State has endorsed 

disaggregation. Clearly, the disaggregation or sub-division of a proposal is not part of the 

sequential test. A development split into separate parts does not amount to a closely similar 

size or type of development. When considering whether alternative sites are available or 

suitable for a proposal, the task to assess alternative sites (plural) means in order to see 

whether any one (singular) of them can accommodate the proposal, not to see whether a 

number of sites (plural) can accommodate parts or elements of the proposal. On this basis, 

we do not consider that the application proposals should be disaggregated.” 

 

8.3.7 However, Stantec did previously advise that the applicant should provide a clearer 

explanation of the relationship between the DOC and the expansion of other retail uses that 

form part of the application scheme, which the RIA describe as ‘essential’ and 

‘complementary’. In particular, further detail was requested in terms of the relationship 

between the DOC, existing retail floorspace and the proposed @Home unit, and the 

requirements for co-location. In response to this the applicants refer to the existing outlet 

and full price retail offer at the site, comprising Boundary Mill stores and the Downtown 

Superstore, and states that a ‘substantial proportion’ of the comparison retail turnover of 

these existing stores is derived from residents within the secondary catchment area that 

has been identified for the proposed development (i.e. within a 30 to 60 minute drive time of 

the application site). The applicant considers that this underlines opportunities for future 

linked trips between the existing and proposed outlet and full-price shopping offer. 

 

37



 

 

8.3.8 The updated RIA confirms that the applicant is proposing Tier 1 DOC at the site and that 

this will ‘future-proof the Downtown business against the challenges of online retailing and 

make it fit for the 21st Century’. The proposed new Downtown@Home store is also 

expected to fit into this wider strategy seeking to provide a better showroom for Downtown’s 

bulky goods and creating a ‘more experiential retail environment to satisfy the desires of 

today’s consumer and the requirements of the retail brands themselves’. The updated RIA 

concludes that the Downtown@Home part of the development ‘is a site-specific proposal 

and no other site would satisfy this commercial requirement’. Some weight can be afforded 

to this approach, but it is considered to be only limited since it relies upon predicting future 

retail patterns. 

 

8.3.9 Newark and Sherwood District Council (NSDC) have raised an objection to the proposed 

development and do not consider that the sequential test has been passed. NSDC contend 

that some aspects of the application scheme are capable of being considered as separate 

elements for the purposes of the sequential test. Whilst the applicant has adopted a 

threshold of 2 ha for the consideration of sequentially preferable sites, NSDC consider that 

elements such as the large-format retail units, and proposed leisure unit could be 

accommodated on smaller sites if disaggregated from the wider application scheme. As the 

office space and the proposed DOC management suite are now proposed to be occupied 

by Oldrids & Downtown, NSDC no longer consider that separating this aspect of the 

scheme for the purposes of the sequential test would be appropriate and the Council 

agrees with this conclusion.  

 

8.3.10 The applicant has sought to provide further clarification in respect of the functional 

relationship between the proposed full-price and DOC retail floorspace, describing this as 

an extension or evolution of the current retail offer at the application site which already 

includes elements of bulky, non-bulky and ‘outlet’ comparison goods. Whilst it is possible 

that this aspect of the scheme could have been considered separately, it is considered that 

a significant degree of flexibility has been adopted by the applicant in identifying 

sequentially preferable sites. The relevant test to apply is whether or not reasonable 

flexibility has been applied, and as advised by Stantec there have been repeated decisions 

which have confirmed that disaggregation as such is not part of national policy. Accordingly, 

it is a matter of judgment based on all of the circumstances of the case whether it would be 

necessary for a scheme to be disaggregated in order to demonstrate that sufficient flexibility 

has been displayed by the development. Part of that judgment is the extent to which there 

are functional or meaningful links between the different components of the development. 

Furthermore, Stantec have advised that in their judgment, it would be unlikely that it would 

be commercially viable for the applicant to deliver the proposed development as separate 

elements and that it would not therefore be necessary for the applicant to consider even 

smaller sites as part of its sequential assessment in order to demonstrate flexibility in this 

regard.  

 

8.3.11 In terms of the proposed leisure unit, it is agreed that this aspect of the scheme would have 

a functional relationship with the proposed DOC and that, subject to the imposition of 

appropriate conditions (which restrict the type of D2/ E.d uses (Condition 70) and the hours 

of operation to ensure the D2/ E.d use is complementary to the wider development 

(Condition 71), and limit the size of the building to 2,096 sq.m of gross external floor space 

(Condition 53)) it would not be necessary to consider this separately as part of the 

sequential assessment.  

38



 

 

 

8.3.12 Insofar as the proposed offices are concerned, the scheme has now been amended such 

that the office space and the Downtown Grantham Designer Outlet Management Suite are 

to be occupied by Oldrids & Downtown and ancillary use by other retailers and businesses 

that occupy the development. Officers consider that there would be a functional relationship 

with the wider scheme and this can be secured by the imposition of an appropriate 

condition (condition 72). As above, with this control in place, it is not necessary to consider 

this element of the scheme separately for the purposes of the sequential test.  

 

8.3.13 In summary, consideration has been given to whether the proposed development should be 

disaggregated (split into component parts) for the purposes of the sequential test in relation 

to the requirement of the NPPF (para 88) to demonstrate flexibility of issues of format and 

scale. For the reasons set out above, disaggregation of the proposal for the purposes of the 

sequential test is not considered to be appropriate or necessary in this instance.  

 

8.4 Consideration of Other Candidate Sites 
 

8.4.1 With regard to the search for sequentially preferable sites the applicant’s RIA identifies 

seven alternative candidate sites within the PCA. The applicant considered two potentially 

sequentially preferable sites in South Kesteven. These were the Bourne Core Area within 

Bourne Town Centre and the King31 site to the South of Grantham. The King31 site 

benefits from planning permission for the development of a large designer outlet village 

(application reference S17/1262).The RIA discounts the Bourne Core Area site as 

unavailable and unsuitable, on the grounds that it is too small for the proposed 

development, even with due flexibility on the part of the applicant and not sufficiently 

accessible from the strategic highway network, which is a prerequisite of the DOC concept. 

 

8.4.2 In terms of the King31 site, that site has an implemented permission for a Designer Outlet 

Village under S17/1262. As such, the Council’s retail consultants and officers do not agree 

that this site can be considered unsuitable or unavailable. When considering application 

S17/1262 officers considered whether or not the King31 site was more sequentially 

preferable to the Downtown site and concluded that “The Downtown application is further 

from the town centre and travel distance by all means of transport are longer and take more 

time, however, given the distances involved, the two applications are viewed as similar in 

terms of the sequential tests set out in the NPPF”. It is therefore considered that both sites 

would have similar status in sequential terms as out of centre sites. It is acknowledged that 

progress has been made on the southern relief road with completion due by the end of 

2023. Significant housing development is also planned to the east of the King31 site by way 

of two large, allocated sites, however neither of those sites has currently obtained planning 

permission. Conversely, the existing Downtown site is an established retail site with existing 

transport links and a regular bus service to and from both Grantham and Newark town 

centres. As such, it is considered that the King31 site remains no more sequentially 

preferable than the application site, in terms of its accessibility and connectivity to the town 

centre.  

 

8.4.3 In terms of settlements in neighbouring districts the RIA identified five candidate sites, two 

in Newark-on-Trent and three in Sleaford. Newark-on-Trent is located approximately 25 

miles to the north of Grantham. The RIA considers two alternative sites in Newark at 

Jessop Way and the site of the NSK factory on Northern Road. 

 

39



 

 

8.4.4 The RIA (July 2020) concludes that none of those five sites are either suitable or available. 

Officers agree with those conclusions following independent assessment of the updated 

sequential test and advice from Stantec.  

 

8.4.5 The applicants were asked to check that there are no other sequentially preferable sites 

available in the search area. The applicants confirmed that they had checked with the 

Council and that there were no further sequentially preferable sites available in the District. 

Notwithstanding this as the Primary Catchment Area (PCA) extends beyond the boundaries 

of the district, the Council’s consultants undertook their own updated, high-level search 

focussing on Newark, Melton Mowbray, Oakham and Stamford. The only other site 

identified was the ‘Future Point’ site at Fernwood, Newark, which has outline planning 

permission for over 185,000 sq. m of Class B floorspace. However, this site would also be 

out-of-centre and is not considered to be sequentially preferable to the application site in 

terms of accessibility and connectivity to the nearest town centre. 

 

8.4.6 Concern has also been raised that the updated RIA does not take account of changes to 

the use class order, specifically the increased flexibility of Class E and whether that has 

resulted in the identification of any further potentially sequentially preferable sites. However, 

officers are not aware nor have seen any evidence that the changes to the use class order 

have resulted or would be likely to result in any further potentially sequentially preferable 

sites for the proposed development.  

 

Table 1 – updated assessment of sites within sequential test search area 

 

8.5 Conclusions on the Sequential Test for Main Town Centre Uses 

 

8.5.1 The RIA (July 2020) has been reviewed by the Council’s specialist Retail Consultant 

Stantec and officers and it is concluded that there are no suitable sites occupying a 

sequentially preferable location to the application site. It is considered that the applicant has 

adopted an appropriate search area for the development and has demonstrated sufficient 

flexibility in the scale and format of the proposals. 

 

8.5.2 Taking all of this into account it is considered that the sequential test set out in paragraphs 

87 and 88 of the NPPF and required by Local Plan Policy GR4 has been passed.  

 

40



 

 

8.6 Retail Impact Assessment 

 

8.6.1 Local Plan Policy GR4 contains a locally set impact threshold of 1,000 sqm for proposals 

for main town centre uses outside of Grantham town centre. 

  

8.6.2 Paragraph 90 of the NPPF states when assessing applications for retail and leisure 

development outside town centres, which are not in accordance with an up-to-date plan, 

local planning authorities should require an impact assessment if the development is over a 

proportionate, locally set floorspace threshold (if there is no locally set threshold, the default 

threshold is 2,500m sqm of gross floorspace). This should include assessment of: 

 

• The impact of the proposal on existing, committed and planned public and private 
investment in a centre or centres in the catchment area of the proposal; and 
 

• The impact of the proposal on town centre vitality and viability, including local 
consumer choice and trade in the town centre and wider retail catchment (as 
applicable to the scale and nature of the scheme) 

 

8.6.3 The proposed retail floorspace within the application would exceed the locally set threshold 

of 1,000 sqm, as well as the default threshold, and is located in an out-of-centre location. 

 

8.6.4 The RIA (July 2020) assesses the impact of the proposed development on the vitality and 

viability of existing town centre retail provision. This process includes an assessment of the 

catchment area of the study to ensure it is appropriate, the current performance of retail 

centres within the study area together with existing shopping patterns and expenditure. This 

establishes the baseline against which the impact of the proposals is assessed. The 

turnover of the proposal and where trade may be drawn from to the proposal are then 

considered in order to form a conclusion on whether the proposed retail element of the 

development would have an acceptable impact on the vitality and viability of existing retail 

offerings. As above, the controls on the leisure element of the development and its 

functional relationship with the proposed DOC mean that it is considered that there would 

not be a significant impact on the town centre leisure economy. 

 

8.6.5 The RIA (July 2020) adopts a base year of 2020, which is when the household survey of 

existing shopping patterns within the proposed catchment area was undertaken. The 

assessment states that the proposed development is expected to be completed as a single 

phase and to be trading by the end of 2023. The adopted design year for the assessment of 

impacts is 2025 (two years after the proposed opening at which point trading patterns are 

expected to have become established). Whilst there has been criticism of the design year 

used for the RIA, Stantec have advised that the design year is a matter of judgment. The 

“Planning Appraisal” submitted by NTR Planning uses a design year of 2027 and includes 

more recent data for Special Forms of Trading deductions (largely e-commerce). However, 

it is noted that this modelling includes population figures for 2025 and does not model 

population increases to 2027. Stantec have noted the difficulties of making impact forecasts 

during a pandemic have questioned whether the use of such data is representative of “the 

new normal”, or whether they are just as a result of a “needs must” during a pandemic.” As 

such, officers consider that the design year and data used for the RIA (July 2020) by the 

applicant provides a reasonable basis for the purposes of decision making in assessing 

likely impact on affected town centres.  

 

41



 

 

8.6.6 The primary catchment area (PCA) for the development is based on a 30 minute drive time 

and the secondary catchment area (SCA) is based on a 30 to 60 minute drive time. The 

RIA explains that the identified catchment area is the same as that adopted for the King31 

planning application (S17/1262). Stantec have advised that the catchment area is extensive 

and reflects their understanding of the wide trade draw of large-scale DOCs. They have, 

however, noted that they anticipate that the proposed bulky goods floorspace would 

predominantly draw trade from a smaller catchment area, but would benefit from linked trips 

with the DOC. The catchment area is therefore considered to be appropriate.  
 

8.6.7 The applicant has provided an updated quantitative assessment of the impacts of the 

development. This takes into account the King31 Designer Outlet Centre that was approved 

under application S17/1262, which has now been implemented. It also takes account of 

committed developments at Castle Acres Shopping Centre, Leicester and The Maltings off 

Northgate, Newark-on-Trent. The assessment adopts four scenarios for cumulative trade 

impacts which, in summary, cover aggregate trading impacts (the highest cumulative retail 

impact – assuming no trading interactions between the two DOCs) and three other 

scenarios whereby each of the DOCs trades at lower sales densities due to competition 

between the two destinations. These reduced sales densities have been set at 50 percent, 

70 percent and 75 percent of the assumed benchmark sales densities. The assessment 

period has also been extended to 2025 to account for the future implementation of the 

second phase of the King31 development.  

 

8.6.8 The RIA shows comparison market shares for the main destinations within the catchment 

area (excluding special forms of trading (SFT) from non-store based expenditure such as 

internet sales, mail order and temporary market stalls). Across the entire catchment area, 

Grantham is estimated to have a comparison retail market share of 1.6 percent, ahead of 

Stamford (1.3 percent) and Newark (1.0 percent). No other centre within the PCA has an 

overall market share of more than 1 percent. Of the centres within the SCA Nottingham City 

Centre holds the highest overall market share (12.2 per cent), followed by Leicester City 

Centre (9.9 per cent) and Derby City Centre (6.8 per cent). Peterborough City Centre and 

Lincoln City Centre held market shares of 5.3 per cent and 5.2 per cent respectively. 
 

8.6.9 The proposed development is anticipated to achieve a turnover of £83.35m by 2025. This 

does not include turnover from the proposed replacement garden centre which is expected 

to achieve a similar level of sales to the existing Garden Centre. The total catchment area 

expenditure for comparison goods for 2025 is forecast to be £212m for Grantham, £175m 

for Stamford and £73m for Bourne. Newark-on-Trent turnover is expected to be £138m, 

Melton Mowbray £108m and Sleaford £73m. City Centres have a significantly higher 

comparison goods turnover with Nottingham expected to be £1,512m (£630m from their 

own residents), Lincoln £708m (£317m from their own residents) and Peterborough £666m 

(£292m from their own residents). This shows the draw of these larger centres, with 

significant comparison expenditure ‘leakage’ from other settlements in the PCA to these 

centres.  

 

8.6.10 The ‘solus’ impact of the proposed development does not take account of other committed 

retail developments, but is useful to set a context for the impact of the proposed 

development. The RIA indicates that the solus impact of the proposed development on 

comparison goods expenditure in Grantham town centre would be 3.2 percent, Stamford 

2.6 percent and Bourne 2.5 percent. The most affected centres in terms of solus impact 

42



 

 

would be Newark-on-Trent, Oakham and Melton Mowbray at 3.6 percent, 3.6 percent and 

3.5 percent respectively. 

 

8.6.11 The unlikely, but possible ‘worst case’ scenario in terms of impact on town centres is that 

both the Downtown DOC and Rioja DOV would be constructed and trade at 100 percent 

sales density. This modelling indicates that under that scenario cumulative trade draw 

impact on Grantham Town Centre for comparison goods expenditure would total 5.7 

percent, this reduces under the other scenarios. The highest cumulative impact would fall 

on Newark-on-Trent Town Centre with a ‘worst case’ figure of 9.7 percent. However, very 

limited weight is attributed to this scenario, which is considered to be highly unlikely to 

happen in reality. Stantec have advised the Council, that in reality it would be “implausible 

that there would be no trading interactions between the two outlet facilities”.  

 

8.6.12 Stantec have further advised that a cumulative impact scenario whereby both designer 

outlet centres trade at 25 percent below benchmark levels would be more realistic than the 

theoretical worst case scenario where both schemes compete and trade at 100 percent 

sales density. In this scenario the cumulative trade draw impact on Grantham Town Centre 

would total 4.4 percent, and Newark-on-Trent Town Centre would be impacted by 8.1 

percent, based on the applicant’s updated impact assessment. It is noted a recent variation 

to the Maltings development was approved under NSDC ref: 18/01137/OUTM in June 2019 

with a solus impact on Newark town centre of 6.1 percent, which did not take account of the 

potential cumulative impact from the then approved Rioja development. The figures used to 

model cumulative impact for this application take account of that approved scheme at the 

Maltings as well as the approved Rioja scheme.  

 

8.6.13 In this more realistic ‘worst case’ scenario, Melton Mowbray would be impacted by 4.4 

percent and Leicester 4.1 percent. In terms of other town centres within South Kesteven, 

Bourne Town Centre is expected to experience trade impacts of up to 2.7 percent and 

Stamford Town Centre impacts of up to 3.1 percent. Other main destinations would be less 

impacted, with Lincoln City experiencing a trade impact of up to 2.7 percent, Sleaford 3 

percent and Bingham 1.9 percent. 
 

Centres in PCA Solus impact (%) 100% cumulative 
impact (%) 

Cumulative impact 
with 25% less 
DOC sales (%) 

Health of 
centre 

Grantham 3.2 5.7 4.4 Relatively 
healthy 

Bourne 2.5 3.4 2.7 Performing 
well 

Sleaford 2.8 3.9 3.0 Performing 
well 

Stamford 2.6 4.0 3.1 Vital and 
viable 

Bingham 1.7 2.4 1.9 Healthy and 
vibrant centre 

Newark-on-Trent 3.6 9.7 8.1 Performing 
well 

43



 

 

Melton Mowbray 3.5 5.7 4.4 Performing 
well 

Oakham 3.6 4.7 3.7 Performing 
well 

 

Table 2 – Town centre impact and assessment of town centre health for those centres in the 

Primary Catchment Area.  

 

8.6.14 In terms of decision making, greatest weight is afforded to the more realistic worst case 

scenario whereby both schemes were constructed and traded at 75 percent due to trading 

interactions between the two outlet centres,. In other scenarios, where only one or neither 

of the outlet centres were constructed, clearly the trade draw impacts on town centres 

would be less than has been considered acceptable under the more realistic worst case 

scenario.  

 

8.7 Consideration of Impact on town centres 

 

8.7.1 Stantec have assessed the updated assessment of impact on town centres and conclude 

that even under the more realistic worst-case scenario, the cumulative percentage impacts 

identified by the applicant are unlikely to lead to a significant adverse impact on centres 

within the catchment area of the proposed development. There has been some criticism of 

the figures used for the retail impact assessment, the health of centre checks and the 

conclusions that are reached. In support of their arguments, Buckminster’s planning 

consultants NTR Planning have submitted their own appraisal of the retail impact 

assessment update. 

 

8.7.2 In its “Planning Appraisal”, NTR Planning states that they have done their own health check 

assessments of Grantham Town Centre and Newark-on-Trent Town Centre. NTR Planning 

concludes that Grantham Town Centre has an above average and increasing vacancy rate, 

a steady decline in the number of comparison goods retailers and a decline in the town 

centre’s environmental quality, particularly as a result of the number of vacant premises. 

NTR Planning concludes that Newark-on-Trent Town Centre has also declined in health 

since NTR Planning’s previous survey work. The vacancy rate has increased in the town 

centre as a whole and in the town centre’s Primary Shopping Area. NTR Planning also 

claims that confidence in the town centre is low, and that the pandemic has led to closures, 

with vacancies expected to rise. NSDC has supported this view in their own updated 

objection, noting an increase in vacancies and citing the negative impacts from the 

pandemic on the town centre.  

 

8.7.3 In response, Stantec has advised the Council as follows: “Just because a town centre has 

an above average vacancy rate, this does not mean that it cannot withstand any impacts 

from retail development outside of town centres. By its very nature, ‘an average’ means that 

some centres will be below average and others above average. A decline in the number of 

comparison goods retailers is a trend happening nationwide and is not specific to 

Grantham. More vacant units in a town centre, will have an effect on environmental quality. 

It is very difficult to accurately determine town centre health during a pandemic and multiple 

lockdown periods. People’s shopping patterns have changed dramatically over the past 

fifteen months and no-one knows to what extent such a change in shopping patterns will 

become the new normal. Predictably, during the pandemic, vacant units have increased 

44



 

 

nationwide and we do not know how many vacant units will be recycled after the pandemic 

ends. It is also difficult to tell whether units are vacant during a pandemic or are just 

temporarily closed due to government instructions. It can be expected that the applicant 

would focus on the strengths of the town centres and an objector would focus on the 

weaknesses of the town centres. Council officers will need to form their own view as to the 

health of the town centres.” 

 

8.7.4 Both the updated assessment by NTR Planning and the applicant’s retail assessment were 

undertaken during lockdown restrictions as a result of the pandemic. Officers agree that the 

pandemic and lockdown restrictions have undoubtedly presented difficulties with accurately 

assessing town centre vacancies and town centre health over the last 18 months. Equally, it 

is very difficult to predict the true impact of the pandemic on town centres as the country 

emerges from lockdown.  

 

8.7.5 Officers have assessed the updated information from the applicant in relation to the health 

of the town centres and in particular the centres of Grantham and Newark-on-Trent which 

have been challenged by the NTR Planning Appraisal and through representation from 

NSDC. Consideration has also been given to assessments made in the “Planning 

Appraisal” by NTR Planning and the updated representation from NSDC. Two site visits to 

both Grantham and Newark-on-Trent town centres were also carried out by Council officers 

in July 2021 in order to assess the submitted material in context and form a view on the 

health of these town centres. These were undertaken on a Saturday between 12 and 2pm 

and again between 7 and 9pm. 

 

8.7.6 The PPG advises the following indicators, and their changes over time, may be relevant in 

assessing the health of town centres, and planning for their future: diversity of uses; 

proportion of vacant street level property; commercial yields on non-domestic property; 

customers’ experience and behaviour; retailer representation and intentions to change 

representation; commercial rents; pedestrian flows; accessibility – this includes transport 

accessibility and accessibility for people with different impairments or health conditions, as 

well as older people with mobility requirements; perception of safety and occurrence of 

crime; state of town centre environmental quality; balance between independent and 

multiple stores; extent to which there is evidence of barriers to new businesses opening and 

existing businesses expanding; opening hours/availability/extent to which there is an 

evening and night time economy offer.  

 

8.7.7 This is an advisory list and it is not always appropriate or necessary to consider every 

indicator when forming a judgement on the health of a centre, However, clearly there are a 

range of factors that influence the judgement on the health of a town centre and these go 

beyond the number of vacant shops. During recent visits by Council officers, it is clear that 

there are some vacant units in both centres and based on the submitted material it is 

evident some of these became vacant during the lockdown periods as a result of the 

pandemic. The George Centre in Grantham has very few occupied units, although this has 

been the case for a number of years now and is a longstanding issue. There are 

proportionately more comparison goods and independent retailers in Newark than 

Grantham, as supported by the submitted material and as was evident when visiting the 

centres.  

 

8.7.8 Both centres have an attractive environment with the market area and surrounding streets 

in Newark town centre and Westgate in Grantham being particularly attractive. The 

45



 

 

investment and improvements to the shopfronts along Westgate have notably improved the 

environmental quality of that part of Grantham town centre. Both markets were active 

during the daytime site visit and there was a good level of footfall in both centres, which 

was one of the factors that could not be meaningfully assessed during the lockdown 

periods. There appeared to be a higher level of footfall during the daytime in both centres. 

Comparatively, both centres appeared to have a similar level of footfall during the evening 

visit, with higher levels of footfall in Newark during the day. Both centres were easily 

accessible by car and the train and bus services are evident in both towns.  

 

8.7.9 Both centres felt safe both during the daytime and evening visit with CCTV evident in both 

centres and no crime or Anti Social Behaviour observed. The new cinema was open in 

Grantham, after a period of closure during both lockdowns and had a reasonable level of 

footfall, although both restaurant units remained vacant. Both centres had a number of bars 

and restaurants open during the daytime and evening visits and again appeared to be 

trading well. In summary, and for the purposes of assessing impact and decision making, 

officers consider that the applicant’s updated RIA provides a reasonable assessment on the 

health of the affected town centres and Council officers agree with the conclusions that are 

reached. The same methodology was applied to the assessment of other centres, and 

whilst Council officers have not carried out recent site visits to other centres, there is no 

evidence to challenge the conclusions and judgments made by the applicant.    

 

8.7.10 In the “Planning Appraisal”, NTR Planning argues that in its own retail impact assessment, 

they have forecast that the application proposals and commitments combined will have an 

impact on Grantham Town Centre of 7.0 -9.8 percent and 11.7-14.9 percent for Newark-on-

Trent. They consider this to be significant and have provided appeal decisions to support 

this view. 

 

8.7.11 In response, Stantec has advised the Council as follows: “In our view, whether a 

percentage impact of a retail proposal will have a significant adverse impact on town centre 

health is a judgement call to be made by the decision maker. It is too simplistic to cite 

previous Inspectors’ decisions and state that just because a decision maker reached a 

conclusion in relation to the impact test elsewhere, that that same conclusion should be 

reached here. If the Council is satisfied that the applicant’s percentage impacts and 

conclusions in relation to town centre health are robust, then we are of the view that a 4.4% 

impact on Grantham Town Centre and a 8.1% impact on Newark-upon-Trent Town Centre 

are unlikely to be considered to be significantly adverse.” As above, officers have 

considered the applicant’s updated RIA as well as various objections and evidence from 

interested parties. The submitted cumulative trade draw impacts figures for the likely worst 

case scenario and assessment of the health of the centres are considered to be suitably 

robust for the purposes of decision making and therefore it is considered unlikely that the 

proposed development would have a significant adverse impact on the vitality and viability 

of any affected town centres.  

 

8.7.12 In the “Planning Appraisal”, NTR Planning disagrees with a number of inputs to the 

applicant’s Updated Impact Assessment, notably: 

 

• The design year; 

• Special Forms of Trading percentage deductions; 

• A reliance on old market share data; and 

• Reduced turnover as a result of competition with Grantham Designer Outlet Village. 

46



 

 

 

8.7.13 In response, Stantec has advised the Council as follows: “We know from our extensive 

town centre and retail planning experience that applicants, objectors and consultants in 

general reach different conclusions in relation to inputs into retail impact assessments. The 

design year is a matter of judgement. The applicant has forecast a likely design year and 

NTR Planning disagrees with the design year. The objection from NTR Planning has used 

more recent Special Forms of Trading percentage deductions, but this is because their 

objection was made after the new data were released. In any event, impact assessments 

are difficult forecasts to make in the middle of a pandemic. Whilst the applicant has used 

older market share data, any market share data collected at the current time, would be in a 

midst of a pandemic and it is very uncertain as to whether current shopping patterns are the 

new normal, or whether they are just as a result of a “needs must” during a pandemic. As 

such, we do not take issue with the market share data used by the applicant. We are 

strongly of the opinion that the application proposals and Grantham Designer Outlet Village 

will take trade from each other and, as a result, the application proposals with have a 

reduced turnover. In reality, it is implausible that there would be no trading interactions 

between the two outlet facilities that could be developed at Grantham. A cumulative impact 

scenario whereby both designer outlet centres trade at 25% below benchmark levels, is, in 

our view, realistic.”  

 

8.7.14 The NTR Planning Appraisal also models four scenarios, each based on a differing 

proportion of trade that the proposed development could potentially draw from the primary 

and secondary catchment areas. This is based on the assertion that the proposed 

development would not function as a Tier 1 DOC, but would instead compete directly with 

the town centre. Drawing on the expertise of the Council's appointed specialist retail 

consultants Stantec, there is no evidence or validity to the concerns about the Council 

considers that it is able to impose suitably restrictive conditions and S106 obligations on the 

site to ensure that the scheme remains a Tier 1 destination. Therefore, the proportionate 

trade draw figures used in the applicant’s RIA of 37.5 percent from the PCA, 55 percent 

from the SCA and 7.5 percent from elsewhere are considered to be a reasonable approach 

in terms of modelling potential impact.  

 

8.8 Consideration of impact on Planned Investment 

 

8.8.1 Paragraph 90 of the NPPF requires consideration of the impact of the proposal on existing, 

committed and planned public and private investment in a centre or centres in the 

catchment area of the proposal. 

 

8.8.2 In the applicant’s updated RIA, they consider the impact of the proposal on the following 

town centre investments which are either open, near completion or in the case of the former 

M&S building in Newark, now funded to be repurposed for residential living and new 

commercial and office space through their own successful £25m Town’s Fund bid. 

 

• the cinema-anchored leisure scheme in Grantham town centre, which opened in July 

2018  

• the refurbishment of the Riverside Shopping Centre in Sleaford town centre, which is 

now complete or nearing completion; and 

• NSDC’s recent acquisition of the former M&S building in Newark-on-Trent town centre. 

 

47



 

 

8.8.3 In addition, the applicant provided a review of the impact of the proposal on the successful 

Future High Streets Fund application for Grantham. This considers the three key areas of 

the bid including repurposing of retail space towards other uses; strengthening external 

links to the Town Centre, and enhancement of infrastructure and public realm. 

 

8.8.4 The review sets out the recommended controls by way of condition and in the S106 

agreement that would be in place to protect town centre uses in Grantham, Newark and 

Balderton. In this respect the applicant concludes the proposed development would not 

have an adverse impact on this element of the bid, notably in terms of repurposing 

unoccupied retail space for residential uses. In terms of strengthening links with the town 

centre, the applicant draws on the existing and proposed public transport links between the 

application site and Grantham town centre, as well as the proposed tourist information 

centre, visitor centre and pop-up shop that the DOC would provide. Finally, in terms of 

enhancement of infrastructure and public realm the applicant provides details of provision 

within the S106 agreement for £150,000 towards town centre enhancement; £150,000 

towards town centre car parking management / signage initiatives; £30,000 towards 

enhanced signage in and around the town centre; and £150,000 towards the provision of 

promoting tourism within Grantham town centre and wider environs and a tourist officer. In 

considering above, the applicant concludes that the proposed development would have no 

significant adverse impact on the £5.56m Future High Streets Fund award for Grantham. 

 

8.8.5 As mentioned above, Newark has been successful in being awarded £25m from the 

Government’s Town’s Fund Initiative. The priority projects include: 

 

• IASTI (Newark) - an International Air Space and Training Institute which will create new 

jobs locally and train the next generation of skills-matched aviation professionals with 

military and civil partners including pilots, engineers and ground staff. 

• Expanding the YMCA Newark and Sherwood Community and Activity Village by 

constructing a new state of the art home to sports and leisure facilities, music and art 

spaces, conferencing, a wellbeing and health delivery service suite, culinary training, the 

largest outdoor skate park in the East Midlands and an Olympic climbing centre. 

• Working with University partners to develop a Smart Innovation, Supply Chain and Logistics 

Enterprise zone to create a centre of excellence with regional and national significance and 

to provide access to skills development and career pathways. 

• The Castle Gate House project to enhance the experience of Newark’s foremost historical 

asset and transform the Castle into a major attraction for residents and visitors alike. 

• The redevelopment of 32 Stodman Street (the former Marks and Spencer’s) to create high 

quality Town Centre residential living and new commercial and office space, creating 

activity and footfall 

• Newark Cultural Heart – plans to drive and measure additional footfall and local spend 

through the repurposing of public buildings and spaces, an ongoing calendar of events and 

activities, and developing a brand and tone of voice for the town. 

• The relocation of the current police station on Queen’s Road to Castle House, enabling us 

to keep and work more closely with Police colleagues and allowing the redevelopment of 

the current site 

 

8.8.6 Aspirations to work with a range of partners to transform Newark into a ’20-minute town’, 

giving people the ability to meet most of their everyday needs within a 20-minute walk, 

cycle or local public transport trip from their home 

48



 

 

 

8.8.7 It is not necessary to consider the impact of the proposed development on the private 

investment for the Rioja development for the purposes of paragraph 90 of the NPPF as this 

is an out of centre retail development. In this respect, Stantec have advised as follows: “The 

Buckminster permission is not in a defined centre that benefits from policy protection. On 

this basis, the applicant does not need to consider the impact of the proposed development 

on the Buckminster investment.” 

 

8.8.8 In the “Planning Appraisal”, NTR Planning sets out that, in the Future High Streets Fund 

bid, the Council provided a SWOT analysis of the health of Grantham Town Centre and that 

the number of weaknesses outweighs the strengths of the town centre. NTR argues that the 

proposed development causes an adverse impact on the planned investments which are 

proposed through the fund. 

 

8.8.9 In response, Stantec have advised the Council as follows: “The first point to make is that it 

is not unusual for a Future High Streets Fund bid to focus on the weaknesses of a town 

centre. In fact, such a bid would be unlikely to obtain funding if the bid focused on the 

strengths of a town centre. 

 

8.8.10 Secondly, we have considered the planned investment in Grantham Town Centre as part of 

the FHSF and the applicant’s commentary on the impact of the application proposals on 

this planned investment. The Council submitted its bid for the FHSF funding in the 

knowledge that there was a resolution to grant planning permission for the application 

proposals subject to a Section 106 Agreement. Officers consider that such planned 

investment will be delivered in Grantham Town Centre regardless of whether planning 

permission is granted for the application proposals. It is also important to consider the 

extent to which the application proposals will impact on the planned investment; whilst the 

planned investment should increase the turnover of main town centres within the town 

centre, will those benefits be outweighed by the diversion of trade?” 

 

8.8.11 Officers consider that the proposed development will have no impact on the planned 

investment to repurpose retail space to other uses including residential uses. As set out 

above, there is likely to be some impact on existing retail facilities within the town centre; 

however, this is not an impact on planned investment and would be mitigated by the 

proposed S106 Agreement and restrictive conditions. The application proposals should, in 

the main, draw different custom than the existing town centre offer does. The applicant will 

put in place some measures to create linkages between the application proposals and 

Grantham Town Centre. The monies set out in the Section 106 Agreement, referred to 

above, will help add to the planned investment in infrastructure and public realm. In the 

view of officers, the application proposals will not impact on the planned investment in 

infrastructure and public realm. On the basis of the above, officers are satisfied that the 

application proposals will not have a significant adverse impact on the planned FHSF 

investment in Grantham Town Centre. 

 

8.8.12 Officers have considered the applicant’s assessment of the potential impacts of the 

proposed development on the successful Future High Streets Fund for Grantham and 

following advice from Stantec, do not consider that it would result in a significant adverse 

impact on this planned investment. Whilst no consideration has been made of the potential 

impacts of the proposed development on the successful £25m Town’s Fund award for 

49



 

 

Newark, similar conclusions can be reached as is the case with the Future High Streets 

Fund. The key aspects of the bid that focus on the town centre, the repurposing of the 

former Marks and Spencer building and Newark Cultural Heart are unlikely to be adversely 

impacted by the proposed development. Further, as with the Future High Streets Fund, the 

Town’s Fund bid was made in the knowledge there was a resolution to grant planning 

permission for this application and the approved retail developments at the Maltings and the 

Rioja DOV. The proposed development will not impact on the planned investment to 

repurpose retail buildings for residential and other uses. Likewise, through the proposed 

planning conditions and controls in the S106 agreement (which extend to Newark) the 

impact on existing retailers will be mitigated.  

 

8.9 Objections in relation to impact 

 

8.9.1 Concern has been raised that the applicants have not considered the implications of 

changes to the use class order on the proposed development. Three points are raised in 

this respect; the first being whether there are any more sequentially preferable sites as a 

result of changes to the use class order which has been discussed above.  

 

8.9.2 The second point is that changes are needed to the proposed package of planning 

conditions and obligations to ensure the proposed development is sufficiently restrained to 

prevent it and the other buildings at Downtown from taking advantage of the new Class E in 

a manner which would be detrimental to town centres within the PCA and SCA. This is 

because the planning regime allows for certain changes of use without the need for an 

application for planning permission, either through permitted development rights or through 

operation of the Use Classes Order. In this case, it is considered necessary to disapply the 

operation of certain permitted development rights and the Use Classes Order to ensure that 

certain changes of use cannot occur. In order to achieve this, a series of conditions and 

S106 planning obligations are proposed to control and restrict the uses of certain parts of 

the development (and the existing Downtown store) so as to ensure that the scheme that is 

delivered is consistent with that which has been assessed. 

 

8.9.3 The third point is what impact the new Class E could have on the surrounding town centres 

as some existing edge of centre and out of centre developments could now potentially 

change from their existing authorised use to a retail use without the need for planning 

permission. This increase in flexibility does not necessarily result in any further retail impact 

on town centres i.e. just because a use may benefit from these rights, it doesn’t follow that 

they would inevitably take advantage of that situation. Equally, the previous need for 

express planning permission would not necessarily prevent that change of use happening. 

Further, the changes to the Use Class Order and specifically the creation of Class E has 

been accompanied by new permitted development rights including the change of use from 

Class E to residential use. The overall purpose of this is to provide greater flexibility for 

town centre uses and support residential development in town centres to support their 

vitality and viability. Whilst some edge of centre and out of centre developments could 

benefit from these changes, it would be a very difficult exercise to model the potential 

impacts of these changes on town centres. Therefore limited weight is given to this 

argument and there is no evidence to suggest that the potential impact of these changes 

would outweigh the policy considerations for new retail developments in the Local Plan and 

NPPF. 

 

50



 

 

8.9.4 Carter Jonas (CJ) previously prepared their own impact assessment on behalf of Newark 

and Sherwood District Council (NSDC), focussing on the impacts of the development on 

Newark. This suggested the development would have higher trade impacts on Newark 

Town Centre than the applicant’s revised impact assessment, including solus impact of 

5.4% and cumulative impacts of between 7.1% and 8.6% in 2022. The main reason for 

these predicted higher trade impacts was that CJ makes an allowance for uplift in the 

turnover of the existing retail floorspace at the application site which adds additional retail 

turnover of almost £24 million in 2022. The Council’s retail consultant previously advised 

that if the additional turnover included by CJ is removed they would expect that their model 

would indicate similar levels of trade impact to the applicant’s revised assessment.  

 

8.9.5 In order to limit the potential for the scenario modelled by CJ materialising (i.e. that bulky 

goods are moved from the existing downtown store into the proposed Downtown@Home 

unit and the floorspace in the existing store being repurposed for the sale of non-bulky 

goods) the proposed Section 106 agreement contains a planning obligation restricting the 

use of an area of floorspace in the existing store equivalent to the sales area of the 

proposed Downtown@Home unit to bulky goods sales only. This would mitigate some of 

the impact envisaged by Newark and Sherwood District Council in that the existing area of 

floorspace used for bulky goods sales in the existing store would be retained and could not 

be used for the sale of non-bulky goods (A total area equivalent to 3,149 sqm). 

 

8.9.6 The City of Lincoln Council and Peterborough City Council has also previously raised 

objections to the proposed development on the grounds that it will impact on the vitality and 

viability of the City Centres. The proposed development could result in Lincoln City 

experiencing a potential level of trade impact up to 2.7 percent and Peterborough City 

experiencing a trade impact of up to 1.9 percent. It is considered that such levels of impact 

would not significantly harm the vitality and viability nor any planned investment in these 

centres. 

 

8.9.7 Intu previously objected to the proposed development who own and manage the intu 

Victoria Centre and intu Broadmarsh in Nottingham. They raised concerns that the 

applicants submitted retail impact assessment does not consider the impact on existing 

committed planned investment in Nottingham City centre (i.e. the intu Broadmarsh 

redevelopment and extension and the intu Victoria Centre extension). 

 

8.9.8 Council officers consider that the sequential assessment and retail impact assessment 

submitted by the applicant have been undertaken in accordance with the requirements of 

the NPPF. The Council’s Retail Consultant previously considered the comments submitted 

on behalf of Intu and advised that it is not necessary for committed in-centre schemes such 

as the Victoria and Broadmarsh Centre developments to be included within the cumulative 

impact assessment set out in paragraph 90 of the NPPF and that such schemes are 

expected to promote trade within, and healthy competition between, town centres. The 

reason for this approach is that significant in-centre commitments will improve the turnover 

of existing centres, clawing back trade from and diluting the impact of out-of-centre retail 

destinations. If in-centre commitments were included in a cumulative impact assessment it 

becomes difficult to determine between trade impacts that are subject to the relevant policy 

tests and those that aren’t. The Council’s retail consultant has indicated that this reflects the 

approach to the assessment of cumulative impact undertaken in respect of the permitted 

proposals for a designer outlet village at Mill Green, Cannock, which was accepted by the 

Secretary of State when deciding not to call the application in for determination purposes. 

51



 

 

 

8.9.9 The Councils consultant has also advised that they have considered the impacts of the 

proposed development on the intu proposals under the terms of the first criterion of 

paragraph 90 of the NPPF (impact of the proposal on existing, committed and planned 

public and private investment in a centre or centres in the catchment area of the proposal) 

and concluded that the application scheme would not give rise to significant adverse 

impacts.  

 

8.9.10 Buckminster Estates and Rioja Developments (the promoters of the Grantham Designer 

Outlet Village (GDOV) at the King 31 site) have also consistently objected to the proposed 

development and the concerns are summarised above.  
 

8.9.11 Following initial concern raised by the Council’s Retail consultant and the objections from 

Buckminster and Rioja the applicants retail consultants updated their analysis to undertake 

additional retail impact sensitivity testing. 

 

8.9.12 The objections from Buckminster suggested that there were two scenarios that required 

further consideration. The first scenario suggested that the existing retail floorspace at the 

application site, within the existing Downtown store, could be subdivided and used by a 

range of different non-outlet retailers, thereby changing the overall nature of the Downtown 

development and potentially increasing trade impacts on nearby town centres. It should 

however be noted that there are currently no restrictions on the existing store and this 

scenario could therefore currently occur under the existing planning consent at the site. 

 

8.9.13 Officers discussed the issue with the applicants and propose a number of appropriate 

restrictions through a S106 agreement in order to control the future ability of the applicants 

or future occupiers of the existing store to subdivide the building into smaller units or to 

increase the proportion of floorspace used for the sale of non-bulky goods. On this basis, 

the Council’s retail consultant has indicated that in their professional opinion this represents 

a benefit over the extant position. Third party objectors to the development have suggested 

the potential for the existing retail floorspace at the application site to be occupied by 

alternative retailers should be modelled as part of the retail assessment. However, the 

Council’s retail consultant indicated that, in their opinion, in the context of the extant 

position, and, crucially the controls proposed, such an assessment is unnecessary in 

determining the acceptability of the proposals, and officers concur with this position. 

 

8.9.14 The second scenario proposes that the existing retail floorspace at the application site 

could be repurposed and used to provide additional outlet centre floorspace which would be 

beyond that envisaged by the current application. The Council’s retail consultant has 

advised that the potential for any such impact would be significantly restricted by the 

proposed Section 106 agreement which would restrict the subdivision of the existing 

floorspace so that no units of less than 929 sqm could be created. There would also be an 

obligation limiting the area of floorspace that could be used for the sale of non-bulky 

comparison goods in the existing store. The Council’s retail consultant indicated that even if 

some of the existing retail floorspace was to be occupied by outlet retailers it is unlikely that 

this would result in higher trade impacts on nearby town centres given that such retailers 

would be expected to trade at lower sales densities and draw trade from a wider area than 

full-price retail operators. The comparative position invited by the applicant is little different 

from the extant baseline therefore. 

52



 

 

 

8.9.15 Concern was previously raised in relation to the design and layout of the proposed scheme 

and the future relationship between the full price and outlet retail provision proposed at the 

site. A key component of this argument is that the application scheme will not be attractive 

to premium outlet operators due to its design and its proximity to the full –priced and 

middlemarket outlet retail offer currently provided by Downtown and Boundary Mills. 

Buckminster and Rioja, promoting the King31 site, have therefore indicated that in their 

opinion the proposed development would not be capable of operating as a ‘Tier 1’ designer 

outlet centre that is capable of attracting the premium brands. 

 

8.9.16 The applicant’s agent has responded along with Freeport Retail who are working in 

partnership with Oldrids & Downtown to deliver the proposed development. They have 

indicated that they are confident that they can deliver a scheme which will be attractive to 

‘Tier 1’ retailers. Freeport have indicated that they have a proven record of delivering retail 

outlet centres across Europe. Most recently The Village in Villefontaine, France which 

opened in May 2018. 

 

8.9.17 The applicant’s agent has also pointed out that the development at Cheshire Oaks sits 

immediately adjacent to full price retail and has worked successfully. 

 

8.9.18 The Council’s retail consultant has indicated that they have some sympathy with the view of 

third party objectors that the delivery of two ‘Tier 1’ developments at Grantham would not 

be a commercially viable proposition. However, Rioja previously acknowledged that ‘it is not 

the function of the UK planning system to regulate market competition issues and that if the 

two schemes were similar it could be considered right to grant permission for both and ‘let 

the market decide’. Rioja go on to set out why the schemes should not be considered 

comparable. Notwithstanding this, both the development proposed at the King 31 site and 

the development the subject of this application will require significant investment to be 

constructed and brought into operation and investors will be aware of the planning 

restrictions placed on both schemes. It is the Council’s retail consultant’s opinion that in 

reality only one of the schemes is ever likely to be built and let and that it will be the most 

commercially viable of the two proposals which is ultimately developed. 

 

8.9.19 Notwithstanding this point both officers and the Council’s retail consultants are satisfied that 

appropriate controls have been recommended to ensure that the proposed retail 

development at the site would operate in the manner envisaged regardless of whether the 

King 31 development is delivered and on this basis the officers consider that the two 

developments can be compared as Tier 1 retail developments.  

 

8.9.20 Buckminster Estates previously raised concern that the application scheme will struggle to 

attract premium retailers due to the location of the application site and nature of its existing 

retail offer. They suggested that the proposed designer outlet centre would require a critical 

mass of premium outlet brands to ‘pull up its market positioning’ to ‘achieve Tier 1 status’.  

 

8.9.21 The objection suggested that in a scenario where planning permission was granted for both 

designer outlet schemes, that the permitted scheme at King31 would attract the necessary 

premium tenants due to its ‘superior location and purpose-built high end design’ whilst the 

application scheme would be entirely occupied by mid-market retailers who would be drawn 

from the ‘bottom end’ of the permitted retailers list that forms part of the draft S106. In these 

circumstances, Buckminster asserted that the application scheme would compete directly 

53



 

 

with Grantham Town Centre and other nearby town centres. On this point, Stantec advised 

that no examples of operators or brands that would constitute ‘mid-market’ were provided, 

nor any means by which such a distinction could be made were provided. On their own 

review of the schedule of permitted retailers, Stantec only identified 21 out of the 650 

retailers that were considered to have a broader mid-market appeal. On this basis the 

schedule of permitted retailers and brands annexed to the S106 agreement is considered to 

provide sufficient control to ensure the proposed development is of the intended quality.  

 

8.9.22 Additional drafting was proposed that sought to have the effect of requiring the DOC to be 

occupied by a specified number of higher end brands. On this point Stantec advised that 

they did not consider that the proposed additional control would be necessary or 

reasonable as it would be unlikely that any particular combination of the retailers or brands 

contained within the draft permitted retailers list would result in a materially different pattern 

of trade draw or diversion to that previously considered as part of the current planning 

application. 

 

8.9.23 With regard to the proposed controls, concern has been raised in relation to the proposed 

‘no poaching clause’ which would form part of the S106 obligations. A ‘no poaching clause’ 

was imposed on the planning permission for the designer outlet village at the King 31 site. 

This prevents any retailer present within Grantham Town Centre from occupying space 

within the proposed development unless they commit to maintaining a Town Centre 

presence whilst they occupy a retail unit on the King 31 site. In the case of this current 

application, it is proposed that the ‘no poaching’ clause will apply to the town centres at 

Grantham, Newark and Balderton, and that the town centre retailers would only be able to 

occupy space within the proposed development if they commit to maintaining a town centre 

presence for at least five years from first occupation of the DOC unit. The clause would 

relate to both the existing retail building and the proposed new DOC development. 

 

8.9.24 Some of the objections have raised concerns about the proposed wording of this clause, in 

particular the fact that it would be limited to a 5 year period. The applicant’s agent has 

indicated that the proposed approach has been endorsed as lawful by recent planning 

decisions and case law including the High Court decision in R (Skelmersdale) v West 

Lancashire BC [2016] EWHC 109 (Admn) and the Scotch Corner Designer Outlet Village 

decision of the Secretary of State. Given that similarly worded restrictions, including the 5 

year time period, have been used elsewhere it is considered that the proposed wording can 

be considered an acceptable mechanism for controlling the proposed development, 

including the minimum five year time limit which is considered to be proportionate and to act 

as a considerable deterrent to the relocation of existing town centre retailers. The Council’s 

Retail Consultant has considered the use of a 5 year period and in the context of this 

proposal considers that to be acceptable. It is therefore considered that such a restriction 

should form part of the suite of planning controls and that this should apply to both the 

existing floorspace as well as the proposed designer outlet centre. 

 

8.9.25 In addition to the above, the objections from Buckminster also included two separate legal 

opinions from Bill Hicks QC in relation to the proposed application. Officers have 

considered the representations made and consider that there is no in principle objection to 

the favourable determination of this application. That determination is essentially based 

upon a series of planning judgments, based on development plan policies and other 

relevant material considerations, which are discussed within this report. Moreover, it is 

important to remember that there is a commercial motivation behind the competing 

54



 

 

representations, in particular some degree of caution has to be applied to the complaints of 

the operator of the consented scheme that a rival scheme cannot be controlled to operate 

in a similar way. Officer’s view is that similar controls are proposed in both cases and will be 

equally successful in respect of each.  

 

8.10 Conclusion on the Impact Assessment 

 

8.10.1 Whilst it is unlikely that two large DOCs aimed at high-end retailers and brands in close 

proximity would be commercially viable (it is likely that the market will deliver only one of the 

schemes), nonetheless the Council is obliged to carry out the assessment on the basis of 

the unlikely eventuality that both DOCs being operational and consider their cumulative 

effects, since that prospect cannot be ruled out. 

 

8.10.2 The application has been assessed on the basis of the ‘worst case’ scenario in retail impact 

terms where both the King31 and the Downtown designer outlet centres are constructed 

and operated and sensitivity testing has also been carried out. In this scenario Stantec have 

advised that it would be implausible that both developments would operate at 100 percent 

and have advised that applying a competition factor of 25 percent is more realistic. This 

assessment has taken into account the third party objections to the development and the 

additional information and updates provided by the applicant. Whilst there has been 

criticism of the submitted supporting information and updates, the Council’s consultants and 

Officers are nonetheless satisfied that a robust assessment has been undertaken. 

 

8.10.3 Taking all of the above into account and the specialist advice provided by the Council’s 

retail consultants Stantec, Officers conclude that the proposal would not significantly harm 

the vitality or viability nor any planned investment in any existing town centres. To the 

contrary, notwithstanding some diversion of trade, considered overall, the proposed 

development would support and enhance Grantham’s status as a sub-regional centre and 

growth point. The proposals therefore comply with the requirements of the NPPF and Local 

Plan Policies SD1, SP1, SP2 and GR4.  

 

8.11 Socio-economic considerations 

 

8.11.1 Local Plan Policy SD1 sets out the broad principles for achieving sustainable development 

in South Kesteven. The policy requires consideration of a number of issues including 

contributing towards creating a strong, stable and more diverse economy. Likewise, 

Policies SP1 and SP2 seek to focus development and growth on Grantham to strengthen 

its role as a sub-regional centre. 

 

8.11.2 Policy E9 supports proposals for development of the local visitor economy. The proposals 

are for retail development, however, it is recognised that outlet centres attract visitors from 

the regional area. The S106 agreement includes provision for a tourist information point to 

encourage visits to tourist sites elsewhere within the region.  

 

8.11.3 The applicant has submitted a Socio–Economic Impact Statement (updated July 2020) in 

support of the application. The study considers the net social and economic impacts of the 

proposed development, and specifically seeks to quantify the: 

 

• Direct retail impact in terms of additional local retail jobs; 

• Direct employment impact from new local jobs from other uses in the development; 

55



 

 

• Indirect / wider social and economic impacts from the scheme; and 

• Temporary construction jobs enabled through the scheme. 
 

8.11.4 The Socio-Economic Impact Statement seeks to establish a baseline socio-economic 

position for the local area. The main findings were: 

 

• “South Kesteven’s predominant industry is wholesale and retail trade and repair of 
motor vehicles and motorcycles; 

• Wage levels for those living in South Kesteven are lower than those living in the East 
Midlands or in Great Britain more generally; 

• Those working in South Kesteven have lower wages than those who work in the Wider 
Impact Area (North Kesteven District, Newark & Sherwood District, Rutland Unitary 
and Melton Borough), the East Midlands and Great Britain; 

• Unemployment in South Kesteven is lower than in the East Midlands and nationally; 

• The number of people claiming work related benefits in South Kesteven is also lower 
than both the East Midlands and the national average; 

• Overall, South Kesteven’s population is less skilled than that of the East Midlands and 
Great Britain; and 

• A greater number of people are travelling out of South Kesteven to find work than are 
travelling in.” 

 

8.11.5 The applicant’s socio-economic report highlights the importance of construction jobs to the 

national economy in terms of helping to drive the economic growth and improve 

productivity. The report indicates that as construction employment is very mobile and often 

involves large construction companies, it is likely that a large proportion of the construction 

jobs will be filled by people outside of the local area (50%). The development is likely to 

generate 480 construction jobs. As a result, the net local construction jobs per annum for 

the build period would therefore be 240 over 2.5 years. 

 

8.11.6 In terms of direct employment benefits it is estimated that the proposed development will 

generate approximately 1,350 Gross Additional Full Time Equivalent (FTE) jobs. This 

equates to 1,770 – 1,800 gross additional total jobs (i.e. full and part time). The report 

states that Oldrid & Co have a demonstrable record of recruiting and retaining local 

employees (currently 90% in this location). Given this record it is assumed that there will be 

10% leakage of the jobs outside of the district. 

 

8.11.7 Taking the above into account and relevant displacement and multiplier effects the 

Addendum Socio-Economic Impact Assessment indicates that the development would 

result in an estimated net additional FTE jobs figure of 1,214 and a net additional total jobs 

figure (full & part time) of 1,620 within South Kesteven. 

 

8.11.8 In terms of wider benefits, the report indicates that there is significant ‘leakage’ of spend to 

DOCs outside of the Primary Catchment Area, including Bicester Village Outlet, East 

Midlands Designer Outlet, Springfields Outlet Shopping Centre and York Designer Outlet. 

The provision of a high quality DOC in Grantham would therefore facilitate competition with 

other DOCs and help ‘clawback’ some of this spend. The report also indicates that 

Designer Outlet Centres have a proven track record of attracting tourists and it is expected 

that the application scheme will target the tourist market with its marketing mix. Although no 

specific data has been provided at this stage it is considered likely that some visitors will 

56



 

 

make linked trips to Grantham and other nearby towns and therefore helping to support the 

local economy further by spending on the other attractions in the area. 
 

8.11.9 The proposals also include a new Training Academy which aims to support the 

development of local residents and businesses. The Training Academy will introduce 

opportunities for further learning and career development and will be provided in 

association with local educational establishments and business. Grantham College has 

confirmed that they have been in discussion with the applicants and that they fully support 

the proposals. The Training Academy would either be delivered on site or a Training 

Scheme Contribution would be made towards the provision of a Training Scheme and in 

either event this is to be secured via a planning obligation. 
 

8.11.10 Buckminster have objected on the basis that granting permission for this application would 

jeopardise the benefits of the Rioja DOV that are recognised in the supporting text of the 

local plan. As has already been discussed, it is acknowledged that the potential for both 

schemes coming forward is unlikely and in this scenario both designer outlet centres 

trading at 25 percent below benchmark levels is considered more realistic. However, this 

remains a possibility and in that scenario there would be benefits from both schemes. The 

reduction in trade density would mean it would be unlikely that the full benefits of both 

schemes would be realised, however it is unlikely this relationship would be linear and is 

therefore difficult to accurately quantify. That said, in the event of both schemes coming 

forward, the cumulative benefits including job creation and increased visitor footfall and 

tourism would be significant.   

 

8.11.11 In the scenario of only one of the developments coming forward then only the socio-

economic benefits of one of the schemes would be realised. The Rioja DOV estimated the 

development would create between 1,100 and 1,200 net additional FTE jobs. Should the 

Rioja scheme come forward and not the Downtown scheme, the net benefits would remain 

as would exist if planning permission for this application is refused. Therefore, in the event 

that only one scheme comes forward the net socio-economic benefits; including job 

creation, increased visitor footfall and potential for linked trips, town centre improvements,  

and increased tourism, of either scenario are considered to be broadly comparable.  

 

8.12 Conclusion on Socio-Economic considerations 

 

8.12.1 The Council appointed AMION Consulting to undertake a review of the applicant’s Socio-

Economic Impact Statement and its Addendum. Amion advised that, overall, the Socio-

Economic Impact Statement report combined with the Addendum Note provides a 

reasonable and fair assessment of the potential benefits from the proposed scheme. 

 

8.12.2 Whilst it is difficult to provide definite socio-economic impacts of a development of this 

nature it is considered that there are reasonable prospects that the proposed scheme would 

provide the following socio-economic benefits: 

 

• Up to 240 net local temporary construction jobs per year over the 2.5 year construction 
period 

• Up to 1,214 full time equivalent or 1,620 total (full & Part-time) local jobs 

• The opportunity to clawback spend currently ‘leaked’ to other Designer Outlet Centres 
outside of the district 

57



 

 

• Increase tourism and visitor footfall to the local area 

• Enhance the image of Grantham as a retail, leisure and visitor destination 

• Planning obligations for town centre improvements within Grantham 

• Educational links via the development of the Training Academy 
 

8.12.3 In the event of both outlet schemes coming forward, the cumulative socio-economic 

benefits would be significant, albeit likely to be reduced for each scheme due to the 

anticipated reduced trading density, but nevertheless greater than the ‘solus’ benefits of 

each scheme. In the scenario of only one of the outlet schemes coming forward, the net 

socio-economic benefits of either scheme coming forward are considered to be broadly 

comparable. This would ensure the proposed development makes a significant contribution 

to the economic and growth objectives of the Local Plan and is in accordance with policies 

SD1, SP1, E9 and SP2.   

 

8.13 Transport and Access 

8.13.1 Local Plan Policy GR2 seeks to ensure that major developments around Grantham make 

an appropriate contribution to necessary transport improvements and the delivery of the 

objectives of the Grantham Transport Strategy. Policy ID2 requires that new development 

will be required to contribute to transport improvements in line with appropriate evidence, 

including the Infrastructure Delivery Schedule, the Local Transport Plan and local transport 

strategies.   

 

8.13.2 The NPPF (July 2021) states in paragraph 110 states that in assessing sites that may be 

allocated for development in plans, or specific applications for development, it should be 

ensured that appropriate opportunities to promote sustainable transport modes can be- or 

have been – taken up, given the type of development and its location; safe and suitable 

access to the site can be achieved for all users; and any significant impacts from the 

development on the transport network (in terms of capacity and congestion), or on highway 

safety, can be cost effectively mitigated to an acceptable degree. 

 

8.13.3 Paragraph 111 states that development should only be prevented or refused on highways 

grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the residual 

cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe. 

 

8.13.4 Paragraph 113 states that all developments which generate significant amounts of 

movement should be required to provide a travel plan, and the application should be 

support by a transport statement or transport assessment so that the likely impacts of the 

proposal can be assessed. 

 

8.13.5 The Environmental Statement addendum (July 2020) submitted in support of the application 

summarises and updates various previous documents (these documents will be referred to 

cumulatively as the TA). These were undertaken by Hub Transport Planning Limited 

(previously PTB Transport Planning Ltd) on behalf of the applicants. 

 

8.13.6 The indicative master plan shows a total of 1,979 parking spaces on site. This includes a 

four-level multi storey car park consisting of 1,020 parking spaces and 959 surface parking 

spaces. 11 coach parking bays are also proposed within the site. Provision will also be 

made for a new enhanced bus service between the site and Grantham Town Centre, cycle 

spaces and provision of electric vehicle charging spaces. 

 

58



 

 

8.13.7 The existing eastern access to the site is taken from Occupation Lane in the form of a ghost 

island right turn. The proposed development would maintain this access. It is, however, 

proposed to amend the layout of the junction so that priority is given to traffic movements 

between Occupation Lane North and the site, with the southern section of Occupation Lane 

giving way. The dominant flow at the junction would be in and out of the proposed 

development site. As a result, the proposed improvements would assist the operation of the 

junction and help ensure queues and delays do not occur on the highway network. 

 

8.13.8 Palmer Road is accessed via Occupation Lane and currently provides access for delivery 

vehicles to the existing garden centre and an adjacent industrial unit. It is proposed that 

Palmer Road would still provide access for delivery vehicles as part of the new 

development. 

 

8.13.9 The existing northern access which takes the form of a roundabout junction would remain 

as is, with access to the site being available from the A1 southbound on-slip and Allington 

Lane East. Egress from the site in this location would be available via Allington Lane East. 

This entrance will also provide access to the service yards for the retail units located 

towards the north of the site. 

 

8.13.10 The submitted Transport Assessment (TA) assessed the capacity of the following 

junctions: 

 

• Eastern Access – Occupation Lane priority junction 

• Northern Access – roundabout junction with Allington Lane East/Service station access 

• Allington Lane East/B1174, left in, left out priority junction 

• Occupation Lane/B1174 roundabout junction 

• B1174/A1 southbound off-slip/on-slip roundabout junction 

• B1174/A1 northbound off-slip/on-slip roundabout junction 

• B1174/Belton Lane priority junction 
 

8.13.11 The assessment of the highways impacts also considered the cumulative impact of other 

proposed or committed developments in and around Grantham including the Spitalgate 

Heath development - 3,700 dwellings, Poplar Farm - 1,800 dwellings, Manthorpe – 400 

dwellings and the King31 DOV amongst others. 

 

8.13.12 The TA indicates that the majority of the junctions would continue to operate within 

capacity when the development traffic was added to the network in the assessment year 

of 2031. Increase in delays and queues are predicted to be minimal and in most cases 

unlikely to be perceptible to existing users of the junctions. With the exception of the 

B1174/Belton Lane junction, the maximum increase in delay during any peak period was 

predicted on Allington Lane East junction with the B1174, where an increase of 28 

seconds per vehicle was predicted. It is generally considered that this would result in a 

negligible impact on driver delay. 

 

8.13.13 The B1174/Belton Lane Junction is located to the south of the site, just north of Great 

Gonerby. The TA shows that this junction is already operating close to capacity. When 

base traffic was increased to a future assessment year of 2031, and committed 

development traffic added to the network, the junction was predicted to operate well 

beyond capacity even before the development traffic is added. When the proposed 

development traffic was added this further increased the potential for queues and delays 

59



 

 

at the junction. The TA indicates that during AM peak periods (08:00-9:00), it is predicted 

that delays on Belton Lane would increase by 282 seconds per vehicle when development 

traffic is added to the network (from 1424 seconds to 1706 seconds in 2031). This is 

predominantly because the junction is already operating close to capacity. 

 

8.13.14 In order to mitigate the impacts of the development on the B1174 junction an improvement 

scheme in the form of a three-arm traffic signal junction is proposed. Following the 

development, the proposed mitigation scheme would significantly reduce queues and 

delays on the Belton Lane arm of the junction. The TA predicts the future AM peak delays 

for the assessment year 2031 as 1,706 seconds per vehicle, when the development traffic 

was added to the existing junction. However, it is predicted that the proposed mitigation 

scheme will reduce the average waiting time to 31 seconds per vehicle. 

 

8.13.15 The TA acknowledges that the proposed traffic signal scheme would require through traffic 

on the B1174 to stop, in order to release traffic from Belton Lane and that this would result 

in some dis-benefits in terms of delays to through traffic. However, it considered that these 

would be outweighed by the benefits of reducing queues and delays on Belton Lane. The 

local highway authority has raised no objections to the proposed junction improvements 

subject to them being secured via a planning condition. 

 

8.13.16 In addition to the above, the A1/A52 eastern and western junctions were also assessed in 

terms of traffic capacity. Both these junctions are proposed to be improved as part of the 

requirements for the DOV on the King31 site approved under application S17/1262. The 

applicants discussed the capacity of these junctions with Highways England. The impact 

of this current application on these junctions needs to be considered on its own and 

cumulatively with other development commitments. 

 

8.13.17 Highways England have confirmed that they are satisfied that the proposed development 

traffic can be accommodated within the A52/A1 eastern junction mitigation scheme as 

proposed by the committed King31 DOV development approved under application 

S17/1262. The proposed mitigation includes a traffic signal arrangement. A cumulative 

assessment has been undertaken and demonstrates that the proposed Downtown DOC 

will not have a material impact on the operation of the proposed junction. Highways 

England has requested that if this application is approved a condition be attached to 

secure the junction and traffic signal improvements. 

 

8.13.18 The development is predicted to have an impact on the western A1/A52 junction and 

therefore additional mitigation measures are proposed at this location. The mitigation 

takes the form of a proposed three arm traffic signal junction. This would mitigate the 

cumulative impact of the development at this junction. Highways England have confirmed 

that the proposed scheme is considered acceptable and that it will mitigate the future 

impacts of the proposed development. 

 

8.13.19 As this is an outline application the applicants have provided a broad schedule of the 

vehicles and the likely number of movements within the Environmental Statement. Given 

the nature and scale of the site the TA indicates that it is unlikely that the volume of HGVs 

arriving at the site in the construction period would exceed the volume in the operational 

period and that if they did this would be for a limited period. 

 

60



 

 

8.13.20 It is estimated that 20 to 100 construction employees will be on site at any one time during 

the construction phase. The number of vehicles arriving and leaving on a daily basis will 

be significantly lower than during the operational phase of the development. It is therefore 

considered that the construction traffic is only likely to result in a temporary minor impact. 

 

8.13.21 To reduce the impact of the construction phase it is recommended that if the development 

is approved a condition (Condition 12) should be attached requiring a Construction and 

Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) to be submitted. The CEMP would include: 
 

a)  The overall strategy for managing environmental impacts which are likely to arise 

during the construction phase; 

b) Management of construction traffic and access/haul routes and parking; 

c)  Storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development; 

d)   A Site Waste Management Plan (SWMP) setting out a scheme for 

sorting/recycling/disposing of waste from construction works; 

e)  A signage strategy for construction traffic. 

f)  The parking of site operatives and visitor's vehicles; 

g) Loading and unloading of plant and materials; 

h)  The erection and maintenance of security hoarding including decorative displays and 

facilities for public viewing, where appropriate; 

i) Wheel cleaning facilities; 

j)  Measures to control the emission of water pollution, sediment, dust and dirt during 

construction; 

k)  Working hours for earthworks and construction shall be restricted to between 07:00-

20:00 Mondays to Fridays, 08:00-18:00 Saturdays and Sunday / Bank Holiday 

working unless pre-planned and agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority. 

l)  Community liaison initiatives; 

m)  No open fires. 

n)  Identification of the times when major items of plant and equipment are to be 

transported to and from the site; 

o) Identification of procedures for the notification and conveyance of indivisible ‘out of 

gauge’ loads. This includes any necessary measures for the temporary protection of 

carriageway surfaces; for the protection of statutory undertakers’ plant and 

equipment; and for the temporary removal of street furniture; 

p)  Description of the methods of transport to be used by personnel to minimise overall 

traffic impact on the corridor leading to the construction site; 

q)  Proposals for communicating information to South Kesteven District Council, 

Lincolnshire County Council and Highways England. 

r)  Details of any lighting to be used during the construction phase 

 

8.13.22 The CEMP will therefore include a routing strategy for construction vehicles to ensure that 

they arrive and depart via the A1, therefore minimising the potential impact on residential 

areas. 

 

8.13.23 Although this is an outline application the proposed masterplan illustrates that the 

development would provide a total of 1,979 parking spaces. 959 would be surface spaces 

and 1,020 spaces would be provided in a new multi storey car park across four levels. 

Provision would also be made for 11 coach parking spaces, cycle storage and a new bus 

stop facility would be provided to improve links to Grantham and the surrounding area. 

61



 

 

The enhancements to the existing bus service would be secured via a S106 agreement. 

The proposal also includes electric vehicle charging points. 

 

8.13.24 A draft travel plan has been submitted with the application which seeks to help promote 

sustainable modes of transport including car sharing initiatives, improved facilities to 

promote cycling and walking, and promoting the use of public transport. Lincolnshire 

County Council has been consulted on the draft travel plan and suggested some 

amendments. The local highway authority has raised no objections to the proposed 

development subject to the final details of the travel plan been secured via a Section 106 

agreement. 

 

8.13.25 A number of concerns have been raised relating to the impact of the development on the 

road network and concerns that the development will result in a significant increase in 

additional traffic running through the surrounding villages. The Council has consulted with 

the Highways England and the local highway authority and they have both raised no 

objections to the proposed development. The ES addendum also proposes a 

comprehensive signing strategy for the site on the A52/A1 and at the Moto Services 

roundabout in order to mitigate any potential impacts of traffic using alternative routes 

through the neighbouring villages, in particular Allington. A signage strategy for the 

proposed development is secured by condition 8.  

 

8.13.26 In relation to the potential impact on residential amenity from increase traffic the ES 

addendum indicates that the proposed development is likely to have a negligible impact. 

 

8.13.27 The previous objection letters from Buckminster and Rioja raise concerns about the 

accuracy of the Transport Assessment and its updates submitted in support of the 

application. Buckminster appointed Mayer Brown as highway consultant to review the 

application and support their objections to the proposed development. The key concerns 

can be summarised as follows: 
 

1.  The Environmental Assessment is significantly flawed as it does not demonstrate 

that the period of greatest environmental impact has been assessed. 

2.  Baseline data for surrounding roads has not been collected in a typical “neutral” 

month. Consequently the EA is based on potentially skewed data. 

3.  By assessing a future year of 2031, the EA fails to consider the year of greatest 

impact (which would be the year of opening). 

4.  The “Grantham Designer Outlet Village” vehicle trip attraction has simply been 

copied from the Rioja scheme for the Applicant’s transportation assessment without 

any justification as to why this is appropriate. 

5.  The development will result in a significant shortfall in proposed parking at the site, 

which will lead to overspill parking occurring on the surrounding highway. 

6. It has not been demonstrated that the servicing provisions are adequate, which could 

result in unsafe manoeuvring/loading of HGVs. 

 

8.13.28 In response to the objections from Buckminster and Rioja the applicants provided 

additional information to address the points raised above. Highways England and the 

Local Highway Authority have raised no objections to the proposed development, subject 

to conditions being attached to any consent. Highways England has confirmed that the 

baseline data has been collected in June 2017, which, in accordance with Dft’s TAG Unit 

M1.2 – Data Sources and Surveys, represents a neutral month for data collection. 

62



 

 

Highways England has also confirmed that the trip distribution used in the assessment is 

suitable and appropriate for the purposes of assessing the development’s impact on the 

Strategic Road Network.  

 

8.13.29 The applicant has stated that when the ES was revised in June 2020, it would not have 

been appropriate to collect new data at that point due to the COVID restrictions in place. 

This is because, since the initial lockdown in March 2020, traffic flows in general have 

been significantly lower. As a result, using baseline data collected in June 2017 ensures 

the base traffic flows are representative and more typical traffic conditions ensuring a 

robust assessment. Both the Local Highway Authority and Highways England have 

accepted and agreed with this approach.  

 

8.13.30 The supporting EIA and Addendums to it have been reviewed by the Local Highway 

Authority, Highways England and the Council’s Consultants Barton Wilmore all of which 

are satisfied with the Environmental Impact Assessment. The site is currently used by 

HGVs and it is considered that a reserved matters application would be able to 

accommodate the safe manoeuvring and loading of HGVs. These assessments have 

taken account of relevant parking considerations and the Local Highway Authority is 

satisfied with the proposed parking provision. In addition, the Local Highway Authority has 

confirmed that in their opinion the level of parking proposed is appropriate for the mix of 

uses proposed at the site and that there can be cross use of spaces. It is also considered 

that issues relating to service vehicle movements can be suitably controlled at the 

reserved matters stage. 

 

8.14 Conclusion on Transport and Access 

 

8.14.1 Taking into account the cumulative impacts of the development it is considered that subject 

to the proposed mitigation measures being secured by way of planning conditions and a 

S106 planning obligation the proposed development can be considered acceptable in 

highway safety terms. Highways England and the local highway authority have been 

consulted on the proposed development and the accompanying ES and Transport 

Assessment and they have both raised no objections to the application.  

 

8.14.2 The proposals meet the detailed criteria of Policy ID2: 

a) There are existing bus routes to the Gonerby Moor area and these will be enhanced 
through the S106 agreement. 

b) The proposals include specific measures to reduce additional travel demand 
through the draft Travel Plan, enhance bus services and provision for cycle parking. 

c) The proposals would generate and support a level of demand to justify 
enhancements to the existing bus services 

d) The proposals include measures to improve highway safety and movement of traffic 
on the highway network including improvements to the site access, to the Belton 
Lane/B1174 junction and to the A1/A52 east and west junctions. 

e) There are measures to ensure transport is accessible to all including car and cycle 
parking. 

 

8.14.3 In conclusion, it has been demonstrated that effects have been satisfactorily mitigated and 

that the residual cumulative impacts on the road network arising from the development will 

not be severe and as such the development complies with the policies ID2 and GR2 and 

the requirements of the NPPF (section 9).  

63



 

 

 

8.15 Landscape and Visual Impact  

 

8.15.1 Policy EN1 requires development to be appropriate to the character and significant natural, 

historic and cultural attributes and features of the landscape within which it is situated and 

contribute to its conservation, enhancement or restoration. Further, paragraph 130 of the 

NPPF (July 2021) provides that planning policies and decisions should ensure that 

developments are sympathetic to local character and history, including the surrounding built 

environment and landscape setting, while not preventing or discouraging appropriate 

innovation or change. In carrying out such assessment, regard should be had to relevant 

Landscape Character Appraisals and the Grantham Limits to Growth Studies. These 

studies have not changed or been updated since the original Committee meeting therefore 

the previous assessment that was carried out continues to be relevant. Further, there are 

no significant contextual changes around the development site that would alter the 

conclusions previously reached.  

 

8.15.2 Chapter 8 of the supporting Environmental Statement and updated addendum assesses the 

effects of the proposed development upon the surrounding landscape and visual 

environment. The assessment notes that with regard to the Council’s Landscape Character 

Assessment (2007) the site lies on the boundary between the Trent & Belvoir Vale LCA and 

the Grantham Scarps and Valleys LCA. 

 

8.15.3 The Council’s Landscape Character Assessment considers the sensitivity of the Trent & 

Belvoir Vale LCA and states that: “The landscape of the Trent and Belvoir Vale is medium 

to large in scale, with a simple and sometimes weak landscape pattern. There are few 

woodlands, which ensures open views are possible. Powerlines and the A1 ensure human 

influences. There are few landscape features of intrinsic sensitivity. Landscape sensitivity to 

new employment and residential proposals is likely to be medium. Whilst the landscape 

itself contains relatively few sensitive features, there is little structure to help assimilate new 

development. Woodlands and trees in the landscape are typically associated with the 

settlement, so new development assimilated within existing settlement edges, could be 

mitigated by appropriate landscape proposals in keeping with the established character.” 

 

8.15.4 The Council’s Landscape Character Assessment considers the sensitivity of the Grantham 

Scarps and Valleys LCA stating the following: “The Grantham Scarps and Valleys character 

area is a complex area influenced by the surrounding character areas, and depending on 

the topography, landscape and human influences. The landscape is generally small in 

scale, and areas of particular sensitivity includes the historic Belton Park and the wooded 

and parkland slopes to the east of the town. There are some areas closer to the edge of 

town, containing little of intrinsic landscape interest that would offer the scope for 

development. New development and associated landscape planting could soften some of 

the existing hard urban edges to the town. Other areas are of medium sensitivity because 

of the landscape elements, visibility or general character. These areas may offer some 

scope for development if sensitively designed and mitigated. The plan at Figure 17 shows a 

broad area of sensitivity to new employment and residential purposes. Sensitivity would 

range from low to high, depending on the nature of the site, and the scale and type of the 

development proposal. In general terms new development should avoid the higher valley 

slopes, and should not establish new built development on the skyline.” 

 

64



 

 

8.15.5 The application site is identified in the LCA as having a Low-Medium landscape sensitivity 

for employment and residential development. 

 

8.15.6 The proposed development would be located within an established area of development, 

namely the A1 Triangle. The proposal would not extend beyond the built edges of the A1 

Triangle and would not introduce any new features that are not already characteristic of this 

area. Although this is only an outline application the application is accompanied by 

parameter plans which show that the proposed development will be in scale and character 

with the existing built form. 
 

8.15.7 The ES addendum notes that the construction phase of the development will result in some 

adverse temporary effects upon the visual amenity of the area due to the movement of 

construction traffic and associated works, together with a general disruptive immediate 

environment leading to a loss of tranquillity. In terms of the effect of the construction phase 

upon the landscape character of the area it is considered that the perceived effects will be 

localised to the site and its immediate setting. It is considered that the construction phase of 

the development will not significantly harm the character or sensitivity of the surrounding 

area. The supporting ES does acknowledge that the proposed construction works will give 

rise to some adverse effects upon the receiving landscape and visual environment, 

however these will be localised and for a temporary period. 
 

8.15.8 The recent permission for the expansion of the HGV parking to form 40 additional spaces 

at the Moto Services site to the north is noted. Due to the nature of the development, 

proposed opening hours (to be conditioned), proposed lighting and the non-residential use 

of the HGV parking site, the proposal is not considered to result in any adverse impact on 

this recent permission. 

 

8.15.9 The operational phase of the proposal would result in development located within an 

established area of development, namely the A1 Triangle. The proposals would not extend 

the prevailing built edges of the development in this area and would not introduce any 

feature that are not already characteristic of the development. The site is located at the 

bottom of the scarp slope that separates Grantham and Great Gonerby from the wider vale 

to the north. The proposals will therefore be viewed within the context of existing 

development and would not harm the prominent elevated landscape immediately to the 

north of the settlements. 

 

8.16 Conclusion on landscape and Visual Impact 

 

8.16.1 The proposed development replaces existing built form and garden centre trade areas with 

new contemporary built form and landscaped areas of public realm and parking. Although 

this is an outline application with the final detail design matters reserved for subsequent 

approval the parameter plans demonstrate that the scale and type of development would 

not appear out of character with the existing industrial and commercial development in the 

area. There are no significant landscape features of note on the site currently and the 

proposed development would provide an opportunity for improved landscaping across the 

site, which would help to soften the proposed built form. Overall, it is considered that the 

proposal will not result in significant harm to the landscape character or visual environment 

and would provide opportunities for high quality design solutions which could enhance the 

65



 

 

visual amenity of the area. The proposed development would therefore comply with Local 

Plan Policy EN1 and the NPPF (section 12).  

 

8.17 Design and Sustainable Building  

 

8.17.1 Local Plan Policy DE1 includes a list of criteria to ensure high quality design, which the 

development should be assessed against. In respect of the criteria of DE1: 

 
a) As the proposals are made in outline with only access for consideration, the details 

of the proposed buildings have not been submitted. The illustrative drawings 
indicate there are opportunities to achieve high quality buildings that would enhance 
the character of the surrounding area which comprise a mix of building types and 
uses. 

b) This report considers the impact of the proposals on residential amenity including 
noise and disturbance, air and light pollution, and loss of privacy which are found to 
be acceptable. 

c) The provision of amenity space is not relevant to this application. 
d) The Environmental Statement that accompanies the application includes 

assessment of the existing nature conservation interests in and around the site. It 
concludes that there would be no significant adverse impact on local ecology or 
cumulative impacts subject to the inclusion of a condition to mitigate for the small 
potential for great crested newts that may be found on the site. 

e) The provision of on-site landscaping is a matter reserved for future approval, 
however, it is considered that there are opportunities for high quality landscaping to 
be provided within the development. 

f) A drainage strategy has been provided with the proposal which indicates that 
surface water drainage can be accommodated within the site and make 
improvements to the existing situation in terms of limiting run-off from the site. 

g) There is no adopted or developing Neighbourhood Plan for this area. 
h) The proposals are considered acceptable by Lincolnshire County Council (as Local 

Highway Authority). 
i) There is no Village Design Statement in force for this area. 
j) Building for Life is not applicable as this is not a residential scheme. 

 

8.17.2 Alongside this, Policy SB1 requires that all development proposals will be expected to 

mitigate against and adapt to climate change, to comply with national and contribute to local 

targets on reducing carbon emissions and energy use unless it can be demonstrated that 

compliance with the policy is not viable or feasible.  The Policy contains a number of criteria 

under the headings Energy Consumption; Water Resources; and Contributing to Low-

Carbon Travel, against which the development would need to comply. As the application 

has been submitted in outline form, detailed plans for the proposed development including 

the new buildings are not available at this stage. Therefore, it is considered necessary to 

include a condition that requires submission of details of the sustainable building measures 

prior to development commencing, which has been included as recommended condition 25. 

Subject to an appropriate design and sustainable building measures that would be required 

through a reserved matters submission and to discharge the above condition, the proposed 

development would comply with policies DE1 and SB1.  

 

 

 

 

66



 

 

8.18 Ecology and Biodiversity  

 

8.18.1 Local Plan Policy EN2 seeks to ensure the conservation and enhancement of ecological 

networks and deliver a net gain in biodiversity for all development proposals, where 

possible. The NPPF (section 15) provide guidance and advice on how local planning 

authorities should consider conserving and enhancing the natural environment as part of 

the plan making and decision-making process. Paragraph 180 of the NPPF advises that 

local planning authorities should aim to conserve and enhance biodiversity by applying the 

following principles: 

 

• if significant harm to biodiversity resulting from a development cannot be avoided 
(through locating on an alternative site with less harmful impacts), adequately 
mitigated, or, as a last resort, compensated for, then planning permission should be 
refused; 
 

• development on land within or outside a Site of Special Scientific Interest, and which is 
likely to have an adverse effect on it (either individually or in combination with other 
developments), should not normally be permitted. The only exception is where the 
benefits of the development in the location proposed clearly outweigh both its likely 
impact on the features of the site that make it of special scientific interest, and any 
broader impacts on the national network of Sites of Special Scientific Interest; 
 

• development resulting in the loss or deterioration of irreplaceable habitats (such as 
ancient woodland and ancient or veteran trees) should be refused, unless there are 
wholly exceptional reasons and a suitable compensation strategy exists; and 
 

• development whose primary objective is to conserve or enhance biodiversity should be 
supported; while opportunities to improve biodiversity improvements in and around 
developments should be integrated as part of their design, especially where this can 
secure measurable net gains for biodiversity or enhance public access to nature where 
this is appropriate. 

 

8.18.2 The submitted ES and addendum considers and assess the likely significant impacts of the 

development on the environment in respect of ecology and nature conservation. The 

assessment has confirmed that there is one statutory protected site within 2km of the 

development site. Allington Meadows Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI), located 

approximately 1.53km to the west of the site. No non-statutory sites were identified within 

the 2km radius search area. 

 

8.18.3 The application site is currently significantly developed and is occupied by the existing 

Downtown Store and Garden Centre, a distribution centre and a significant area of 

hardstanding used for car parking. There are a number of hedgerows running along the site 

boundaries. 

 

8.18.4 The ES and addendum indicate that a limited range of birds was observed during the 

survey. No Species of Principal Importance for the conservation of biodiversity in England 

were recorded at the site. It is however noted that there is a small risk of Species of 

Principal Importance potentially breeding at the site boundaries e.g. dunnock or song 

thrush. 

 

67



 

 

8.18.5 It was also noted that a range of common birds are likely to nest in areas of trees and 

ornamental shrubs within the site and also potentially within the buildings, although the 

buildings have been assessed as having negligible potential for nesting birds. 

 

8.18.6 All of the built structures have been assessed as having negligible or zero potential to 

support bat roosts. This is based on the absence of any features likely to support bat roosts 

such as gaps at eaves or beneath roof tiles etc. All of the trees on the site were also 

assessed as having negligible to zero potential to support bat roosts. 

 

8.18.7 There was no evidence of badger activity observed at the site. 

 

8.18.8 A total of ten water bodies have been identified within 500m of the site. The assessment 

indicates that Great crested newts could potentially breed in six of the identified 

waterbodies and small numbers of great crested newts could potentially occur within the 

application site. The assessment does however note that given the amount of large 

buildings on the site, the actively used car parks and extensive areas of hardstanding the 

potential is significantly limited. Based the absence of previous records of great crested 

newts within 500m of the site and the distance between the site and the waterbodies the ES 

indicates that there is a low risk of great crested newts occurring within the site. 

 

8.18.9 In order to mitigate the small potential for great crested newts being affected by the 

proposed development it is recommended that a condition (Condition 22) requiring further 

survey work to be undertaken prior to any development taking place. If great crested newts 

were to be found mitigation measure such as amphibian-proof fencing and pitfall trapping 

could then be used under licence from Natural England to exclude the newts from the 

development site. 

 

8.19 Conclusion on Ecology and Biodiversity 

 

8.19.1 The general thrust of policy EN2 is to see the conservation, enhancement and promotion 

of the District's biodiversity interest of the natural environment.  

 

8.19.2 The submitted ES indicates that the proposed development is unlikely to result in any 

significant adverse impact on the local ecology. Natural England has raised no objections to 

the proposed development. The development will not result in any significant impact on the 

local ecology and there will not be any significant cumulative impacts with other 

development in the area. The development also provides an opportunity to enhance 

existing ecology and biodiversity on the site through a high quality landscaping scheme. A 

further condition (condition 23) is recommended to secure a scheme for biodiversity 

enhancement and subject to inclusion of that condition and the previously recommended 

condition to mitigate the small potential for great crested newts to be found on the site it is 

considered that the development would comply with the requirements of policy EN2 and the 

relevant guidance contained in the NPPF (section 15). 

 

8.20 Flood Risk and Drainage 

 

8.21 Policy EN5 seeks to ensure development is located in areas of low flood risk, avoids 

increasing flood risk elsewhere and manages surface water effectively on site. Development 

should ensure water is available to serve the development and adequate foul water 

treatment and disposal exists.  

68



 

 

 

8.21.1 Section 14 of the NPPF provides guidance on how planning can help meet the challenge of 

climate change, flooding and coastal change. Paragraph 161 of the NPPF states that when 

determining any planning applications, local planning authorities should ensure that flood 

risk is not increased elsewhere. Where appropriate, applications should be supported by a 

site-specific flood-risk assessment. 

 

8.21.2 The ES and updated addendum are supported by a Flood Risk Assessment and 

Sustainable Drainage Statement which assess the potential effects of the proposed 

development on water and drainage, including flood risk. The assessments indicate that the 

whole of the site is located within Flood Zone 1, and is considered to be at low risk from 

flooding. Much of the site is identified to be at very low surface water flood risk, although 

there are areas of low to high risk across the site, particularly along the western edge of the 

site. 

 

8.21.3 The ES and updated addendum have identified that the proposed construction phase has 

the potential to result in some moderate adverse impacts prior to any mitigation measures 

being implemented. These are, however, considered to be temporary and short to medium 

in length. Some of the potential impacts noted include compacting of the soil which can 

reduce infiltration rates, suspended soils entering the water course, pollutants from 

construction vehicles operating during the construction phase. 

 

8.21.4 During the implementation phase and prior to any mitigation measures being implemented 

it is considered that the increased impermeable surfacing has the potential to have a minor 

adverse impact on the surface water runoff regime at the site. In order to mitigate these 

issues, the ES recommends that a Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) 

is prepared which sets out detailed methodologies and monitoring requirements to prevent 

any adverse effects on the water environment. It is therefore recommended that the CEMP 

is secured via a planning condition (Condition 12) if this application is approved. 
 

8.21.5 The submitted Sustainable Drainage Strategy states that, as this is an outline application, 

an illustrative water strategy has been prepared to demonstrate that the necessary 

drainage parameters can be accommodated within the development. It is proposed that a 

30% reduction in the site’s runoff rates will be provided, reducing the rate at which water is 

released into the wider catchment area. Water will be attenuated at the site prior to 

discharge using Sustainable Drainage Systems with storage provided up to the 1 in 100 

year plus climate change event. The applicants have indicated that permeable paving will 

be used across the parking areas. In addition, bio-retention tree pits may also be located 

across the car park to add additional treatment, and amenity/ecological benefits. 

 

8.22 Conclusion on Flood Risk and Drainage 

 

8.22.1 The Environment Agency, Anglian Water and the Lead Local Flood Authority have been 

consulted on the application and advised that subject to the inclusion of conditions securing 

detailed designs for the proposed surface and foul water drainage system they have no 

objections to the proposed development. 

 

8.22.2 Given the existing nature of the site and that the proposed surface water drainage scheme 

would provide a betterment in limiting the runoff from the site, it is considered that the 

69



 

 

development complies with the requirements of Local Plan Policy SD1, EN5 and the 

requirements of the NPPF (section 14).  

 

8.23 Ground Conditions 

 

8.23.1 Local Plan Policy SD1 and EN4 seeks to minimise pollution through development. In 

respect of contaminated land, the policy states that where development is situated on a site 

with known or high likelihood of contamination, remediation strategies to manage this 

contamination will be required.  

 

8.23.2 A Phase I Ground Investigation has been submitted in support of the ES. The assessment 

has concluded that the proposed development is unlikely to pose any significant risk of 

significant harm to potential end users of the site or the controlled waters environment. 

However, there is some potential for contamination to be present at the site. It is therefore 

recommended that a Phase II ground investigation is undertaken and that further 

monitoring and risk assessments are undertaken at the detailed design stage. This can be 

controlled via the imposition of a condition (Condition 17) requiring a phase II study to be 

undertaken prior to any development commencing on site. Subject to a condition (Condition 

17) being attached to any consent it is considered that the development is unlikely to result 

in any significant risk from ground contamination and the proposed development would be 

in accordance with policy EN4.  

 

8.24 Air Quality, Dust & Odour 

 

8.24.1 Local Plan Policy EN4 seeks to minimise pollution and where possible contribute to the 

protection and improvement of the quality of air. The ES and addendum consider the 

impacts of the development on air quality in the area. The assessment takes account of the 

cumulative impacts of the development taking into account the King31 DOV (S17/1262) and 

the residential development of 480 dwellings approved at Manthorpe (S15/3189). The ES 

and addendum have considered the Grantham Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) 

which is described as ‘Manthorpe Road, Wharf Road, High Street and London Road’. The 

proposed development is located approximately 3.7km north-west of the AQMA. As such it 

is considered that there is potential for vehicles travelling to and from the site to increase 

pollution levels in this sensitive area. 

 

8.24.2 The ES and addendum have concluded that during the construction phase of the proposed 

development there is potential for air quality impacts as a result of dust emissions from the 

site. It is considered that this can be suitably mitigated through the use of a condition 

(Conditions 12 and 27) requiring a Construction and Environmental Management Plan to be 

approved and implemented. 

 

8.24.3 The ES indicates that the proposed development will not have any significant impacts in 

relation to air quality. However, measures are proposed in order to help mitigate the 

potential impacts for the development occurring due to road traffic exhaust emissions 

associated with vehicles going to and from the site. The measures include the 

implementation of a Travel Plan, improvements to public transport, walking and cycling 

including provision of secure cycle parking and the provision of electric car charging points. 

In addition, it is also recommended that conditions (Condition 43 and 58) are attached in 

order to control odour abatements systems installed into the proposed A3 (E.b) units. 

 

70



 

 

8.25 Conclusion on Air Quality, Dust & Odour 

 

8.25.1 The Council’s Environmental Protection Team has raised no objections to the proposed 

development. The development would comply with the requirements of Local Plan policy 

SD1 and EN4 and it is concluded that the development will not have a significant 

detrimental impact on air quality or result in any significant adverse pollution from dust or 

odours subject to the mitigation measures outlined above being secured via conditions. 

 

8.26 Noise and Vibration 

 

8.26.1 Local Plan Policies SD1, DE1 and EN4 seek to minimise noise impacts from development 

and ensure there is no adverse impact on the amenity of neighbouring users. The ES and 

addendum consider the potential for noise and vibration impacts to arise as a result of the 

proposed development. The likely noise impacts from the development on nearby sensitive 

receptors are likely to result from, changes in traffic flows on surrounding roads; on-site 

commercial operational activities and fixed plant; and construction activities (including 

vibration). 

 

8.26.2 Given the separation distances between the proposed site and the nearest residential 

property it is considered that the development will not result in any significant impacts 

resulting from vibration and as such no specific mitigation measures are required. 

 

8.26.3 Although this is an outline application with the final detailed design of the buildings reserved 

for subsequent approval the noise assessment has indicated that some of the proposed 

units will require acoustically upgraded glazing in order to achieve desired internal noise 

levels. The noise assessment has also confirmed that no additional mitigation is required 

with regard to road traffic noise increases affecting existing sensitive properties in the area. 

 

8.27 Conclusion on Noise and Vibration 

 

8.27.1 The submitted noise assessment has demonstrated that the proposed development will not 

result in any significant adverse impact on adjacent sensitive receptors by way of noise or 

vibration from the proposal. The Council’s Environmental Protection Team has considered 

the proposed application and supporting information and has raised no objections to the 

proposed development. It is however considered appropriate to attach conditions to any 

consent to ensure that suitable noise mitigation measures are implemented at the detailed 

design stage. These details are required to be submitted, approved and implemented 

through recommended conditions 21 and 42. As already indicated above a condition 

requiring a Construction Environmental Management Plan is recommended and this will 

ensure noise from the proposed construction phase of the development is suitably 

mitigated. The proposals comply with the requirements of Local Plan Policies SD1, EN4 

and DE1.  

 

8.28 Utilities Infrastructure & Waste 

 

8.28.1 Local Plan Policy SD1 and ID1 states that development proposals will be expected to 

demonstrate that there is or will be sufficient infrastructure to meet the requirements of the 

proposed development. Policy ID3 states new development must be served by appropriate 

broadband and communications infrastructure.  

 

71



 

 

8.28.2 Chapter 15 of the supporting Environmental Statement and addendum considers the effects 

of the proposed development in terms of existing utility infrastructure. The temporary 

impacts associated with the construction phase of the proposed development are 

considered to be significant without mitigation. However, as above this would be mitigated 

to an acceptable level through the submission and approval of a CEMP as required by 

conditions 12 and 27. The construction process is likely to give rise to a range of waste 

including from demolition spoil, soils, packaging, and liquids such as dirty water and fuel. 

The applicants have indicated that where possible materials arising from the demolition of 

buildings and breaking up of hard surfaces would be recycled and reused on-site or 

alternatively transferred to a licensed recycling facility. It is also intended to require the 

implementation of a Site Waste Management Plan (SWMP) via a condition (Condition 12 

and 27) in order to ensure that waste from the site is dealt with in accordance with best 

practice and relevant environmental management systems. The SWMP would set out 

procedures to sort, reuse and recycle construction waste helping to mitigate any impacts 

from the development. 

 

8.28.3 Due to the size of the development Weston Power Distribution have confirmed in writing to 

the applicant that reinforcement works will be required to the existing high voltage 

infrastructure present along the site’s eastern boundary on Occupation Lane, within the site 

and along Palmer Road. A new substation will also be required on site to serve the 

proposed development.  

 

8.28.4 Cadent has been consulted and confirmed that there are Low or Medium pressure (below 2 

bar) gas pipes and associated equipment within the vicinity of the site. They have confirmed 

they have no objections to the proposed development. 

 

8.28.5 Details of the broadband and communications infrastructure can be secured at the detailed 

design stage and a condition is recommended to ensure compliance with policy ID3.  

 

8.28.6 The submitted ES and addendum indicates that 3.5km of off-site reinforcement works will 

be required to the local clean water network. Anglian Water has estimated the total cost of 

these works at approximately £634,000.00. A 225mm foul sewer runs across the centre of 

the site from Palmer Road to the B1174. The indicative plans show that the site can be 

developed without impacting on this sewer and as long as a suitable protection zone is 

provided the development will not have any significant impact on the foul sewer. 

 

8.28.7 Anglian Water has been consulted and advised that the existing waste water treatment 

works have capacity to accommodate the proposed development. Although they have 

raised some concerns about the flood risk and the proposed drainage strategy they have 

confirmed that this can be controlled by way of conditions (Condition 13, 14, 37 and 38)) 

being attached to any consent in order to ensure that there is suitable mitigation of surface 

water & foul water drainage from the site. The Environment Agency and Lead Local Flood 

Authority and raised no objections to the proposed arrangements. 

 

8.29 Conclusion on Utilities Infrastructure & Waste 

 

8.29.1 In conclusion it is considered that the proposed development will not result in any significant 

adverse impacts on existing or proposed utilities infrastructure or waste subject to the 

imposition of conditions to ensure that any impacts are suitably mitigated. The proposals 

comply with the requirements of Local Plan Policies SD1,  ID1 and ID3.  

72



 

 

 

8.30 Minerals and Waste 

 

8.30.1 The proposed development is located in close proximity to an existing waste site (Grantham 

Waste Transfer Station - south of Occupation Lane) which is safeguarded by Policy W8 

(Safeguarding Waste Management Sites) of the Lincolnshire Minerals and Waste Local 

Plan: Core Strategy and Development Management Policies, adopted June 2016. 

 

8.30.2 Policy W8 states that the County Council will seek to safeguard existing and allocated 

waste management facilities from redevelopment to a non-waste use and/or the 

encroachment of incompatible development unless alternative provision in the vicinity can 

be made in accordance with the development plan; or it can be demonstrated that there is 

no longer a need for a waste facility at that location. 

 

8.30.3 This safeguarded waste site also sits within a larger area of land allocated as a waste site 

in Policy SL3 of the Lincolnshire Minerals and Waste Local Plan: Site Locations document, 

adopted December 2017 (allocation reference WS17-SK Vantage Park, Gonerby Moor). 

The Minerals and Waste Planning Policy Team have therefore requested that appropriate 

consideration is given to the need to safeguard these existing and allocated waste sites in 

line with the requirements of Policy W8. 

 

8.31 Conclusion on Minerals and Waste 

 

8.31.1 The applicant demonstrated through the submission of additional information which has 

been considered by the local minerals and waste authority that the proposed development 

will not result in any adverse impact on the operations of the existing waste site or impact 

on the wider site allocated under policy SL3. The local minerals and waste authority, 

Lincolnshire County Council has confirmed that they have no objections to the proposed 

development subject to conditions securing the implementation of noise mitigation 

measures. Officers therefore considered that the proposed development will not prejudice 

the operation of the adjacent waste site, subject to the imposition of conditions (Condition 

21 and 42) as requested by the County Council. 

 

8.32 Lighting 

 

8.32.1 Local Plan policies SD1, DE1 and EN4 seek to minimise lighting impacts from development 

and ensure there is no adverse impact on the amenity of neighbouring users. Section 15 of 

the NPPF deals with Conserving and Enhancing the Natural Environment. Paragraph 185 

of the NPPF states that planning policies and decisions should ensure that new 

development is appropriate for its location taking into account the likely effects (including 

cumulative effects) of pollution on health, living conditions and the natural environment, as 

well as the potential sensitivity of the site or wider area to impacts that could arise from the 

development. In doing so they should, amongst other things, limit the impact of light 

pollution from artificial light on local amenity, intrinsically dark landscapes and nature 

conservation. 

 

8.32.2 The proposed development will feature external lighting in order to ensure a suitable safe 

environment for visitors and staff at night. A Light Impact Assessment has been submitted 

to support the application and the ES and addendum, in order to ensure that the lighting 

from the proposed development does not cause unacceptable impacts to nearby residential 

73



 

 

and non-residential receptors. The baseline measurements indicate that the existing area is 

well lit with an average after dark illuminance of 5.37 Lux on the perimeter. There are a 

number of commercial and industrial units on Occupation Lane and Palmer Road which are 

already well lit with a similar baseline lighting level to the site boundary. 

 

8.32.3 As this is an outline application an indicative lighting scheme has been used to assess the 

potential impacts from the development. The design uses lighting with 0% upward lighting 

to minimise sky glow and promote a Dark Skies policy. A column height of 8 m was also 

used for the assessment. 

 

8.32.4 The applicants have modelled the likely impacts of an indicative lighting scheme and this 

demonstrates that the light spillage from the development is predicted to be negligible at all 

potentially sensitive receptor locations. Light increase due to spillage from the development 

is considered to be minimal with a maximum increase of 3.48 Lux at measuring point 12 

adjacent to Richmond House Furniture store to the south-east of the site. This is due to the 

proximity of the column mounted luminaires for the car park but this is not considered to be 

a particularly sensitive location as there are only a few windows in the existing unit facing 

the site and these would be illuminated during trading hours when the proposed lighting 

would be in operation. 

 

8.33 Conclusion on Lighting 

 

8.33.1 The Council’s Environmental Protection Team has been consulted and raised no objections 

to the proposed development. It has been demonstrated that the proposed development will 

not result in any significant adverse impacts as a result of light pollution. The proposals are 

therefore considered acceptable subject to the imposition of a condition (Condition 9) 

requiring detailed lighting plans to be submitted prior to any development taking place. 

Subject to the imposition of conditions it is considered that the proposed development 

would comply with Local Plan Policies SD1, EN4 and DE1 and the NPPF (section 15) and 

that any potential light pollution could be suitably mitigated such that the development 

would have a negligible effect on the surrounding area. 

 

8.34 Historic Environment 

 

8.34.1 Local Plan policy EN6 seeks to protect and enhance heritage assets and their settings 

including development affecting archaeological sites in keeping with the policies in the 

NPPF.  

 

8.34.2 Paragraph 199 of the NPPF states that when considering the impact of a proposed 

development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight should be 

given to the asset’s conservation (and the more important the asset, the greater the weight 

should be). This is irrespective of whether any potential harm amounts to substantial harm, 

total loss or less than substantial harm to its significance. 

 

8.34.3 Paragraph 201 of the NPPF states that where a proposed development will lead to 

substantial harm to (or total loss of significance of) a designated heritage asset, local 

planning authorities should refuse consent, unless it can be demonstrated that the 

substantial harm or total loss is necessary to achieve substantial public benefits that 

outweigh the harm or loss, or all of the following apply: 

74



 

 

 

• The nature of the heritage asset prevents all reasonable uses of the site; and 

• No viable use of the heritage asset itself can be found in the medium term through 
   appropriate marketing that will enable its conservation; and 

• Conservation by grant-funding or some form of not for profit, charitable or public 
ownership is demonstrably not possible; and 

• The harm or loss is outweighed by the benefits of bringing the site back into use. 
 

8.34.4 Paragraph 202 of the NPPF makes it clear that where development proposals will lead to 

less than substantial harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset, the harm 

should be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal. 

 

8.34.5 Paragraph 203 of the NPPF indicates that the effect of an application on the significance of 

non-designated heritage assets should also be taken into account when determining 

planning applications. In weighing applications that directly or indirectly affect non 

designated heritage assets, a balanced judgement will be required having regard to the 

scale of any harm or loss and the significance of the heritage asset. 

 

8.34.6 When considering whether to grant planning permission for developments which affect 

listed buildings or its setting, Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Building and Conservation 

Areas) Act 1990 requires the local planning authority to have special regard to the 

desirability of preserving the building or its setting. Similarly, Section 72 of the Act requires 

special attention to be paid to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or 

appearance of Conservation Areas. 

 

8.34.7 The Environmental Statement and addendum, which accompanies the planning application, 

contains a section on the heritage impacts of the development. The application site does 

not contain any heritage assets. However, the surrounding villages do have designated 

Conservation Areas and/or contain numerous Listed Buildings. There are also three Historic 

Parks and Gardens within the study area. The assessment has therefore focused on the 

setting of heritage assets in their wider surroundings and whether the proposed 

development will affect how these assets are experienced (and therefore their heritage 

significance) as a result of any changes to their setting. 

 

8.34.8 The EIA Scoping Opinion for the development noted that there are no heritage assets in the 

immediate vicinity of the site, but that there is potential for the development to impact those 

in the wider area such as Belvoir Castle, St Peter’s Church at Foston, and Allington and 

Great Gonerby Conservation Areas. Having regard to the Scoping advice a study area 

approximately 5km from the site was adopted, with Belvoir Castle identified as the only 

heritage asset beyond the study area that is potentially affected by the proposed 

development. 

 

8.34.9 The analysis demonstrates that for all of the examined heritage assets, the proposed 

development has no material adverse effect on their setting, and therefore none on their 

significance. This is mainly on account of the fact that the identified heritage assets fall well 

outside of the development’s zone of visual influence. The effect on the significance of the 

examined heritage assets in therefore considered to be neutral in all cases. 

 

75



 

 

8.34.10 Heritage Lincolnshire who are the Council’s specialist archaeological advisors have noted 

the low potential for archaeology within the site and do not recommend any further work in 

that respect.  

 

8.34.11 The analysis does identify a visual connection between the application site and the Grade 

I listed Belvoir Castle, which is located approximately 9 km to the southwest of the site. 

This is on account of the Castle’s hilltop location, making it a visible landmark across an 

extensive area within the Vale of Belvoir. Notwithstanding this the application site forms a 

very minor component within the panoramic views from the Castle and from vantage 

points within its extensive grounds. The assessment notes that the redevelopment of the 

site is unlikely to be a discernible change in the outlook and therefore concludes that the 

proposed development will have a neutral impact on the significance of Belvoir Castle and 

the Registered Park & Garden and that, overall, the proposed landscaping works could 

result in a negligible positive impact overall. 

 

8.35 Conclusion on Historic Environment 

 

8.35.1 The Council’s Conservation Officer and Historic England have raised no objections to the 

proposed development. The application site is located within an existing retail and 

employment area and would be viewed alongside the existing industrial units and the A1. 

The development would not result in any harm to the significance of nearby heritage assets 

and there is potential for negligible positive impacts to be achieved through the landscaping 

strategy. The proposal therefore complies with all relevant statutory requirements, Policy 

EN6 and the NPPF (section 16).  

 

8.36 Residential Amenity 

 

8.36.1 Local Plan Policy DE1 states (amongst other criteria) that all development proposals will be 

expected to ensure there is no adverse impact on the amenity of neighbouring users.  

Paragraph 130 of the NPPF states that developments should create places that are safe, 

inclusive and accessible and which promote health and well-being, with a high standard of 

amenity for existing and future users; and where crime and disorder, and the fear of crime, 

do not undermine the quality of life or community cohesion and resilience. 

 

8.36.2 The site is adjacent to employment land and has a long established retail use. There are a 

number of large industrial warehouses adjacent to the site as well as a petrol filling station 

and hotel. The A1 trunk road is also located directly to the west of the site. There are three 

residential properties located adjacent to the application site boundary. Shady Nook which 

is located on the eastern edge of the site just north of the Occupation Lane access point, 

The Croft which is located to the north-west of the roundabout junction between the B1174 

and Occupation Lane and Homelands which is located to the north of the existing 

distribution centre accessed of Allington Lane East. 

 

8.36.3 The site is already used for retail and distribution purposes and therefore already has a 

significant number of visitors. The proposed development will however significantly increase 

the number of visitors coming and going from the site. The submitted ES and addendum 

has demonstrated that the increase in traffic movements will not result in any significant 

additional noise and disturbance to the nearest properties. 
 

76



 

 

 

8.36.4 Furthermore, as already detailed in this report the ES and addendum has demonstrated 

that any potential impacts from the proposed development relating to lighting, noise, air 

pollution, contamination and flood risk can all be suitably mitigated through the imposition of 

conditions. 

 

8.37 Conclusion on Residential Amenity 

 

8.37.1 It is therefore concluded that the development will not result in any significant adverse 

impacts on residential amenity and complies with the requirements of policy DE1 and the 

NPPF (section 12). 

 

8.38 Section 106 Planning Obligations 

 

8.38.1 Local Plan Policy SD1 and ID1 expects all development proposals to demonstrate that 

there is or will be sufficient infrastructure capacity to support and meet the essential 

infrastructure requirements arising from the proposed development.  

 

8.38.2 The Council’s adopted Planning Obligations SPD helps to ensure development proposals 

make a positive contribution to sustainable development by providing social, economic and 

environmental mitigation measures. The SPD seeks to ensure that contributions are sought 

from development where there is a recognised need to mitigate the impact of the proposal. 

Section 106 Planning Obligations must be in accordance with the Community Infrastructure 

Regulations 2010 and the relevant test for planning obligations. Regulation 122 sets out the 

relevant tests and states that a planning obligation may only constitute a reason for granting 

planning permission for the development if the obligations is: 

 

a)  Necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms; 

b)  Directly related to the development; and 

c)  Fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development. 

 

8.38.3 The S106 Agreement has been progressed to an advanced point and the following 

obligations are proposed. Appendix E sets out the Council’s assessment of the measures 

proposed for the planning obligation against the CIL Regulation 122 tests and should be 

read in conjunction with this section of the report. 

 

8.38.4 Tourist Information and Visitor Centre – This will secure a 62 sqm unit on the site which will 

be used to support tourism initiatives, help to promote town centre events and to encourage 

tourists and visitors to extend their stay and visit Grantham town centre and the surrounding 

area. This will help to secure some of the benefits of linked trips from visitors coming to the 

development. 

 

8.38.5 Pop-up Shop – A pop-up shop will be provided as part of the development in order to 

enable Grantham town centre retailers to be showcased and help promote the retailers 

within the town centre. 

 

8.38.6 Improved Bus Service – The existing bus service to the site from Grantham town centre will 

be enhanced by way of increased frequency with one service every 30mins during the peak 

periods and one service every hour during off peak periods in order to provide improved 

sustainable transport connections between the site and Grantham town centre. This will 

77



 

 

provide improved sustainable public transport links between the site and the town centre 

enabling visitors and staff to access the site without relying on the private motor vehicle. 

This links in with the proposed Travel Plan details set out below. 

 

8.38.7 Travel Plan – A detailed Travel Plan for both staff and visitors will be secured in order to 

help promote sustainable modes of transport and reduce the dependency on the car. A 

contribution of £5000 would also be secured in order to ensure that the Travel Plan is 

effectively monitored. 

 

8.38.8 Directional Signage – A contribution of £30,000 will be made towards improving directional 

signage and car park signage in the town centre. This will help to mitigate some of the 

potential impacts on Grantham town centre by promoting linked trips and improving signage 

facilities within the town centre. 

 

8.38.9 Car Park Signage – A contribution of £150,000 is sought in order to provide improved live 

car parking signs within 5 car parking sites within Grantham. This will help to improve 

facilities in the centre helping to mitigate some of the impacts of the proposed development. 

 

8.38.10 Tourism Initiatives – A contribution of £75,000 is required towards the promotion of 

tourism activities within Grantham town centre. 

 

8.38.11 Tourism Manager – A contribution of £75,000 towards the employment and functions of 

the Grantham Town Centre tourism manager 

 

8.38.12 Town Centre Improvements – A contribution of £150,000 towards Grantham town centre 

improvements in order to help improve facilities and the public realm in the town centre. 

 

8.38.13 Training Scheme Contribution – A contribution of £65,000 in order to deliver learning and 

development programmes in association with local educational establishments and 

businesses. This will help to secure socio-economic benefits helping to address some of 

the skills issues within the district relating to the development. 
 

8.38.14 Occupancy Restrictions – The draft S106 Agreement also includes an occupancy 

requirements clause in order to ensure that the development takes the form of a ‘tier 1’ 

DOC ensuring that the development is only occupied by retailers from a pre-approved list. 

There is also provision for adding further retailers to the list which includes a mechanism 

for ensuring those potential retailers are of the desired quality. This is necessary to ensure 

that the DOC development does not operate as a direct rival to the town centre. As above, 

the schedule of permitted retailers and brands annexed to the S106 agreement is 

considered to provide sufficient control to ensure the proposed development is of the 

intended quality. A no poaching clause will also be required to ensure that no retail units 

are occupied by a retailer which occupies a retail unit in Grantham town centre, Newark or 

Balderton unless that retailer has submitted to the Local Planning Authority (and had 

approved) evidence of a binding commitment between the owner and the retailer to 

retaining their presence as a retailer within that town centre. The commitment shall require 

the retailer to continue to operate from Grantham town centre, Newark or Balderton for a 

period of five years from first occupancy of the relevant unit. 

 

8.38.15 Restrictions on the existing Downtown Store – In order to ensure that the existing store 

continues to operate on a similar basis and in line with the way in which the impacts of this 

78



 

 

development proposal have been assessed it is necessary to place controls on the 

existing store. These include restrictions to ensure that it is not sub-divided into smaller 

units and restricting the sale of convenience goods. There are also restrictions preventing 

any significant increase in the proportion of floorspace that can be used for the sale of 

non-bulky comparison goods and ensuring the current amount of bulky goods floorspace 

is maintained. A no poaching clause as outlined above would also be required in relation 

to the existing store. 

 

8.38.16 Monitoring - The owner will be under an obligation to provide evidence in writing on 

request of continued compliance with the various occupancy controls / restrictions or cover 

the Council’s reasonable costs in carrying out such monitoring.  

 

8.38.17 For the reasons set out in Appendix E, it is considered appropriate and necessary to enter 

into a S106 planning agreement in order to ensure that the proposed mitigation measure 

of the proposed Designer Outlet Centre are secured and delivered. 

 

8.38.18 The above required obligations are all considered to comply with the requirements of the 

Regulation 122 of the Community infrastructure Regulations 2010, relating to the relevant 

tests for securing obligations. Subject to these infrastructure requirements being secured, 

the proposal would accord with Local Plan Policy ID1.  
 

9 Planning Balance and Conclusion 
 

9.1 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 sets of the statutory 

position for the determination of planning applications and requires that proposals are 

determined in accordance with the development plan unless material considerations indicate 

otherwise. 

 

9.2 Having regard to the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan and Minerals and Waste Local 

Plan, the development would be in compliance with the development plan when considered 

as a whole and there are no material considerations of sufficient weight that indicate 

otherwise. 

 

9.3 The proposed redevelopment of the existing Downtown site is considered to broadly comply 

with the principles of sustainable development set-out by Policy SD1. Although the site is 

located outside of Grantham to the north of Great Gonerby at Gonerby Moor it is considered 

to function as part of the Grantham economy and it is considered that the development of a 

Designer Outlet Centre at the application site would help to support and strengthen 

Grantham's role as a Sub-Regional Centre. The development can therefore be considered to 

comply with the wider aims of policies SP1 and SP2 even though the site is not located 

within or on the edge of the town itself. The proposal would ensure the site retained a 

primary retail use, as recognised through the Local Plan examination, which justified it’s 

exclusion from remaining within a protected employment land designation as is considered to 

be in accordance with policy E5.  

 

9.4 With regard to policy ID2 which relates specifically to sustainable integrated transport the 

supporting Environmental Statement has demonstrated that the traffic impacts from the 

proposal can be suitably mitigated through the use of conditions and a planning obligation.  A 

79



 

 

number of junction improvements will be undertaken as part of the development and a Travel 

Plan will also be secured to ensure compliance with policy GR2.  Contributions will also be 

made to improve the signage and car parking within and around Grantham Town Centre as 

well as to enhance the existing bus service between the site and the town centre. 

 

9.5 With regard to Policies DE1, EN1, EN2, EN4 and EN6 and taking into account the 

information contained in the supporting Environmental Statement it is considered that subject 

to appropriate mitigation measures being secured through planning conditions, the proposed 

development will not result in any significant adverse impacts on the visual amenity of the 

area, pollution for light and noise or have any significant adverse impacts on the local 

ecology and heritage assets. 

 

9.6 The site is at low risk of flooding and subject to conditions the proposed development is 

considered to be able to comply with the requirements of policy EN5 relating to reducing the 

risk of flooding from development. 

 

9.7 The development would deliver wide economic regeneration benefits to the site and 

surrounding area.  The significant benefits the scheme would deliver include the creation of 

up to 240 local temporary construction jobs per year over the 2.5 year construction period; up 

to 1,620 full time equivalent jobs; the opportunity to clawback spend currently 'leaked' to 

other Designer Outlet Centres outside of the district; increase tourism and visitor footfall in 

the District by enhancing the image of Grantham as a retail, leisure and visitor destination; ; 

help to deliver educational and skills improvements via the development of the Training 

Academy or through the provision of a contribution to support the delivery of a training 

scheme targeted at assisting residents of the District to develop the skills and experience 

required to secure a job or apprenticeship in the retail or fashion or leisure industry and 

finally provide improvements to Grantham town centre as part of a comprehensive S106 

planning obligation. In the event of both outlet schemes coming forward, the cumulative 

benefits would be significant, albeit likely to be reduced due to the anticipated reduced 

trading density. In the scenario of only one of the outlet schemes coming forward, the net 

socio-economic benefits of either scheme coming forward are considered to be broadly 

comparable.  

 

9.8 In relation to policy GR4 which relates to Grantham Town Centre and chapter 7 of the NPPF, 

the applicants have undertaken a detailed retail impact assessment which has been 

independently reviewed by the Council's professional retail consultants. It is considered that 

in the realistic worst case scenario in terms of impact of both outlet centres being developed 

and trading at a reduced density of 75 percent, in addition to other committed retail 

development, that there would not be a significant adverse impact on any town centre.  A 

detailed sequential assessment looking at alternative sites has been undertaken and 

reviewed and it is considered that there are no sequentially preferable sites for the 

development.  It is considered that the development would help to strengthen Grantham as a 

Sub-Regional Centre. The proposal complies with policy E9 in relation to enhancing the 

visitor economy. 

 

9.9 In assessing this application and coming to these conclusions the Council has had regard to 

the submitted Environmental Statement, associated appendices, addendums and updates as 

required by Regulation 3 and Regulation 26 of the Town and Country Planning 

(Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2017 and the information submitted is 

considered acceptable in principle.  The imposition of conditions and obligations will be 

80



 

 

necessary to ensure that the environmental effects of the proposed development are 

mitigated where necessary.  The conditions are set out in the recommendation section of this 

report. 

 

9.10 In reaching this conclusion officers have also had regard to the requirements of the 

Equalities Act 2010. 

 

10 Recommendation 
 

10.1 To grant outline planning permission subject to the planning conditions listed below and the 

completion of a Section 106 Agreement to secure the requirements set out in section 8.38 

above within a period not exceeding six months from the date of this meeting.  

 

10.2 In the event that the Section 106 Agreement has not been completed within this period and 

the Head of Planning, after consultation with the Chairman or Vice-Chairman of the Planning 

Committee, considers that there are no extenuating circumstances which would justify an 

extension (or further extension) of time, the Head of Planning be authorised to refuse the 

application on the basis that the necessary infrastructure or community contributions 

essential to make the development acceptable have not been forthcoming. 

 

11 Schedule of conditions 
 

11.1 Defined Terms Used in This Decision: 

"Enabling Works" include surveying, environmental and hazardous substance testing and 

sampling (including the making of trial boreholes, window sampling and test pits in 

connection with such testing and sampling), soil tests, remediation works, pegging out, tree 

protection, ecological survey and mitigation works, archaeological investigation, demolition 

and removal of buildings and other structures, not otherwise controlled by conditions. 

"Retail Outlet Units" means any unit constructed within the area shown coloured pink on the 

Land Use Parameter Plan (drawing Number 16-1007-(08)AZ-00009). 

 

Time Limit for Commencement 

 
1  The development hereby permitted shall be commenced before the expiration of three years 

from the date of this permission or two years from the approval of the last of the reserved 
matters, whichever is the latter. 

 
Reason: In order that the development is commenced in a timely manner, as set out in 
Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended).  
 

2 Details of the reserved matters set out below shall have been submitted to the Local Planning 
Authority for approval within three years from the date of this permission: 

 
i. layout 
ii. scale 
iii. appearance 
iv. landscaping 
 

81



 

 

Approval of all reserved matters shall have been obtained from the Local Planning Authority 
in writing before any development is commenced and the Development shall be carried out 
in accordance with the reserved matters as approved. 
 
Reason: To enable the Local Planning Authority to control the development in detail and in 
order that the development is commenced in a timely manner, as set out in Section 92 of the 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended). 

 
Approved Plans 
 
 3   The development hereby permitted shall not be carried out except in accordance with the 

approved drawings and plans as set out below: 
 

• 16-1007-(08)AZ-00001C - Location Plan 

• 16-1007-(08)AZ-00002 - Existing Site Plan 

• 16-1007-(08)AZ-00003C - Block Plan (in respect of the position of the access only) 

• 16-1007-(08)AZ-00004B - Masterplan (in respect of the position of the access only) 

• 16-1007-(08)AZ-00009A - Parameters Plan - Land Use 

• 16-1007-(08)AZ-00010B - Parameters Plan  - Building Heights 

• 16-1007-(08)AZ-00011A - Parameters Plan - Primary Circulation 

• 16-1007-(08)AZ-00012A - Parameters Plan  - Landscaping 
 

Unless otherwise required by another condition of this permission. 
 
Reason: To define the permission and for the avoidance of doubt. 

 
Before the Development is Commenced 
 
4.   No development hereby approved shall commence (other than Enabling Works) until a 

Construction Phasing Scheme has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  

 
The development shall only be implemented in accordance with the approved Construction 
Phasing Plans 
 
Reason:  In order to ensure that the construction phase of the development does not have 
any significant adverse impact on the local environment or residential amenity, in accordance 
with Policies DE1 and EN4 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan 2011-2036 (January 
2020). 
 

5   No development hereby approved shall commence (other than Enabling Works) until details 
of the materials to be used for the external surfaces of the buildings forming part of the 
development have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
 
Reason: To ensure that the works are sympathetic to the visual amenities of the locality and 
in accordance with Policy DE1 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan 2011-2036 
(January 2020). 
 

6   No development hereby approved shall commence (other than Enabling Works) until a 
scheme detailing the external hard and soft landscaping and arboricultural works, including 
planting, works to existing and retained trees and hedges, fencing, walls, surface treatment 
and construction details, has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.  

82



 

 

 
Reason: To ensure that the works are sympathetic to the site and surroundings, to enhance 
the biodiversity of the development and in accordance with Policies DE1 and EN2 of the 
adopted South Kesteven Local Plan 2011-2036 (January 2020). 
 

7   No development hereby approved shall commence (other than Enabling Works) until a 
programme detailing the phasing and timing of the delivery of the approved hard and soft 
landscaping works pursuant to Condition 6 has been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority.  
 
Reason: To ensure that the works are sympathetic to the site and surroundings, to enhance 
the biodiversity of the development and in accordance with Policies DE1 and EN2 of the 
adopted South Kesteven Local Plan 2011-2036 (January 2020).   
 

8  No development hereby approved shall commence (other than Enabling Works) until the 
signage strategy for the development including vehicular directional signage, has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
 
Reason: In order to provide a cohesive sign provision within the site, in the interests of visual 
amenity and in accordance with Policies DE1 and ID2 of the adopted South Kesteven Local 
Plan 2011-2036 (January 2020).   
 

9   No development (other than Enabling Works) shall commence until a comprehensive scheme 
for lighting of the external areas of the application site and proposed buildings has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall 
include: 

 
a) updated lighting impact assessment taking into account the detailed design proposals; 

 
b) details of lighting of and luminance from buildings, store windows, service areas, car 

parks, under floor zones, signage and advertising boards; 
 

c) Measures to minimise light pollution or obtrusive light external to the development;  
 

and 

 

d) Timetable of the implementation of the approved lighting. 
 

Reason: In order to provide a cohesive lighting provision within the site, in the interests of 
visual amenity and in accordance with Policies DE1 and EN4 of the adopted South Kesteven 
Local Plan 2011-2036 (January 2020).  
 

10  The development hereby approved shall not commence until, details of tree and hedge 
protection measures (in accordance with BS5837 (2012) Trees in Relation to Design, 
Demolition and Construction-Recommendations) have been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority.  

 
Reason: To ensure adequate protection to retained trees and hedges and in accordance with 
Policies EN2 and EN3 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan 2011-2036 (January 2020). 
  

11  The development hereby approved shall not commence (other than Enabling Works) until 
details of the on-site public transport facilities and infrastructure have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  

83



 

 

 
Reason: In order to provide adequate infrastructure and facilities for public transport to serve 
the development.  
 

12 No Enabling Works shall take place until a Construction and Environmental Management 
Plan (CEMP) has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority 
in relation to those Enabling Works. No development (other than Enabling Works) shall take 
place under this planning permission until a CEMP has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority.  

 
The relevant CEMP shall include but not be limited to: 
 
Enabling Works: 
 

a) The overall strategy for managing environmental impacts which are likely to arise 
during the construction phase; 

b) Management of construction traffic and access/haul routes and parking to and from 
the site, including monitoring and enforcement measures; 

c) Location of contractors compounds and method of moving materials, plant and 
equipment around the site; 

d) A Site Waste Management Plan (SWMP) setting out a scheme for 
sorting/recycling/disposing of waste from construction works; and 

e) A signage strategy for construction traffic. 
 

Construction (in addition to a) - e): 
 

f) The parking of site operatives and visitor's vehicles; 
g) Loading and unloading of plant and materials; 
h) The erection and maintenance of security hoarding including decorative displays and 

facilities for public viewing, where appropriate; 
i) Wheel cleaning facilities, including any other methods of prevention of mud being 

carried onto the highway; 
 j) Identification of the times when major items of plant and equipment are to be 

transported to and from the site; 
 k) Identification of procedures for the notification and conveyance of indivisible ‘out of 

gauge’ loads.  This includes any necessary measures for the temporary protection of 
carriageway surfaces; for the protection of statutory undertakers’ plant and equipment; 
and for the temporary removal of street furniture; 

  l) Description of the methods of transport to be used by personnel to minimise overall  
   traffic impact on the road network leading to the construction site; 
 m) Proposals for communicating information to the local planning authority, Lincolnshire 

County Council and Highways England. 
 n) Access and protection arrangements around the site for pedestrians, cyclists and other 

road users during construction; 
 o) Details of any temporary traffic restrictions 

p) Measures to control the emission of water pollution, sediment, dust and dirt during 
construction; 

q) details of a dust management plan setting out how dust will be controlled during the 
construction phase of the development 

r) Working hours for earthworks, demolition and construction shall be restricted to 
between 07:00-18:00 Mondays to Fridays, 08:00-13:00 Saturdays and No Sunday / 
Bank Holiday working unless pre-planned and agreed in writing with the Local 
Planning Authority. 

84



 

 

s) Community liaison initiatives, including identification of a dedicated point of contact; 
t) No open fires. 

 u) Details of any lighting to be used during the construction phase 
 v) Ecological restrictions and considerations including: 

Any removal of trees, scrub or hedgerow shall not take place in the bird-breeding 
season between March and August inclusive, unless a mitigation scheme for the 
protection of bird-nesting habitats has been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority.  

 w) Drainage control measures including the use of oil interceptors and bunds; 
 x) Heights of storage areas for materials or equipment 
 

Reason: To ensure the development is carried out to minimise the impact on the environment. 
 

13  No development shall commence until a foul water strategy has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority to include details of works for the disposal 
of foul water drainage. 
 
Reason: To prevent flooding, pollution and detriment to public amenity through the provision 
of suitable water infrastructure. 
 

14. No drainage works shall commence until a surface water management strategy has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  No hard-standing areas 
shall be constructed until the works for the disposal of surface water identified in the approved 
surface water management strategy have been carried out in accordance with the surface 
water strategy approved by the Local Planning Authority]. 

 
Reason:  To prevent environmental and amenity problems arising from flooding.  
 

15 No part of the development hereby approved (other than the Enabling Works) shall 
commence until details of the proposed play areas and a scheme for their ongoing 
maintenance and management have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. 

 
Reason: In order to provide a cohesive plan for the play areas within the site, in the interests 
of visual amenity and in accordance with Policies DE1 and OS1 of the adopted South 
Kesteven Local Plan 2011-2036 (January 2020).  
 

16 No part of the development hereby approved (other than Enabling Works) shall commence 
until details of crime prevention measures shall have been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
 
Reason: In order to minimise the risk of crime.  
 

17 No part of the development hereby approved shall commence until a scheme relating to the 
survey of the land for contamination has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall include:  

 
i. A desk top study documenting all the previous and existing land uses of the site and 

adjacent land; 
ii. A site investigation report assessing the ground conditions of the site and incorporating 

chemical and gas analysis identified as appropriate by the desk top study;  

85



 

 

iii. A detailed scheme for remedial works and measures to be undertaken to avoid risk 
from contaminants and/or gases when the site is developed and proposals for future 
maintenance and monitoring; and  

iv. The nomination of a competent person to oversee the implementation of the works. 
 
Reason: Previous activities associated with this site may have caused, or had the potential 
to cause, land contamination and to ensure that the proposed site investigations and 
remediation will not cause pollution in the interests of the amenities of the future residents 
and users of the development; and in accordance with Policy EN4 of the adopted South 
Kesteven Local Plan 2011-2036 (January 2020) and national guidance contained in the 
NPPF. 
 

18 No part of the development hereby permitted shall commence until details of all surface water 
drainage matters have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority in consultation with Highways England. The development shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved scheme.  

 
The applicant should note that in accordance with paragraph 50 of Circular 02/2013, no water 
run-off that may arise due to any change of use will be accepted into the highway drainage 
systems, and there shall be no new connections into those systems from third party 
development and drainage systems.  
 
Reason: To ensure that the A1 and A52 Trunk Roads continue to serve their purpose as part 
of a national system of routes for through traffic in accordance with Section 10(2) of the 
Highways Act 1980 by minimising disruption on the trunk road resulting from traffic entering 
and emerging from the application site and in the interests of road safety. 
 

19 No part of the development hereby permitted shall commence until a Construction Traffic 
Management Plan has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority in consultation with Highways England. The development shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved plan. 

 
Reason: To ensure that the A1 and A52 Trunk Roads continue to serve their purpose as part 
of a national system of routes for through traffic in accordance with Section 10(2) of the 
Highways Act 1980 by minimising disruption on the trunk road resulting from traffic entering 
and emerging from the application site and in the interests of road safety. 
 

20 No part of the development hereby permitted shall commence until details of the boundary 
treatment adjacent to the A1 Trunk Road boundary have been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority in consultation with Highways England. The approved 
boundary treatment shall thereafter be constructed in accordance with the approved plans, 
and maintained in perpetuity.  

 
Reason: To ensure that the A1 and A52 Trunk Roads continue to serve their purpose as part 
of a national system of routes for through traffic in accordance with Section 10(2) of the 
Highways Act 1980 by minimising disruption on the trunk road resulting from traffic entering 
and emerging from the application site and in the interests of road safety. 
 

21  No part of the development hereby approved shall commence on site until a scheme for 
protecting the proposed training centre and retail units from external noise has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.  Where acoustic glazing 
is required, as identified in the accompanying Environmental Statement, precise details of 
the proposed glazing shall be submitted as part of the scheme. 

86



 

 

  
Reason:  To ensure that the proposed development does not have a detrimental impact on 
the future operations of adjacent industrial units and to protect the future occupiers of the 
proposed buildings, in accordance with Policies DE1 and EN4 of the adopted South Kesteven 
Local Plan 2011-2036 (January 2020).  
 

22 No part of the development hereby approved shall commence until further surveys have been 
undertaken to investigate the potential for great crested newts to be present on or in the 
vicinity of the site, in accordance with the recommended mitigation measures set out in 
paragraphs 9.6.3 of the supporting Environmental Statement Addendum July 2020 and such 
surveys have been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. If the 
approved surveys confirm the presence of great crested newts details of the proposed 
mitigation measures and the timing for their implementation shall also be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority prior to the commencement of any 
development.  The agreed mitigation measures shall be implemented in accordance with the 
implementation timetable approved by the local planning authority. 

 
Reason: To protect the local wildlife in accordance with the requirements of the NPPF and 
Policy EN2 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan 2011-2036 (January 2020).  
 

23 No part of the development hereby permitted shall commence until a scheme for biodiversity 
mitigation and enhancement must have been submitted to and agreed in writing by the local 
planning authority. The scheme shall include a plan identifying the location of any mitigation 
and enhancement measures, along with a detailed schedule (and technical details as 
relevant) for each of the measures proposed. The required biodiversity mitigation and 
enhancement measures shall be completed in full, in accordance with the agreed scheme. 
 
Reason: To protect and enhance the local wildlife in accordance with the requirements of the 
NPPF and Policy EN2 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan 2011-2036 (January 2020). 
  

24 No part of the development hereby permitted shall commence until plans showing the existing 
and proposed land levels of the site including [site sections, spot heights, contours and the 
finished floor levels of all buildings] with reference to [neighbouring properties/an off site 
datum point] shall have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. 
 
Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the area and in accordance with Policies 
DE1 and EN1 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan 2011-2036 (January 2020). 
 

25 No part of the development hereby permitted shall commence until details demonstrating 
how the proposed development would comply with the requirements of Local Plan Policies 
SB1 and ID3 have been submitted to, and approved in writing, by the Local Planning 
Authority. The scheme shall include details of how carbon dioxide emissions would be 
minimised through the design and construction of the buildings; details of water efficiency, 
including the provision of a programme of water efficiency promotion and consumer 
education; contributing to low carbon travel through the provision of electric car charging 
points and provision of broadband infrastructure.  

 
 The approved sustainable building and broadband infrastructure shall be completed in full, in 

accordance with the agreed scheme, prior to the first occupation of the development hereby 
permitted.  

 

87



 

 

Reason: To ensure the proposed development is constructed to a standard that mitigates 
against climate change as required by Policies SB1 and ID3 of the adopted South Kesteven 
Local Plan 2011-2036 (January 2020).  
 

During Building Works 
 
26 The tree and hedge protection measures approved by the Local Planning Authority pursuant 

to Condition 10 shall be fully implemented before the construction of the development and 
retained during the construction of the development.  

 
Reason: To ensure that the trees and hedges to be retained are protected during 
development, to enhance the biodiversity of the development and in accordance with Policy 
EN2 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan 2011-2036 (January 2020).  
 

27  The CEMP for the development approved by the Local Planning Authority pursuant to 
Condition 12 shall be fully implemented and complied with throughout the Enabling Works 
and construction of the development, as appropriate.  

 
Reason: To ensure the development is carried out to minimise the impact on the environment. 
  

28 The arboricultural work forming part of the development shall be carried out fully in 
accordance with the details approved by the Local Planning Authority pursuant to Condition 
6 including the approved timetable forming part thereof and to the standards contained in BS 
3998 Tree Work & BS 5837 Trees in Relation to Construction. 

 
Reason: To ensure adequate management to retained trees and hedges and in accordance 
with Policy EN2 of the South Kesteven Local Plan 2011-2036 (January 2020).  
 

Before the Development is Occupied 
 
29 The development shall be carried out in accordance with the details of external surfaces 

approved by the Local Planning Authority pursuant to Condition 5 before the use commences. 
 

Reason: To protect the visual amenities of the locality and in accordance with Policies DE1 
and EN1 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan 2011-2036 (January 2020).  
 

30 The development shall be carried out in accordance with the landscaping details approved 
by the Local Planning Authority pursuant to Condition 6. 

 
Reason: To ensure that the works are sympathetic to the site and surroundings, to enhance 
the biodiversity of the development and in accordance with Policies DE1, EN1 and EN2 of 
the South Kesteven Local Plan 2011-2036 (January 2020).  
 

31 The landscape works for the development approved by the local Planning Authority pursuant 
to Condition 6 shall be carried out in accordance with the programme approved by the Local 
Planning Authority pursuant to Condition 7. 

 
Reason: To ensure that the works are sympathetic to the site and surroundings, to enhance 
the biodiversity of the development and in accordance with Policies DE1, EN1 and EN2 of 
the South Kesteven Local Plan 2011-2036 (January 2020).  
 

32 The signage strategy for the development approved by the Local Planning Authority pursuant 
to Condition 8 shall be fully implemented and delivered in accordance with the approved 

88



 

 

details prior to the development being first brought into use and thereafter shall be so 
maintained. 

 
Reason: In order to provide a cohesive sign provision within the site, in the interests of visual 
amenity and in accordance with Policies DE1 and ID2 of the adopted South Kesteven Local 
Plan 2011-2036 (January 2020). 
 

33 No part of the development shall be occupied until a scheme has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority for a signage strategy to discourage drivers 
from using Gonerby Lane and Allington Road.   The approved scheme shall be fully 
implemented either before the development is first brought into use or in accordance with a 
phasing programme approved by the local planning authority as part of the approved scheme. 
 
Reason:  To ensure safe access to the site and avoid excessive traffic through Allington and 
Sedgebrook in the interests of residential amenity, convenience and safety. 
 

34  The lighting scheme approved by the Local Planning Authority pursuant to Condition 9 shall 
be fully implemented and delivered in accordance with the approved details and in 
accordance with the timetable approved by the Local Planning Authority as part of that 
scheme and shall thereafter be so retained. 

 
Reason: In order to provide a cohesive lighting provision within the site, in the interests of 
visual amenity and in accordance with Policies DE1 and EN4 of the South Kesteven Local 
Plan 2011-2036 (January 2020).  
 

35 No part of the development shall be used or occupied until the works identified on drawing 
number T17569/004 or any minor variation thereof as specified by the local planning authority 
in conjunction with the local highway authority to improve the public highway (by means of 
signalisation of Belton Lane/Newark Hill junction) have been certified complete by the Local 
Planning Authority. 

 
Reason:  In the interests of safety of the users of the public highway and safety of the users 
of the site. 
 

36  The on-site public transport facilities and infrastructure identified in the details approved by 
the Local Planning Authority pursuant to Condition 11 shall be fully implemented and 
delivered in accordance with the details approved by the Local Planning Authority pursuant 
to Condition 11 prior to the use hereby approved first commencing and shall thereafter be 
retained and maintained in accordance with the approved details.  

 
Reason: In order to provide adequate infrastructure and facilities for public transport to serve 
the development.  
 

37  None of the buildings hereby approved shall be occupied or first brought into use until works 
for the drainage of surface water have been fully implemented and delivered in accordance 
with the details approved by the Local Planning Authority pursuant to Condition 14 and shall 
be maintained thereafter. 

 
Reason: To prevent flooding, pollution and detriment to public amenity through the provision 
of suitable water infrastructure. 
 

38 No buildings or units shall be occupied until the works for the disposal of foul water drainage 
have been carried out in accordance with the foul water strategy approved by the Local 

89



 

 

Planning Authority pursuant to Condition 13.  The approved foul water drainage system shall 
be maintained thereafter in accordance with the approved details.   

 
Reason: To prevent flooding, pollution and detriment to public amenity through the provision 
of suitable water infrastructure. 
 

39 The proposed play area shall be laid out and delivered in accordance with the details 
approved by the Local Planning Authority pursuant to Condition 15 prior to the first use of any 
retail unit forming part of the development. The play area shall thereafter be managed and 
maintained in accordance with the management and maintenance scheme approved by the 
Local Planning Authority pursuant to Condition 15.  

 
Reason: In order to provide a cohesive plan for the play areas within the site, in the interests 
of visual amenity and in accordance with Policies DE1 and OS1 of the adopted South 
Kesteven Local Plan 2011-2036 (January 2020).  
 

40 Prior to the first occupation of any unit forming part of the development a Landscape and 
Environmental Management Plan (LEMP) for the management and maintenance of 
landscaping, environmental and ecological features across the whole site shall be submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

  
Reason: In order to ensure cohesive landscaping, environmental and ecological features are 
managed in the interests of visual amenity and biodiversity and in accordance with Policies 
DE1, EN1 and EN2 of the South Kesteven Local Plan 2011-2036 (January 2020).  
 

41  The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied until the parking and servicing areas 
forming part of the development including 1% electric car charging points as per para. 7.3.2 
of the Transport Assessment have been provided in accordance with a plan to be submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The parking and servicing areas 
as approved shall be retained and shall always remain available for those purposes.  

 
Reason: In order to ensure the adequate provision of parking and servicing to serve the 
development. 
  

42 The training centre and retail units hereby approved shall not be occupied until the noise 
mitigation measures approved by the Local Planning Authority in relation to condition 21 
above have been fully implemented. 

 
Reason:  To ensure that the proposed development does not have a detrimental impact on 
the future operations of adjacent industrial units and to protect the future occupiers of the 
proposed buildings, in accordance with Policies DE1 and EN4 of the South Kesteven Local 
Plan 2011-2036 (January 2020).  
 

43 The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied until a car park management 
scheme has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. This 
management scheme shall include methods to control the operation of the car parks including 
security, opening times and permitted duration of stay.  

 
Reason: To ensure the satisfactory management of the parking for customers and staff in the 
interests of highway safety.  
 

44 No A3 unit hereby permitted shall first be brought into use until details relating to a system 
for the extraction and filtration of fumes for that A3 unit have been submitted to and approved 

90



 

 

in writing by the Local Planning Authority and the approved system for that unit has been 
installed. 

 
Reason: In the interests of amenity.  
 

45  No building or unit hereby permitted shall first be brought into use until details of a waste 
management plan for the operation of the development has been submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The waste management plan shall thereafter be 
implemented and the development shall be operated in accordance with the approved plan.  

 
Reason: To ensure adequate measures are in place to minimise the impact of waste and in 
accordance with Policy SD1 and EN4 of the South Kesteven Local Plan 2011-2036 (January 
2020).  
 

46  Before any part of the development hereby permitted is occupied/brought into use, a 
verification report confirming that remedial works identified in the scheme approved pursuant 
to condition 17 have been completed shall have been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. The report shall have been submitted by the nominated 
competent person approved, as required by condition 17 above. The report shall include: 

 
i. A complete record of remediation activities, and data collected as identified in the 

remediation scheme, to support compliance with agreed remediation objectives; 
ii. As built drawings of the implemented scheme; 
iii. Photographs of the remediation works in progress; and 
iv. Certificates demonstrating that imported and/or material left in situ is free from 

contamination. 
  
The scheme of remediation shall thereafter be maintained in accordance with the approved 
scheme.  
 
Reason: Previous activities associated with this site may have caused, or had the potential 
to cause, land contamination and to ensure that the proposed site investigations and 
remediation will not cause pollution in the interests of the amenities of the future residents 
and users of the development; and in accordance with Policies DE1 and EN4 of the South 
Kesteven Local Plan 2011-2036 (January 2020) and national guidance contained in the 
NPPF. 
 

47 No part of the development hereby permitted shall be first occupied or used until the 
improvement works to the A1 / A52 Eastern Junction, as detailed on Systra Drawing No. 
106648-SK004 Rev. A have been fully implemented and open to traffic. The approved 
scheme must comply with the requirements of the Design Manual for Roads and Bridges, 
including those relating to road safety audit and Walking, Cycling, Horse-Riding Assessment 
and Review. 

 
Reason:  To ensure that the A1 and A52 Trunk Roads continue to serve their purpose as part 
of a national system of routes for through traffic in accordance with Section 10(2) of the 
Highways Act 1980 by minimising disruption on the trunk road resulting from traffic entering 
and emerging from the application site and in the interests of road safety. 
 

48 No part of the development hereby permitted shall be first occupied or used until the 
improvement works to the A1 / A52 Western Junction as shown in principle in PTB Drawing 
Number T17569.102 Rev. B (or as amended by Road Safety Audit or Detailed Design) have 
been fully completed and open to traffic. The approved scheme must comply with the 

91



 

 

requirements of the Design Manual for Roads and Bridges, including those relating to Road 
Safety Audit and Walking, Cycling and Horse-Riding Assessment and Review procedures.  

 
Reason:  To ensure that the A1 and A52 Trunk Roads continue to serve their purpose as part 
of a national system of routes for through traffic in accordance with Section 10(2) of the 
Highways Act 1980 by minimising disruption on the trunk road resulting from traffic entering 
and emerging from the application site and in the interests of road safety. 
 

49 None of the buildings or units hereby approved shall be occupied until the existing garden 
centre and distribution unit on that part of the application site shown in pink and red on 
drawing 16-1007-(08)AZ-00009 Rev A have been demolished. 

 
Reason:  The application and supporting Environmental Statement have assessed the 
impacts of the development on this basis.  
 

50 Before any buildings hereby permitted are occupied/brought into use, the finished floor levels 
for that building shall have been constructed in accordance with the approved land levels 
details submitted in relation to Condition 24.  

 
Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the area and in accordance with Policies 
DE1 and EN1 of the South Kesteven Local Plan 2011-2036 (January 2020).  
 

Ongoing Conditions 
 
51 Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 

(as in force at 31 August 2020) and the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 
1987 (as in force at the date of this permission) and the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) Order 2015 (as amended) (or in each case any Order revoking and 
re-enacting any such Order with or without modification the part of the development defined 
as the Retail-Outlet Units and shown coloured pink on the Land Use Parameter Plan (drawing 
16-1007-(08)AZ-00009 Rev A)  hereby approved shall only be used and occupied in 
accordance with all of the following: 

 
(a) the Retail Outlet Units hereby approved shall be used for specialist retailing as a Designer 
Outlet Centre with associated ancillary facilities only and for no other purpose. For the 
purpose of this condition, specialist retailing and Designer Outlet Centre means clearance 
stores operated by a) manufacturers;b) retailers who do not directly manufacture but who 
either own their own brand or retail branded goods; or c) the franchisees or licensees or 
stockists of such manufacturers or retailers, in each case involving the retail sale of 
discounted comparison goods, defined as previous seasons stock, run offs, over-runs, 
samples of branded goods, goods produced for subsequently cancelled orders, market 
testing lines, rejects, seconds, clearance goods and surplus stock and accessories.  
 
(b) In at least 90% of the floorspace within the Retail Outlet Units that is used for sales to 
members of the public, any goods offered for sale shall be priced at least 30% below the 
recommended retail price (RRP) and such goods shall be limited to discounted comparison 
goods, previous season's stock, run-offs, over-runs, samples of branded goods, goods 
produced for subsequently cancelled orders, market testing lines, rejects, seconds, clearance 
goods and surplus stock and accessories. 
 
(c) No Retail Outlet Unit hereby permitted shall be used for the primary retail sale of garden 
products, computers and software and white goods and no unit hereby permitted shall be 

92



 

 

occupied as a newsagent, chemists, travel agency, post office, ticket agency (excluding the 
approved tourist information and visitor centre), hairdressers, bank, or dry cleaners. 
  
Reason: To ensure the development operates as assessed and in accordance with Policy 
GR4 of the South Kesteven Local Plan 2011-2036 (January 2020) and the NPPF (2021). 
 

52 Within 20 days of the anniversary of the opening of the Retail Outlet Units as shown coloured 
pink on the Land Use Parameter Plan (drawing 16-1007-(08)AZ-00009 Rev A), if requested 
by the Local Planning Authority, an annual report shall be submitted to the Council providing 
information on the occupancy of all units within the Retail Outlet Units part of the 
development, records of type of goods for sale for all Class A1 units within the site, and 
compliance with 30% RRP discount pricing. 
 
Reason: To assist with monitoring the development and to ensure the development operates 
as assessed and in accordance with Policy GR4 of the South Kesteven Local Plan 2011-
2036 (January 2020) and the NPPF (2021). 
 

53 Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 
(as in force at 31 August 2020) and the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 
1987 (as in force at the date of this permission) and the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) Order 2015 (as amended) (or in each case any Order revoking and 
re-enacting any such Order with or without modification) the maximum amounts of gross 
internal floor space for each use permitted by the permission shall be limited as follows: 

 

• No more than 15,305 sq.m gross internal floor space within the application site is to 
be used for Class A1  retail uses as part of the Retail Outlet Units; 

• No more than 1,252 sq.m gross internal floor space within the application site is to be 
used for Class A3  restaurant and café uses as part of the Retail Outlet Units; 

• No more than 1,147 sq.m gross internal floor space within the application site is to be 
used for storage uses as part of the Retail Outlet Units; 

• No more than 5,574 sq.m gross external floor space within the application site is to be 
used for Class A1  retail uses as part of the large goods retail unit; 

• No more than 439 sq.m gross external floor space within the application site is to be 
used for Class D1 non-residential institutions uses;  

• No more than 2,096 sq.m gross external floor space within the application site is to be 
used for Class D2  assembly and leisure uses;  

• No more than 5,251 sq.m gross external floor space within the application site is to be 
used for Class B1  office uses;  

• No more than 5,521 sq.m gross external floor space within the application site is to be 
used as a garden centre, with no more than 1,393 sq.m gross external display area; 
and 
 

The remaining floor space shall only be used for the provision of toilet blocks, storage, a 
Tourist Information & Visitor Centre and uses ancillary thereto. 
 
Reason: To ensure the development operates as assessed and in accordance with Policy 
GR4 of the South Kesteven Local Plan 2011-2036 (January 2020) and the NPPF (2021). 
 

54  Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) Order 2015 (as amended) (or any Order revoking and re-enacting that Order 
with or without modification) no Retail Outlet Unit either as constructed pursuant to this 
permission or as a result of any subsequent combination of units, shall exceed 1,200 sq.m 
gross internal floor space (including any mezzanine floor space). 

93



 

 

 
Reason: To ensure the development operates as assessed and in accordance with Policy 
GR4 of the South Kesteven Local Plan 2011-2036 (January 2020) and the NPPF (2021). 
 

55 Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 
(as in force at 31 August 2020) and the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 
1987 (as in force at the date of this permission) and the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) Order 2015 (as amended) (or in each case any Order revoking and 
re-enacting any such Order with or without modification):  

 
(i)  no building or part of any building hereby permitted shall be used for the sale of 
convenience retail goods, other than confectionary and food and beverage related gifts or 
within a restaurant or café for consumption on those premises; and 
(ii)  no part of the garden centre shall be used for the sale of any convenience retail goods 
save as permitted by condition 69. 
 
Reason: To ensure the development operates as assessed and in accordance with Policy 
GR4 of the South Kesteven Local Plan 2011-2036 (January 2020) and the NPPF (2021). 
 

56 Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 
(as in force at 31 August 2020) and the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 
1987 (as in force at the date of this permission) and the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) Order 2015 (as amended) (or in each case any Order revoking and 
re-enacting any such Order with or without modification):  

 
(a) no additional mezzanine floors shall be created within the development (other than as 
expressly permitted by this permission); and  
(b)  no part of the development shall be used for any Class A2/Class E(c) financial and 
professional services, other than automated teller machines, Class A4/Sui Generis drinking 
establishments, Class A5/Sui Generis hot food takeaway uses, Class D1/Class E(e) medical 
or health services, Class D1/Class E(f) creche, day nursery or day centres, Class B1(b), 
Class E(g)(ii) research and development of products and processes, Class B1(c), Class 
E(g)(iii) industrial processes; and  
(c) following first occupation of the development no changes of use shall occur. 
 
Reason: To ensure the development operates as assessed and in accordance with Policy 
GR4 of the South Kesteven Local Plan 2011-2036 (January 2020) and the NPPF (2021). 
 

57  The landscaping, environmental and ecological features across the whole site shall be 
managed and maintained in accordance with the Landscape and Environmental 
Management Plan approved by the Local Planning Authority pursuant to Condition 40. 

 
Reason: In order to ensure cohesive landscaping, environmental and ecological features are 
managed in the interests of visual amenity and biodiversity and in accordance with Policies 
DE1, EN1 and EN2 of the South Kesteven Local Plan 2011-2036 (January 2020). 
 

58 The car parks hereby permitted shall be operated in accordance with the car park 
management scheme approved by the Local Planning Authority pursuant to Condition 43. 

  
Reason: To ensure the satisfactory management of the parking for customers and staff, in 
the interests of highway safety.  
 

94



 

 

59  From their installation, the systems for the extraction and filtration of fumes from the A3  units 
hereby permitted shall be maintained in accordance with the details approved by the Local 
Planning Authority pursuant to Condition 44. 

 
Reason: In the interests of amenity.  
 

60  Any trees or plants which within a period of five years from the date of planting die, are 
removed or become seriously damaged or diseased, shall be replaced in the following 
planting season with others of similar size and species. 

 
Reason: In order to ensure cohesive landscaping, in the interests of visual amenity and in 
accordance with Policies DE1 and EN1 of the South Kesteven Local Plan 2011-2036 
(January 2020).  
 

61  The A1 retail units hereby permitted shall not be open for business outside the following 
hours: 
 

Monday 9:30am – 7pm 

Tuesday 9:30am – 7pm 

Wednesday 9:30am – 7pm 

Thursday 9:30am – 9pm 

Friday 9:30am – 7pm 

Saturday 9:00am – 6pm 

Sunday and public holidays 10:00am – 4pm  

 
In addition, notwithstanding the above, the A1  Retail Units hereby permitted will be able to 
trade up to 10pm on no more than 12 occasions in any calendar year. 
 
Reason: To define the extent of the permission and in the interests of amenity.  
 

62  The opening hours of all A3  units hereby permitted within the area defined as the Retail 
Outlet Units on drawing 16-1007-(08)AZ-00009 Rev A shall be limited to one hour before the 
retail units hereby permitted open and one hour after closing of the retail units. 

 
Reason: To define the extent of the permission and in the interests of amenity.  
 

63 The development shall not be occupied until the crime prevention measures approved by the 
Local Planning Authority pursuant to condition 16 have been fully implemented in accordance 
with the approved details. Thereafter such measures shall be so maintained.  

 
Reason: In order to minimise the risk of crime.  
 

64 The operator of the retail floorspace hereby permitted shall maintain records of the occasions 
in each calendar year on which extended A1 Retail Units opening hours up to 10pm occurs 
and shall upon written request from the Local Planning Authority produce these records for 
the previous 12 months for inspection within 2 calendar weeks of the date of request.  

 
Reason: To ensure compliance with the approved opening hours for the retail units.  
 

65 Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 
(as in force at 31 August 2020) and the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 
1987 (as in force at the date of this permission) and the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) Order 2015 (as amended) (or in each case any Order revoking and 

95



 

 

re-enacting any such Order with or without modification the use of the large goods retail unit 
hereby approved shall not be used for the sale of goods and services other than the following:  

 
(a) Core Large Goods Retail Goods and Services limited to: 
Glassware; cutlery, table linens; cookshop; gifts; picture frames; clocks; decorative 
accessories; wallpaper; paint; linens; bathroom accessories; rugs; fabrics; curtains and 
cushions; blinds and poles; furniture; mirrors; beds and bedroom furniture; home storage; 
lighting; large electrical items; audio and vision; IT and imaging; and small electrical goods. 
(b) Non-Core Large Goods Retail Goods and Services limited to: 
Cleaning; stationery; seasonal goods; nursery goods (including nursery furniture, prams, car 
seats and nursery related goods); toys; travel goods (including suitcases); beauty stands; 
skincare and bathing products (excluding make-up and perfume).   
(c) An ancillary café to serve retail customers and for no other purpose, ,  
(d) and in any event no display/sale of any items not identified as Core or Non-Core Large 
Goods Retail Goods and Services detailed above.   
(e) There shall also be no display or sale of any clothing, footwear, sporting goods or books 
other than by way of generic internet sales not specifically referable to this store. 
Reason:  The justification for this large good retail unit is based only for the sale of the above 
goods and the associated specific retail impact assessment. 
 

66 With the exception of seasonal goods, no more than 20% of the net indoor floorspace (771 
sqm) of the large goods retail unit shall be used for the display of Non-Core Large Goods 
Retail Goods and Services. 

 
Reason: To ensure the development operates as assessed and in accordance with Policy 
GR4 of the South Kesteven Local Plan 2011-2036 (January 2020) and the NPPF (2021). 
 

67 This consent does not confer approval of the indicative temporary garden centre structure 
shown on the indicative phasing plans (Drawing 16-1007-(03) SK-00013 Rev A), which will 
require the submission of a separate standalone planning application. 

 
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and as the impacts of such a structure have not been 
considered as part of this application. 
 

68 Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 
(as in force at 31 August 2020) and the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 
1987 (as in force at the date of this permission) and the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) Order 2015 (as amended) (or in each case any Order revoking and 
re-enacting any such Order with or without modification the garden centre and external 
display area to the garden centre hereby approved shall only be used for the sale of the 
following goods and services:  

 
(a) Core Garden Centre Goods and Services limited to: 

(i) Goods and services related to gardens and gardening; (ii) Horticultural products, 
trees, plants, shrubs, house plants and flowers of any type; (iii) Garden equipment, 
tools and accessories; (iv) Barbeques and their accessories; (v) Outdoor garden 
furniture; (vi) Sheds, garden buildings and outdoor garden play equipment; (vii) 
Fencing, trellis and landscaping materials; (viii) Conservatories; (ix) Conservatory 
furniture, furnishing and accessories; (x) Swimming pools and associated equipment; 
(xi) Aquatics, water garden equipment and their accessories; (xii) Books – including 
gardening, leisure, hobby, travel, sports and coffee table books and other literature 
other than fiction; (xiii) Soft furnishings; (xiv) Restaurant, coffee shop and children’s 
play area 

96



 

 

(b) Non-Core Garden Centre Goods and Services limited to:  
(xv) Pictures, frames and prints; (xvi) Pets, pet accessories, pet care and advice; (xvii) 
Hobbies, toys and crafts; (xviii) Baskets, wicker work and country crafts; (xix) seasonal 
goods; (xx) China, glass and gifts; (xxi) Home table top items and kitchen accessories; 
(xxii) Outdoor and country pursuits clothing, footwear and equipment e.g. fishing, 
equestrian, hiking, climbing etc; (xxiii) Camping equipment and supplies; (xxiv) 
Clothing and footwear; (xxv) Butchers, Delicatessen, Greengrocers, Bakers, Florists 
and Confectionery and for no other purpose. 
 

Reason: To ensure the development operates as assessed and in accordance with Policy 
GR4 of the South Kesteven Local Plan 2011-2036 (January 2020) and the NPPF (2021). 
 

69 With the exception of seasonal goods, no more than 30% of the net indoor floorspace (1292 
sqm) of the Garden Centre shall be used for the display of Non-Core Garden Centre Goods 
and Services.  

 
Reason: To ensure the development operates as assessed and in accordance with Policy 
GR4 of the South Kesteven Local Plan 2011-2036 (January 2020) and the NPPF (2021). 
 

70 Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 
(as in force at 31 August 2020) and the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 
1987 (as in force at the date of this permission) and the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) Order 2015 (as amended) (or in each case any Order revoking and 
re-enacting any such Order with or without modification):  

 
(i) no unit hereby permitted shall be occupied as a cinema, bowling centre, music 
and concert hall, bingo and dance hall, swimming bath or skating rink. 
(ii) The  part of the application site shown coloured purple on the Land Use Parameter 
Plan (Drawing No. 16-1007-(08)AZ-00009 Rev A) shall be used for indoor sports and 
recreation, gymnasiums, training and tourist information only and for no other purpose. 
 

Reason: To ensure the development operates as assessed and in accordance with Policy 
GR4 of the South Kesteven Local Plan 2011-2036 (January 2020) and the NPPF (2021). 
 

71 The opening hours of the D2  unit  as shown on the Masterplan (Drawing No. 16-1007-(08)AZ-
00004 Rev B) hereby permitted shall be limited to one hour before the retail units hereby 
permitted open and one hour after closing of the retail units. 

 
Reason: To define the extent of the permission and in the interests of amenity.  
 

72 Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 
(as in force at 31 August 2020) and the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 
1987 (as in force at the date of this permission) and the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) Order 2015 (as amended) (or in each case any Order revoking and 
re-enacting any such Order with or without modification), the office space permitted by 
condition 53 on the Masterplan (Drawing No. 16-1007-(08)AZ-00004 Rev B)  

 
(a) shall only be occupied by the operators and/or managers of the retail, leisure, café/ 
restaurant uses or other permitted uses within the proposed development ; and 
(b) shall only be used for an office use that is ancillary to and has a functional link with 
the Designer Outlet Centre and other permitted uses forming part of the proposed 
development and for no other purpose. 
 

97



 

 

Reason: To ensure the development operates as assessed and in accordance with Policy 
GR4 of the South Kesteven Local Plan 2011-2036 (January 2020) and the NPPF (2021). 
 

73 No Part of the development shall be used or occupied until the works as shown in principle 
on drawing number T17569.001 Rev A to amend the priority of the junction between the 
access to the site and Occupation Lane (or as amended by detailed design) have been 
certified complete by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reasons:  To ensure that the access to the development is provided in accordance with the 
details submitted as part of the Environmental Statement, in accordance with Policy ID2 of 
the South Kesteven Local Plan 2011-2036 (January 2020) and the requirements of the 
National Planning Policy Framework.  

 
Standard Notes(s) to Applicant: 
 

In reaching the decision the Council has worked with the applicant in a positive and proactive 
manner by determining the application without undue delay. As such it is considered that the 
decision is in accordance with paras 38 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
The highway improvement works referred to in the above condition are required to be carried 
out by means of a legal agreement between the County Council as Highway authority and 
the landowner. 

 
The developer’s attention is drawn to the attached comments from Cadent in relation to the 
location of on-site apparatus. 

 
The developer’s attention is drawn to the attached comments from Lincolnshire Police 

 
Anglian Water has assets close to or crossing this site or there are assets subject to an 
adoption agreement. Therefore the site layout should take this into account and 
accommodate those assets within either prospectively adoptable highways or public open 
space. If this is not practicable then the sewers will need to be diverted at the developers cost 
under Section 185 of the Water Industry Act 1991. or, in the case of apparatus under an 
adoption agreement, liaise with the owners of the apparatus. It should be noted that the 
diversion works should normally be completed before development can commence. 

 
An application to discharge trade effluent must be made to Anglian Water and must have 
been obtained before any discharge of trade effluent can be made to the public sewer. 

 
Anglian Water recommends that petrol / oil interceptors be fitted in all car 
parking/washing/repair facilities. Failure to enforce the effective use of such facilities could 
result in pollution of the local watercourse and may constitute an offence. 

 
Anglian Water also recommends the installation of a properly maintained fat traps on all 
catering establishments. Failure to do so may result in this and other properties suffering 
blocked drains, sewage flooding and consequential environmental and amenity impact and 
may also constitute an offence under section 111 of the Water Industry Act 1991. 

  

98



 

 

Site Location Plan 
 

 
Block Plan 

 
 

 

99



 

 

Masterplan 

 

Parameters Plan – Land Use 

 

100



 

 

Parameters Plan - Building Heights  

 

Parameters Plan - Primary Circulation Routes 

 

101



 

 

Parameters Plan – Landscaping 

 

Financial Implications reviewed by: Not applicable 

 

Legal Implications reviewed by: Not applicable 

 

102



 
Stantec UK Limited 
61 Oxford Street 
Manchester 
M1 6EQ 
 
Telephone: 07843 652 044 
email:  bernard.greep@stantec.com  

 

 
 
 

  Registered Office: 
Stantec UK Ltd 
Buckingham Court 
Kingsmead Business Park 
Frederick Place, London Road 
High Wycombe HP11 1JU 
Registered in England No. 1188070 

 

Our ref: 49727 
 
 
28 May 2021 
 
Phil Jordan 
Principal Planning Officer 
Development & Growth 
South Kesteven District Council 
Council Offices, St. Peter’s Hill 
Grantham, Lincolnshire, NG31 6PZ 
 
 
Dear Phil, 
 
RE: OUTLINE PLANNING APPLICATION REF. S17/2155 – DOWNTOWN, OLD GREAT NORTH 
ROAD, GREAT GONERBY 
 
RETAIL PLANNING ADVICE 
 
The Council has received two recent objections from Rioja Developments in relation to the above 
planning application: 

▪ A “Planning Appraisal” by NTR Planning on behalf of Rioja Developments, dated April 2021; 
and 

▪ A letter from Taylor Wessing on behalf of Rioja Developments, dated 16 April 2021.   
 
Council officers have requested that we consider whether these objections alter our advice in relation to 
the key retail tests.   
 
The points that we consider it appropriate for us to advise on further, in line with our scope of works, are 
as set out below. We consider that Council officers will form their own view as to whether the application 
proposals are in accordance with the Development Plan, as raised in Rioja Developments’ objections 
and thus, we do not discuss this matter in this letter.   
 
Future High Streets Fund 
In the “Planning Appraisal”, NTR Planning sets out that, in the Future High Streets Fund bid, the Council 
provided a SWOT analysis of the health of Grantham Town Centre and that the number of weaknesses 
outweighs the strengths of the town centre.  Also described are some additional weaknesses as set out 
in the ‘Grantham Future High Streets Fund Film’.  NTR argues that [the application proposals] will cause 
an adverse impact on the planned investments which are proposed through the fund.   
 
The first point to make is that it is not unusual for a Future High Streets Fund bid to focus on the 
weaknesses of a town centre.  In fact, such a bid would be unlikely to obtain funding if the bid focused 
on the strengths of a town centre.   
 

103

mailto:bernard.greep@stantec.com


 

Page 2 of 4 

 

Secondly, we have considered the planned investment in Grantham Town Centre as part of the FHSF 
and the applicant’s commentary on the impact of the application proposals on this planned investment. 
The Council submitted its bid for the FHSF funding in the knowledge that there was a resolution to grant 
planning permission for the application proposals subject to a Section 106 Agreement. We consider that 
such planned investment will be delivered in Grantham Town Centre regardless of whether planning 
permission is granted for the application proposals. It is also important to consider the extent to which 
the application proposals will impact on the planned investment; whilst the planned investment should 
increase the turnover of main town centres within the town centre, will those benefits be outweighed by 
the diversion of trade? 
 
We consider that the proposed development will have no impact on the planned investment to 
repurpose retail space to other uses including residential uses. As set out above, there is likely to be 
some impact on existing retail facilities within the town centre; however, this is not an impact on planned 
investment and should be protected by the proposed S106 Agreement and restrictive conditions. The 
application proposals should, in the main, draw different custom than the existing town centre offer 
does. The applicant will put in place some measures to create linkages between the application 
proposals and Grantham Town Centre. The monies set out in the Section 106 Agreement, referred to 
above, will help add to the planned investment in infrastructure and public realm. In our view, the 
application proposals will not impact on the planned investment in infrastructure and public realm. On 
the basis of the above, we are satisfied that the application proposals will not have a significant adverse 
impact on the planned FHSF investment in Grantham Town Centre.   
 
Sequential Assessment 
In the “Planning Appraisal”, NTR Planning sets out its view that disaggregation is identified as being 
relevant to the sequential test for the application proposals.   
 
In relation to disaggregation, Dundee, Rushden Lakes, Scotch Corner, Tollgate and Aldergate are well-
known for being key judgments/appeal decisions when considering the interpretation of the sequential 
test. There has been no Secretary of State decision, post Dundee, where the Secretary of State has 
endorsed disaggregation. Clearly, the disaggregation or sub-division of a proposal is not part of the 
sequential test. A development split into separate parts does not amount to a closely similar size or type 
of development. When considering whether alternative sites are available or suitable for a proposal, the 
task to assess alternative sites (plural) means in order to see whether any one (singular) of them can 
accommodate the proposal, not to see whether a number of sites (plural) can accommodate parts or 
elements of the proposal. On this basis, we do not consider that the application proposals should be 
disaggregated. 
 
Impact Assessment 
In the “Planning Appraisal”, NTR Planning disagrees with a number of inputs to the applicant’s Updated 
Impact Assessment, notably: 

▪ The design year; 
▪ Special Forms of Trading percentage deductions; 
▪ A reliance on old market share data; and 
▪ Reduced turnover as a result of competition with Grantham Designer Outlet Village. 

 
We know from our extensive town centre and retail planning experience that applicants, objectors and 
consultants in general reach different conclusions in relation to inputs into retail impact assessments.  
The design year is a matter of judgement.  The applicant has forecast a likely design year and NTR 
Planning disagrees with the design year.  The objection from NTR Planning has used more recent 
Special Forms of Trading percentage deductions, but this is because their objection was made after the 
new data were released.  In any event, impact assessments are difficult forecasts to make in the middle 
of a pandemic.  Whilst the applicant has used older market share data, any market share data collected 

104



 

Page 3 of 4 

 

at the current time, would be in a midst of a pandemic and it is very uncertain as to whether current 
shopping patterns are the new normal, or whether they are just as a result of a “needs must” during a 
pandemic.  As such, we do not take issue with the market share data used by the applicant.  We are 
strongly of the opinion that the application proposals and Grantham Designer Outlet Village will take 
trade from each other and, as a result, the application proposals with have a reduced turnover.  In 
reality, it is implausible that there would be no trading interactions between the two outlet facilities that 
could be developed at Grantham.  A cumulative impact scenario whereby both designer outlet centres 
trade at 25% below benchmark levels, is, in our view, realistic.   
 
Centre Health 
In the “Planning Appraisal”, NTR Planning states that they have done their own health check 
assessments of Grantham Town Centre and Newark-on-Trent Town Centre.  NTR Planning concludes 
that Grantham Town Centre has an above average and increasing vacancy rate, a steady decline in the 
number of comparison goods retailers and a decline in the town centre’s environmental quality, 
particularly as a result of the number of vacant premises.  NTR Planning concludes that Newark-on-
Trent Town Centre has declined in health since NTR Planning’s previous survey work.  The vacancy 
rate has increased in the town centre as a whole and in the town centre’s Primary Shopping Area.  NTR 
Planning also claims that confidence in the town centre is low, and that the pandemic has led to 
closures, with vacancies expected to rise.   
 
Stantec has been instructed to assess the submitted material rather than undertake the health check 
assessment fieldwork ourselves.  Based on the applicant’s submitted material, the health of each of the 
centres within the primary catchment area has either stayed the same, or, in the case of Grantham 
Town Centre, improved from being relatively weak, to relatively healthy. We raise the following points in 
relation to NTR Planning’s conclusions regarding the health of Grantham and Newark-on-Trent Town 
Centres.  Just because a town centre has an above average vacancy rate, this does not mean that it 
cannot withstand any impacts from retail development outside of town centres.  By its very nature, ‘an 
average’ means that some centres will be below average and others above average.  A decline in the 
number of comparison goods retailers is a trend happening nationwide and is not specific to Grantham.  
More vacant units in a town centre, will have an effect on environmental quality.  It is very difficult to 
accurately determine town centre health during a pandemic and multiple lockdown periods.  People’s 
shopping patterns have changed dramatically over the past fifteen months and no-one knows to what 
extent such a change in shopping patterns will become the new normal.  Predictably, during the 
pandemic, vacant units have increased nationwide and we do not know how many vacant units will be 
recycled after the pandemic ends.  It is also difficult to tell whether units are vacant during a pandemic 
or are just temporarily closed due to government instructions.  It can be expected that the applicant 
would focus on the strengths of the town centres and an objector would focus on the weaknesses of the 
town centres.  Council officers will need to form their own view as to the health of the town centres.   
 
Retail Impact Implications 
In the “Planning Appraisal”, NTR Planning argues that in its own retail impact assessment, they have 
forecast that the application proposals and commitments combined will have an impact on Grantham 
Town Centre of 7.0%-9.8%.  NTR Planning cites Secretary of State decisions such as Scotch Corner 
and Cribbs Causeway where similar level of impacts on town centres were considered.  NTR Planning 
states that, at Scotch Corner, the Inspector concluded that a 6.9% impact on Darlington Town Centre 
would not be significantly adverse.  NTR Planning states, that at Cribbs Causeway, the Inspector 
concluded that a 6.4% impact on Bristol City Centre would be significantly adverse.  At the time of the 
inquiries, both centres displayed varying health.  NTR Planning makes the point that both decisions 
were pre-pandemic.   
 
In our view, whether a percentage impact of a retail proposal will have a significant adverse impact on 
town centre health is a judgement call to be made by the decision maker.  It is too simplistic to cite 

105



 

Page 4 of 4 

 

previous Inspectors’ decisions and state that just because a decision maker reached a conclusion in 
relation to the impact test elsewhere, that that same conclusion should be reached here.  If the Council 
is satisfied that the applicant’s percentage impacts and conclusions in relation to town centre health are 
robust, then we are of the view that a 4.4% impact on Grantham Town Centre and a 8.1% impact on 
Newark-upon-Trent Town Centre are unlikely to be considered to be significantly adverse.   
 
Conclusion 
We have considered the retail planning aspects of the documents submitted on behalf of Rioja 
Developments and we remain of the opinion that the proposals have satisfied the impact and sequential 
tests.  
 
We trust this advice is of assistance to the Council.  If you have any queries, then please do not hesitate 
to contact me.   

 
Yours sincerely, 
 

 
 
Bernard Greep 
For and on behalf of 
STANTEC UK LIMITED  

 

106



 
Stantec UK Limited 
61 Oxford Street 
Manchester 
M1 6EQ 
 
Telephone: 07843 652 044 
email:  bernard.greep@stantec.com  

 

 
 
 

  Registered Office: 
Stantec UK Ltd 
Buckingham Court 
Kingsmead Business Park 
Frederick Place, London Road 
High Wycombe HP11 1JU 
Registered in England No. 1188070 

 

Our ref: 49727 
 
 
28 May 2021 
 
Phil Jordan 
Principal Planning Officer 
Development & Growth 
South Kesteven District Council 
Council Offices, St. Peter’s Hill 
Grantham, Lincolnshire, NG31 6PZ 
 
 
Dear Phil, 
 
RE: OUTLINE PLANNING APPLICATION REF. S17/2155 – DOWNTOWN, OLD GREAT NORTH 
ROAD, GREAT GONERBY 
 
RETAIL PLANNING ADVICE 
 
We set out below our retail planning advice in respect of the above application proposal for a Designer 
Outlet Centre, additional large goods retail, garden centre, training academy, leisure unit and offices at 
Downtown, Old Great North Road, Great Gonerby.   Stantec (formerly known as Peter Brett Associates) 
provided the Council with retail planning advice on the Downtown Designer Outlet Centre proposals in 
March 2020.   
 
The scope of our advice is: 
 

• Consideration of whether the submitted updated Retail Impact Assessment (‘RIA’, dated July 2020) 
includes the requested additional work.  

• Whether, in our opinion, the planning application passes the retail sequential and impact tests. This 
is to include consideration of the impact of the proposed development on the planned investment at 
Grantham Town Centre. 

• Consideration of the retail planning aspects of the documents submitted by Taylor Wessing and 
limited to Taylor Wessing’s commentary on the impact and sequential tests. We envisage that 
Council officers will consider the other planning issues raised.  

Scope of the updated Retail Impact Assessment (dated July 2020) 
 
In our advice letter to the Council of 20 March 2020, we recommended that the Council request the 
following information from the applicant1: 

 
1 The underlined text sets out what was asked of the applicant in our letter to the Council of March 
2020.  The non-underlined text sets out our assessment as to the extent of the applicant’s compliance 
with our requests, following further information submitted in July 2020.   

107

mailto:bernard.greep@stantec.com


 

Page 2 of 7 

 

 

 

1. An assessment as to the conformity of the application proposal with the Development Plan, as it 
currently stands: The applicant has set out the planning policy context in Section 3 of its RIA and 
reached conclusions in relation to the compliance of the proposals with the retail tests later in the 
RIA.   

2. A review of the sites previously considered and a conclusion as to whether any of the sites are both 
available and suitable for the proposed development, in accordance with the requirements of the 
sequential test as set out in Policy GR4 of the new Local Plan and paragraph 86 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework (‘NPPF’).  The applicant should also consider any relevant additional 
sites as part of the sequential test: The applicant has provided an updated sequential assessment 
in Section 4 and Appendix C of its RIA, albeit some different conclusions have been reached when 
compared with the previous RIA.   

3. An update of a number of inputs in the applicant’s RIA including: population projections; per capita 
expenditure; comparison goods market shares / turnover; sales efficiency per annum; trade draw of 
the application proposal from residents; commitments; and new trade diversion patterns of the 
application proposal: The applicant has updated the inputs mentioned above as set out in Section 5 
and Appendix D of its RIA.   

4. An update of the health check assessments previously considered: The applicant has provided 
updated health check assessments of the town centres of Grantham, Bourne, Sleaford, Stamford, 
Bingham, Newark-on-Trent, Melton Mowbray and Oakham (all desktop-based) as set out in Section 
5 and Appendix F of its RIA.  The applicant has been unable to visit these centres in person due to 
prolonged lockdown periods during the pandemic.   

On the basis of the above, we are now satisfied that the applicant has updated its RIA sufficiently, as 
per the request in our advice letter dated 20 March 2020.   
 
Consideration of whether the planning application passes the retail sequential and impact tests 
 
Sequential Test 
 
Paragraph 86 of the NPPF states that local planning authorities should apply a sequential test to 
planning applications for main town centre uses which are neither in an existing centre nor in 
accordance with an up-to-date plan.  Main town centre uses should be located in town centres, then in 
edge of centre locations; and only if suitable sites are not available (or expected to become available 
within a reasonable period) should out of centre sites be considered.   
 
Policy GR4 – Grantham Town Centre, as set out in the Local Plan 2011-2036, states that a sequential 
approach will be applied to main town centre uses outside of the town centre.   
 
The February 2019 Committee Report, in relation to the sequential test, set out that there are no 
suitable sites occupying a sequentially preferable location to the application site.  The applicant had 
adopted an appropriate search area for the development and demonstrated flexibility in scale and 
format of the proposals.  Accordingly, it was concluded that the sequential test was passed.   
 
The February 2019 Committee Report concluded that the seven sites in the table below were either not 
available and / or suitable for the application proposals.  In its current submission, the applicant has also 
reached the conclusion that the seven sites are either not available and / or suitable for the proposed 
development, albeit the applicant considers that the Jessop Way, Newark-on-Trent and the Former 
Advanta Seeds, Sleaford sites are not available for the proposed development, which we discuss 

108



 

Page 3 of 7 

 

 

further below.  We agree with the applicant that the seven sites mentioned below are not available and / 
or not suitable for the application proposals.  We are not aware of any other sequentially preferable 
sites that should be considered by the applicant as part of the sequential test.   
 

 February 2019 Committee Report July 2020 Retail Impact Assessment 
Update 

Site Available Suitable Available Suitable 

King 31 
Grantham 

Yes No Yes No 

Bourne Core 
Area, Bourne 

No No No No 

Jessop Way, 
Newark-on-Trent 

Yes No No No 

NSK Factory, 
Newark-on-Trent 

No No No No 

Bass Maltings, 
Sleaford 

No No No No 

East Road, 
Sleaford 

No No No No 

Former Advanta 
Seeds, Sleaford 

Yes No No No 

 
In contrast to the February 2019 Committee Report, the new submission material suggests that the 
Jessop Way, Newark-on-Trent site is not available for the application proposals.  This is because the 
applicant has said that the site is being marketed as part of a wider industrial site (‘G.PARK Newark’) 
and is therefore considered to be unavailable for the proposed development.  In its October 2017 Retail 
Impact Assessment, the applicant considered that the site was being marketed as an industrial site and 
was considered to be available.  We agree with the applicant’s current submission material that the 
Jessop Way, Newark-on-Trent site, as the site is not being marketed for the uses proposed by the 
application.   
 
Likewise, in contrast to the February 2019 Committee Report, the new submission material suggests 
that the Former Advanta Seeds, Sleaford site is not available for the proposed development.  This is 
because the applicant has said that on the basis that planning permission has recently been granted for 
a comprehensive mixed-use scheme, the site is not available for the proposed development.  In its 
October 2017 Retail Impact Assessment, the applicant considered that the site was not available as 
Tesco previously pulled out of its proposed redevelopment of the site (it is also understood that the 
permission expired).  On the basis of the recently granted planning permission, we agree with the 
applicant’s current submission material that the Former Advanta Seeds, Sleaford site is not available for 
the proposed development.   
 
In our view, the seven sites mentioned in the table above are not suitable and / or available for the 
application proposals.  We are not aware of any other sequentially preferable sites that are both 
available and suitable for the application proposals.  As such, we conclude that the sequential test is 
passed. 
 
Impact on Centres 
 
Paragraph 89 of the NPPF states that when assessing applications for retail and leisure development 
outside town centres, which are not in accordance with an up-to-date plan, local planning authorities 
should require an impact assessment if the development is over a proportionate, locally set floorspace 
threshold (if there is no locally set threshold, the default threshold is 2,500 sq.m of gross floorspace).  

109



 

Page 4 of 7 

 

 

This should include the assessment of the impact of the proposal on town centre vitality and viability, 
including local consumer choice and trade in the town centre and the wider retail catchment (as 
applicable to the scale and nature of the scheme).   
 
Policy GR4 – Grantham Town Centre as set out in the Local Plan 2011-2036 contains a locally set 
impact threshold of 1,000 sq.m for proposals for main town centre uses outside of Grantham town 
centre. 
 
A comparison between the previous impact figures and conclusions in relation to town centre health 
(taken from the February 2019 Committee Report) and the current impact figures (taken from the July 
2020 Retail Impact Assessment Update) are set out in the table below.   
 

Centre February 2019 
Committee 

Report  

July 2020 Retail 
Impact 

Assessment 
Update 

February 2019 
Committee 

Report  

July 2020 Retail 
Impact 

Assessment 
Update 

 Impact assuming 25% less ‘DOC’ 
Sales 2025 

Health of centre 

PCA 

Grantham 3.7% 4.4% Relatively weakly Relatively 
healthy 

Bourne 2.2% 2.7% Performing well Performing well 

Sleaford 2.6% 3.0% Vulnerable Performing well 

Stamford 2.7% 3.1% Performing 
especially well 

Vital and viable 

Bingham 1.7% 1.9% Performing well Healthy and 
vibrant centre 

Newark-on-Trent 5.0% 8.1% Performing 
especially well 

Performing well 

Melton Mowbray 4.1% 4.4% Performing well Performing well 

Oakham 3.2% 3.7% Performing 
especially well 

Performing well 

Uppingham 0.1% 0.1% - - 

 
In the table above, we have set out a scenario whereby impact assumes 25 per cent less ‘DOC’ sales 
due to both outlet developments taking some trade from one another.  This is because, in reality, it is 
implausible that there would be no trading interactions between the two outlet facilities that could be 
developed at Grantham.  A cumulative impact scenario whereby both designer outlet centres trade at 
25 per cent below benchmark levels is more realistic.   
 
In relation to impact, the February 2019 Committee Report set out that the application was assessed on 
the basis of a ‘worst case’ scenario where both the King31 and the Downtown Designer Outlet centres 
were constructed and operating.  It was concluded that the Downtown proposal would not significantly 
harm the vitality or viability of any existing retail centres.   
 
As set out in the Planning Practice Guidance2, a judgement as to whether the likely adverse impacts are 
significant can only be reached in light of local circumstances.  Stantec has been instructed to assess 
the submitted material rather than undertake health check assessment fieldwork ourselves.  In the table 
above, we have compared the percentage impacts and the health of centres within the catchment area 
of the proposal as set out in the February 2019 Committee and the current updated information as 

 
2 Paragraph: 018 Reference ID: 2b-018-20190722 

110



 

Page 5 of 7 

 

 

submitted by the applicant.  It can be seen that, in the main, the cumulative impact of commitments and 
the proposed development on centres within the catchment area of the proposal have increased in all 
cases, except Uppingham.  Based on the new material submitted, the health of each of the centres 
within the primary catchment area has either stayed the same, or, in the case of Grantham Town 
Centre, improved from being relatively weak, to relatively healthy.  If Council officers agree with the 
applicant regarding the health of centres within the primary catchment area, then we are of the opinion 
that the cumulative percentage impacts identified by the applicant are unlikely to lead to a significant 
adverse impact on centres within the catchment area of the proposed development.  On the basis of the 
above, we are of the opinion that this element of the impact test is passed.   
 
Impact on Investment in Centres 
 
Paragraph 89 of the NPPF states that when assessing applications for retail and leisure development 
outside town centres, which are not in accordance with an up-to-date plan, local planning authorities 
should require an impact assessment if the development is over a proportionate, locally set floorspace 
threshold (if there is no locally set threshold, the default threshold is 2,500 sq.m of gross floorspace).  
This should include assessment of the impact of the proposal on existing, committed and planned public 
and private investment in a centre or centres within the catchment area of the proposal.   
 
The February 2019 Committee Report concluded that the application proposals would not give rise to 
significant adverse impacts on investment in centres.  
 
On 26 December 2020, the Council was selected to receive £5.6m of investment to improve Grantham 
Town Centre as part of the Future High Streets Fund (‘FHSF’).  Currently, the Council does not know if 
it can carry out all of the proposals or which elements will be omitted / scaled back, due to the reduced 
in principle funding offer from MHCLG.  The proposals which were the subject of the FHSF bid include: 
 

• Transforming the access gateway into town (around Grantham station with a mixed used 
development focused on office and residential uses).   

• Converting empty retail units into new homes (in the town centre but concentrating on Westgate, 
Market Place and High Street).    

• Investing in public realm enhancements around Market Place.   

• Investing in enhancements around St Peter’s Hill Gardens, presently ‘cut-off’ as a consequence of 
the existing infrastructure.   

 
On 26 January 2021, Council officers requested that the applicant provide commentary on how the 
application proposals will impact on the planned investment in Grantham Town Centre as part of the 
FHSF.  On 4 February 2021, the applicant provided such commentary.  The applicant has firstly 
focused on the impact of repurposing of retail space towards other uses.  According to the applicant, 
there has been significant discussion with the Council during the last 12-18 months, now concluded, in 
relation to the S106 Agreement.  The S106 Agreement and restrictive conditions are designed to protect 
town centre uses within Grantham, Newark and Balderton town centres.  The applicant considers that 
these controls are significant and extensive, setting closely defined parameters for the scale and nature 
of development at the Downtown retail site.  The applicant considers that the proposed development will 
not have a significant adverse impact on this part of the FHSF bid, particularly as it involves repurposing 
retail space towards other uses, including residential uses.   
 
In its commentary, the applicant also considers the investment proposed of strengthening external links 
to Grantham Town Centre, notably through the station and A1.  The applicant sets out a number of 
measures as to how the application proposals will help claw back expenditure to the town centre and 
enhance linkages between the application proposals and Grantham Town Centre.  These include a 
proposed tourist information and visitor centre at the application site and a pop-up shop unit to 

111



 

Page 6 of 7 

 

 

showcase the town centre / positive attributes of local Grantham businesses.  The applicant argues that 
such measures will help ‘claw back’ trade currently captured by retail facilities outside of the district, and 
maximise the opportunity of existing transport links, notably the A1 which runs alongside the Downtown 
site. The initiatives will also, through enhancement of existing public transport with the railway station, 
help to attract people to Grantham, its town centre and wider visitor attractions.   
 
The applicant also sets out its proposed investment in the enhancement of infrastructure and public 
realm, including the S106 Agreement setting out monies towards town centre enhancement, town 
centre car parking management / signage initiatives, enhanced signage in and around the town centre 
and for the provision of promoting tourism within Grantham Town Centre and wider environment as well 
as monies towards a tourist officer.   
 
We have considered the planned investment in Grantham Town Centre as part of the FHSF and the 
applicant’s commentary on the impact of the application proposals on this planned investment.  The 
Council submitted its bid for the FHSF funding in the knowledge that there was a resolution to grant 
planning permission for the application proposals subject to a Section 106 Agreement.  We consider 
that such planned investment will be delivered in Grantham Town Centre regardless of whether 
planning permission is granted for the application proposals.  It is also important to consider the extent 
to which the application proposals will impact on the planned investment; whilst the planned investment 
should increase the turnover of main town centres within the town centre, will those benefits will be 
outweighed by the diversion of trade? 
 
We consider that the proposed development will have no impact on the planned investment to 
repurpose retail space to other uses including residential uses.  As set out above, there is likely to be 
some impact on existing retail facilities within the town centre; however, this is not an impact on planned 
investment and should be protected by the proposed S106 Agreement and restrictive conditions.  The 
application proposals should, in the main, draw different custom than the existing town centre offer 
does.  The applicant will put in place some measures to create linkages between the application 
proposals and Grantham Town Centre.  The monies set out in the Section 106 Agreement, referred to 
above, will help add to the planned investment in infrastructure and public realm.  In our view, the 
application proposals will not impact on the planned investment in infrastructure and public realm.  On 
the basis of the above, we are satisfied that the application proposals will not have a significant adverse 
impact on the planned FHSF investment in Grantham Town Centre.   
 
We are not aware of any other existing, committed or planned public and private investment in the 
centres within the study area of the proposal which have the potential to be significantly adversely 
affected by the application proposals.  As such, in our view, this element of the impact test is passed.   

Consideration of the documents submitted by Taylor Wessing 
 
A document authored by Taylor Wessing and dated June 2020, sets out five suggested reasons for 
refusal of the planning application and a separate document by Taylor Wessing, dated 19 March 2020, 
discusses these issues in more detail.   
 
We have considered the impact of the proposals on Grantham Town Centre above.  Taylor Wessing 
asserts that the proposals are not in accordance with the Local Plan, specifically paragraph 3.23.  Of 
course, the decision maker should consider the accordance of the application proposals with policies of 
the Local Plan, as opposed to other text in the Local Plan that is not policy wording.   
 
Likewise, we have considered the sequential test above.  Taylor Wessing sets out that the sequential 
test should be re-run with the Downtown proposals split into component parts.  Dundee, Rushden 
Lakes, Scotch Corner, Tollgate and Aldergate are well-known for being key judgments/appeal decisions 

112



 

Page 7 of 7 

 

 

when considering the interpretation of the sequential test.  There has been no Secretary of State 
decision, post Dundee, where the Secretary of State has endorsed disaggregation.  Clearly, the 
disaggregation or sub-division of a proposal is not part of the sequential test.  A development split into 
separate parts does not amount to a closely similar size or type of development.  When considering 
whether alternative sites are available or suitable for a proposal, the task to assess alternative sites 
(plural) means in order to see whether any one (singular) of them can accommodate the proposal, not 
to see whether a number of sites (plural) can accommodate parts or elements of the proposal.  On this 
basis, we do not consider that the application proposals should be disaggregated.   
 
We have also considered the impact on investment above.  Taylor Wessing sets out that considerable 
private investment has been made in satisfying all of the pre-commencement conditions attached to the 
Buckminster permission.  Paragraph 89 of the NPPF requires assessment of the impact of an out-of-
centre retail / leisure  proposal (that exceeds a locally set floorspace threshold or 2,500 sq.m gross 
floorspace) on existing, committed and planned public and private investment in a centre or centres in 
the catchment area of the proposal.  The Buckminster permission is not in a defined centre that benefits 
from policy protection.  On this basis, the applicant does not need to consider the impact of the 
proposed development on the Buckminster investment.  Taylor Wessing raises an important point about 
the need for the applicant to consider the impact of the application proposals on planned investment 
such as Grantham’s FHSF proposals and we have assessed the applicant’s response above.   
 
Taylor Wessing’s document dated June 2020 sets out why they consider that letting the market decide 
is bad for Grantham.  In February 2019, there was a resolution to grant planning permission for planning 
application ref. S17/2155 subject to a Section 106 agreement.  The Buckminster proposals had 
previously been granted planning permission.  We consider that in deciding to grant planning 
permission for both proposals, the Council was happy to ‘let the market decide’.  We do not consider 
that there is any reason why the Council should change its view on ‘letting the market decide’.   
 
We have considered the retail planning aspects of the documents submitted by Taylor Wessing and we 
remain of the opinion that the proposals have satisfied the impact and sequential tests.   
 
We envisage that the decision maker will consider loss of employment and how the proposals 
contribute to sustainable development in its planning assessment of the proposals.   
 
We trust this advice is of assistance to the Council.  If you have any queries, then please do not hesitate 
to contact me.   

 
Yours sincerely, 
 

 
Bernard Greep 
For and on behalf of 
STANTEC UK LIMITED  

 

113



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Phil Jordan 
Principal Planning Officer 

Development & Growth 

South Kesteven District Council  
Council Offices, St. Peter ’s Hill 

Grantham, Lincolnshire 
NG31 6PZ 

 

Our Ref: 28398/A5 
16th June 2021 

 
Dear Phil, 

 
DOWNTOWN GRANTHAM DESIGNER OUTLET – ENVIRONMENTAL STATEMENT ADDENDUM 

REVIEW 

 
In February 2021, Barton Willmore undertook an independent review (on behalf of South Kesteven 

District Council (SKDC)) of the 2020 Environmental Statement (ES) Addendum in relation to the 
outline planning application (Planning ref: S17/255) for a Designer Outlet retail development on 

land at Gonerby Moor, Grantham. The review was undertaken in accordance with the requirements 

of the Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2017  (as 
amended)1, and criteria issued by the Institute of Environmental Management and Assessment.  The 

review is included as Appendix A of this letter.  
 

The February 2021 review (Appendix A) identified the requirement for the applicant to provide 
further information and clarification in accordance with Regulation 25 of the 2017 EIA Regulations, 

including: 

 

• To provide construction phasing information for the Proposed Development and clarify how it 
has affected (or otherwise) technical assessments; 

• To identify and assess interactive effects, or justify why they are not anticipated ; 

• To provide a shorter and more concise Non-technical Summary in non-technical language; 

• SKDC to confirm its scope of the ES Addendum is acceptable; 

• Highways Authority to confirm if 2017 baseline data is acceptable  and applicant to provide 

clarification why these data are considered valid to support the EIA; 

• To provide clarification on the significance of effects (including Chapter 7 Socio-
Economic/Retail Impact); and  

• To provide a complete reference list.   

 

A subsequent Response to the Review by Barton Willmore on the 2020 ES Addendum was provided 
by the applicant in February 2021 (Appendix B). Barton Willmore have undertaken a review of the 

applicant ’s response and consider that this addresses the requirements for further information and 
clarification as listed in Appendix A and above. No further action is therefore required.   

 
 

 

 
1 The Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2017 (2017 SI No.571) (as amended in 
2018 by SI No. 695 and in 2020 by SI No.505)   

115



 

 

 

 
 

Yours sincerely 

 

 

NEIL PURVIS 

Associate Environmental Planner 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

116



 

 

APPENDIX A 
BARTON WILLMORE ES ADDENDUM REVIEW REPORT 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

117



 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
                    

Downtown Grantham Designer Outlet 
Environmental Statement Addendum 

Review 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 

February 2021 
 

 

 
 

 

118



 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 

Downtown Grantham Designer Outlet  
Environmental Statement Addendum Review 

 
 
 

 
 

Prepared on behalf of South Kesteven District Council 
 
 

 
 

 

 
 

Job Number: 28398/A5/ES Review 

Status: Draft  Final 

Issue/Rev: 01 02 

Date: January 2021 February 2021 

Prepared by: NP NP 

Checked by: LW LW 

 
 

 
Barton Willmore LLP 

7 Soho Square 

London 
W1D 3QB 

 
Tel: 020 7446 6888 

 
 
 

     
 

 
 

 

COPYRIGHT 
 

The contents of this document must not be copied or reproduced in whole or in part without the 
written consent of Barton Willmore LLP. 

 

All Barton Willmore stationery is produced using recycled or FSC paper and vegetable oil based inks.  
 

119



Downtown Grantham Designer Outlet ES Review              Contents 

28398/A5/ES Addendum Review Report   i             February 2021 

CONTENTS 

 

1 INTRODUCTION ................................................................................................................ 1 

2 ENVIRONMENTAL STATEMENT REVIEW METHODOLOGY .................................................... 3 

3 2020 ES ADDENDUM REVIEW TABLES ................................................................................ 5 

4 CONCLUSION .................................................................................................................. 18 

 

 

 

120



Downtown Grantham Designer Outlet 2020 ES Addendum Review    Introduction 

28398/A5/ES Addendum Review Report   1             February 2021 

1 INTRODUCTION 

 

1.1 This document sets out the findings of an independent review (undertaken on behalf of South 

Kesteven District Council (SKDC)) of the Downtown Grantham Designer Outlet Environmental 

Statement Addendum July 2020 (‘hereafter referred to as the 2020 ES Addendum’) .  

 

Background 

 

1.2 An outline planning application (ref: S17/255)1 was submitted to SKDC in November 2017 for 

development at Gonerby Moor, Grantham, Lincolnshire. The planning application sought 

permission for: 

 

‘Outline planning permission for the erection of a Designer Outlet Centre 
of up to 20,479 sqm (GEA) of floorspace comprising retail units (A1), 
restaurants and cafes (A3), and storage. Additional large goods retail 
(5,574 sqm GEA), garden centre (5,521 sqm GEA) and external display 
area for garden centre (1,393 sqm), tourist information and visitor centre, 
training academy, leisure unit and offices. Demolition of existing garden 
centre and sales area and existing warehouse. Improvements to existing 
Downtown Grantham store elevations. Reconfigured car parking and 
provision of new multi-storey car park. Increased coach parking. Access 
improvements, drainage works, hard and soft landscaping and all ancillary 
works. All matters reserved with the exception of access.’ 

 

1.3 The planning application was supported by an Environmental Statement (ES) (hereafter 

referred to as the ‘2017 ES’). Further information was submitted in support of the ES in March 

2018 (the ‘2018 ES Addendum’).  

 

1.4 The planning application was subsequently approved subject to conditions and s106 

agreement2 by the SKDC’s planning committee on 5 th February 2019. The s106 agreement has 

now been finalised however following the adoption of the South Kesteven Local Plan 2011 -

20363 on 30th January 2020, Officers consider that, procedurally the application should be 

returned to Committee. In advance of this, a detailed review of the 2017 ES and 2018 ES 

Addendum has been undertaken by the applicant to determine if the assessments are 

considered to date and whether further environmental assessment was required. The updates 

to the 2017 ES and 2018 ES Addendum are provided in a 2020 ES Addendum. 

 

 

 

 
1 With all matters reserved except access  
2 Mechanism which make a development proposal acceptable in planning terms and which are focussed on site specific mitigation of the 
impact of development 
3 South Kesteven District Council. SKDC Local Plan 2011-2036. 2020 

121



Downtown Grantham Designer Outlet 2020 ES Addendum Review    Introduction 

28398/A5/ES Addendum Review Report   2             February 2021 

Approach 

 

1.5 This review of the Downtown Grantham 2020 ES Addendum has been undertaken in 

accordance with the requirements of the Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact 

Assessment) 2017 Regulations (as amended) 4. 

 

 Structure of the Review Report 

 

1.6 The structure of this review report is as follows:  

 

• Chapter 1 sets out an introduction to the report, including the purpose and background;  

• Chapter 2 sets out the methodology used in the review of the  2020 ES Addendum;  

• Chapter 3 contains the tables comprising the 2020 ES Addendum Review; and  

• Chapter 4 provides the conclusions. 

 
4 The Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2017 (2017 SI No.571) (as 

amended in 2018 by SI No. 695 and in 2020 by SI No.505)  

122



Downtown Grantham Designer Outlet 2020 ES Addendum Review  ES Review Methodology 

28398/A5/ES Addendum Review Report   3             February 2021 

2 ENVIRONMENTAL STATEMENT REVIEW METHODOLOGY 

2.1 This review of the Downtown Grantham Designer Outlet 2020 ES Addendum is based on the 

requirements of the 2017 EIA Regulations (as amended), as set out above, and uses a review 

template produced by the Institute for Environmental Management and Assessment ( IEMA) 

for assessing the quality of Environmental Statements as part of its Quality Mark 5 process. 

Barton Willmore is a registrant of the IEMA Quality Mark. The IEMA method involves reviewing 

the following criteria: 

 

• EIA Regulatory Compliance; 

• EIA Context and Influence; 

• EIA Content; and 

• EIA Presentation. 

 

2.2 Given that a review of an ES Addendum has been undertaken,  rather than an ES, any elements 

of the template which are not applicable have been indicated in the review tables below.    

 

Limitations 

 

2.3 There are a number of limitations of this review identified as follows:  

 

• The review has been desk based and has not involved a site visit so statements about 

the baseline and existing site description and context are taken as correct;  

• The review has not taken account of additional information that may have been supplied 

to SKDC by the applicant but has not been made available;  

• It is not the purpose of the review to provide an in-depth technical check of the individual 

specialist discipline areas. This means that the review does not:  

- Check the actual survey work undertaken was fu lly executed according to the cited 

methods; 

- Review the consultation undertaken in depth to allow a check of whether this has 

been included in methods or assessments and addresses consultees concerns 

adequately; or 

- Check whether the application of the methods used in qualification or quantification 

of impacts is correct and the results are accurate and as those reported ; 

• Compliance with the EIA Regulations has been reviewed but the authors are 

experienced EIA practitioners rather than legal professionals.  

 
5 Registrants to the IEMA Quality Mark have had their work assessed and found to be committed to 
excellence in EIA. 

123



Downtown Grantham Designer Outlet 2020 ES Addendum Review  ES Review Methodology 

28398/A5/ES Addendum Review Report   4             February 2021 

 

Reports Reviewed 

 

2.4 The following report has been included in the review:  

• Downtown Grantham Designer Outlet Environmental Statement  Addendum (July 2020) 

including Non-Technical Summary Addendum and Technical Appendices in so far as 

data within them are relied on by the assessments within the ES chapters i.e.  the 

review does not provide assurance that the technical details within the appendices are 

correct.  

 

124



Downtown Grantham Designer Outlet 2020 ES Addendum Review        ES Addendum Review Tables 

28398/A5/ES Addendum Review Report     5                 February 2021 

3 2020 ES ADDENDUM REVIEW TABLES 

EIA REGULATORY COMPLIANCE 

TOPIC  
Yes/No/Non 
Applicable  COMMENTS  

Action Required 

EIA Process  

A) Does the ES contain a clear section, or sections, 
providing a description of the development 
comprising information on the site, design and size 
of the development during construction and 
operation?  

N • 2020 ES Addendum Chapter 3 (page 6) Application Site notes that 
the location and physical site context of the Proposed Development 
remains unchanged from that assessed as part of the 2017 ES and 
2018 ES Addendum. 

• 2020 ES Addendum Chapter 4 Proposed Development provides 
description of the development (as amended). The chapter clarifies 
that the only amendment to the Proposed Development from that 
assessed as part of the 2017 ES and 2018 ES Addendum is in the 
apportionment of the proposed B1 offices. The Proposed 
Development previously apportioned 5,251 sqm of B1 office across 
B1 offices (2,796 sqm) and B1 start-up offices (2,455 sqm). The 
Proposed Development seeks to remove this apportionment across 
the total B1 office floorspace of 5,251 sqm. The amount of office 
floorspace sought therefore remains as previously proposed and is 
also located as previously planned, above the Downtown Grantham 
Garden Centre and the Downtown@Home retail unit.   

• 2020 Addendum Chapter 4 also makes reference to the previous 
Parameter Plans which formed this basis of the ES assessment. The 

4 plans provide parameters in respect of land use, building heights, 
circulation areas and landscaping areas and are included in 
Appendix 4.1.  

• There is a general lack of information concerning the construction 
programme. 2020 ES Addendum Chapter 7 (Socio-Economics/Retail 
Impact) indicates that the proposed development is envisaged to be 
delivered in a single phase, over a period of 30 months (2.5 years) 
and be completed by 2022/2023. The chapter also indicatives 
separately (page 23) that it will be completed by 2023, so is not 
clear. No other technical ES Chapters include information on the 
indicative construction programme. There is no detail in the 
introduction chapters of the ES Addendum on the construction 
programme, to advise if this has been updated from the 2017 ES 
and 2018 ES Addendum and implications for the assessment of 
construction effects. There is also no indication if the indicative 
construction programme and activities and working hours would be 

• Applicant to provide 
construction phasing 
information for the 
Proposed 
Development and 
clarify how it has 
affected (or 
otherwise) technical 
assessments 
 

125



Downtown Grantham Designer Outlet 2020 ES Addendum Review        ES Addendum Review Tables 

28398/A5/ES Addendum Review Report     6                 February 2021 

TOPIC  
Yes/No/Non 
Applicable  COMMENTS  

Action Required 

influenced by the Covid 19 pandemic.    

B) Does the ES contain a section, or sections, that 
outline of the main alternatives studied by the 
developer and an indication of the main reasons for 
his choice, taking into account the environmental 

effects?  

N/A • 2020 ES Addendum Chapter 6 considered the Site Selection and 
Consideration of Alternatives. The chapter states that the 
alternatives considered were set out in the 2017 ES and the 2018 
ES Addendum.  

• The Proposed Development has remained largely as previously 
assessed - the only change is the apportionment of the proposed B1 
offices and therefore no updated assessment of the design 
alternatives has been provided.   

• None 

C) Does the ES contain a clear section, or sections, 
that provides the data required to identify and assess 
the main effects which the development is likely to 
have on the environment?  

Y • The 2020 ES Addendum contains 14 addendum assessments:  
Chapter 7 Socio Economics/Retail Impact, Chapter 8 Landscape and 
Visual, Chapter 9 Ecology, Chapter 10 Water and Drainage, Chapter 
11 Ground Conditions, Chapter 12 Transport and Access, Chapter 13 
Air Quality, Dust and Odour, Chapter 14 Noise and Vibration, 
Chapter 15 Utilities infrastructure and Waste, Chapter 16 Lighting, 
Chapter 17 Heritage, Chapter 18 Climate Change, Chapter 19 
Human Health and Chapter 20 Accidents and Disasters.  

• All chapters set out if the likely significance of environmental 
effects arising from the Proposed Development remains unchanged 
from the 2017 ES and 2018 ES Addendum. Consideration has been 
given to any planning and legislative changes, the validity of the 
baseline studies reported within each technical chapter, the 
significance of effects, design and mitigation, residual effects and 
cumulative effects. 

• None  

D) In the light of the development being assessed 
has the ES identified, described and assessed 
effects on:  

Y • 2020 ES Addendum Chapter 7 Socio Economics/Retail Impact 
addresses effects in terms of employment, accessibility and social 
inclusion and economic factors related to population. 

• The chapter appears to provide a repeat assessment of the 
Proposed Development rather than an Addendum assessment. 
Consequently, it is not clear if any construction and operational 
effects are considered different to those identified in the 2017 ES 
and the 2018 ES Addendum.  

• None  

- Population  

- Human Heath Y • 2020 ES Addendum Chapter 19 assesses if there has been any 
change to the likely significant effects on human health.  

• None 

- Biodiversity  Y • 2020 ES Addendum Chapter 9 assesses if there has been any 
change to the likely significant effects on Ecology.  

• None  

126



Downtown Grantham Designer Outlet 2020 ES Addendum Review        ES Addendum Review Tables 

28398/A5/ES Addendum Review Report     7                 February 2021 

TOPIC  
Yes/No/Non 
Applicable  COMMENTS  

Action Required 

- Land (including land take) Y • 2020 ES Addendum Chapter 8 Landscape and Visual Impact 
Assessment and Chapter 11 Ground Conditions assess if there has 
been any change to the likely significant effects . 

• None  

- Soil  Y • 2020 ES Addendum Chapter 11 assesses if there has been any 
change to the likely significant effects on Ground Conditions. This 
includes an assessment of risk posed to surface soils.  

• None  

- Water  Y • 2020 ES Addendum Chapter 10 assesses if there has been any 
change to the likely significant effects on Water and Drainage.  

• None  

- Air  Y 
• 2020 ES Addendum Chapter 13 assesses if there has been any 

change to the likely significant effects in terms of Air Quality, Dust 
and Odour. 

• None 

- Climate (example greenhouse gas emissions, 
impacts relevant to adaptation) 

Y • 2020 ES Addendum Chapter 18 assesses if there has been any 
change to the likely significant effects on Climate Change.  

• None 

- Material Assets  Y • 2020 ES Addendum Chapter 17 assesses if there has been any 
change to the likely significant effects on Heritage.  

• None  

- Cultural Heritage  Y • 2020 ES Addendum Chapter 17 assesses if there has been any 
change to the likely significant effects on Heritage. 

• None  

- Landscape  Y • 2020 ES Addendum Chapter 8 assesses if there has been any 
change to the likely significant effects in terms of Landscape and 
Visual. 

• None  

E) Does the ES attempt to set out the interaction 
between the topics? 

N • 2020 ES Addendum Chapter 21 Summary (page 128) states that 
each topic author of the ES has reviewed the baseline and level of 
effects that has been reached for other chapters - in particular 
those that share a common resource e.g. the author of the 
Transport & Access Chapter has reviewed and inputted into the 
Water and Drainage Chapter, whilst the author of the Water & 
Drainage Chapter has inputted into the Utilities, Infrastructure & 
Waste Chapter. It is not clear how this has been done.  
It states that this iterative process has sought to minimise the level 
of effects across all of the environmental aspects through suitable 
design and mitigation approaches. The chapter concludes that the 
level of intra project effects would not result in any significant level 
of effects. It is not clear however how this conclusion has been 
reached as there no assessment of interactive affects in the main 
body of the 2020 ES Addendum. 

• Applicant to identify 
and assess interactive 
effects, or justify why 
they are not 
anticipated  

127



Downtown Grantham Designer Outlet 2020 ES Addendum Review        ES Addendum Review Tables 

28398/A5/ES Addendum Review Report     8                 February 2021 

TOPIC  
Yes/No/Non 
Applicable  COMMENTS  

Action Required 

F) Does the ES contain a section, or sections, that 
describe the likely significant effects of the proposed 
development on the environment, including as 
reasonably required: direct, indirect, secondary, 
cumulative, short, medium, long-term, permanent 

and temporary, positive and negative effects?  

Y • Each addendum chapter describes if there has been any change to 
the likely significant effects and most chapters address any 
additional affects direct/indirect, permanent, temporary, cumulative, 
positive and negative effects.  

• None (but see earlier 
comment on 
interactive effects, 
which are a type of 
cumulative effect) 

G) Does the ES contain a clear section, or sections, 
that provides a description of the measures 
envisaged in order to avoid, reduce and, if possible, 
remedy significant adverse effects?  

Y • The 2020 ES Addendum chapters include design and mitigation 
measures. Any additional required over and above that identified 
with the submitted 2017 ES and 2018 ES Addendum is identified.   

• The 2020 ES Addendum Chapter 20 (page 127) collates all the 
mitigation measures set out in the ES for clarity. This includes 
primary mitigation measures (design and mitigation measures 
embedded within the design proposals) and secondary mitigation 
measures, which have been agreed with SKDC and other relevant 
bodies through the mechanisms of planning conditions and S106 

agreement. 
• A summary of mitigation measures to be applied at the Construction 

and Operational Stages of the ES is also included from page 129 of 
the 2020 ES Addendum.   

  

• None   

H) Has a Non-Technical Summary been produced 
containing an outline of the information set out 
above?  

N • An NTS Addendum is provided which sets out a detailed summary of 
the project and topic-based addendum assessments.  

• The NTS should be shorter so it is accessible to all. At 83 pages in 
length, it is too long for the non-technical reader. 

• The NTS uses overly complex terms and language, such as “called 
in”, “s106”, “receptors”, “leakage”, “1 in 100 year plus climate 
change event”. Acronyms are not defined – e.g. HCA, GEA, NCA,  
Outline planning application should be explained/defined.  
 

• Provide shorter and 
more concise NTS in 
non-technical 
language  

I) Does the ES contain a section, or sections, that 
outline any difficulties encountered by the developer 
in compiling the information presented in the ES?  

Y • Any limitations (specific to additional baseline data) have been 
provided in individual Addendum chapters where applicable. The 
2020 ES Addendum Chapter 9 (Ecology) discusses limitations of 
additional ecological survey data. ES Addendum Chapter 12 

(Transport) also discusses limitations of baseline data sources.  
• Some updated baseline survey information does appear to have 

been gathered during the Covid 19 pandemic (2020 ES Addendum 
Chapter 9: Ecology states that an updated ecological appraisal field 
survey was undertaken on 6 th April 2020), but there is no indication 
if this was limited in any way by the Covid 19 pandemic.    

• None 

128



Downtown Grantham Designer Outlet 2020 ES Addendum Review        ES Addendum Review Tables 

28398/A5/ES Addendum Review Report     9                 February 2021 

 

 

 

 

EIA CONTEXT AND INFLUENCE 

TOPIC Yes/No/Non 

Applicable  COMMENTS  

Action Required  

A) Scoping  

i) Has the ES clearly stated what environmental topics 
will be addressed and how this decision was reached? 

N/A • The 2020 ES Addendum addresses all topics scoped in to the 2017 
ES. Additional topics introduced by the 2017 EIA Regulations  (as 
amended): human health, accidents and disasters and climate 
(Schedule 4 of the 2017 EIA Regulations (as amended) requires, 
where significant, an assessment of the impact of the project on 
climate (for example the nature and magnitude of greenhouse gas 
emissions) and the vulnerability of the project to climate change), 
which were not assessed in the 2017 ES but which were assessed 
as part of the 2018 Addendum, have also been addressed as part 
of the 2020 ES Addendum. The 2020 Addendum considers whether 
the previous assessments undertaken are up to date.  

• None 

ii) Are the main sensitive receptors and their locations 
clearly identified with an explanation of the risks posed 
from the development?   

N/A • No new receptors (over and above those identified in the 2017 ES 
and 2018 Addendum) have been identified in the 2020 ES 
Addendum  

• None  

iii) Does the ES identify the environmental topics, 
raised during the scoping process, that will not be 
assessed and explain why they are not being 
considered further?  

N/A • The 2020 ES Addendum considers all topics scoped in to the 2017 
ES as well as those assessed in the 2018 ES Addendum – the 2020 
Addendum considers whether the previous assessments undertaken 
are up to date.  

• None 

iv) For those environmental topics scoped into the EIA, 
is it clear that the assessment has focussed on sub-
issues relevant to the proposed development effects 
on each topic?  

N/A • As above, the topics scoped in to the 2017 ES and 2018 ES 
Addendum and relevant sub-issues have been considered in the 
2020 ES Addendum.  

• None  

B) Alternatives, including iterative design   

i) Does the ES set out the main alternatives / iterations 
that were considered at different points during the 
development of the proposal?  

N/A • Chapter 6 of the 2020 ES Addendum is Site Selection and 
Consideration of Alternatives). The chapter states that the 
alternatives considered were set out in the 2017 ES and the 2018 
ES Addendum. 

• None  

129



Downtown Grantham Designer Outlet 2020 ES Addendum Review        ES Addendum Review Tables 

28398/A5/ES Addendum Review Report     10                 February 2021 

TOPIC Yes/No/Non 
Applicable  COMMENTS  

Action Required  

ii) Are the main reasons, environmental or otherwise, 
for the selection of the proposal over distinct 
alternatives and design iterations easily identifiable?  
  

N/A • 2020 ES Addendum Chapter 6 (page 14) states that details on the 
environmental reasoning behind the alternatives considered were 
set out in the 2017 ES and the 2018 ES Addendum.  In considering 
alternative designs, the Proposed Development has remained 
largely as previously assessed. The only change is the 
apportionment of the proposed B1 offices, therefore no updated 

assessment of the design alternatives has been provided.    
• The chapter states that the Retail Impact Assessment (RIA) of the 

2017 ES and subsequent RIA Addendum have considered whether 
there are any sequential preferable sites for the Proposed 
Development. The sequential test has been re-run as part of the 
updated RIA and includes the office element of the Proposed 
Development alongside the retail and leisure elements. The 
sequential test has demonstrated that there are no alternative sites 
that are available and suitable occupying a sequentially preferable 

location to the site. environmental information is provided. 

• None 

iii) Does the ES clearly indicate how the EIA process, 
environmental effects and consultee responses 
influenced the iterative design process that led to the 
proposed development?  

N/A • As above, the environmental reasoning behind the alternatives 
considered were set out in the 2017 ES and the 2018 ES 
Addendum. The Proposed Development has remained largely as 
previously assessed and there has been no further consultee 
feedback which would have influenced the design process.  

• None 

C) Consultation   

i) Does the description of any consultation include an 
indication of those contacted, including statutory and 
non-statutory consultees, and the public?  

N • Statutory consultation was undertaken as part of the original 2017 

ES.  Consultation by SKDC comprised the majority of the 
consultation. There is no indication of subsequent consultation  
undertaken as part of the 2020 ES Addendum assessment.  

• Addendum Chapter 12 Transport makes reference to previously 
consultation with Lincolnshire CC and highways England (as part of 
the 2017 ES) to agree trip rates, but that these would not have 
changed so no further consultation required.  

• Chapter 2 (Methodology) identifies additional cumulative  schemes 
which have come forward since the 2017 ES and 2018 ES 
Addendum and which have been assessed through the 2020 ES 

Addendum. There is no indication if this list was agreed with SKDC.   

• SKDC to confirm if 

scope of the ES 
Addendum is 
acceptable  

ii) Does the main text of the ES provide a summary of 
the main issues, pertinent to the EIA, raised by 
consultees?  

N/A • The 2017 ES set out the responses to the scoping report which 
included the statutory consultation undertaken by SKDC as part of 
the scoping process. No further record of consultation is included 
in the 2020 ES Addendum. 

• None  

130



Downtown Grantham Designer Outlet 2020 ES Addendum Review        ES Addendum Review Tables 

28398/A5/ES Addendum Review Report     11                 February 2021 

TOPIC Yes/No/Non 
Applicable  COMMENTS  

Action Required  

iii) Does the ES set out if any of the issues pertinent 
to the EIA raised by consultees will not be dealt with 
in the ES? If so is clear justification set out as to why 
the issue was scoped out?  

N/A • As above, no further consultation has been undertaken as part of 
the 2020 ES Addendum. 

• The 2020 ES Addendum addresses all the previous topics raised in 
the 2017 ES and 2018 ES Addendum   

• None  

 

EIA CONTENT 

 
Yes/No/Non 
Applicable  COMMENTS  

Action Required 

A) Baseline   

i) Does the ES describe the condition of those 
aspects of the environment that are likely to be 
significantly affected by the development?  

Y/N • All chapters of the ES explain if there has been any update to the 
baseline that is likely to be significantly affected by the Proposed 
Development. 

• 2020 Addendum Chapter 12 (Transport) states that baseline traffic 
data has not been updated and that the traffic data used in the 
2017 ES remains current. The Traffic Data Section on page 76 of 
the Addendum chapter states that it is industry practice to accept 
that traffic counts are valid for at least three years from the date 
of collection - the traffic counts that form the basis of analysis in 
the TA were collected in June 2017 and therefore remain valid. 
The ES Addendum was completed in July 2020 so technically the 
traffic data assessed is not valid as it is now 3.5 years old. 

• 2020 Addendum Chapter 13 (Air Quality, Dust and Odour) (page 
86) states that updated traffic data (including AADT flows and 
fleet composition as Heavy Duty Vehicle (HDV) proportion) was 
provided by the project transport consultant and used for the 
purposes of the addendum Air Quality Assessment. 2020 
Addendum Chapter 14 (Noise and Vibration) (page 99) states that 
no change is known to have taken place to typical traffic levels, 
which was confirmed by the project transport consultant.   

• Clarity should be provided on the use of the traffic data 
throughout the assessment.  

• Where relevant, updated baseline data sets have been factored in 
to the addendum assessments. 2020 ES Addendum Chapter 13 (Air 
Quality, Dust and Odour), utilises updated predictions of 
background pollutant concentrations produced by DEFRA, as 
updated in May 2019. 

• Highways Authority 
to confirm if 2017 
baseline data is 
acceptable.  
Applicant to provide 
clarification why 
these data are 
considered valid to 
support the EIA 

131



Downtown Grantham Designer Outlet 2020 ES Addendum Review        ES Addendum Review Tables 

28398/A5/ES Addendum Review Report     12                 February 2021 

 
Yes/No/Non 
Applicable  COMMENTS  

Action Required 

ii) Is the sensitivity of the baseline environment 
clearly evaluated?  

Y • No new environmental designations have been identified in the 
2020 ES Addendum over and above those identified in the original 
2017 ES and 2018 ES Addendum.  

• 2020 Addendum Chapter 9 Ecology states that an updated 
ecological appraisal field survey was undertaken on 6 th April 2020. 
Section 9.5 of the Addendum chapter identifies that the only 
substantive change since the 2017 ES relates to the confirmed 
presence of a small population of great crested newts in off -site 
waterbody P10.  

• No further sensitive receptor locations have been identified in the 
2020 ES Addendum over and above those identified in the original 
2017 ES and 2018 ES Addendum. 

• None 

iii) Where limitations in the baseline information 
exist, which could influence the assessment 
findings, are they easily identifiable?  

Y • Limitations of updated baseline information have been provided in 
individual Addendum chapters where relevant. 2020 ES Addendum 
Chapter 9 (Ecology) (page 52) discusses limitations of additional 
ecological survey data although none are deemed to be significant 
limitations. 2020 ES Addendum Chapter 12 (Transport) includes a 
separate section on limitations of the report including external 
baseline data sources. 

• None 

B) Assessment   

i) Are the methods for establishing the 
magnitude of effects on the receiving 
environment clearly defined?  

N/A • The methods for establishing the magnitude of effects on the 
receiving environment were defined in the original 2017 ES. This 
has not been repeated in the 2020 ES Addendum. 

 

• None  

ii) Where the ES sets out a generic method for 
evaluating significance, is this applied 
throughout the ES? Where an over-arching 
approach is not followed are the specific 
methods used to evaluate significance for each 
environmental topic clearly justified?  

N/A • The EIA methodology and identification of the likely ‘significance’ 
of environmental effects arising from the Proposed Development 
remains unchanged from the 2017 ES and 2018 ES Addendum (as 
clarified in 2020 ES Addendum Chapter 2 Approach to the EIA).  
 

• None  

iii) Does the evaluation of significance consider 
the different stages of development 
(construction, operation) and relate the effects 
identified to the condition of the baseline 
environment?   

/N • Most of the 2020 ES Addendum chapters have considered if there 
has been any change to the likely significant  construction and 
operational effects to those reported in the 2017 ES and 2018 ES 
Addendum, and relate the effects identified to the condition of the 
updated baseline environment.  

• As previously noted, 2020 ES Addendum Chapter 7 (Socio-
Economics/Retail Impact) appears to provide a repeat assessment 

• Clarification 
Significance of 
effects to be 
confirmed 

132



Downtown Grantham Designer Outlet 2020 ES Addendum Review        ES Addendum Review Tables 

28398/A5/ES Addendum Review Report     13                 February 2021 

 
Yes/No/Non 
Applicable  COMMENTS  

Action Required 

of the Proposed Development rather than an Addendum 
assessment. Consequently, it  is not clear if any construction and 
operational effects are considered different to those identified in 
the 2017 ES and the 2018 ES Addendum. 

iv) Does the ES give appropriate prominence to 

both positive and negative effects relative to 
their significance?  

Y • Both adverse and beneficial effects have been identified in the 

2020 ES Addendum chapters.  

• None  

v) Does the ES identify the significance of 
effects that are anticipated to remain following 
the successful implementation of any mitigation 
described in the ES?  

Y/N • The 2020 ES addendum technical chapters assess if there is any 
change to the likely significant effects pre and post mitigation, 
since the 2017 ES and 2018 ES Addendum were completed. 

• As previously noted, 2020 ES Addendum Chapter 7 (Socio-
Economics/Retail Impact) appears to provide a repeat assessment 
of the Proposed Development rather than an Addendum 
assessment. Consequently, it  is not clear if any construction and 

operational effects are considered different to those identified in 
the 2017 ES and the 2018 ES Addendum.  

• Clarification 
Significance of 
effects to be 
confirmed  

vi) Is it clear that the EIA has considered 
interrelationships in order to identify secondary, 
cumulative and synergistic effects? 

N • 2020 ES Addendum Chapter 2 (page 5) identifies a number of  
additional committed developments which have come forward  since 
the completion of the 2017 ES and 2018 ES Addendum and have 
been assessed through the 2020 ES Addendum. Each technical 
2020 ES Addendum chapter determines the potential cumulative 
effects that may arise when these developments are considered 
alongside the Proposed Development. Cumulative effects are 

identified in all chapters however a lack of detail on each of the 
cumulative schemes in chapter 2 raises the potential for ambiguity 
about the exact cumulative assessment undertaken by consultants.  
A description of the cumulative schemes and reference number as 
well as a map showing the location of the additional cumulative 
scheme would be helpful. Were these additional cumulative 
schemes also agreed with SKDC?  

• In terms of interaction of topics, 2020 ES Addendum Chapter 21 
(Summary and Conclusions) (page 129) states that the applicants 
design and environmental team have explored various design 

iterations to deliver an optimum masterplanning solution that 
minimises adverse effects and maximises beneficial effects. This 
has explored the impact and consequential effect on the 
environmental topics and the interaction between the topics. It is 
concluded that the level of intra project effects would not result in 
any significant level of effects however it is not clear from the 

• Applicant to confirm 
to SKDC and provide 
appropriate 
justification that 
there are no 
significant impact 
interactions  

 

133



Downtown Grantham Designer Outlet 2020 ES Addendum Review        ES Addendum Review Tables 

28398/A5/ES Addendum Review Report     14                 February 2021 

 
Yes/No/Non 
Applicable  COMMENTS  

Action Required 

individual 2020 ES Addendum chapters how this conclusion has 
been reached. 

C) Environmental Mitigation & Management   

i) Does the ES describe the measures proposed 

to be implemented to avoid, reduce, or offset 
significant adverse effects of the proposed 
development?  

Y • The 2020 ES Addendum chapters include design and mitigation 

measures. Any additional required over and above that identified 
with the submitted 2017 ES and 2018 ES Addendum is identified.  
2020 ES Addendum Chapter 9 describes addition mitigation 
measures relating to Great Crested Newts, through a Mitigation 
Strategy and obtaining a Great Crested Newt Licence from Natural 
England. 

• 2020 ES Addendum Summary Chapter 20 (page 127) collates all 
the mitigation measures set out in the ES for clarity. This includes 
primary mitigation measures (design and mitigation measures 
embedded within the design proposals) and secondary mitigation 

measures, which have been agreed with SKDC and other relevant 
bodies through the mechanisms of planning conditions and S106 
agreement. 

• Where recommended mitigation measures for the Proposed 
Development remain unchanged from the original ES, this is stated 
in 2020 ES Addendum chapters.   

• None  

ii) Is an attempt to indicate the effectiveness of 
the influence of the stated mitigation measures 
on the significance of the environmental effects 

provided?  

Y  • The chapters of the 2020 ES Addendum identify if there are any 
change to the effects of the Proposed Development pre- and post- 
mitigation thereby determining the efficacy of the proposed 
mitigation measures. 

• No additional likely significant effects are identified over and 
above those identified in the 2017 ES and 2018 ES Addendum. 

• None  

iii) Does the ES set out how mitigation measures 
are to be secured and implemented and with 
whom the responsibilities for their delivery lies?  

Y • As above, 2020 ES Addendum Chapter 20 (page 127) collates all 
the mitigation measures set out in the ES for clarity. This includes 
primary mitigation measures (design and mitigation measures 
embedded within the design proposals) and secondary mitigation 
measures, which have been agreed with SKDC and other relevant 
bodies through the mechanisms of planning conditions and S106 

agreement. 

• None 

 

 

 

134



Downtown Grantham Designer Outlet 2020 ES Addendum Review        ES Addendum Review Tables 

28398/A5/ES Addendum Review Report     15                 February 2021 

 

EIA PRESENTATION 

 
Yes/No/No 
Applicable  COMMENTS  

Action Required 

ES Quality 

i) Does the ES make effective use of maps, 

figures, tables and diagrams? In particular 
covering:   

- the location of the site, its boundary and 
site layout;   

- operational appearance (where available);  

- main environmental receptors; and - 
environmental effects (where visual 
representation is appropriate). 

Y/N • A Site location plan is not provided in the 2020 ES addendum. A 
Site location Plan is included in Chapter 3 (The Application Site) of 
the NTS Addendum. The red line boundary is included within 
Appendix 4.1: Application Drawings.   

• The figures relating to each technical chapter are largely included 
in the 2020 ES Addendum Appendices. However, in some instances 
figures have been integrated into the ES Addendum text (e.g. 
Ecological Study Area in Chapter 9 Ecology (page 50) which seems 
inconsistent. 

• The Application Drawings are provided in a separate appendix 4.1 
and include the updated Parameter Plans (Land Use, Building 
Heights, Primary Circulation, Landscaping) and updated Illustrative 
Plans (Proposed development, Block Plan and Masterplan). These 
drawing are clear and legible. There has been no update to these 
drawings since the 2017 ES and 2018 ES Addendum.  

• Use of tables and graphs (in colour) in the 2020 ES Addendum are 
widespread and clear, albeit have not been formatted consistently. 

• None  

ii) Is the proposed development site clearly 
described?    

Y • See Row 1 of this table • See Row 1 of this 
table 

iii) Are the anticipated timescales of 
construction, operation and (where appropriate) 
decommissioning of the proposed development 
clearly set out in the main text?  

N • See Row 1 of this table • See Row 1 of this 
table 

iv) Is the ES presented in a manner that would 
allow a member of the public to logically locate 
the environmental information they were 
seeking?  

N • The 2020 ES Addendum is laid out in a logical order in terms of its 
content. The list of supporting ES Appendices (for Chapter 4 
(Proposed Development, Chapter 7 (Socio Economics/Retail 
Impact), Chapter 8 (Landscape & Visual), Chapter 9 (Ecology), 
Chapter 12 (Transport & Access), Chapter 13 Air Quality, Dust and 

Odour) and Appendix A Statement of Relevant Expertise) is also 
listed on page 3 of the 2020 ES Addendum.  

• Consideration has been given in the 2020 ES Addendum 
assessment to any additional planning policy and legislative 
considerations and these are set out in Chapter 5. Separate 
Planning policy chapters however are generally not included in ESs 

• More concise NTS to 
be provided in non-
technical language 

135



Downtown Grantham Designer Outlet 2020 ES Addendum Review        ES Addendum Review Tables 

28398/A5/ES Addendum Review Report     16                 February 2021 

 
Yes/No/No 
Applicable  COMMENTS  

Action Required 

or ES addendums as policy is planning statement issue. 
• As previously noted, 2020 ES Addendum Chapter 7 (Socio-

Economics/Retail Impact) appears to provide a repeat assessment 
of the Proposed Development rather than an Addendum 
assessment. Consequently, it is not clear if any construction and 
operational effects are considered different to those identified in 

the 2017 ES and the 2018 ES Addendum.  
• The NTS is too long and used complex technical terms. It is not 

accessible to the non-technical reader. The environmental 
information should be transparent and easily understood by all.  

v) Are technical terms kept to a minimum, with 
a glossary (list of acronyms) provided?   

N • As set out above, the NTS is too technical with some acronyms not 
defined.  

• No glossary or list of abbreviations was identified, however the 
technical chapters define terms where needed.  

• Provide more concise 
NTS 

vi) Is the length of the main text of the ES 
appropriate to the: proposed development, 
sensitivity of the receiving environment and 
significant environmental effects identified?  

Y • At 136 pages, the length of the 2020 ES Addendum is not 
unreasonable. 

• None  

vii) Does the ES set out the information 
demonstrating the ES has been prepared by 
competent experts? 

Y • Appendix A of the 2020 ES Addendum provides a Statement of 
Relevant Expertise. 

• None 

Reference list Y/N • 2020 ES Addendum Chapter 9 Ecology, Chapter 10 Water, Chapter 

13 Air Quality, Dust and Odour, Chapter 15 Utilities Infrastructure 
& Waste, Chapter 18 provide references (as footnotes). Other 
chapters do not provide references. 

• Applicant to provide 

complete reference 
list 

B) Non-Technical Summary (NTS)   

i) Does the NTS provide sufficient information for 
a member of the public to understand the 
significant environmental effects of the proposed 
development without having to refer to main text 

of the ES?  

N • At 83 pages the NTS Addendum is not a summary (although it is 
appreciated that the NTS should be read as a standalone summary 
of the findings of the ES and its addenda.  

• Some explanation of some technical terms (through footnotes) and 

outlining all abbreviations in full (such as ATC) would help with 
understanding. 

• More concise NTS to 
be provided with all 
acronyms defined 

ii) Are maps and diagrams included in the NTS 
that, at a minimum, illustrate the location of the 
application site, the boundary of the proposed 

Y • The Site Location plan, Parameter Plans and Masterplan are 
included in the 2020 NTS Addendum.  

• No plans showing the locations of sensitive receptors are included 

• None  

136



Downtown Grantham Designer Outlet 2020 ES Addendum Review        ES Addendum Review Tables 

28398/A5/ES Addendum Review Report     17                 February 2021 

 
Yes/No/No 
Applicable  COMMENTS  

Action Required 

development, and the location of key 
environmental receptors?    

in the 2020 NTS Addendum but information is included in the text.  

iii) Is it clear that the NTS was made available as 
a separate stand-alone document?   

Y  • Provided as a separate PDF. • None  

 

137



Downtown Grantham Designer Outlet 2020 ES Addendum Review    Conclusion 

28398/A5/ES Addendum Review Report   13             February 2021 

4 CONCLUSION 

  

4.1 This independent review of the 2020 Environmental Statement Addendum in relation to the 

outline planning application for a Designer Outlet retail development on land at Gonerby Moor, 

Grantham has been undertaken in accordance with the requirements of the Town and Country 

Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2017, and criteria issued by the 

Institute of Environmental Management and Assessment.   

 

4.2 There is no detail in the introduction chapters of the ES Addendum on the indicative 

construction programme, to advise if this has been updated from the 2017 ES and 2018 ES 

Addendum and implications for the assessment of construction effects.  The Applicant should 

therefore provide construction phasing information for the Proposed Development and clarify 

how it has affected (or otherwise) technical assessments.   

 

4.3 Clarity should be provided in the 2020 ES Addendum on the use of the traffic data throughout 

the assessment. The transport chapter of the 2020 Addendum Chapter states that baseline 

traffic data has not been updated and that the data used in the 2017 ES remains current, as 

it is within three years from the date of collection. However, the ES Addendum was completed 

in July 2020 so technically the traffic data assessed is not valid as it is now 3.5 years old. The 

Applicant should provide clarification as to why the traffic  data is considered valid to support 

the EIA. The Highways Authority should also confirm if 2017 baseline data is acceptable.  

 

4.4 With regard to the assessments, the 2020 ES addendum technical chapters assess if there is 

any change to the likely significant effects pre- and post- mitigation, since the 2017 ES and 

2018 ES Addendum were completed. However, in some instances (such as the Socio-

Economics/Retail Impact Chapter), it is not clear if any construction and operational effects 

are considered different to those identified in the 2017 ES and the 2018 ES Addendum.  

Clarification on the significance of effects therefore needs to be confirmed in the ES 

addendum. The applicant should also confirm to SKDC and provide appropriate justification 

that there are no significant impact interactions. 

 

4.5 At 83 pages in length, the Non-Technical Summary is too long for the non-technical reader 

while the document also includes some complex technical terms. The NTS should be shorter 

and in non-technical language so that it is accessible and easily understood by all readers.  

 

4.6 Based on the points made above it is suggested that SKDC require the applicant to provide 

further information and clarification as set out in the ‘Action Required’ column of the review 

138



Downtown Grantham Designer Outlet 2020 ES Addendum Review    Conclusion 

28398/A5/ES Addendum Review Report   13             February 2021 

and in accordance with Regulation 25 of the 2017 EIA Regulations. SKDC will note the 

timescales for consideration of this information and the advertising requirements.  

 

139



 

 

APPENDIX B 
RESPONSE TO THE REVIEW BY BARTON WILLMORE ON THE 2020 ES 

ADDENDUM 
 

 

140



Downtown Grantham Designer Outlet       -       Response to the Review by Barton Willmore on the 2020 ES Addendum 

 

 

 

 

Response to the Review by 

Barton Willmore  

on the 2020 Environmental Statement 

Addendum  

 

 

Downtown Grantham Designer Outlet  

Outline Planning Application  

  

 

Land at Gonerby Moor, Grantham 

 

on behalf of  

Oldrid & Co. Ltd 

 

 

 

Prepared by: 

Angela Smedley BA (Hons) DipTP MRTPI 

Fisher German LLP 

The Estates Office 

Norman Court 

Ashby de la Zouch 

Leicestershire  

LE65 2UZ 

 

February 2021 

141



Downtown Grantham Designer Outlet       -       Response to the Review by Barton Willmore on the 2020 ES Addendum 

2 

 

Contents 

  page 

1.0 Introduction 3 

2.0  EIA Regulatory Compliance 3 

3.0 EIA Context & Influence 5 

4.0 EIA Content 6 

5.0 EIA Presentation 8 

   

Appendices 

Appendix 1 Non-Technical Summary of the Environmental Statement 2020 

Addendum 

Appendix 2 Schedule and Map of Additional Committed Developments  

Appendix 3 Reference List of the Environmental Statement 2020 Addendum 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

142



Downtown Grantham Designer Outlet       -       Response to the Review by Barton Willmore on the 2020 ES Addendum 

 

3 

 

1.0 INTRODUCTION 

1.1 Context 

1.1.1 An Environmental Statement (ES) was submitted to South Kesteven District Council (SKDC) as 

part of an outline planning application for a Designer Outlet Centre (DOC), known as 

Downtown Grantham Designer Outlet (DGDO), at land at Occupation Lane, Gonerby Moor, 

Grantham (ref: S17/2155) in November 2017 (‘2017 ES’). Further information was submitted in 

support of the ES in March 2018 (‘2018 ES Addendum’). 

 

1.1.2 The planning application was subsequently approved subject to conditions and S106 

agreement by the SKDC’s Development Management Committee on 5th February 2019. The 

S106 agreement has now been finalised. However following the adoption of the South 

Kesteven Local Plan 2011-2036 on 30th January 2020, Officers consider that, procedurally the 

application should be returned to Committee. In advance of this, a detailed review of the 2017 

ES and 2018 ES Addendum has been undertaken by the applicant to determine if the 

assessments are considered up to date and whether further environmental assessment was 

required. The updates to the 2017 ES and 2018 ES Addendum are provided in a 2020 ES 

Addendum. 

 

1.1.3 SKDC instructed Barton Willmore to provide an independent review of the 2020 ES Addendum. 

The review (which is attached in full within Appendix A) follows a template produced by the 

Institute of Environmental Management and Assessment (IEMA) for assessing the quality of 

Environmental Statements. This includes a review of the following components: 

 

• EIA Regulatory Compliance; 

• EIA Context and Influence; 

• EIA Content; and  

• EIA Presentation. 

 

1.1.4 The review recommended to SKDC a number of actions. SKDC have requested that these 

actions are addressed by the applicant. The actions and the response by the applicant is set 

out within this Response.  

 

2.0 EIA REGULATORY COMPLIANCE 

2.1 Applicant to provide construction phasing information for the Proposed Development and 

clarify how it has affected (or otherwise) technical assessments. 

2.1.1 The construction timetable is set out in the 2017 ES & 2018 ES Addendum.  It is expected that 

the Proposed Development would be completed and operational within 2.5 years. 

 

2.1.2 The updated documents were prepared in summer 2020, and whilst it was anticipated that the 

application be returned to the Planning Committee before now, Oldrids & Downtown remain 

committed to delivering the development in accordance with the timetable. 

 

143



Downtown Grantham Designer Outlet       -       Response to the Review by Barton Willmore on the 2020 ES Addendum 

4 

 

2.1.3 The requisite details for the reserved matters applications have been advanced in the 

intervening period following the resolution to grant consent in February 2019, along with 

documents to discharge the pre-commencement conditions. These can be submitted 

immediately following grant of planning permission. Following reserved matters approval and 

discharge of relevant conditions, the development can commence. The Government has 

been clear that construction work should continue, and sites should remain open across the UK 

despite the COVID-19 pandemic. During the early stages of the pandemic, productivity in the 

industrial sector slowed, the industry has adapted positively to changes in working practices; 

supply chains and productivity have bounced back. As such there is no reason why the 

construction timetable is to be impacted by the pandemic.  With a conservative 30 month 

programme the DGDO can be opened in Autumn 2023.   

 

2.1.4 On the above basis, the 2017 ES and 2020 ES Addendum provide accurate assessments and 

design year forecasts including the likely significant effects of the Proposed Development 

during its construction phase and once completed. 

 

2.2 Applicant to identify and assess interactive effects, or justify why they are not anticipated  

2.2.1 The interaction of topics has been considered.  The applicant’s design and environmental 

team have explored various design iterations to deliver an optimum masterplanning solution 

that minimises adverse effects and maximises beneficial effects. This has explored the impact 

and consequential effect on the environmental topics and the interaction between the topics. 

 

2.2.2 The Transport & Access chapter provides baseline traffic flows and predicted traffic flows arising 

from the Proposed Development that are inter-related to other ES topics. The baseline traffic 

flows and predicted traffic flows are used to also determine environmental effects in the Air 

Quality and Noise Impact Chapters of the ES. 

 

2.2.3 In addition, there is the potential for cumulative road vehicle exhaust emission impacts should 

other developments generate traffic which utilise the same routes as movements generated 

by the proposals.  The 2020 ES Addendum Chapter 12 Transport and Access includes an 

analysis of trips produced from additional allocated and consented sites. This indicates the 

traffic forecasting predictions adopted in the 2018 ES Addendum remain robust when 

considering planned development in the local area. As such, an increase in vehicle 

movements on the local highway network associated with committed schemes have been 

accounted for in the flows utilised in the air quality dispersion modelling and noise dispersion 

modelling. Cumulative air quality effects and cumulative noise impact effects are therefore 

considered to be not significant.  

 

2.2.4 Consideration has been given to the effects of climate change to each of the technical 

chapters of the ES.  Technical notes and updated appraisals in respect of Ecology, Water 

Resources, Transport and Air Quality have been prepared in this 2020 ES Addendum which 

review minor amendments to baselines that were assessed in the 2017 ES/2018 ES Addendum. 

The assessment of significant effects in relation to the technical disciplines included in the 2020 

ES Addendum are not materially influenced by changes to each of their respective topics and 

therefore the assessments set out in the 2017 ES/2018 ES Addendum remain valid. No likely 

144



Downtown Grantham Designer Outlet       -       Response to the Review by Barton Willmore on the 2020 ES Addendum 

5 

 

significant effects, that were not identified or identifiable at the time of the preparation of the 

2017 ES/2018 ES Addendum, have been identified. 

 

2.2.5 It is concluded that the level of intra project effects would not result in any significant level of 

effects. 

 

Provide shorter and more concise NTS in non-technical language 

2.2.6 A more concise Non-Technical Summary of the 2020 ES Addendum is located at Appendix 1.  

 

3.0 EIA CONTEXT AND INFLUENCE 

3.1 SKDC to confirm its scope of the ES Addendum is acceptable   

3.1.1 The Barton Willmore review states that Chapter 2 (Methodology) identifies additional 

cumulative schemes which have come forward since the 2017 ES and 2018 ES Addendum and 

which have been assessed through the 2020 ES Addendum.  

 

3.1.2 The following lists the additional commitments assessed and were agreed with SKDC to include 

allocations from the SKDC Local Plan 2020, consented schemes and schemes with a resolution 

to grant consent.  

 

k)  Spitalgate Heath 

l)  Rectory Farm (Phase 1 NW Quadrant) 

m)  Rectory Farm (Phase 2 NW Quadrant) 

n)  Prince William of Gloucester Barracks 

o)  Easthorpe Road, Great Gonerby 

p)  Grantham Southern Gateway 

q)  Former Magistrates Court 

r)  Holscot Industrial Linings, Alma Park Industrial Estate 

s)  Land at 2 Venture Way 

t)  Spittlegate Farm, Gorse Lane 

u)  Land off Hanbury Avenue 

v)  Land to the north of Longcliffe Road, Manthorpe 

w)  Land at Bridge End Road 

x)  1 Ruston Road, Alma Park Industrial Estate 

y)  Former Chandos House Care Home, Gorse Road 

 

3.1.3 A schedule of the additional schemes, including a description of each scheme with a map 

identifying the location of the cumulative schemes is located at Appendix 2. 

 

3.1.4 As set out in the 2020 ES Addendum, the authors of each of the ES Chapters have reviewed 

the available information to determine the potential cumulative effects that may arise when 

these developments are considered alongside the Proposed Development. The conclusions 

adopted in the 2017 ES and 2018 ES Addendum relating to environmental effects, including 

cumulative effects, are unchanged. 

 

145



Downtown Grantham Designer Outlet       -       Response to the Review by Barton Willmore on the 2020 ES Addendum 

6 

 

4.0 EIA CONTENT 

4.1 Highways Authority to confirm if 2017 baseline data is acceptable. Applicant to provide 

clarification why these data are considered valid to support the EIA 

4.1.1 The DfT guidance states ‘The assessment should include recent counts (normally surveyed 

within the last three years) for peak period turning movements at critical junctions’. However, 

this is only guidance and doesn’t provide a hard and fast rule. The appropriateness of the data 

needs to be considered on a case-by-case basis depending on the local area. 

 

4.1.2 When the ES was revised in June 2020, it would not have been appropriate to collect new data 

at that point due to the COVID restrictions in place. In fact, since the initial lockdown in March 

2020, traffic flows in general have been significantly lower. As a result, using baseline data 

collected in June 2017 ensures the base traffic flows are representative and more typical traffic 

conditions ensuring a robust assessment. Furthermore, suitable growth factors were applied to 

the base data to inform future year assessments and this methodology was agreed with the 

local highway authority and Highways England. 

 

4.1.3 Overall, the data is still considered relevant and robust for the purpose of informing the ES and 

Transport Assessment. 

 

4.1.4 In terms of Air Quality, baseline traffic flows for 2017 were provided by the Transport Consultant 

and were used to inform the original Air Quality 2017 ES Chapter and 2018 ES Addendum. These 

were subsequently factored for use in the 2020 ES Addendum to represent the most up to date 

year of monitoring data available at the time of assessment to allow model validation. This is 

the reason for the difference between the baseline flows reported in the 2017 ES Chapter / 

2018 ES Addendum and the 2020 ES Addendum. It should be noted that the predicted traffic 

flows as a result of the Proposed Development was unchanged between the 2018 ES 

Addendum and the 2020 ES Addendum.   

 

4.1.5 In terms of Noise and Vibration, again baseline traffic flows for 2017 have been used.  

 

4.2 Clarification – Significance of Effects to be confirmed (Chapter 7 Socio-Economic/Retail 

Impact) 

 

Retail Impact 

4.2.1 SKDC has received advice from its retail advisors, Stantec, on those elements of the applicant’s 

Retail Impact Assessment (RIA) that it would like to see updated. It is relevant to note that 

SKDC’s previous retail advisors, Peter Brett Associates (PBA), have been acquired by Stantec, 

so the advice follows that previously given to SKDC on the planning application pre-resolution.   

 

4.2.2 Taking on board Stantec’s suggested comments, an updated assessment of the key retail 

parameters relevant to the proposals has been provided. In doing so, the retail work 

demonstrates that the proposals continue to meet the two key ‘tests’ set out in the National 

Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), namely: 

 

146



Downtown Grantham Designer Outlet       -       Response to the Review by Barton Willmore on the 2020 ES Addendum 

7 

 

• The sequential approach taken to the selection of the application site; and 

• The impact of the proposed development on existing centres. 

 

4.2.3 Considering alternative sites within the Primary Catchment Area (PCA) remains appropriate 

and it is on this basis, applying the minimum site parameters set out in the original RIA, a fresh 

sequential assessment has been undertaken. No relevant additional sites beyond the sites 

previously assessed in the original RIA have been identified and this has been confirmed with 

SKDC.  

 

4.2.4 The original sites considered were: 

 

1. Bourne Core Area, Bourne (South Kesteven District) 

2. King 31, Grantham (South Kesteven District)  

3. Bass Maltings, Sleaford (North Kesteven District) 

4. East Road, Sleaford (North Kesteven District)  

5. Former Advanta Seeds, Sleaford (North Kesteven District) 

6. Jessop Way, Newark-on-Trent (Newark and Sherwood District) 

7. NSK Factory, Newark-on-Trent (Newark and Sherwood District) 

 

4.2.5 These sites have been revisited and reviewed as part of the re-assessment and the conclusions 

remain that the sites are not sequentially preferable for the reasons stated in the revised retail 

work. 

 

4.2.6 Stantec’s advice to SKDC identified a number of updates to the RIA, to include: 

 

• revised population projections; 

• revised per capita expenditure; 

• a review of comparison goods market shares / turnover (now and in the future); 

• a review of sales efficiency per annum; 

• the trade draw of the application proposal from residents; 

• any new commitments, commitments which are no longer extant and commitments 

which are considered unlikely to come forward, which could affect trade diversion 

patterns of commitments; and 

• new trade diversion patterns of the application proposal. 

 

4.2.7 Taking this as a lead, an update of the RIA to include all of the above points has been 

undertaken, in addition to revised healthcheck assessments of existing centres. This is consistent 

with the PPG checklist for applying the impact test1 and follows a widely adopted approach 

to quantitative analysis.  

 

4.2.8 The updated assessment also considers the number of planning conditions and controls set out 

in the draft S106 agreement which have been subject to extensive dialogue and are now 

agreed. In many cases these were suggested by SKDC and PBA / Stantec in response to 

 
1 Paragraph: 018 Reference ID: 2b-018-20190722. 

147



Downtown Grantham Designer Outlet       -       Response to the Review by Barton Willmore on the 2020 ES Addendum 

8 

 

representations made to the planning application on the potential impact to vitality and 

viability of centres in SKDC and further afield. It is pertinent to note that these go beyond 

controlling the DOC and other elements of the proposed development, but also limit the 

operation and trading of the existing Downtown store, which presently benefits from an 

unencumbered open Class A1 consent. 

 

4.2.9 The revised document, taking into account the revised assumptions and updates, maintains its 

conclusions, having regard to paras 89 and 90 of the NPPF, that the proposals will not result in 

‘significant adverse impact’. 

 

Socio-Economic Impact  

4.2.10 Much of the baseline data has been kept within the socio-economic assessment in order to 

provide a comparative effect of the proposals against the core economic data available for 

SKDC, the LEP and SEP for Greater Lincolnshire and the wider East of England, much of which 

has not been updated since the last study. It is also pertinent to note that the HCA / Homes 

England guidance as the key cornerstone to estimating employee per sqm area of use has 

also not changed. 

 

4.2.11 However, the report has been updated in its approach to the calculation of employment, and 

therefore the economic advantage which the development will bring, notably in the revised 

proposed utilisation of the B1(a) (now Class E) business space, given it is now the intention of 

Oldrids & Downtown to occupy this space for its office functions.  

 

4.2.12 The revised work also considers a revised employment density arising from the use of the 

remaining office space for its use as an office and meeting rooms suite to serve the DGDO, 

with the resultant figure reached in consultation with Freeport / DGDO Centre Management 

as proposed occupiers. 

 

4.2.13 More generally the reviewed socio-economic assessment has been revised to include 

responses to comments made by Amion, on behalf of SKDC, ahead of the original planning 

committee. These were subsequently addressed, but for the sake of clarity are now included 

within the revision so it provides a consolidated response. 

 

4.3 Applicant to confirm to SKDC and provide appropriate justification that there are no significant 

impact interactions  

4.3.1 Please refer to Section 2.2 above.  

 

5.0 EIA PRESENTATION 

5.1 More concise NTS to be provided in non-technical language  

5.1.1 A more concise Non-Technical Summary of the 2020 ES Addendum is located at Appendix 1.  

 

5.2 Applicant to provide complete reference list  

5.2.1 A complete reference list for the 2020 ES Addendum is located at Appendix 3.   

148



 

Castle House 
Great North Road 

Newark 
Nottinghamshire 

NG24 1BY 

www.newark-sherwooddc.gov.uk 
 

 

 

South Kesteven District Council 
Development Management 
Council Offices 
St Peters Hill 
Grantham 
Lincolnshire 
 
Sent via email to: 
P.Jordan@southkesteven.gov.uk; and 
planning@southkesteven.gov.uk 

Telephone: 01636 650000 
Email: planning@nsdc.info 

Your ref: S17/2155 
Our ref: 17/02120/NPS  

 
 
 

 1st July 2021  
 
Dear Mr Jordan, 
 
Grantham – Downtown Retail Site, Gonerby Moor, Grantham 
Planning Application for Erection of a Designer Outlet Centre, Large Format Retail Units, 
Leisure Use and Associated Development (Planning Application Ref: S17/2155) 
 
I refer to the above application, which I understand requires ratification by the Council’s Planning 
Committee, following the resolution to grant planning consent in February 2019. Newark & 
Sherwood wish to take the opportunity to reiterate and add to its previous strong objection to the 
proposed development, lodged in May 2019. The position of the Authority remains as follows.  
 
(i) Strong objection to the proposed development at Downtown Garden Centre, which is 
supported further by the national agenda surrounding high street and town centre decline; 
(ii) Formally request attendance by both an Officer and elected Member to speak at South 
Kesteven District Council’s Planning Committee to set out the reasons Newark and Sherwood 
District Council are objecting to the scheme (due to the retail impact on Newark town centre).  
 
The District Council continues to set out strong evidence-based concerns that have now existed 
for some considerable time. Over the course of the application there has also been a material 
change in circumstance, through a further decline of Newark Town Centre (compounded by the 
pandemic), which means it is even more susceptible to proposed out-of-town development. 
Furthermore this should be considered against a backdrop of national Government concern over 
the decline of high streets – which has resulted in support and increased thinking around this policy 
area (e.g. the high streets task force). The question which occurs to this Authority, is what Centre 
could absorb an 8.1% - 14.94% impact and remain vital and viable? 
 
 
 
 

149



2 

 

 
Sequential Test 
 
Through its previous comments the District Council has accepted that there is no single ‘reasonably 
available’ site within Newark & Sherwood which is both capable of accommodating the 
development as a whole, and sequentially preferable to that on which consent is sought. 
Notwithstanding this the District Council considered that it would be appropriate to disaggregate 
the uses for the purposes of applying the Sequential Test. Since the proposal was last considered  
the flexible role of the office space/hub has been amended, with that floorspace now intended to 
directly serve office and staff functions for the designer outlet and operator (Oldrids). It is accepted 
therefore that its separation from the outlet for the purposes of the Sequential Test would no 
longer remain appropriate. Notwithstanding this the previous concerns around the outlet, large 
format retail and leisure uses remain, and it considered that these uses should be disaggregated 
for the purposes of the Test. Without this the District Council continues to be of the view that the 
Sequential Test has not been demonstrated as passed.  
 
Impact Test 
 
Turning to impact, the original impact assessment by the applicant (October 2017) suggested that 
the proposed development would have a solus impact (i.e. that from the development alone) on 
Newark Town Centre of £5.1m (3.7%), rising to £7.5m (5.4%) when considered cumulatively 
(alongside other committed development). However the forecasting carried out by Carter Jonas 
for this District Council (February 2018) placed this at £7.4m (5.4%) on a solus basis, and £11.8m 
(8.6%) cumulatively. Consequently an objection was raised over the impact on the vitality and 
viability of Newark Town Centre, which was deemed as likely to be ‘significant adverse’.  
 
Following this, the applicant provided a revised position in November 2018, seeking to consider 
the cumulative impact of the proposal at Downtown and the Tollemache Road permission both 
being implemented. This was deemed as likely to have a £12.8m (6.79%) impact on Newark Town 
Centre, under its worst case scenario and below that previously modelled by Carter Jonas. Advice 
provided to this Authority, from Lambert Smith Hampton, advised that even if the applicants figure 
was to be accepted then the economic and retail climate at the time meant that an impact of 6.8% 
could be deemed to be ‘significant adverse’. This position was reflected in the second objection 
made by the District Council.  
 
The applicant has prepared new retail impact information (dated July 2020) to support the 
proposal. This now forecasts a solus impact on Newark Town Centre of £3.9m (3.6%) in 2025, 
falling below the level identified in the October 2017 assessment - and in percentage terms sitting 
above that modelled for the nearest centre of Grantham at 3.2% (£5.2m). Their assessment of the 
cumulative impact has sought to take account of the competition which would occur between the 
application proposal, and the consented scheme at Tollemache Road. Under the worst case 
scenario the applicant puts the cumulative impact on Newark Town Centre, at £11.2m (8.1%). Thus 
exceeding the level of impact this Authority has previously considered likely to have a significant 
adverse impact on Newark Town Centre. In this respect the contents of the NTR Planning 
Statement, prepared on behalf of Rioja Development, are noted with great concern. This highlights 
the highest percentage cumulative impact on Newark Town Centre as 14.94% (contributing 
towards a cumulative trade diversion of £19.39m), dropping to 11.98% (£15.56m) and 11.87% 
(£15.40m) respectively, under their 30% and 25% competition factor scenarios. The extent to 
which these outstrip those levels of impact modelled by the applicant causes this Authority very 
considerable concern, given the levels at which we have previously raised an objection to- on the 

150



3 

 

basis that they were likely to be significant adverse. Furthermore the disparity between the figures 
also leads us to strongly question the validity of the impact exercise undertaken by the applicant. 
 
In considering the effect that their modelled impact will have on Newark Town Centre the 
applicant’s updated Retail Impact Assessment, makes reference to the variation of a Condition 
attached to a retail consent (18/01137/OUTM) off Northgate, Newark – approved in June 2019. 
Considering that the application took account of both the Tollemache Road and Downtown 
schemes, with the conclusion being reached that cumulatively the proposed variation and schemes 
within South Kesteven District would not be detrimental to the vitality and viability of Newark 
Town Centre. This is however inaccurate. The Northgate applicant did not take account of any 
commitment, other than that of the original outline planning permission on the Northgate site – 
nor did it need to. The positive determination of that particular proposal therefore has no bearing 
on how impact should be considered in this instance. 
 
Supplementing the applicant’s case, is a health check of Newark Town Centre, which concludes 
that it remains an attractive and healthy town centre which is performing well. This work has 
however not been supported by site visits, instead those undertaken at earlier stages are relied 
upon alongside information from other data sources (GOAD reports from 2015 and 2019). Such an 
approach is inadequate. The Town Centre has faced a period of decline and increasing vacancies. 
This has been compounded given the material change in context provided by the Coronavirus 
pandemic, and its acceleration of these longstanding Town Centre trends. The applicant’s 
assessment (drawing on the GOAD data), details there to be 54 vacant units (12.9% of the total 
units) within Newark Town Centre – stated as being above the national average of 11-12%. 
However the Council’s most recent Retail Monitoring Report (2019/20) has the number of units as 
higher, at 61 (9.21%). The difference in percentage figures, suggests a disparity in what the two 
assessments have taken to represent the Town Centre. Nevertheless the number of units is higher 
within our own evidence base. Significantly, the vacancy rate in the Primary Shopping Area (the 
retail core of the Centre) has increased from 8.07% in 2018/19 to 17.39% in 2019/20, well above 
the national average. Consequently in reality the vacancy rate is worse than that taken account of 
by the applicant, both in numeric terms and with respect to its distribution.  The challenge of the 
high street and town centres is recognised nationally. This is also the case locally, with the town 
centre identified as one of the key areas of decline and needed intervention with the Newark 
Towns Fund bid, announced in March 2020 as part of the chancellors budget. 
 
Furthermore the applicant has sought to minimise the effect of the vacancies by suggesting that 
the majority are located on secondary shopping streets. This is however not a position reflected 
within the District Council’s figures (to reiterate, based on fact and site visits) which show close to 
half the vacancies (28 units) as being located within the Primary Shopping Frontage, with lesser 
numbers found within the Secondary Shopping Frontage (17 units) and the remainder of the Town 
Centre (16 units). Again the District Council would make reference to the NTR Planning submission 
on behalf of Rioja Developments, which includes a more detailed and rigorous health check than 
that most recently undertaken by the applicant. The clear conclusion reached is that the health of 
Newark Town Centre has declined significantly. Demonstrating that the composition of Newark 
town centre has changed significantly between June 2015 and January 2021, with a decline in the 
number of comparison goods outlets and an increase in vacant outlets and retail service outlets. 
It is also reflects the Council’s own figures, showing that the vacancy rate for the Centre has 
exceeded the national average since 2017 and climbed at a faster rate.  There are significant flaws 
with the health check which undermine its robustness. 
 

151



4 

 

The challenges which Newark Town Centre faces are reflected in its successful bid to receive £25m 
funding as part of the Government’s Towns Fund initiative. Through which the aim is to drive the 
sustainable economic regeneration of the Town, and deliver long-term economic and productivity 
growth. The Town Investment Plan (TIP), which supports the bid, identified the Town Centre as 
continuing to suffer from retail decline – with visible and large footprint vacancies being 
accompanied by a trend for discount offers. Market confidence is demonstrably low, as reflected 
in the departure of national brands. The TIP also identifies out-of-centre retailing competition as a 
challenge. Newark Town Centre therefore forms an important part of the bid, including specific 
projects such as Newark cultural heart to drive footfall and event/experiences within the town and 
the repurposing of the former Marks & Spencer’s unit.  
 
Even before Newark was deemed to face sufficient challenges to be successful in its Towns Fund 
bid- and the further negative effects of the Coronavirus pandemic emerged – the Town Centre was 
found to be vulnerable to competition from higher order centres, investment in out-of-centre 
shopping/leisure destinations and the growth in internet shopping. This vulnerability is likely to 
have increased as a result of an acceleration in the trends which are undermining the vitality and 
viability of Town Centres. Should these vulnerabilities continue to grow unchecked, then there is 
the potential that the success of planned investments and policy objectives around the future of 
the Town Centre will be undermined. 
 
Drawing on the above, it is not considered that the applicant has satisfactorily demonstrated 
Newark Town Centre to be both vital and viable to the extent that their cumulative trade diversion 
of £11.2m (8.1%) could be withstood, without this being likely to result in significant adverse 
impact. Indeed it is again worth underlining that even the latest figure remains considerably below 
that modelled on behalf of the District Council at the earlier stages of this application, and the 
more recent work carried out by Rioja Developments. Consequently the District Council maintains 
its previous position, that the level of likely impact warrants the refusal of the application in line 
with the approach detailed in Paragraph 90 of the NPPF. 
 
Proposed Controls  
 
A range of controls have been included within the Section 106 agreement, intended to limit the 
operation and trading of the proposed development. This includes a ‘no poaching’ clause, through 
which existing retailers in Grantham, Newark and Balderton are not permitted to occupy space 
within the development unless they commit to maintaining a town centre presence for at least 
five years. As well as restricting occupation of the ‘Designer Outlet Centre’ to ‘Tier 1 retailers’. It 
was previously considered that ‘Tier 1 retailer’ represented a nebulous term - which could include 
mass market retailers found in Newark such as (at the time) Marks and Spencer and Next. The 
District Council also expressed concerns around the poaching clause, both with respect to its 
limiting to 5 years and the ability to properly enforce such an obligation. There would be a lack of 
clear definition to what retailing firms would be affected by the clause, given modern retailing 
practices. For example would the restriction relate to a fascia name over the shop, or to the 
identity of a group which may own multiple retailing brands? Consequently it was not considered 
that the proposed measures would be effective in mitigating the forecast cumulative impact, with 
objections being made on this basis.  
 
It is now understood that the Section 106 lists a range of ‘permitted Class A1 retailers’, and 
although that use class has been subsumed into the new E use class this approach does give greater 
clarity over the type of retailer the scheme seeks to attract. Notwithstanding this, there are a 
number of prominent retailers on the list which do have a presence within the Town Centre. This 

152



5 

 

includes Pandora, White Stuff and Phase Eight, furthermore it is also the case that many of the 
independent stores within the Town Centre will stock a product range from other retailers included 
on the list (Oxygen and Masdings being two such examples). These independent retailers will in 
reality also find themselves in competition with elements of the proposal, given the overlap in 
offer. The independent sector within Newark Town Centre is a key component of its vitality and 
viability, a fact highlighted within both the Town Centre & Retail Study (2016) – but also the Towns 
Fund TIP. Consequently the District Council retains significant concerns over the impact from an 
overlap in offer (including in its broadest sense – not just confined to the presence of identical 
retailers).  
 
Were the scheme prove unable to attract the type of retailers anticipated – which appears likely 
given the contents of the Rioja Developments objection - then the determining Authority would 
likely come under pressure to ease this control, and accept the presence of other retailers 
commonly found within a Town Centre such as Newark’s. This further emphasises the previous 
concerns of the Authority over the effectiveness of the ‘no poaching’ condition. Notwithstanding 
these reservations, were the condition to prove effective, then it would still not prevent there 
being a competing store within the outlet village. Such a circumstance would only serve to increase 
the attractiveness of the outlet as a destination ahead of the Town Centre. 
 
Accordingly the District Council strongly questions the effectiveness and enforceability of the 
controls within the Section 106 agreement. Enforcement will clearly fall outside the control of this 
District Council, so for instance we would ask the question over what the ‘penalty’ would be, were 
the control over poaching to be breached? It is not considered that, as proposed, they are capable 
of bringing the impact of the proposal to a level below that of significant adverse – and so our 
previous objections are maintained. Whilst these measures are insufficient to overcome the 
District Council’s objections, were the determining Authority to ratify the approval and retain 
controls of the type proposed then the following will need to be addressed. There is a clear need 
to ensure that the implications from the removal of the A1 use class, and the much wider permitted 
development rights offered by the replacement E class are properly addressed. In this respect, 
both the permission and its associated conditions require tightening and the permitted uses more 
clearly defined. It will also be necessary to condition the offices in such a way, so that any change 
in their use directly serving the administrative and staff functions for the outlet and operator would 
require planning consent. 
 
In summary, this Authority maintains robust evidence-based objections to the proposed 
development. With the material change in circumstance provided by the further decline of Newark 
Town Centre only strengthening this position. The future prospects of high streets are now of acute 
concern at a national-level, reflected in the actions of the current Government. Consequently, we 
would question whether any Centre could absorb an impact of 8.1% - 14.94% without this 
significantly adversely affecting its vitality and viability. 
 
The District Council would wish to formally request attendance by both an Officer and elected 
Member to speak at South Kesteven District Council’s Planning Committee, in order to set out the 
reasons Newark and Sherwood District Council continue to object to the scheme. 
 
I trust that this sets out the position of Newark & Sherwood District Council, but should you wish 
to discuss these matters further then please do not hesitate to get in touch. 
 
Yours sincerely, 
 

153



6 

 

 
Matt Lamb 
Director of Planning and Growth 
 

 
Roger Blaney 
Chairman – Planning Committee 
 
 

154



 

 

Downtown outlet application 

Suggested Reasons for Refusal 
 

June 2020 

HE PLANNING SYSTEM’S USE CLASSIFICATIONS DO NOT DISTINGUISH between a 

Designer Outlet Village and a standard retail park in that they are both classed A1. 

However, this does not mean that there are not valid planning reasons for refusing 

the Downtown application. The Briefing Note: Why ‘letting the market decide’ is 

bad for Grantham sets out the case for refusing the Downtown application. It provides evidence that 

it could never achieve Tier 1 Designer Outlet Village status and that a planning permission will 

prevent the consented Grantham Designer Outlet Village happening as well increasing the damaging 

retail impact on Grantham town centre. This Briefing Note outlines what the Reasons for Refusal 

might be: 

       Impact on Grantham town centre 

Sequential Test 

Loss of Employment  

The proposed conditions on the Downtown application will not secure a Tier 1 Outlet 

Centre 

Not contributing to sustainable development 

Jeopardising potential public and planned private investment   

Each of these reasons to refuse is taken from leading planning lawyers Taylor Wessing’s letter to 

South Kesteven District Council titled Application S17/2155 for a Designer Outlet Centre at 

Downtown - Objection. This advice provides additional comprehensive detail to the reasons for 

refusal and the paragraph references are noted here for convenience.  

Impact on Grantham town centre 
(See Taylor Wessing letter of Objection para 2.1 - 2.5) 

1. The application is not in accordance with SKDC’s Local Plan. In paragraph 3.23 it states:  

“The Local Plan will seek to encourage retail proposals that support and enhance Grantham’s 

developing role as a sub-regional shopping centre and leisure destination.”  

2. Even before the structural changes in retail, Grantham has suffered loss of footfall with the 

legacy Achilles Heel of Downtown out of town shopping centre, so the town centre needs 

extraordinary measures to give it any chance: 3.24 of the Plan states 10% if the expected 3 

million visitors to the Outlet Village will also visit the town centre. 2.72 of the Plan states the 

Outlet Village offers the opportunity to kick start a step change in the local economy – now 

even more essential post COVID19.   

3. It has been shown that Designer Outlet Villages that fail, often revert to becoming enhanced 

ordinary-price or lower quality discount retail parks which of course will compete directly 

with an already weakened Grantham town centre. Even with sufficient planning controls 

Downtown by its nature could never be a Tier 1 scheme as presented in the Officer report. 

Sequential Test 
(See Taylor Wessing letter of Objection paras 6.1 - 6.4) 

4. Grantham Designer Outlet Village is considerably closer to Grantham town centre than 

Downtown and now that the Grantham Southern Relief Road is close to completion, the link 

to the town centre is even stronger. 

5. SKDC Officers Report on the Downtown application dated February 2019 Report, at 8.7.7, 

states that: 

“The Downtown application is further from the town centre and travel distance by all means of 

transport are longer and take more time.“ 

This was prior to the progress of the Southern Relief Road. The NPPF states at paragraph 87 that: 

“When considering edge of centre and out of centre proposals, preference should be given to 

accessible sites which are well connected to the town centre.” 

6. Moreover in the Plan Policies Map adopted since the application, the Outlet Village sits 

within GR-SE1, development there ‘considered of strategic employment importance given its 

relationship to the principle areas of growth and its accessibility via the strategic road 

network.’     

T 

155



 

 

7. The sequential test should be rerun with the Downtown proposals split into its component 

parts. This will identify sequentially preferable sites for office accommodation, D2 leisure use 

and non-Designer Outlet Village retail that the applicant proposes as part of its proposed 

outlet and that appear to have no functional relationship.2.72 of the Plan indicates Grantham 

needs to increase its supply of offices – implicitly not at Gonerby Moor.  

Loss of employment 
8. The Downtown application quotes the creation of c.1,000 jobs. However, the consented 

Grantham Designer Outlet Village will already create 1,050 - 1,200 full-time equivalent jobs. 

Given that only one of the schemes will succeed, there would be no net increase in jobs. 

9. In addition, if the Downtown scheme is revitalised as a discount and regular price retail park, 

the impact on Grantham town centre is likely to result in more net job losses.  

The proposed conditions on the Downtown application will 

not secure a Tier 1 Outlet Centre 
10. A critical mass of high-end retailers is needed to achieve Tier 1 status. Typically 60% of a 

Tier 1 Outlet Centre must be occupied by premium, luxury or upper middle bracket retailers. 

The Draft S106 does not require a critical mass of high-end retailers such that it would be 

possible to operate a Tier 3 or 4 DOC at the DGDO without breaching the Draft S106. 

Not contributing to sustainable development 
(See Taylor Wessing letter of Objection para 4.1 - 4.6 

11. Contributing to sustainable development is described in the National Planning Policy 

Framework (the “NPPF”) as “the purpose of the planning system.” Permitting a Designer 

Outlet Village that will fail is contrary to this purpose; clearly, a DOV that will fail will not 

be an effective use of land and will not promote economic, social, and environmental 

objectives. 

Jeopardising potential public and planned private 

investment  
 (See Taylor Wessing letter of Objection para 8.1 - 8.3) 

12. Paragraph 89 of the NPPF provides that for developments such as the Downtown application, 

the following must be assessed:  

(a)  “the impact of the proposal on existing, committed and planned public and private investment in 

a centre or centres in the catchment area of the proposal; and 

(b)  “the impact of the proposal on town centre vitality and viability, including local consumer 

choice and trade in the town centre and the wider retail catchment (as applicable to the scale and 

nature of the scheme).”  

13.  Since the Designer Village was consented, considerable private investment has been made in 

satisfying by Q2 2020 all the pre-commencement planning conditions such that the 

development can be implemented imminently, as opposed to Downtown’s plain outline 

consent that is years from being able to achieve the same and with finance to be committed.    

 

14. Grantham has been shortlisted as a beneficiary of Historic England’s High Streets Historic 

Action Zones Fund and is pursuing a bid for the Government’s Future High Street’s Fund 

with a full case expected to be presented in June. The potential impact of the DGDO on the 

success of the benefits this Fund seeks to facilitate should be assessed as it risks jeopardising 

that potential public investment.  

 

15. In terms of impact on the town centre, if there is no equivalent non-poaching clause in the 

s106 controls, combined with the lack of critical mass restriction as above, Downtown is far 

more likely than the Outlet Village to attract town centre type retailers, risking finally 

hollowing out the little remaining consumer choice in the town centre.   

156



 

 

 
Downtown outlet application 

Why 'letting the market decide' 
is bad for Grantham 
 

June 2020 

 

HEN DETERMINING TWO SIMILAR PLANNING APPLICATIONS it is commonplace and 

understandable that Planning Committees grant both and let the market decide which one 

comes forward. The problem with the Downtown application and the consented Grantham 

Designer Outlet Village is that they are not at all similar. Downtown - with its discounter 

anchor in Boundary Mills - cannot, by definition, be a Designer Outlet Village for the simple reason 

that designer brands will not trade alongside a discounter. It simply doesn't happen. 

This Briefing Note aims to explain why 'letting the market decide' is not appropriate when 

considering the Downtown planning application. It addresses three questions:  

 

• Why won't designer brands trade alongside a discounter? 

• What happens when two Outlet Centres so close together compete? 

• What happens if a consented Downtown scheme opts not to compete with Grantham 

Designer Outlet Village? 

Why won't designer brands trade alongside a discounter? 
1. Designer Outlet Villages are fundamentally different to retail parks. They are all about brands 

and brand marketing. They exist to provide the designer brands with a means of selling out of 

season and excess stock. But the way they provide this opportunity is fundamental to 

understanding the nature of Designer Outlet Villages: they support and enhance the brand itself 

which in most cases has taken £millions to create. They are a part of the branding process. 

2. In supporting the branding process, Designer Outlet Villages aim to create a customer 

experience which is much closer to leisure and tourism than to shopping. Everything has to say 

‘quality’; the design and layout of the Outlet Centre; the brands represented in the Outlet Centre; 

and the customer service from the staff at the Outlet Centre itself.  

3. To underline this, brand leases are linked to the turnover of the store - this helps ensure the 

Designer Outlet Village does everything it can to maintain a brand-worthy quality shopping 

environment: something retail parks will not invest in.  

4. To enhance their brands, designer brands need to be next to other designer brands. Ralph 

Lauren will not consider their brand enhanced by trading next to a discounter, where the aims 

are entirely retail-focused.  

 

What happens when two Designer Outlet Villages, so 

close together, compete?  
5. No two Tier 1 Designer Outlet Villages exist anywhere in Europe within less than 90 minutes’ 

drive-time of each other. Where they have tried and competed, in all cases, one or the other 

fails, usually both.  There are several reasons for this, including:  

5.1. The brands’ agents, having a choice of Designer Outlet Villages, negotiate much tougher 

lease agreements which results in the viability of the projects being damaged - sometimes 

fatally. 

5.2. The available brands are divided between the two Outlet Centres with the result that 

neither can reach the ‘critical-mass’ required for success. 

5.3. The brands themselves insist on exclusion zone clauses in their leases that prevent other 

Designer Outlet Villages being established within, in some cases, 50 miles. 

W 

157



 

 

6. It’s important to understand that Tier 1 Outlet Centres are not created on Day One. They are 

nurtured and grown over time. Often the most exclusive brand will not come into the scheme 

until phase 2, when the Designer Outlet Village is already up and trading. This creates a fourth 

reason for failure: 

6.1. If during this nurturing period the Outlet Centre is undermined by, say, the brands being 

reluctant to commit while they play one site off against the other - then viability is 

compromised and the nascent Tier 1 scheme is likely to fail. 

7. In Grantham’s case, all the benefits that SKDC’s planning committee voted for in granting it 

permission for Grantham Designer Outlet Village, will simply be lost. 

What happens if a consented Downtown scheme opts not 

to compete with Grantham Designer Outlet Village?  
8. This is a possible outcome and is what happened with the competing Gunwharf Quays and 

Whiteley Village in Hampshire. These two centres are within 15 minutes of each other. 

Whiteley Village tried initially to compete with Gunwharf Quays as a Tier 1 Designer Outlet 

Village but eventually conceded and then re-modelled itself as a retail park. The result was 

heavy and destructive retail impact on nearby Fareham town centre. 

9. Similarly, between 2004 and 2007, two rival scheme developers in Antrim, Northern Ireland 

divided the finite consumer demand and the finite number of upscale brands necessary to 

populate a Tier 1 outlet centre, resulting in neither scheme progressing beyond Tier 3 and in a 

relatively short period, both ended up in the hands of the banks who had loaned to them.  

10. Fifteen years later, a single owner of the two sites is consolidating and differentiating the retail 

mix, so that today, “The Boulevard”, following a reduction in floor area and the addition of a 

cinema, is moving slowly towards Tier 2 Outlet status.  

11. However, the other scheme, what was “Junction One Outlet”, with 25% vacancy, is evolving to 

become a discount retail park (now known as “The Junction”) and competes directly with 

nearby Antrim town centre for convenience, comparison and leisure trade.  

12. This is a significant contributing factor to the fact that many retail businesses in Antrim town 

centre are unsustainable (with the Castle Shopping Centre suffering 50% vacancy and in 

administration). The Junction is understandably pursuing a leisure and food service strategy out 

of necessity but this is to the detriment of Antrim town centre and local policy makers face a 

major planning and regeneration issue which may take decades to recover from. 

158



 

RIOJA ESTATES LTD   
The Barn, Little Mount Farm, Benhall Mill Road, Tunbridge Wells, Kent, TN2 5JW,  
Tel: +44(0)1732 442045 
Rioja Estates Ltd. Incorporated in England and Wales. Ref: in England. No. 11820392. Reg. Office: 94A London Road, Sevenoaks, Kent, TN13 1AR 
VAT Number: 315396107 

  
16th December 2020 
 
Mr William Richards 
Head of Development Management 
South Kesteven District Council 
St Peters Hill 
Grantham  
Lincolnshire 
NG31 6PZ 
 
 
Dear Mr Richards, 

Application S17/2155 – Response to letter dated 14 August 2020 from Mr Roberts of Freeport 
Retail 
 
1.  Introduction 
1.1 You will be aware that a number of new documents relating to the above referenced 

application for the DGDO (as defined in Mr Roberts' letter) have recently been published on 
SKDC's website, including Mr Roberts' letter of 14 August 2020 (the "Freeport Letter"). I was 
disappointed to see that despite being dated between July and August 2020 those documents 
have only been shared publicly in the last couple of weeks, particularly given the disparaging 
remarks made in respect of Rioja which have been allowed to go unchallenged for four 
months. 

 
1.2 Members of the consented Grantham Designer Outlet Village ("GDOV") scheme will be 

responding in full on the matters raised in those documents, however, given the number of 
material inaccuracies included in the Freeport Letter, I felt it necessary to address it directly 
and set the record straight. 

 
1.3 Noting that the scheme which is to be considered by SKDC is the DGDO and not the consented 

GDOV, this letter will provide a very brief summary of the GDOV team's actual concerns with 
the DGDO before addressing the points specifically raised by Mr Roberts in relation to 
Freeport's experience and the status of the GDOV. 

 
2. Concerns with the DGDO 
2.1 Contrary to Mr Roberts' description of the GDOV team and the rationale behind our concerns 

with the DGDO, we are opposed to the DGDO for the following reasons: 
a) the DGDO will lead to greater expenditure leakage from Grantham town centre due to the 

poor connection with the centre and the existing retail offer at the DGDO which would result 
in shoppers having no reason to link a trip to the DGDO with a trip to Grantham town centre. 

b) outlet history, of which Freeport Retail should be well aware, demonstrates that siting two 
outlets in close proximity will doom both to failure, and damage the local economy in the 
process. Far from this being the "sounding of a local rival developer", leading designer outlet 
consultant Ken Gunn has prepared a report on this impact which was sent to SKDC earlier this 
year which wrote that "consumers will be diluted, trading performance will be weak, investors 
will lose faith in the locality and occupiers will be lured away from nearby town centres”. 

c) consenting a designer outlet scheme which is doomed to fail undermines the principle of 
sustainable development, the very "purpose of the planning system”. 

d) the GDOV is sequentially preferable to the DGDO and enshrined in SKDC's Local Plan. 

159



   
 

RIOJA ESTATES LTD   
The Barn, Little Mount Farm, Benhall Mill Road, Tunbridge Wells, Kent, TN2 5JW,  
Tel: +44(0)1732 442045 
Rioja Estates Ltd. Incorporated in England and Wales. Ref: in England. No. 11820392. Reg. Office: 94A London Road, Sevenoaks, Kent, TN13 1AR 
VAT Number: 315396107 
 

e) consenting the DGDO could impact planned investment in Grantham and town centre vitality, 
contrary to paragraph 89 of the NPPF. 

f) the only way a designer outlet close to Grantham can succeed without damaging the town 
centre is to ensure it operates as a Tier 1 outlet. For the reasons expressed in the Ken Gunn 
Report and previous correspondence from Taylor Wessing, Buckminster and Rioja, the 
Downtown site cannot achieve a Tier 1 outlet; 

g) the S106 (unless updated since the 2019 version placed on SKDC's website) fails to secure a 
Tier 1 scheme; and 

h) as only one of the DGDO or GDOV can thrive, the DGDO would not lead to additional jobs, and 
may actually serve to endanger existing jobs at Downtown. 

 
2.2 Noting that previously Sylvia Bland was dealing with this application, I encourage you to 

review the previous correspondence from Taylor Wessing on these issues, and in particular 
their letter dated 19 March 2020 which enclosed the Ken Gunn Report and a number of other 
material documents.  

3. Addressing Mr Roberts' claims about Freeport Retail 
3.1 Mr Roberts is keen to espouse Freeport Retail's vast outlet experience. I do not dispute that 

Freeport has historically been involved in a number of outlets and I have no desire for this 
correspondence to descend into a war of words with Freeport. The scheme being considered 
is the DGDO, and it is that scheme that the GDOV team take issue with. 

 
3.2 Having said this, Mr Roberts' suggestion that the DGDO has been handpicked by Freeport as 

the perfect location for a new Tier 1 outlet is either a lie, or a result of a fundamental failure 
to understand the UK outlet market. I do consider Mr Roberts' representation of Freeport to 
be rather aspirational and given that Freeport's claims may be relied upon by yourself in 
assessing the DGDO, and the committee in determining the application, I feel that I have no 
option but to fill in the gaps left by Mr Roberts. 

 
a) Freeport's "landmark" projects 

Freeport Lisbon Fashion Outlet, Portugal - This scheme was partially mothballed 
shortly after opening due to an overestimation of tenant demand. Freeport has not 
operated this outlet since 2014. 

Freeport Braintree, now Braintree Village UK - Freeport have not been involved in 
this scheme since 2005. Indeed, Freeport have not been involved in any operational 
UK outlet scheme since 2005. 

The Village, Villefontaine, France - I understand Freeport have been involved in this 
scheme since 2018, but only as a minority shareholder. It is Freeport's partner and 
majority shareholder in this scheme, Compagnie de Phalsbourg, which brought many 
of the premium brands to the scheme. Freeport are barely mentioned in the branding 
and website for the outlet. They have been providing consultancy advice only. 

b) Freeport's relationships with premium brands: 
Mr Roberts is keen to list premium brands which are currently operating from the 
above-mentioned outlets. What he fails to acknowledge, is that many of those 
designers joined the Lisbon and Braintree outlets long after Freeport's involvement 
with them ceased. When Freeport were involved the schemes would have fallen 
squarely within Tier 3. 

160



   
 

RIOJA ESTATES LTD   
The Barn, Little Mount Farm, Benhall Mill Road, Tunbridge Wells, Kent, TN2 5JW,  
Tel: +44(0)1732 442045 
Rioja Estates Ltd. Incorporated in England and Wales. Ref: in England. No. 11820392. Reg. Office: 94A London Road, Sevenoaks, Kent, TN13 1AR 
VAT Number: 315396107 
 

The only success with brands Freeport can be said to have had in the last ten years is 
not in the UK, but in France with The Village. However as noted above, this scheme is 
predominantly run by Compagnie de Phalsbourg and Freeport were consultants only 
to the project, so Freeport’s claim to have influenced the scheme is weakened.  

c) Freeport's UK outlet experience: 
Hornsea 
Freeport was involved as developer, owner and operator from 1994 – 2005, when it 
was sold, and Freeport was replaced as operator. This scheme then closed in 2009 
before being re-opened by another operator in 2017. I further note that Ken Gunn 
ranks this as a Tier 4 outlet today. 
Fleetwood 
Freeport was involved from 1995 – 2005 when it was sold, and Freeport was replaced 
as operator. The site was sold again in 2017 and is currently operated by Affinity 
Outlets. 
West Calder 
This is a cautionary tale pertinent to the DGDO. Freeport were the operator for this 
site from 1996 – 2005. In 2004 the site closed, following the opening of a rival outlet 
in Livingstone, a seven-minute drive away. The buildings remain empty to this day, 
with several YouTube videos dedicated to exploring the site, making sobering viewing 
for any outlet developer or operator.  
Castleford 
Freeport was involved from 1999 – 2005 when it was sold, and Freeport were replaced 
as operator. The site was sold again in 2017. I note Ken Gunn ranks this as a Tier 3 
outlet today. 
Talke  
Freeport was involved from 1998 – 2005 when it was sold, and Freeport were replaced 
as operator. I note Ken Gunn ranks this as a Tier 4 outlet today. 
 

3.3 Per a) above, Freeport were also involved in Braintree until 2005, which for the record is 
currently ranked by Ken Gunn as a Tier 2 outlet. 

  
3.4 Far from demonstrating an extensive portfolio showing expertise in the UK outlet market, to 

my knowledge Freeport has not been involved in any UK outlet projects since 2005, at which 
time the management team at Freeport was completely different - indeed, Mr Roberts did 
not join Freeport until 2006. This reinvention of itself as a consultant for European Outlets 
may have been a deliberate move on Freeport's part, however it is surely relevant that 
Freeport does not operate a single one of the 40 plus frontline outlet centres in the UK and 
has not done so for fifteen years.  

 
3.5 Freeport claims to have "a strong pipeline of opportunities in… the UK" yet also claims that it 

has "chosen the Downtown scheme, ahead of any other in the UK". Both cannot be true. 
Conflicting statements such as these are not uncommon in the application documents for the 
DGDO as you will see from the GDOV team's formal representations relating to the new 
application documents. 

 
3.6 Further, Mr Roberts points to Cheshire Oaks Designer Outlet as an example of one which is 

located close to light industrial buildings and full-price retail. Just one of the differences with 
Cheshire Oaks is that the majority of the light industrial buildings and full-price retail came 
only after the outlet was already thriving. Further, the DGDO has the added complication of 
being located next to a downmarket discount warehouse – Boundary Mill. Premium brands 

161



   
 

RIOJA ESTATES LTD   
The Barn, Little Mount Farm, Benhall Mill Road, Tunbridge Wells, Kent, TN2 5JW,  
Tel: +44(0)1732 442045 
Rioja Estates Ltd. Incorporated in England and Wales. Ref: in England. No. 11820392. Reg. Office: 94A London Road, Sevenoaks, Kent, TN13 1AR 
VAT Number: 315396107 
 

simply won't occupy space shared with an outlet such as Boundary Mill because it would 
fundamentally undermine the aspirational and luxury lifestyle they wish to evoke.  

 
3.7 Having set the record straight on Freeport's UK outlet experience I do want to stress that I 

have no desire to cast aspersions on Freeport in the manner that Mr Roberts has done to Rioja 
and the GDOV team in the Freeport Letter. I detail the above only because it is pertinent to 
the issue at hand. Mr Roberts deliberately distorts the nature of the GDOV team's objections 
to the DGDO and Freeport's previous correspondence on this matter. Since Rioja's original 
letter in October 2018, Freeport has had some involvement as a consultant in one higher-end 
outlet and that is outside of the UK. However, the location of that scheme in France is worlds 
away from the industrial site the DGDO would occupy. Our core concern is not with Freeport, 
but that it will not be possible to create a Tier 1 outlet at the DGDO. Freeport's inability to 
recognise this, combined with its track record in the UK, naturally leads one to question its 
judgment and experience.  

4. The GDOV  
4.1 Again, I preface this section with a reminder that it is the DGDO which is being considered by 

SKDC, not the GDOV. However, I do consider that the existence of a consented Tier 1 scheme 
ten minutes away from the proposed DGDO is a material consideration and accordingly I wish 
to briefly respond to Mr Robert's assertions. 

 
4.2 We have been open about our desire to work with a top outlet operator to deliver success to 

Grantham and the GDOV – this is not a "tacit admission that [we] have no long-term strategy", 
nor an indication that other groups do not want to develop the project. The strategy is to 
secure an experienced Tier 1 operator (which could be an investor operator), and Mr Roberts 
should be aware that this is a strategy which is commonplace in the outlet market. Further, 
there is no intention to "turn a quick profit". One of our stated conditions for future investors 
to take part is that Rioja and Buckminster continue as investors with such a joint venture 
partner.  

 
4.3 The GDOV team can point to many of the same credentials as Mr Roberts – both myself and 

Neil Thompson can also boast of being "the former Chair of the ICSC outlet conference and a 
regular speaker at outlet retail conferences". We have strong relationships with those leading 
outlet operators, and indeed Rioja has worked with McArthurGlen on several UK outlet 
projects, including its most recent development in Cannock. We are therefore familiar with 
what an operator of McArthurGlen's stature requires and the GDOV was tailored to meet the 
requirements of such operators. 

 
4.4 We have not indicated that we have not been able to "secure interest from potential retailers 

to lease an outlet store" at GDOV. Freeport are well aware that leasing is going well, a fact I 
suspect is causing unease within the DGDO team given their attempt to disrupt one of our 
NMA applications made this summer which was required to meet the requests of specific 
retailers. Having said this, we have made no secret of the fact that the prospect of a second 
designer outlet complicates matters and creates uncertainty for potential retailers. That 
uncertainty will only heighten if the DGDO is granted and for the reasons the GDOV team have 
detailed over the past two years, the fallout from that uncertainty will not only be felt by the 
GDOV and the DGDO, but Grantham, Newark and other local town centres too. 

 
4.5 Mr Roberts challenges us to "produce a meaningful level of tenant commitment."  Given it is 

Mr Roberts' scheme, which is being considered, and which could wreak havoc on local town 
centres, we challenge Mr Roberts to produce a meaningful level of tenant commitment to 

162



   
 

RIOJA ESTATES LTD   
The Barn, Little Mount Farm, Benhall Mill Road, Tunbridge Wells, Kent, TN2 5JW,  
Tel: +44(0)1732 442045 
Rioja Estates Ltd. Incorporated in England and Wales. Ref: in England. No. 11820392. Reg. Office: 94A London Road, Sevenoaks, Kent, TN13 1AR 
VAT Number: 315396107 
 

back up the applicant's claims that the scheme will be operational in Autumn 2022, despite 
having not yet achieved an outline planning permission, and that time frame being 
significantly shorter than the 133 weeks + construction timetable described in the application 
documents.  

 
4.6 Mr Roberts criticizes the "lack of any perceived progress" since the grant of the GDOV in April 

2018. SKDC will be aware that all pre-commencement conditions to the GDOV have been 
discharged, a number of NMAs have been applied for and granted, and we are preparing to 
commence work on site in early 2021. Mr Roberts' criticism is laughable when one considers 
that the Committee returned a resolution to grant for the DGDO in February 2018 and nearly 
two years later they are yet to have signed a section 106 agreement. We hope that that delay 
is due to the SKDC's consideration of the amendments to the draft section 106 agreement 
which we have suggested are necessary to ensure only a Tier 1 scheme could operate from 
the DGDO. However, we suspect it is more likely that the applicant has delayed signing of that 
agreement as it knows the clock will start running on the implementation of its scheme and 
they would then have to make a major financial commitment to satisfy the pre-
commencement conditions and obligations. For GDOV this has taken over 2 years and 
considerable investment to work through, a level of investment we suspect the DGDO does 
not have the backing or tenant commitment to justify.  

 
I hope that this letter helps to clarify the claims made in the Freeport Letter. Taylor Wessing will be 
submitting the GDOV team's detailed comments on the updated application documents shortly. 
 
Kind regards, 
 
Yours sincerely, 

 
GILES MEMBREY BSc (HONS) 

163



  
 

 
Small Planning Consultancy of the Year 2019 

NTR Planning Ltd 
Henleaze Business Centre 

13 Harbury Road, Henleaze 
Bristol BW9 4PN 

 
T 0117 244 9393 
F 0117 989 8233 

 UKMATTERS:61200354.1 

0

 

Our ref: 3446 

 

 

 

Planning Appraisal 

Retail Impact Assessment (Update) 

Downtown, Grantham 

 

Planning application S17/2155 

 

Prepared on behalf of  

 

 

April 2021 

164



Planning Appraisal Downtown, Grantham 

 

NTR Planning Limited ContentsUKMATTERS:61200354.1 

Contents  

Executive Summary .......................................................................................................... 2 

1. Introduction .................................................................................................... 4 

2. The December 2020 Objection......................................................................... 6 

3. Relevant Planning Policies ............................................................................... 8 

4. The Future High Streets Fund ........................................................................ 13 

5. The Updated Sequential Assessment ............................................................. 17 

6. The Updated Impact Assessment ................................................................... 19 

7. Centre Health ................................................................................................ 26 

8. Retail Impact Implications ............................................................................. 47 

9. Conclusion .................................................................................................... 50 

 

Appendices  

Appendix NTR1 Legal Opinion of William Hicks QC and Stephen Whale 

Appendix NTR2 Impact Assessment 

Appendix NTR3 St. Mark’s, Lincoln Retail Assessment Extract  

 

 

165



Planning Appraisal  Downtown, Grantham 

 

 

NTR Planning Limited Page 1 

Glossary of Abbreviations 

DPD Development Plan Document 

DGDO Downtown Grantham Designer Outlet 

DOC Designer Outlet Centre 

FG Fisher German 

FHSF Future High Street Fund 

GDOV Grantham Designer Outlet Village 

NPPF National Planning Policy Framework 

NPPG National Planning Practice Guidance (on Town centres and retail) 

NKDC North Kesteven District Council 

PCA Primary Catchment Area 

PSA Primary Shopping Area 

RPBN Retail Planning Briefing Note 

RIA Retail Impact Analysis 

SCA Secondary Catchment Area 

SFT Special Forms of Trading 

SKDC South Kesteven District Council 

SWOT Strengths, Weaknesses, Opportunities and Threats (Analysis) 

TIP Town Improvement Plan 

 

 

  

166



Planning Appraisal  Downtown, Grantham 

 

 

NTR Planning Limited Page 2 

Executive Summary 

This Planning Appraisal demonstrates that the latest Downtown Retail Impact Analysis of July 

2020 and the material subsequently submitted by the applicant in February 2021 cannot be 

relied upon by the Council in support of the Downtown application, and that planning 

permission should be refused on the basis of the unquestionable significant harm the scheme 

will bring to Grantham Town Centre and other town centres within its catchment area.   

 

The RIA Update relies on out-of-date information and data sources, plus unrealistic 

assumptions with regard to where the scheme will derive its trade.  It seeks to promote an 

unfounded competition factor with Grantham Designer Outlet Village – assuming an 

economically unsustainable and unrealistic 30% reduction in turnover.  Together these factors 

have the effect of suppressing the real impact of the scheme.  Assuming no competition factor, 

the submitted material identifies a worst-case cumulative impact on Grantham Town Centre 

of 5.7% (although the RIA Update has not been updated to account for this scenario).  In fact, 

as we demonstrate in this report, the impact is more accurately identified as being 9.8%. 

 

This unacceptably high level of impact also needs to be measured against the current and 

forecast health of Grantham town centre.  The Applicant’s methodology is unreliable – they 

have not undertaken a physical assessment of the town centre’s health, instead relying on 

outdated surveys and ‘Google Street View’.  In the Scotch Corner Designer Outlet called-in 

decision, the Secretary of State considered that an impact of 6.9% would not be ‘significantly 

adverse’ on Darlington town centre, but this was on the basis that Darlington was a healthy 

centre.  Grantham is not a healthy centre.  In January 2021 it had a vacancy rate of 18.9%, 

compared with the latest published national average of 15%.  The vacancy rate is growing.  

The RIA incorrectly boasts no change in the health of Grantham, however this at odds with 

our own up-to-date health checks and the recent work undertaken by InvestSK in support of 

its bid for financial support for Grantham town centre under the Future High Street Fund. 

 

When factoring in the growth in the switch to online sales (the RIA Update uses outdated data 

on this) and the effect of the pandemic on investor confidence (the RIA Update does not 

167



Planning Appraisal  Downtown, Grantham 

 

 

NTR Planning Limited Page 3 

address this), Downtown’s impact on Grantham town centre is likely to be further 

understated.   

 

The Downtown proposal is in clear conflict with the Local Plan and the NPPF which seek to 

protect town centres from harmful out-of-centre development.  The Downtown scheme is 

proposed on land which is not identified for development in the Local Plan.  The Local Plan 

does not envisage an outlet centre at Downtown but does acknowledge the approved Tier 1 

Grantham Designer Outlet Village, recognising that it provides an ’opportunity to kickstart a 

step change in the local economy.’ The Downtown scheme will have the opposite effect, 

exacerbating the current poor health of the town centre and will undermine the initiatives 

which the Future High Street Fund is seeking to address.   

 

The Downtown proposal fails national retail policy.  It fails local retail and land allocation policy 

and will undermine the GDOV as a key and identified local plan opportunity to kick start the 

step change in the local economy. ‘Letting the market decide’, as advocated by Downtown, 

ignores the Local Plan’s recognition that the Outlet village should be properly delivered at King 

31.   

 

In summary, there are proper planning policy and economic reasons to refuse the Downtown 

proposal. 

168



Planning Appraisal  Downtown, Grantham 

 

 

NTR Planning Limited Page 4 

1. Introduction  

1.1 This Planning Appraisal has been prepared on behalf of Rioja Developments.  It 

provides a review of the material presented in the Retail Impact Analysis Update (‘RIA 

Update’) dated July 2020, which has been prepared on behalf of Oldrid & Co. Ltd (‘the 

Applicant’) in support of its planning application, referenced S17/2155, for a mixed 

retail scheme (‘DGDO’) at Great Gonerby, Grantham.  It also considers relevant areas 

of the subsequent material – which has been made available to us at the time of 

writing – submitted by Fisher German.  The Appraisal also refers to the Council’s 

successful Future High Street Fund (‘FHSF’) bid and considers the impact of the 

proposal against this. 

 

1.2 The Appraisal should be read alongside the objection letters prepared on behalf of 

Buckminster and Rioja Developments, particularly that made by Taylor Wessing LLP on 

behalf of Buckminster, dated 23rd December 2020 (the ‘December 2020 Objection’), 

which included a legal opinion prepared by William Hicks QC and Stephen Whale of 

Landmark Chambers (the ‘Opinion’). 

 

1.3 This Appraisal clearly demonstrates that the RIA Update is deficient and cannot be 

relied upon by South Kesteven District Council (‘SKDC’) other than as a reason to  

refuse the planning application on retail impact grounds. We provide our own impact 

assessment.  It demonstrates that the levels of expected impact on the town centres 

of Grantham and Newark-on-Trent will be significantly adverse and that the health of 

the two centres is much worse than is suggested by the Applicant.  

 

1.4 The Applicant’s health checks are deficient in methodology, and do not accurately 

reflect the declining health of Grantham town centre, nor the retail impact of trade 

diversion from it by the Downtown proposal.  For these reasons, this Appraisal 

concludes that the proposal is incompatible with the provisions of relevant 

development plan policies and the NPPF, which seek to protect the vitality and viability 

of town centres, and should be refused.  This conclusion is informed by Health Checks 

169



Planning Appraisal  Downtown, Grantham 

 

 

NTR Planning Limited Page 5 

of Newark and Grantham town centres, conducted in January 2021. They demonstrate 

that the health of the two centres has significantly declined since we undertook the 

health checks in support of the Grantham Designer Outlet Village (‘GDOV’) in 2017.  

Our evidence is supported by the material prepared by InvestSK in support of its FHSF 

bid for Grantham town centre. 

 

1.5 The Appraisal is structured as follows: 

  

Section 2 Provides an overview of the December 2020 Objection and 
subsequently submitted material; 
 

Section 3 Sets out a review of the latest planning policies against which the 
proposal will be determined; 
 

Section 4 Considers the Future High Streets Fund bid for Grantham town centre; 
 

Section 5 Reviews the Updated Sequential Site Assessment; 

Section 6 Reviews the RIA Update, and sets out our own impact analysis based 
on more up-to-date inputs and more realistic trading scenarios.  We 
provide our own Impact Assessment in Appendix NTR2; 
 

Section 7 Provides up-to-date health checks of Newark and Grantham town 
centres, drawing reference from the Council’s Future High Streets 
Fund bid documents;  
 

Section 8 Provides our analysis of the retail impact implications for the two 
centres; and 
 

Section 9 Provides our overall conclusion. 

 

170



Planning Appraisal  Downtown, Grantham 

 

 

NTR Planning Limited Page 6 

2. The December 2020 Objection 

2.1 The December 2020 Objection set out a number of areas of concern in respect of the 

statements and assumptions made by the Applicant in its submitted material, 

particularly within the RIA Update.  These concerns are set out in summary below.  This 

Appraisal does not seek to repeat in detail the areas of concern, but builds on them by 

providing more realistic and robust assumptions for the impacts of the DGDO, based 

on up-to-date factual evidence and methodology.  

 

 Summary of Areas of Concern 

• That the Local Plan only envisages that one Tier 1 DOC will be provided in 

Grantham. 

• The impacts of two rival DOCs can be devastating both to each other and to 

relevant centres. 

• A Tier 1 DOC is not achievable at DGDO, and that co-location of non-specialist retail 

will lead to a greater impact on town centres (as the offer would be more closely 

aligned to a town centre offer). 

• That there is nothing to indicate that the component elements of the proposal 

cannot be disaggregated into alternative locations and that the sequential 

assessment must consider such locations. 

• That the timescales for the implementation of the development are unrealistic.  

This has an effect on the design year for impact testing. 

• That the expected percentage impact on Newark town centre is significant. 

• That a 30% reduction in sales at DGDO and GDOV (the competition factor) would 

necessarily affect the viability of DGDO, a factor that the RIA fails to address. The 

RIA Update therefore overstates the benefits that the DGDO purports to bring.  The 

30% competition factor is an unrealistic assumption which has the effect of 

artificially supressing the true impact of DGDO.   

• That the applicant fails to consider development plans other than the SKDC Local 

Plan (adopted 30th January 2020). 

• That the implications of new Class E have not yet been considered.  

171



Planning Appraisal  Downtown, Grantham 

 

 

NTR Planning Limited Page 7 

• The implications of the pandemic have not yet been considered.  

• That the clauses in the Draft Section 106 do not go far enough to control the nature 

of the development. 

 

2.2 Subsequent to the RIA Update becoming available for scrutiny, SKDC has released 

further material submitted by the applicant in support of the proposal.  We address 

the relevant areas in this document.  At the time of writing we have had light of the 

following material: 

 

• Fisher German’s (FG) letter of 14th August 2020; 

• FG’s Response to the Review by Barton Willmore on the 2020 Environmental 

Statement Addendum (dated February 2021); 

• FG’s letter of 4th February; and 

• FG’s letter of 26th February 2021 and associated impact table. 

 

  

172



Planning Appraisal  Downtown, Grantham 

 

 

NTR Planning Limited Page 8 

3. Relevant Planning Policies  

3.1 As confirmed in the RIA Update, SKDC adopted its new Local Plan in January 2020.  The 

new Local Plan removed part of the employment allocation affecting Downtown, such 

that the site of the DGDO falls outside the dotted hatched allocated areas.  The land is 

therefore not allocated for development. 

 

Downtown allocation 

Adopted Proposals Map, July 2010          Local Plan to 2036 

            

 

3.2 As highlighted at paragraph 3.3 of the December 2020 Objection, the new Local Plan 

only envisages one Tier 1 DOC at Grantham, and only one Tier 1 DOC has been 

consented and incorporated into the Plan.  The Local Plan recognises that: 

 

‘The recent decision to grant outline planning permission for a Designer Outlet 
Village in Grantham offers the opportunity to kickstart a step change in the local 
economy.’1 

 and: 

[…] a Designer Village Outlet has been granted planning permission with expected 
visitors estimated to be 3 million when fully operational – it is projected that 
approximately 10% of these will also visit the town centre.’2 

 
1 Paragraph 2.72 

2 Paragraph 3.24 

173



Planning Appraisal  Downtown, Grantham 

 

 

NTR Planning Limited Page 9 

3.3 GDOV therefore represents ‘Planned Investment’3 for the purposes of the Impact 

Assessment and is clearly recognised in the Local Plan for the positive economic effect 

it will have on Grantham.  Only one Tier 1 DOC is capable of coming forward and no 

local plan would ever plan for or envisage two or more candidate regionally significant 

shopping centre schemes being provided.  As with any other significant regional 

shopping destination – as in the likes of Meadowhall or Bluewater, and operating with 

significant catchment areas – it is not appropriate to approve one such scheme, 

recognise it in a local plan for the benefits it will bring, and then support an additional 

‘candidate’ rival scheme and allow market forces to judge which might succeed, 

particularly when the implications of doing so would be so significantly adverse.  This 

would be in conflict with any local plan, let alone one which already recognises the 

benefits of an approved scheme. Such an approach does not represent proper 

strategic planning whereby a local authority’s decision-making must support the 

adopted strategy for its area by influencing the pattern and distribution of 

development (rather than abandoning this in favour of a more ‘laissez-faire’ 

approach).  Such decision-making would also prejudice the ability of neighbouring 

planning authorities to fulfil their planning strategies.   

 

3.4 Whilst the employment allocation affecting Downtown has been removed in the new 

Local Plan, it is noted that the area has not been re-allocated for general retailing or 

for Tier 1/DOC retailing (or indeed for any form of development).   

 

3.5 For those town centres affected by the proposals within South Kesteven (Grantham, 

Stamford and Bourne), the proposal will need to be considered against the new Local 

Plan.  Other local planning authorities’ policies will be relevant in the consideration of 

the proposal in respect of those other town centres impacted by the proposals.  Within 

the PCA these now comprise: 

 

  

 
3 NPPG Town centres and retail (paragraph 015) 

174



Planning Appraisal  Downtown, Grantham 

 

 

NTR Planning Limited Page 10 

 Table 1 – Relevant PCA Development Plans 

Town Centre  LPA Adopted Development 

Plan 

Date of Adoption 

Newark Newark and Sherwood 

District Council 

Amended Core Strategy 

DPD  

7th March 2019 

Bingham Rushcliffe Borough 

Council 

Local Plan Part 1: Core 

Strategy (2014) and Local 

Plan Part 2: Land and 

Planning Policies (2019) 

22nd December 

2014 and 8th 

October 2019 

Melton 

Mowbray 

Melton Borough Council Melton Borough Local 

Plan 2011-2036 

10th  October 2018 

Oakham Rutland Core Strategy 

Development Plan 

Document (DPD) (July 

2011) and the Site 

Allocations and Policies 

DPD (October 2014) 

11th July 2011 and 

13th October 2014 

Sleaford North Kesteven Central Lincolnshire Local 

Plan 2012-2036 

24th April 2017 

 

3.6 The above development plans have not yet been considered by SKDC or the Applicant.  

Below, we summarise some of the key policy headlines relevant to the authorities’ 

retail and town centre policies.  

 

 Newark and Sherwood District Council 

3.7 Newark and Sherwood District Council’s Amended Core Strategy DPD (March 2019) 

DPD confirms, at paragraph 5.28, that the main town centres are ‘vulnerable to 

increased competition from out-of-centre retailing and the growth of internet 

shopping.’  

 

3.8 At paragraph 6.24, the Core Strategy highlights that the Town Centre and Retail Study 

2016 identifies the importance of addressing long-term vacancy and environmental 

175



Planning Appraisal  Downtown, Grantham 

 

 

NTR Planning Limited Page 11 

improvements and the commitment to identifying, planning and delivering schemes 

which will improve and enhance the quality of the Town Centre’s offer.  A forecast 

trade draw of 14.94% (our Scenario 4 – see Section 8 of this Planning Appraisal) will 

clearly be in conflict with Newark and Sherwood’s Core Strategy. 

 

Rushcliffe Borough Council 

3.9 Although seven years old, paragraph 3.6.2 of The Rushcliffe Local Plan Part 1: Core 

Strategy (December 2014) identifies ‘challenging and ever-changing economic 

circumstances’ affecting the vibrancy and prosperity of its centres.  Paragraph 3.6.9 

warns of: 

 

‘The impact of out-of-centre or edge of centre retail development […] remains a 
threat to the continued vitality and viability of existing centres throughout 
Rushcliffe, and could affect their economic performance.’ 

 

3.10 The more recent Local Plan Part 2: Land and Planning Policies (2019) sets a low 

threshold for impact testing of edge and out of centre proposals – 500 sq.m net (Policy 

27).  This is considerably below the Government’s default threshold for impact testing 

(2,500 sq.m) and clearly indicates that the Council is concerned about the effect of 

even minor non-central development on its centres.   

 

3.11 A forecast trade diversion of 6.81% will clearly be in conflict with The Rushcliffe Local 

Plan in respect of the town centre challenges it seeks to address. 

 

 Melton Borough Council 

3.12 The Melton Local Plan 2011-2036 was adopted by the Council in October 2018. 

Paragraph 6.15.3 refers to the effect of the growth in online shopping and the 

associated decline in shops.  Policy EC5 (Melton Mowbray Town Centre) seeks to 

promote the retail growth of the town centre and sets an even lower threshold for the 

testing of edge and out of centre retail developments – 200 sq.m.  

 

176



Planning Appraisal  Downtown, Grantham 

 

 

NTR Planning Limited Page 12 

3.13 We forecast a trade diversion of 9.50% from Melton Mowbray town centre.  This will 

be in conflict with Policy EC5 by harming and hindering retail growth. 

 

 Rutland County Council 

3.14 Core Strategy Policy CS17 – ‘Town centres and retailing’, also sets a very low threshold 

for impact testing for out of centre proposals – 500 sq.m. It identifies a ‘strategic 

objective’ to provide ‘vibrant and prosperous market towns’. 

 

3.15 The Council is currently working on a new local plan – The Rutland Local Plan 2018-

2036.  Draft Policy E9 (‘Town centres and retailing’) maintains the low impact threshold 

of 500 sq.m.  The supporting text identifies a need to maintain and enhance Oakham 

town centre, and this is recognised in the draft policy.  Against this, we establish that 

the cumulative impact of DGDO will divert a significant 8.37% of trade from Oakham 

town centre.  Again, the proposal will be in conflict with Rutland County Council’s 

existing and emerging policies. 

 

 North Kesteven Council 

3.16 The Central Lincolnshire Local Plan 2012-2036 (adopted April 2017) identifies that 

Sleaford town centre is subject to ‘significant leakage in respect of comparison goods’ 

(paragraph 3.6.2).  Paragraph 9.5.1 identifies that NKDC instructed consultants to 

prepare the Sleaford Town Centre Visioning Report to assist in forming a new vision 

for the town centre. The report (July 2015) identified that Sleaford is not fulfilling its 

full potential and needs to attract further national and independent retailers to the 

town along with broadening its leisure uses.  A forecast trade draw of 9.47% from 

Sleaford town centre will be in conflict with the Central Lincolnshire Local Plan. 

 

3.17 In conclusion to this section, the proposal, and the impact it will have on those towns 

within the PCA that are under the control of the above local planning authorities, will 

be in conflict with their adopted and emerging policies which seek to protect the 

vitality and viability of their town centres. 

177



Planning Appraisal  Downtown, Grantham 

 

 

NTR Planning Limited Page 13 

4. The Future High Streets Fund  

4.1 We are aware that InvestSK4 has been successful in its bid to receive funding under 

the Future High Streets scheme and that Grantham is to receive ‘£5.56 million to 

improve the vibrance if our High Street...’5 

 

4.2 A report by The Deputy Leader of the Council recommending revenue funding towards 

the scheme was unanimously agreed by the Council in its meeting on 16th July 2020.  

The report has a number of appendices, including: 

 

• Appendix 1 – Grantham Town Centre Spatial Masterplan; and 

• Appendix 4 – Grantham Engagement Report  

 

4.3 The Grantham Town Centre Spatial Masterplan (March 2020) provides a SWOT 

analysis of Grantham town centre.  It provides a relatively up-to-date picture that can 

be used as an indication of the centre’s health against some of the health indicators 

listed at paragraph 006 of the NPPG (Town centres and retail), as set out at paragraph 

7.3 of this Planning Appraisal within Section 7 – Centre Health.  The relevant strengths 

and weaknesses are summarised in Table 2, overleaf, where they can be categorised 

against relevant NPPG indicators.   

 
  

  

 
4 South Kesteven District Council’s economic growth and regeneration company 

5 www.garethdavies.co.uk/news/grantham-receive-ps556-million-new-government-investment-high-street 

178



Planning Appraisal  Downtown, Grantham 

 

 

NTR Planning Limited Page 14 

Table 2 – InvestSK SWOT Analysis and Health Indicator Classification 

Strengths/ 
weaknesses 

Relevant area Key text  Relevant indicator 

Strengths Historic townscape 
character 

• Rich built heritage including a high 
proportion of heritage assets  

• State of town centre 
environmental quality 

Independent retailers • Healthy number, particularly along 
Westgate 

• Balance between 
independent and 
multiple stores 

Strategic connectivity • Excellent road and rail connections • Accessibility  

Weaknesses Poor perceptions • Negative perceptions compared 
with nearby centres including 
Newark, Nottingham, Lincoln and 
Peterborough, resulting in market 
leakage 

• Customers’ experiences 
and behaviour 

Poor first impressions 
upon arrival 

• Main entry points all of poor 
quality due to traffic-dominated 
intersections.   

• Poor pedestrian connectivity to 
town centre. 

• Poor landscape character. 

• Low quality route from station. 

• Customers’ experiences 
and behaviour 

• Accessibility 

• State of town centre 
environmental quality 

Low quality townscape 
areas 

• Poor townscape character around 
arrival zones. 

• Broken/bleak frontages. 

• Significant areas of vacant/under- 
utilized land. 

• State of town centre 
environmental quality 
 

High vacancies • Vacancy rates as high as 16%, with 
high proportion on High Street and 
The George Centre. 

• Proportion of vacant 
street level property 

Lack of town centre 
management 

• The town centre does not have a 
Town Centre Management 
Company 

• Extent to which there is 
evidence to barriers to 
new businesses opening 
and existing businesses 
expanding 

Multiple land 
ownerships and limited 
public sector land 

• Land under multiple ownerships 
and with limited public sector 
ownership. 

• Extent to which there is 
evidence to barriers to 
new businesses opening 
and existing businesses 
expanding 

No detailed town 
centre policy 

• No adopted town centre 
masterplan to guide development 
and encourage investment in the 
town centre. 

• Extent to which there is 
evidence to barriers to 
new businesses opening 
and existing businesses 
expanding 

Traffic and parking • Over domination of traffic on key 
streets, including High Street. 

• Poor air quality and high noise 
levels. 

• Significant severance to pedestrian 
connectivity. 

• Problems of presence of on-street 
parking on the main roads. 

• Accessibility 

• State of town centre 
environmental quality 
 

179



Planning Appraisal  Downtown, Grantham 

 

 

NTR Planning Limited Page 15 

Barriers to movement 
and legibility 

• Railway acts as a barrier to 
movements. 

• Four lane carriageway along St. 
Peter’s Hill and on-street parking 
act as barriers to movement. 

• In general, the town centre lacks 
legible pedestrian routes. 

• Accessibility 

• State of town centre 
environmental quality 
 

Disjointed public 
transport 

• Railway station and bus station 
situated in separate locations  
making modal interchanges 
difficult. 

• Accessibility 

Large areas of surface 
parking 

• Large areas of surface parking 
create unappealing large areas of 
tarmac.  

• State of town centre 
environmental quality 
 

 

4.4 It is quite clear from the SWOT analysis that Grantham town centre’s weaknesses 

significantly outnumber its strengths.  We also note that the ‘Impact of proposed out-

of-town retail’ on Grantham town centre is identified as a threat. 

 

4.5 In addition, we have also viewed the YouTube video titled Grantham Future High 

Street Fund Film by InvestSK, presented by the Council Leader and other key 

stakeholders.  A number of further weaknesses are identified, including: 

 

• Low footfall on Westgate; 

• Large lorries using High Street, so inhospitable environment for people to 

cross; 

• Increase in number of empty units; 

• There being not a great deal of independents; and 

• Leakage to other towns.  

 

4.6 The FG letter of 4th February 2021 responds to an email from SKDC dated 26th January 

2021 (which we have not identified or seen), and which responds to the planned 

investments associated with the allocation of £5.56m under the FHSF programme.  The 

letter sets out details of the investments and concludes that the proposal will not 

significantly adversely affect them.   

 

180



Planning Appraisal  Downtown, Grantham 

 

 

NTR Planning Limited Page 16 

4.7 We consider that the predicted cumulative impact of the proposal against the 

backdrop of the poor health of Grantham town centre – as acknowledged above and 

in our Health Check Assessment – means that there will be an adverse impact on the 

planned investments which are proposed through the fund.  The monies may not go 

far enough to sure-up a town centre and the way the cumulative harm is felt over time 

may mean that the monies could have been spent in different areas.  It is an unusual 

approach to identify and acknowledge weaknesses in a town centre, then seek funding 

to address them, only to permit a development that will further harm the centre and 

undermine the strategies that tax-payers’ money has been used to fund. 

 

181



Planning Appraisal  Downtown, Grantham 

 

 

NTR Planning Limited Page 17 

5. The Updated Sequential Assessment 

5.1 The Council will be in receipt of the Opinion.  A copy is attached at Appendix NTR1 for 

completeness.  The points raised by Counsel are not repeated here, suffice to say that 

the consideration of disaggregation is identified as being relevant to the sequential 

test for DGDO.  Paragraph 30 of the Opinion identifies that there are elements of the 

proposal that are not required as part of a DOC and which will reduce the benefits of 

a DOC. 

 

5.2 Planning Officers at Newark and Sherwood Council have raised a sequentially 

preferable site for the office element of the proposals, this being the former 

Nottinghamshire County Council Highways Depot on the junction of Great North Road 

and Kelham Road, close to the River Trent.  We identified and visited this site as part 

of our sequential site search for GDOV – the composite elements of which could not 

be disaggregated.  It was not included within the submitted RIA as its size – 1.98  

hectares – fell substantially below our minimum adopted flexible site area for the 

scheme of 7.5 hectares.   

 

5.3 We are mindful that the Applicant has only considered the same sequential sites that 

we presented in the RIA for GDOV, plus King 31 itself.  There is no evidence to illustrate 

how the Applicant went about identifying sites for itself or how it came to the 

conclusion that it did not/could not identify any ‘…relevant additional sites beyond the 

sites previously assessed in the original RIA.’6  SKDC should seek clarification and 

evidence of the Applicant’s endeavours in these regards.   We note in the FG letter of 

14th August 2020 that they consider Taylor Wessing’s suggestion that GDOV should be 

considered sequentially preferable is wrong because it is out-of-centre and allocated 

for strategic employment and that, and whilst planning permission is secured, it does 

not accord with SKDC’s aspirations for the site.  This however is an incorrect 

 
6 RIA Update, page 14 

182



Planning Appraisal  Downtown, Grantham 

 

 

NTR Planning Limited Page 18 

assumption as GDOV is now recognised in the Local Plan7  as an important part of the 

economic strategy for Grantham.  

 

5.4 Clearly the point of disaggregation should be considered given the conclusions of 

Counsel.  It will inevitably be the case that there will be additional smaller sites, similar 

to that at Newark, that might be suitable for individual elements of the Downtown 

scheme.     

 

 
7 Paragraph 2.72 

183



Planning Appraisal  Downtown, Grantham 

 

 

NTR Planning Limited Page 19 

6. The Updated Impact Assessment 

 Introduction 

6.1 Firstly, there are a number of concerns related to the Updated Impact Assessment in 

the RIA Update.  In respect of inputs, the assessment relies on: 

 

1. A design year that is highly unrealistic (please refer to the December 2020 

Objection as to why this is the case); 

2. Outdated percentage deductions for Special Forms of Trading (‘SFT’);   

3. Market share data that is now five years old, and which will have inevitably 

changed significantly over that period of time, particularly over the course 

of the last year, and which will affect shopping patterns and the movement 

of retail expenditure between now and the design year; and 

4. Reduced turnover as result of ‘competition’ with GDOV. 

 

Design Year 

6.2 Paragraph 018 of the NPPG defines the Design Year for impact testing as follow: 

 

‘The design year for impact testing will need to be selected to represent the year 
when the proposal has achieved a ‘mature’ trading pattern. This is conventionally 
taken as the second full calendar year of trading after the opening of each phase 
of a new retail development, but it may take longer for some developments to 
become established.’ 

 

6.3 The FG Response to the Review by Barton Wilmore on the 2020 Environmental 

Statement Addendum states (paragraph 2.1.1) identifies that DGDO could be 

operation within 2½ years.  This is considered to be highly unrealistic given that the 

development does not yet have planning permission and that reserved matters 

approval would still need to be sought and obtained and the scheme constructed and 

then opened for trading.  As set out in the December 2020 Objection, a more realistic 

Design Year is considered to be 2027.  As highlighted overleaf, SFT is forecast to 

increase over time (increasing from 24.6% of sales in 2025 to 25.8% in 2027).  If 2027 

was adopted as a realistic Design Year for the reasons stated in the December 2020 

Objection, then the amount of turnover diverted from centres increases in percentage 

184



Planning Appraisal  Downtown, Grantham 

 

 

NTR Planning Limited Page 20 

terms (given the switch to online sales and the effect this has on monetary expenditure 

in centres).  We test a Design Year of 2027 in our Impact Assessment at Appendix 

NTR2. 

 

Special Forms of Trading 

6.4 We have acquired the latest Experian Retail Planner Briefing Note (‘RPBN’) – Note 18 

(October 2020), whereas the Applicant relies on RPBN 17 (February 2020).  RPBN 18 

provides updated data on SFT. In Table 2 of Appendix D of the RIA Update the 

Applicant identifies SFT to account for 18.4% in 2020, 21.3% in 2024 and 22.0% in 2025.  

Table 3, below, identifies the changes in projected SFT using RPBN 18, and projects 

this to the more realistic Design Year of 2027. 

 

 Table 3 – Special Forms of Trading Projections 

Year Identified SFT by the 

Applicant (%) 

Experian RPBN 18 

Identified SFT (%) 

2020 18.4 22.9 

2021 - 21.8 

2022 - 22.5 

2023 - 23.2 

2024 21.3 24.0 

2025 22.0 24.6 

2026 - 25.2 

2027 - 25.8 

 

6.5 RPBN18 sets out how SFT has increased: 

 
‘There has been a marked increase in online shopping since the Covid-19 crisis 
broke, which has further accelerated the already strong growth trend seen over 
the past decade. This lifted the share of special forms of trading (SFT) to a peak of 
just over 30% of total retail sales at the height of the lockdown [...] we anticipate 
that some of the increase in the internet sales share seen during the pandemic will 
remain throughout the forecast period. In part this reflects consumers becoming 
more accustomed to online shopping during lockdown. This is particularly the case 

185



Planning Appraisal  Downtown, Grantham 

 

 

NTR Planning Limited Page 21 

for the older age cohorts, given heightened concern over exposure to Covid-19 
from face-to-face contact while shopping. 
 
The ease of online purchasing has also continued to improve rapidly, with 
technological advances, particularly around smartphones and connectivity. Faster 
delivery times, including same day delivery, and easier returns processes have also 
encouraged the trend. The expansion of 5G and fibre networks should ensure the 
momentum is maintained over the medium term. The proliferation of the buy now 
pay later business model and price tracker sites is also supporting growth.  
 
After easing in 2021, we expect the SFT market share to continue to grow strongly 
in the mid-term, hitting around 30% in 2027.’ 

 

6.6 Experian’s up-to-date forecasts will significantly affect the level of expenditure within 

the catchment area and the turnover of centres.  For example, the applicant estimates 

per capita expenditure in Zone 1 to be £3,438 in 2025, after deductions for SFT.  This 

figure reduces to £3,213 based on Experian’s up-to-date forecasts.  If the turnover of 

centres is lower than forecast, as a result of lower rates of expenditure growth, then 

the impact of trade diverted to a proposal like DGDO will be greater in percentage 

terms and therefore more harmful, particularly where less healthy centres see a 

reduction in their overall level of turnover, which is the case here, as will be 

demonstrated shortly. 

 

 Market Shares 

6.7 In respect of market shares, the Applicant identifies that this was based on a 

household survey conducted by NEMS Market Research in 2017. We consider this 

input is likely to be out-of-date because of: 

 

• Changes in shopping patterns over time, for example as predicted by Experian 

in respect of online shopping (SFT);  

• Ongoing changes in shopping patterns, choices and preferences as a result of 

the pandemic; and 

• Changes to the composition of shopping destinations since 2017 and their 

ability to attract/retain shoppers.  For example, in respect of Newark town 

centre, the anchor Marks and Spencer store has recently closed.  Likewise, both 

Newark and Grantham town centre have seen a marked increase in vacant 

186



Planning Appraisal  Downtown, Grantham 

 

 

NTR Planning Limited Page 22 

retail units since we undertook our own in-centre surveys in support of GDOV 

in Spring 2017. Such trends will affect centres’ ability to retain the market 

shares that were expressed in a household survey conducted four years ago. 

 

Forecast Trade Draw 

6.8 In this section of the RIA Update the Applicant claims that the proposal will operate as 

a Tier 1 DOC. The December 2020 Objection, as well as the earlier Buckminster 

objections, set out quite clearly why DGDO will be incapable of operating as a Tier 1 

DOC.   

 

6.9 Within the RIA Update, the applicant sets out how it assessed the same forecast trade 

draw as GDOV (37.5% from the PCA and 55% from the SCA) and undertook, in 

November 2018, a sensitivity test of 42.5% and 50% respectively.  Given that the 

proposal will not function as a Tier 1 DOC but will in fact operate in a manner far more 

akin to a town centre retailing model, it is highly likely that it will derive considerably 

more trade from within its PCA.  In our Impact Assessment at Appendix NTR2 we 

therefore test the following trade draw scenarios: 

 

 Table 4 – Trade Draw Forecast Scenarios  

 Scenario 1 (%) Scenario 2 (%) Scenario 3 (%) Scenario 4 (%) 

PCA 37.5 47.5 57.5 67.5 

SCA 55.0 45.0 35.0 25.0 

Inflow 7.5 7.5 7.5 7.5 

 

 The Competition Factor 

6.10 We do not consider it appropriate to reduce the sales turnover of DGDO and GDOV for 

the reasons expressed in paragraph 5.19 of the December 2020 Objection.    

Nevertheless, we do provide, at Table 6, below, impact scenarios when applying a 25% 

and 30% competition factor. 

 

187



Planning Appraisal  Downtown, Grantham 

 

 

NTR Planning Limited Page 23 

 Estimated Trade Diversion and Impact Scenarios 

6.11 We have adopted 2027 as a more realistic Design Year.  We have applied up-to-date 

growth rates for the floorspace, the PCA centres and commitments using Experian’s 

latest Growth Rate and SFT projections, derived from RPBN 18.  

 

6.12 We have identified an additional commitment to the three identified by the Applicant, 

this being St. Mark’s, Lincoln.  It is not known why the St. Mark’s scheme was excluded 

(or indeed whether it was identified).  The relevant known commitments are 

therefore: 

 

1. Castle Acres Shopping Centre, Leicester;  

2. The Maltings in Newark;  

3. GDOV; and 

4. St. Mark’s, Lincoln  

 

6.13 The Council should engage with the other local planning authorities within the PCA to 

seek to learn of any additional commitments, as we did in preparing the RIA for GDOV.   

 

6.14 The trade diverted from the PCA town centres by commitments 1-3 is derived from 

Table 12 of Appendix D (‘Updated Impact Assessment Tables’) of the RIA Update.  The 

trade diverted by the St. Mark’s commitment is derived from Table 98 of the Retail 

Statement for the scheme, a copy of which is provided at Appendix NTR3. 

 

6.15 The percentage cumulative impacts on the PCA town centres in 2027 under Scenario 

4 are illustrated in Table 5, overleaf.  Table 6, also overleaf, provides percentage 

cumulative impacts that adopt a 30% and 25% competition factor. 

 

  

  

 
8 Copy at Appendix NTR3 

188



Planning Appraisal  Downtown, Grantham 

 

 

NTR Planning Limited Page 24 

Table 5 – Cumulative Impact 2027 (Scenario 4) 

PCA Centre Turnover 2027 

without 

commitments  

(£m) 

Cumulative trade 

diversion of DGDO 

and commitments 

2027 (£m) 

Cumulative impact 

(%) 

Bingham 14.4 0.98 6.81 

Bourne 47.5 2.89 6.08 

Grantham 202.0 19.78 9.79 

Melton Mowbray 100.7 9.57 9.50 

Newark-on-Trent 129.8 19.39 14.94 

Oakham 55.0 4.60 8.37 

Sleaford 70.1 6.64 9.47 

Stamford 166.3 11.10 6.68 

 

 Table 6 – Cumulative Impact 2027 including Competition Factor (Scenario 4) 

PCA Centre Turnover 

2027 without 

commitments  

(£m) 

Cumulative 

trade 

diversion of 

DGDO and 

commitmen

ts 2027 (£m) 

– 30%  

Competition 

Factor 

Cumulative 

Impact 

(%) 

Cumulative 

trade 

diversion of 

DGDO and 

commitment

s 2027 (£m) – 

25%  

Competition  

Factor 

Cumulative 

Impact 

(%) 

Bingham 14.4 0.72 4.99 0.70 4.84 

Bourne 47.5 2.13 4.50 2.06 4.35 

Grantham 202.0 14.87 7.36 14.63 7.24 

Melton 

Mowbray 100.7 6.99 6.94 6.83 6.78 

Newark-on-

Trent 129.8 15.56 11.98 15.40 11.87 

Oakham 55.0 3.38 6.15 3.26 5.92 

Sleaford 70.1 5.39 7.70 5.27 7.52 

Stamford 166.3 8.13 4.89 7.90 4.75 

189



Planning Appraisal  Downtown, Grantham 

 

 

NTR Planning Limited Page 25 

6.16 As can be seen from Table 5, the highest percentage cumulative impact is on Newark 

Town Centre – 14.94%, followed by Grantham – 9.79%. This compares with 9.7% and 

5.7% respectively, as estimated by the Applicant9, but based upon a flawed 

assessment.  Even with the Competition Factor, which we do not consider is a realistic 

approach, the percentage cumulative impact on the two centres is significant in 

percentage terms and significantly higher than those estimated by the Applicant. Even 

without any competition factor, FG’s table identified a worst case aggregate impact on 

Grantham of 5.7%, which is lower than the cumulative impact with a 30% competition 

factor expressed in Table 6, above (7.36%). 

 

6.17 As a consequence of both the higher forecast level of trade draw, and the fact the 

Applicant’s flawed reviews cannot be relied on, we have undertaken updated Health 

Checks of Grantham and Newark to consider how the cumulative impacts identified in 

Table 5 could affect the two town centres going forward.  These are provided in the 

following section.  It is clear that the health of both centres has declined significantly, 

and, as a consequence, it is incontrovertible that the higher level of anticipated impact 

will be significantly adverse. 

 
9 As set out in the table associated with the FG letter of 26th February 2021 

190



Planning Appraisal  Downtown, Grantham 

 

 

NTR Planning Limited Page 26 

7. Centre Health 

7.1 The RIA Update confirms that the Applicant’s health checks were carried out in 2017, 

but that the Council’s retail advisors required these to be updated.  The updated health 

checks are provided in Appendix F of the RIA Update, however footnote 41 (on page 

22) notes that they relied on the latest Experian GOAD surveys, updated by Google 

Street View and ‘other’ unidentified data sources.  They identify that this approach 

was adopted due to lockdown.  This methodology is flawed and unreliable, and has led 

to misleading conclusions.  We would suggest the Council undertake its own health 

check of Grantham town centre, to build on the SWOT analysis of March 2020 of 

Grantham town centre provided in the Grantham Future High Street Fund (FHSF) Town 

Centre Spatial Masterplan, prepared for InvestSK, and engage with the other PCA local 

planning authorities to consider the current health of their centres, and centre health 

going forward, as a result of possible unidentified commitments and the implications 

of the move to online shopping and the pandemic. 

 

7.2 Our surveys were, like those in support of GDOV, carried out on-foot in the two town 

centres.  Lockdown did not affect the findings of the health checks apart from in 

respect of two of the health indicators that are listed at paragraph 006 of the NPPG 

(see below), these being customers’ experience and behaviour and also pedestrian 

flows.   It was not appropriate to speak to customers in the two town centres due to 

social distancing measures. Footfall was, unsurprisingly, lower than we had previously 

experienced in 2017.  We were able to make accurate judgements as to which outlets 

were vacant and which were temporarily closed due to lockdown. 

 

7.3 As with our surveys in 2017, we have sought to provide information based on the 

paragraph 006 health indicators, these being: 

 

1. diversity of uses; 

2. proportion of vacant street level property; 

3. commercial yields on non-domestic property; 

191



Planning Appraisal  Downtown, Grantham 

 

 

NTR Planning Limited Page 27 

4. customers’ experience and behaviour; 

5. retailer representation and intentions to change representation; 

6. commercial rents; 

7. pedestrian flows; 

8. accessibility – this includes transport accessibility and accessibility for people with 

different impairments or health conditions, as well as older people with mobility 

requirements; 

9. perception of safety and occurrence of crime; 

10. state of town centre environmental quality; 

11. balance between independent and multiple stores; 

12. extent to which there is evidence of barriers to new businesses opening and 

existing businesses expanding; and 

13. opening hours/availability/extent to which there is an evening and night-time 

economy offer. 

 

7.4 The two Health Checks are provided below.  It is clear that the health of both centres 

has declined significantly since 2017.  They demonstrate that FG, in its letter of 14th 

August 2020, is entirely wrong when it claims that existing centres ‘…have experienced 

no significant change in performance or circumstances (since the previous assessment 

in 2017) and are performing well against many of the health check indicators.’  FG’s 

claims are also not aligned with the findings of InvestSK's SWOT analysis. The declining 

health of the centres would have been evident in August 2020, although this is not 

recognised by the Applicant.   

 

192



Planning Appraisal  Downtown, Grantham 

 

 

NTR Planning Limited Page 28 

Grantham Town Centre 

 1) Diversity of Uses  

7.5 Table 7 summarises the changes over the period since 2015: 

 

Table 7 – Grantham Town Centre Composition 

Surveyor GOAD NTR 

Planning 

GOAD10 NTR 

Planning 

Date of survey 09.06.2015 12.06.2017 June 2018 12.01.2021 

Comparison outlets 130 141 132 112 

Percentage of outlets 27.20 31.61 28.09 24.62 

National average at time 31.87 31.87 29.70 28.03 

Convenience outlets 31 26 30 37 

Percentage of outlets 6.49 5.83 6.38 8.13 

National average at time 8.65 8.65 9.22 9.14 

Retail Service outlets 78 59 74 80 

Percentage of outlets 16.32 13.23 15.74 17.58 

National average at time 14.01 14.01 14.92 15.44 

Leisure Service outlets 108 106 103 92 

Percentage of outlets 22.59 23.77 21.91 20.22 

National average at time 23.44 23.44 24.37 18.09 

Financial & Business 

outlets 

70 62 68 48 

Percentage of outlets 12.76 13.90 14.47 10.55 

National average at time 11.12 10.62 9.98 9.42 

Vacant outlets 61 52 63 86 

Percentage of outlets 12.76 11.66 13.40 18.90 

National average at time 11.12 11.12 11.57 13.26 

Total outlets 478 446 470 455 

 

 
10 Derived from RIA Update, Appendix F (GOAD plus use of Google Street View) 

193



Planning Appraisal  Downtown, Grantham 

 

 

NTR Planning Limited Page 29 

7.6 Charts 1 and 2, below, demonstrate that the composition of Grantham town centre 

has changed quite significantly between June 2015 and January 2021, with a decline 

in the number of comparison and convenience goods outlets and an increase in vacant 

outlets and retail service outlets.  

 

Chart 1 - Grantham Town Centre Composition (June 2015) 

 

 

Chart 2 - Grantham Town Centre Composition (January 2021) 

 

Comparison

Convenience

Retail Service

Leisure Service

Financial & Busienss Service

Vacant

Comparison

Convenience

Retail Service

Leisure Service

Financial & Busienss Service

Vacant

194



Planning Appraisal  Downtown, Grantham 

 

 

NTR Planning Limited Page 30 

 2) Proportion of Vacant Street Level Property 

7.7 Chart 3, below, illustrates the change in vacancy between 2015 and January 2021.  As 

can be seen, Grantham town centre’s vacancy rate has consistently exceeded the 

national average, but has risen more dramatically above the national average since 

our previous survey work in 2017 – this is not recognised in the RIA Update.  As with 

Newark town centre, the vacancy rate may continue to rise at a fast rate given the 

forecast increase in SFT and the impact of the pandemic.  We note that in section 3.2 

of the SWOT analysis that a vacancy rate as high as 16% was identified at that time 

(March 2020).  This figure can be plotted within a reasonable degree of accuracy on 

the blue line for that year. 

 

Chart 3 – Grantham Town Centre Vacancy Rate (% of Outlets) 

 

 

7.8 As with the findings of the SWOT analysis, we noted a significant cluster of vacant 

premises on the High Street and within the George Shopping Centre.  We did not see 

a single person in the George Shopping Centre during our survey.  A photograph is 

provided overleaf.  An example of the clusters of vacant premises on the High Street 

are seen in photograph 2, also overleaf. 

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

18

20

2015 2017 2018 2021

Grantham town centre National average

195



Planning Appraisal  Downtown, Grantham 

 

 

NTR Planning Limited Page 31 

 Photograph 1 – George Shopping Centre, Grantham 

 

 Photograph 2 – High Street, Grantham 

  

196



Planning Appraisal  Downtown, Grantham 

 

 

NTR Planning Limited Page 32 

3) Commercial Yields on Non-Domestic Property 

7.9 We have not been able to identify any up-to-date information on commercial yields to 

that provided in our Health Check for Grantham in support of GDOV. 

 

4) Customers’ Experience and Behaviour 

7.10 The findings of our 2017 Grantham Town Centre Health Check were negative in 

respect of key stakeholder comments.  One of the weaknesses identified in the SWOT 

analysis was a ‘mixed town centre perception’,  

 

‘[…] with some negative perceptions in comparison to other nearby centres 
including Newark, Notting, Lincoln and Peterborough, resulting in market leakage.’  
Another weakness was identified as ‘Poor first impression upon arrival’. 

 

7.11 Appendix 4 of the report by The Deputy Leader of the Council (July 2020) is titled 

Engagement Summary Appendices.  It summarises the results of 400+ responses to a 

series of questions.  Question 4 was ‘Please provide one word to describe Grantham 

town centre?’  The most common identified responses were: 

 

• Boring (20 responses)  

• Tired (19 responses)  

• Dull (15 responses)  

• Empty (14 responses)  

• Rundown (14 responses) 

• Busy (13 responses)  

• Poor (10 responses) 

• Potential (8 responses) 

 

7.12 Other questions included question 7: ‘What would encourage you to come to 

Grantham town centre more frequently?  The most popular response being ‘Better 

shopping’ (69.37%).  Question 8 set out true or false answers to a series of statements, 

most of which related to town centre perception.  The statements and split of answers 

are set out in Table 8, overleaf.  We have shaded the more popular answers. 

197



Planning Appraisal  Downtown, Grantham 

 

 

NTR Planning Limited Page 33 

 Table 8 – True or False Answers to InvestSK Grantham Town Centre Engagement 

Statement True False 

Grantham Town Centre is exciting. 6.03% 93.97% 

Grantham Town Centre is boring. 78.20% 21.80% 

I would like to live in Grantham Town Centre. 12.29% 87.71% 

Grantham Town Centre is a good place to work. 57.39% 42.61% 

Grantham Town Centre is a good place for families. 34.62% 65.34% 

I like how Grantham Town Centre looks and feels. 17.88% 82.12% 

Grantham Town Centre’s historic character is important. 86.57% 13.43% 

Grantham Town Centre provides the local services and 
facilities I need. 

52.12% 47.88% 

 

7.13 Finally, question 9 asked 429 people to rate their experience in Grantham. 16.39% of 

respondents answered ‘Poor’, 22.72% answered ‘Moderate’, 43.09% answered 

‘Average’, 14.99% answered ‘Good’ and only 2.81% answered ‘Excellent’.  

 

7.14 Whilst it was not appropriate to interview visitors to the centre at the time of our 

survey work, we would not imagine that customers’ views would be any more positive 

given our own impression of how the town centre has declined over the four year 

period. 

 

5) Retailer Representation and Intentions to Change Representation 

7.15 In our 2017 Health Check, we identified that the centre under-achieved in clothing and 

footwear retailing.  The GOAD Category Report which we obtained in support of the 

GDOV proposals (dated June 2015) identified only one clothing retailer falling within 

Experian GOAD’s list of ‘Major Retailers Present’ – Next.  Next remain present adjacent 

to the town centre at Augustin Retail Park, operating a click and collect service at the 

time of our survey.  Of the other eight ‘Major Retailers’ listed by Experian GOAD, it is 

the case that none of them have since opened premises within Grantham town centre.  

198



Planning Appraisal  Downtown, Grantham 

 

 

NTR Planning Limited Page 34 

 

7.16 As with Newark, which we assess below, there has been a significant decline in the 

proportion of occupied units since our previous survey work.   

 

6) Commercial Rents 

7.17 We have been provided with details of commercial rents for St. Augustin Retail Park, 

which is located within the Town Centre Shopping Area on SKDC’s Proposals Map.  The 

passing rent level at the retail park has dropped by 46% since January 2020.  One of 

the retailers is occupying its unit on a rolling two monthly rent-free basis.  Other 

retailers are paying circa £13-£18 per square foot, whereas rental levels on average 

for retail parks are in the region of £23/£24 per square foot up to circa £30 for sites 

trading in healthier shopping locations.  The evidence in respect of St. Augustin Retail 

Park gives a good indication that commercial rental levels within the wider town centre 

are also likely to be below average. 

 

 7) Pedestrian Flows 

7.18 It was not possible to make a proper assessment of pedestrian flows due to the 

ongoing lockdown. 

 

 8) Accessibility 

7.19 As was identified in our previous Health Check, Grantham is well connected in terms 

of rail and bus, however we are mindful of one of the weaknesses in the SWOT analysis 

being the poor approach from the railway station and that ‘There is no sense of arrival 

and limited visibility of the town centre from the Station Road.’  This is something that 

the FHSF scheme is seeking to address.  Further identified weaknesses in the SWOT 

analysis are that: 

 

‘The main entry points into the town centre [..] are all of poor quality due to traffic 
dominated intersections and large surface car parks, poor pedestrian connectivity 
to the town centre, poor public realm and lack of intensive use or activity.’ 

 

199



Planning Appraisal  Downtown, Grantham 

 

 

NTR Planning Limited Page 35 

7.20 Accessibility by non-car modes appears to be hindered, as question 7 of the 

Engagement Summary Appendices asked, ‘How did you get to Grantham today?’ 

61.89% of responders answered by car, 28.18% answered by walking, 4.62% answered 

by bus, 2.54% answered by train and 0.46% answered by cycle.  

 

 9) Perception of safety and occurrence of crime 

7.21 We have, as we did in 2017, visited www.police.uk to review statistics for Grantham 

town centre.  The data shows a generally consistent level of ‘crimes per month’, with 

a high level identified in July 2020.  The most recent statistics identify that anti-social 

behaviour and shoplifting were the most commonly reported crimes.  We continue to 

feel, as we did in 2017, that the core retail area had a safe feel (less so in some areas 

beyond) and note that the centre continues to benefit from CCTV.  There was a low 

police presence, which goes against one of the priority areas we identified from 

www.police.uk in 2017 (‘increased high visibility foot patrols’).  

 

 10) State of town centre environmental quality 

7.22 The 2015 Retail Study identified that the environmental quality of the town centre is 

‘generally satisfactory’.  One of the weaknesses identified in the SWOT analysis is ‘Low 

quality townscape areas’. The analysis acknowledges some of the town centre’s 

historic townscape areas, but identifies areas of poor townscape quality.  These 

include car parks and broken frontages and the effect of ‘significant areas of 

vacant/underutilised land…’.  We consider that the high proportion of vacant outlets 

certainly has an adverse effect on the environmental quality of the town centre and 

the brings with it a perception of town centre decline. 

 

 11) Balance between independent and multiple stores 

7.23 Unlike Newark, we did not identify a particularly strong independent sector within 

Grantham.  Multiple counts on the Experian GOAD Category Report (June 2015) was 

close to the national average, and we did not identify much significant variation from 

those numbers in our Health Checks.   

 

200



Planning Appraisal  Downtown, Grantham 

 

 

NTR Planning Limited Page 36 

7.24 The second most popular answer to Question 7 in the Engagement Summary 

Appendices (‘What would encourage you to come to Grantham town centre more 

frequently?’) after ‘Better shopping’ (69.37%) was ‘More local, independent’ (57.33%).  

We did not consider that there was a particularly strong balance between multiples 

and independents, and InvestSK’s surveys would support this view. 

 

12) Extent to which there is evidence of barriers to new businesses opening and 

existing businesses expanding 

7.25 We have not been able to identify any specific barriers to new businesses opening or 

expanding.  We have identified that the George Shopping Centre has sold at auction 

in January 2021 with a low proportion of shops let. When it was on the market11, the 

news article highlighted the view that the vacancy rate within the shopping centre was 

‘a disgrace.’   

 

7.26 The high vacancy rate, the impact of Covid-19 and the threat of out of centre retailing, 

including the proposals at Downtown, may act as a deterrent to incoming businesses 

and the likelihood of existing businesses expanding.  

 

13) Opening hours/availability/extent to which there is an evening and night-time 

economy offer. 

7.27 Whilst our survey work was conducted during lockdown in daylight hours, we did not 

identify much of an opportunity for an evening economy. There were no identified 

clusters of restaurants, bars and other leisure services, and so we do not consider 

there to be much of an evening or night-time offer.  We noted that the leisure scheme 

at St. Catherine’s Road is now built, but units remain un-let.   

 

  

 
11 www.lincolnshirelive.co.uk/news/local-news/grantham-george-centre-coronavirus-sale-4680666 

201



Planning Appraisal  Downtown, Grantham 

 

 

NTR Planning Limited Page 37 

 Conclusion 

7.28 The vacancy rate in Grantham town centre has been above the national average since 

June 2015 (12.76%12), with a jump to 16%13 in March 2020 and a further jump to 

18.9%14 of units in January 2021; with the latest figure being more than five percent 

above the national average.  There has been a steady decline in the number of 

comparison goods retailers since our survey work in 2017.  We identified only one of 

Experian GOAD’s eight ‘Major Retailers’ within the town centre.  Finally, we considered 

that our perception of the town centre’s environmental quality had declined, 

particularly as a result of the number of vacant premises.  

 

  

 
12 Source: Experian GOAD 

13 Source: Grantham Town Centre Spatial Masterplan (March 2020) 

14 Source: NTR Planning Health Check Assessment 

202



Planning Appraisal  Downtown, Grantham 

 

 

NTR Planning Limited Page 38 

Newark-on-Trent Town Centre  

 1) Diversity of Uses  

7.29 In Table 9 we summarise the changes over the period since 2015. 

 

Table 9 – Newark-on-Trent Town Centre Composition 

Surveyor GOAD NTR 

Planning 

GOAD15 NTR 

Planning 

Date of survey 30.06.2015 18.05.2017 July 2019 11.01.2021 

Comparison outlets 165 167 157 126 

Percentage of outlets 37.33 39.29 37.38 32.56 

National average at time 31.87 31.87 29.57 28.03 

Convenience outlets 32 27 35 29 

Percentage of outlets 7.24 6.35 8.33 7.49 

National average at time 8.65 8.65 9.14 9.14 

Retail Service outlets 56 64 64 66 

Percentage of outlets 12.67 15.06 15.24 17.05 

National average at time 14.01 14.01 15.44 15.44 

Leisure Service outlets 86 80 79 70 

Percentage of outlets 19.46 18.82 18.81 18.09 

National average at time 23.44 23.44 24.49 24.49 

Financial & Business 

outlets 

48 43 31 36 

Percentage of outlets 10.86 10.12 7.38 9.30 

National average at time 10.62 10.62 9.42 9.42 

Vacant outlets 55 44 54 60 

Percentage of outlets 12.44 10.35 12.86 15.50 

National average at time 11.12 11.12 11.66 13.26 

Total outlets 442 425 420 38716 

  

 
15 Derived from RIA Update, Appendix F 

16 Note that Newark & Sherwood Council confirmed that the entire first floor is closed awaiting redevelopment 
(scheduled to finish Autumn/Winter 2021).  This will contribute to the reduction in unit numbers. 

203



Planning Appraisal  Downtown, Grantham 

 

 

NTR Planning Limited Page 39 

7.30 Charts 4 and 5, below, demonstrate that the composition of Newark town centre has 

changed significantly between June 2015 and January 2021, with a decline in the 

number of comparison goods outlets and an increase in vacant outlets and retail 

service outlets.  

 

Chart 4 - Newark Town Centre Composition (June 2015) 

 

 

Chart 5 - Newark Town Centre Composition (January 2021) 

 

Comparison

Convenience

Retail Service

Leisure Service

Financial & Busienss Service

Vacant

Comparison

Convenience

Retail Service

Leisure Service

Financial & Busienss Service

Vacant

204



Planning Appraisal  Downtown, Grantham 

 

 

NTR Planning Limited Page 40 

 2) Proportion of Vacant Street Level Property 

7.31 Chart 6 illustrates the change in the vacancy rate between 2015 and January 2021.  As 

can be seen, the vacancy rate for Newark town centre was slightly below the national 

average in 2017, but it has since exceeded the national average and with the vacancy 

rate climbing at a faster rate.  With the forecast increase in SFT, the vacancy rate may 

continue to accelerate . 

 

Chart 6 – Newark-on-Trent Town Centre Vacancy Rate (% of Outlets) 

 

 

7.32 The Newark Town Investment Plan (‘TIP’) of July 2020 identifies that: 

 
‘The centre continues to suffer from retail decline. Visible and large footprint 
vacancies are accompanied by a trend for discount offers.’ 

 

7.33 As identified previously, we noted that the Marks and Spencer anchor unit on Stodman 

Street has become vacant since our previous survey work in 2017. 

 

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

18

2015 2017 2019 2021

Newark-on-Trent National Average

205



Planning Appraisal  Downtown, Grantham 

 

 

NTR Planning Limited Page 41 

7.34 It is important to note that there has also been a very significant increase in the 

vacancy rate within the Primary Shopping Area (i.e. the retail core of the town centre).  

Planning Officers at Newark and Sherwood have confirmed in an email to us that this 

has increased from 8.07% in 2018/19 to 17.39% for 2019/20.  

 

3) Commercial Yields on Non-Domestic Property 

7.35 We have not been able to identify any up-to-date information on commercial yields.  

We have however identified the following from the TIP: 

 

‘…Market confidence is low, reflected by the departure of national brands.  Lease 
and repair tenancies lead to a high turnover of tenancies, with attractive buildings 
and streets blighted by underutilisation.’ 

 

4) Customers’ Experience and Behaviour 

7.36 The TIP identifies that: 

 

‘Residents past and present express fond memories of a town that once bustled 
with activity. Despite decline in recent years in terms of vibrancy, vacancy, 
attractiveness to investment, and reduced feeling of safety, there remains a deep 
attachment to the town and a strong sense of belonging. Interventions have taken 
place in attempts to arrest decline, including the purchase and re-use of the 
Marketplace-facing Buttermarket and the redevelopment of the long-derelict 
former Robin Hood Hotel.’ 

 

7.37 It also highlights that: 

 

‘Family and leisure offers are limited. There is little diversity in the night time 
economy beyond a cinema and F&B establishments. Dwell time of visitors remains 
constrained, with a failure to maximise ancillary spend and overnight stays.’ 

 

5) Retailer Representation and Intentions to Change Representation 

7.38 As highlighted under Indicator 3, the TIP identifies that ‘market confidence is low, 

reflected by the departure of national brands.’ It also states that: 

 

‘The pandemic has exacerbated the ongoing issues plaguing town centre, with 
closures and vacancies expected to increase. This places extra emphasis on the 
need for rethinking and repurposing retail space in the town.’ 

 

206



Planning Appraisal  Downtown, Grantham 

 

 

NTR Planning Limited Page 42 

7.39 Before the emergence of Covid-19 in 2020, the town centre had seen the number of 

vacant units exceed the national average, whereas in 2017 the number of vacant 

outlets was slightly below the national average.  The latest picture sees the number of 

vacant outlets increasing once more, jumping further ahead of the national average.  

Given the decline in occupied units in the last two years, we consider that this will have 

an adverse effect upon retailers’ intentions going forward, even before factoring in the 

cumulative impact of the Downtown proposals with other committed floorspace. 

 

6) Commercial Rents 

7.40 We have not been able to identify any up-to-date information on commercial rents. 

 

7) Pedestrian Flows 

7.41 It was not possible to make a proper assessment of pedestrian flows due to the 

ongoing lockdown at the time of our survey. 

 

8) Accessibility 

7.42 In our 2017 Health Check we confirmed that Newark was well-served by public 

transport, including its two railway stations – Newark Northgate (services to Lincoln, 

Nottingham, Leicester, and Matlock) and Newark Castle (London Kings Cross, Leeds 

and the north and Lincoln).  We are, however, mindful that the TIP identifies that: 

 

‘Newark’s excellent connectivity is blighted by its capacity.  Traffic congestion 
remains significant for residents and businesses. The need to address Newark’s 
congestion is recognised by Midlands Engine, multiple businesses along the A46 
corridor (from Bristol to Humberside) and the Government announced support for 
the A46 Newark Northern Bypass in March 2020. The level crossing at the Castle 
railway line also contributes to congestion, with more downtime as a consequence 
of enhanced frequency and use of rail services. Despite excellent rail connectivity, 
take-up is low. Bus provision is constrained by a lack of frequency and ticket 
coordination across operators.’ 

 

7.43 It also highlights that: 

 

‘The town suffers from a lack of legibility and wayfinding, particularly between 
transport nodes and key attractions.’ 

 

207



Planning Appraisal  Downtown, Grantham 

 

 

NTR Planning Limited Page 43 

7.44 There are therefore documented concerns in respect of Newark’s level of accessibility.   

 

9) Perception of safety and occurrence of crime 

7.45 We noted the presence of CCTV in our 2017 Health Check, and that the centre 

benefitted from a generally secure environment.  However, the more up-to-date 

information in the TIP sets out residents’ concerns over anti-social behaviour, 

particularly after dark: 

 

‘The other most important concern for residents; crime and anti-social behaviour 
continue to persist and is increasing. In one ward, only 65% of residents feel safe 
during the day (national average of 93%).  After dark, the figure falls to 16%, a 
staggering 60% below the national average.’ 

 

7.46 Under the heading of ‘Safety and security’, the TIP identifies that there has been a 

significant upward trend across the district in terms of concern about safety and crime 

– 10% (annual comparison), which rises to 15% in Newark town centre. 

 

10) State of town centre environmental quality 

7.47 Newark is a highly attractive centre in terms of its heritage assets; however, the 

number of vacant units does now create a feeling of decline within the town centre, 

as can be seen in the photographs overleaf. 

  

  

  

208



Planning Appraisal  Downtown, Grantham 

 

 

NTR Planning Limited Page 44 

Photographs  3 and 4 – Newark-on-Trent Town Centre 

 

 

209



Planning Appraisal  Downtown, Grantham 

 

 

NTR Planning Limited Page 45 

7.48 The TIP identifies, from surveys undertaken, that residents expressed a desire that: 

 

‘Bringing heritage buildings back into use’ would be considered to have a major 
positive impact on the Town Centre.’ 

 

11) Balance between independent and multiple stores 

7.49 We did identify a strong independent sector within Newark, which accounted for a 

stronger proportion of comparison outlets.  This is also a feature recognised in the TIP.  

We consider there be a good balance of independent and multiple retailers.   

 

12) Extent to which there is evidence of barriers to new businesses opening and 

existing businesses expanding 

7.50 The TIP sets out a number of concerning issues in this regard.  It states, for example,  

that: 

 

‘Market confidence is low, reflected by the departure of national brands.  Lease 
and repair tenancies lead to a high turnover of tenancies, with attractive buildings 
and streets blighted by underutilisation.’ 

 

7.51 The Impact of Covid-19 is also well-documented in the TIP, for example: 

 

‘The pandemic has exacerbated the ongoing issues plaguing the town centre, with 
closures and vacancies expected to increase.’  

 

13) Opening hours/availability/extent to which there is an evening and night-time 

economy offer. 

7.52 There was no evening and night-time economy at the time of our surveys due to 

lockdown.  We have already set out some the TIP’s findings in respect of the 

perception of safety at night-time, which will of course affect the evening and night-

time economy.  The TIP also sets out some serious concerns over the leisure sector, 

for example: 

 

‘Family and leisure offers are limited. There is little diversity in the night time 
economy beyond a cinema and F&B establishments. Dwell time of visitors remains 
constrained, with a failure to maximise ancillary spend and overnight stays.’ 

 

210



Planning Appraisal  Downtown, Grantham 

 

 

NTR Planning Limited Page 46 

7.53 We consider that there is a considerable lack of an evening and night-time economy 

in the town centre.  

 

 Conclusion 

7.54 The health of Newark town centre has declined since our survey work in support of 

GDOV.  The vacancy rate has risen from 12.44% in 2015 to 15.50% in January 2021, 

with the TIP identifying that, within the PSA, the number of vacancies has risen from 

8.07% in 2018/19 to 17.39% in 2019/20.  The TIP records that confidence is low, and 

that the pandemic has led to closures, with vacancies expected to rise. This is not 

recognised in the RIA Update and other submitted material. 

  

211



Planning Appraisal  Downtown, Grantham 

 

 

NTR Planning Limited Page 47 

8. Retail Impact Implications 

8.1 Our Impact Assessment at Appendix NTR2 identifies the highest predicted cumulative 

impacts on Grantham and Newark town centres under each of the four scenarios, 

based on the more realistic design year of 2027.  These are provided in Table 10, 

below. 

 

 Table 10 – Cumulative Impact on Grantham and Newark-on-Trent Town Centres 

 Scenario 1 Scenario 2 Scenario 3 Scenario 4 

PCA Trade Draw 37.5% 47.5% 57.5% 67.5% 

SCA Trade Draw 55.0% 45.0% 35.0% 25.0% 

Grantham  7.03% 7.95% 8.87% 9.79% 

Newark-on-Trent 11.72% 12.79% 13.87% 14.94% 

  

8.2 These levels of impact are much greater than considered in the Committee Report 

(12th December 2017) for the cumulative impact of GDOV on Grantham – 3-4% in 

202517.   Paragraph 8.4.18 of the Committee Report stated that: 

 

‘Officers therefore conclude that the proposal would not be significantly harmful 
to the vitality or viability of any existing retail centres and therefore complies with 
the thrust of CS Policy E2…’ 

 

8.3 With a potential trebling of the cumulative impact on Grantham, it is not possible to 

draw the same conclusion.  The RIA Update concludes by stating that ‘We can 

reasonably conclude that no ‘significant adverse impact’ on town centre vitality and 

viability is likely to occur as a result of the proposed development, cumulatively with 

other committed developments including King 31’.  This is clearly not the case. 

 

 
17 Paragraph 8.4.17 

212



Planning Appraisal  Downtown, Grantham 

 

 

NTR Planning Limited Page 48 

8.4 A best case scenario cumulative impact on Grantham town centre of 7.03% would be 

higher than that considered in the Scotch Corner18 and Cribbs Causeway19 called-in 

planning inquiries.  In the Secretary of State’s decision to approve Scotch Corner it was 

noted that a predicted impact on Darlington town centre of up to 6.9% would not be 

‘significantly adverse’20, however this was made against the Inspector’s conclusion 

that Darlington was a centre in ‘good health with a high level of vitality and viability.’21.   

 

8.5 In the Secretary of State’s decision to refuse planning permission for an extension to 

The Mall at Cribbs Causeway near Bristol, the Secretary of State considered that a solus 

impact of 6.4% would ‘be likely to result in a significant adverse impact on the vitality 

and viability of Bristol city centre’22, and this was despite the Inspector highlighting 

that ‘In my judgement Bristol city centre overall is a vital and viable shopping centre..’23   

 

8.6 The Scotch Corner and Cribbs Causeway decisions were, of course, made prior to the 

pandemic and with lower levels of forecast growth in SFT.  In the previous section we 

demonstrated that Grantham town centre is in poor health, with a rising vacancy rate, 

a declining number of comparison units, and only one ‘Major Retailer’ present.  This 

position is not expected to improve between now and 2027, given the rising rate in 

SFT and the fallout of the pandemic.  We therefore consider that the predicted impact 

on Grantham town centre will be significantly adverse, deterring future commercial 

investment in the centre and will exacerbate the weaknesses identified in the 

Grantham Town Centre Spatial Masterplan (March 2020) SWOT analysis.  The impact 

will also undermine the aspirations of the successful Future High Street Fund bid.   

 

 
18 APP/V2723/V/15/3132873 and APP/V2723/V/16/3143678 

19  APP/P0119/V/17/3170627 

20 Paragraph 15 

21 IR11.30 

22 Paragraph 32 

23 IR635 

213



Planning Appraisal  Downtown, Grantham 

 

 

NTR Planning Limited Page 49 

8.7 The impact on Newark town centre will also be significantly adverse.  Here, the 

estimated cumulative impact is more significant.  The vacancy rate is also climbing, 

and the number of comparison retailers has declined.  The Council has prepared a 

Town Improvement Plan to seek to tackle the decline.   Given these circumstances, a 

cumulative impact of between 11.72% and 14.94% would also be significantly adverse. 

 

8.8 Paragraph 89 of the NPPF requires proposals for out-of-centre retail development to 

be subject to an impact assessment to consider, amongst other things, the impact on 

town centre vitality, viability and trade.  Our Impact Assessment is considered to be 

far more reliable than that of the Applicant. 

 

8.9 We therefore respectfully ask the Council to refuse the application in accordance with 

the provisions of paragraph 90 of the NPPF, which states: 

 

‘Where an application fails to satisfy the sequential test or is likely to have 
significant adverse impact on one or more of the considerations in paragraph 89, 
it should be refused.’ 

  

214



Planning Appraisal  Downtown, Grantham 

 

 

NTR Planning Limited Page 50 

9. Conclusion 

9.1 This report has provided an appraisal of the RIA Update and other recent submitted 

material provided in support of the Downtown proposals.  We have identified a 

number of significant shortcomings, including outdated data sources and health 

checks, and as a downplaying of assumptions as to what the scheme actually 

represents (and how it will function).  These shortcomings deliberately and artificially 

supress the true impact of the proposal.  We have also set out our criticisms of the 

sequential test and the methodology that it deploys.   

 

9.2 To assist the Council in determining the proposal we have undertaken our own Impact 

Assessment of the proposal in the light of up-to-date health checks, which updates the 

work we previously undertook in support of GDOV in 2017, and provides a clear 

indications as to how Grantham and Newark town centres have declined over the 

period.  We have used up-to-date data sources to consider the effect of the growth in 

online sales and retail expenditure.   

 

9.3 Our conclusions are robust and confirm that the cumulative impact of the proposal 

and other known committed floorspace will be significantly adverse on the town 

centres of Grantham and Newark-on-Trent – a trade diversion of 9.79% and 14.94% 

respectively.  The development is therefore in clear conflict with the policies of the 

Local Plan, other PCA development plans and also the NPPF, all of which seek to 

protect the vitality and viability of town centres.  The proposal should not therefore 

be approved.   

 

NTR Planning Ltd  

April 2021 

 

Copyright © All rights reserved.  NTR Planning Ltd. 

 

215



Appendix NTR1 

Legal Opinion of William Hicks QC and Stephen Whale 

 

216



 

1 
UKMATTERS:59819096.1 

IN THE MATTER OF THE PROPOSED DOWNTOWN DESIGNER OUTLET 

CENTRE (S17/2155) 

 

 

_________ 

 

OPINION 

_________ 

 

 

 

Introduction: 

1. We are instructed by The Trustees of The Buckminster Estate No11 Trust and The 

Trustees of The Buckminster Estate No12 Trust (“Buckminster”). 

2. On 6 April 2018, the local planning authority (“SKDC”) granted planning permission 

for the Grantham Designer Outlet Village (“GDOV”) on land off Tollemache Road 

North near Grantham.  Buckminster is in the process of developing the GDOV, together 

with Rioja Developments.  It will be a Tier 1 designer outlet centre. 

3. Oldrid & Co Ltd has applied to SKDC for planning permission for development which 

is to include a designer outlet centre (“the Downtown Scheme”) on land at an out of 

centre site known as Downtown Garden Centre, Old Great North Road, Great Gonerby.  

This application is pursued on the basis that it will include a Tier 1 designer outlet 

centre.  However, it also includes other proposed development. 

4. On 30 January 2020, SKDC adopted a new Local Plan.  As a result, the Downtown 

Scheme application will be taken back to the planning committee in due course and 

further representations on the application are invited. 

5. We are asked to advise on two legal issues relating to the consideration of the 

application for the Downtown Scheme. 

217



 

2 
UKMATTERS:59819096.1 

Relevance of the GDOV 

6. We are asked to advise as to the relevance of the GDOV to the consideration of the 

application for the Downtown Scheme. 

7. It is trite law that the consideration of the application must have regard to the 

development plan and any other material considerations, that the determination of the 

application must be made in accordance with the development plan unless other 

material considerations indicate otherwise, and that the development plan needs to be 

considered as a whole.  SKDC’s new Local Plan is the starting point. 

8. The GDOV accords with the Local Plan.  It is within an allocated site to which Policy 

E1 applies. That policy provides that employment generating uses other than Class B 

uses may be appropriate.  Paragraph 2.72 of the explanatory text states that the recent 

decision to grant outline planning permission for the GDOV scheme, “offers the 

opportunity to kick-start a step change in the local economy.”  The section on Grantham 

Town Centre also refers (at para. 3.24) to the benefits of the GDOV scheme in attracting 

visitors to the town centre.  

9. The benefits associated with the GDOV scheme, which led to the permission and are 

reflected in the Local Plan, are achieved because the GDOV scheme is a purpose 

designed, high quality, standalone designer outlet centre, and is tightly regulated by 

bespoke planning conditions and section 106 planning obligations to ensure that it will 

operate as a Tier 1 scheme on that particular site. 

10. All concerned agree that there can only be one designer outlet centre at Grantham and 

that it must be Tier 1.  It is accepted that a lower order designer outlet centre would be 

unacceptable because it would lack the wide draw and compete with the town centre. 

The Downtown Scheme proposal includes a second Tier 1 designer outlet centre at 

Grantham.  The sites are less than 10km apart. 

218



 

3 
UKMATTERS:59819096.1 

11. If the Downtown Scheme application is refused, the GDOV scheme will be able to 

come forward in accordance with the development plan bringing with it its 

acknowledged benefits. 

12. If the Downtown Scheme application is approved and is developed to include a true 

Tier 1 designer outlet centre it is assumed that that will prevent the GDOV scheme 

being developed and the resulting benefits of the GDOV scheme, anticipated by the 

development plan, will not be achieved. 

13. It must therefore be necessary in considering the Downtown Scheme application to 

compare the advantages and disadvantages of the two alternatives, both in terms of 

accordance with the development plan as a whole and in terms of other material 

considerations. 

14. That comparison should include: 

The application of site-specific development plan policies, the likely effect on 

the benefits referred to in the development plan and the objectives of the 

development plan, and the sequential test. 

The likely practical effects of granting two permissions in terms of uncertainty, 

investor confidence, and delay. 

The implications for benefits of differences in the quality of each designer outlet 

centre proposal and the quality of links to the town centre. 

 

The implications arising from colocation with non-specialist retail for the 

relative impact on, and linked trips to, town centre(s) for each scheme. 

 

15. Even if planning conditions and section 106 planning obligations were such as to ensure 

that the designer outlet centre element of the Downtown Scheme would if developed 

219



 

4 
UKMATTERS:59819096.1 

be a Tier 1 scheme, the best that could theoretically be achieved by granting the 

Downtown Scheme would be similar benefits i.e. no gain. 

16. However, there would be a net loss of benefit to the extent that: 

The Downtown Scheme was of a lower quality, or less specialist than the 

GDOV. 

The Downtown Scheme would have less-good links to the town centre. 

The Downtown Scheme led to less linked trips to the town centre and / or greater 

impact because of the colocated non-designer outlet centre development. 

The granting of two permissions led to no Tier 1 scheme coming forward, or 

delayed the opening of a Tier 1 scheme. 

The granting of two permissions had an adverse effect on confidence in the town 

centre. 

17. If the result of the comparison leads to the conclusion that granting permission for the 

Downtown Scheme would be likely to reduce or eliminate the net benefits of a Tier 1 

designer outlet centre at Grantham, then refusal would be justified.  

18. There is nothing in policy or guidance that would justify omitting such a comparison. 

19. Firstly, the NPPF and NPPG are important other material considerations but they do 

not displace the requirement to apply the development plan and to consider all other 

material considerations.  Indeed, this is confirmed in the NPPG which states that: 

“Compliance with the sequential and impact tests does not guarantee that 

permission will be granted – all material considerations will need to be 

considered in reaching a decision.” 

220



 

5 
UKMATTERS:59819096.1 

20. Secondly, policy does contemplate preference being applied as between sites in the 

same general category, and specifies one aspect which should be given preference. 

NPPF paragraph 87 states that when considering out of centre proposals, “preference 

should be given to accessible sites which are well connected to the town centre.”1  This 

does not mean that other matters should not in an appropriate case attract preference. 

Disaggregation 

21. We are asked to advise whether consideration should be given to whether 

disaggregation would be appropriate in relation to the sequential assessment of the non-

designer outlet centre elements of the Downtown Scheme. 

22. The issue of disaggregation does not arise in relation to the designer outlet centre 

elements of the proposal.  If planning conditions and section 106 planning obligations 

were such as to ensure that the designer outlet centre elements of the Downtown 

Scheme would if developed be a Tier 1 scheme, then disaggregation is unlikely to be 

appropriate.  If the conditions and section 106 planning obligations are not sufficient to 

ensure that any designer outlet centre that is developed is Tier 1 then the designer outlet 

centre should be refused in any event. 

23. The NPPF requires that “Applicants and local planning authorities should demonstrate 

flexibility on issues such as format and scale”. That includes in appropriate 

circumstances considering disaggregation.  This aspect of policy and guidance in the 

NPPF and NPPG is substantially unchanged since its introduction in 2012 and 2014, 

respectively.  Insofar as there has been any relevant change, such as the additional 

 
1 See the application of this at paragraph IR12.21 of the Inspector’s Report in the Bath case as endorsed at 

paragraph 12 of the Secretary of State’s decision letter. APP/F0114/A/13/2191952.  The salient policy of the 

NPPF is unchanged since this decision. 

221



 

6 
UKMATTERS:59819096.1 

wording now found at the end of NPPF paragraph 87, it adds emphasis to the 

requirement.  

24. The leading Court authority on the meaning of the need to “demonstrate flexibility on 

issues such as format and scale” in what is now NPPF paragraph 87 is still Warners v 

Cotswold DC [2016] EWCA Civ 606.  Thus, per Lindblom LJ at [30]: “What bounds 

can reasonably be set on an applicant’s preference and intentions as to ‘format and 

scale’ in any individual case will always, and necessarily, depend on the facts and 

circumstances of that particular case.  The policy…should not be seen as prescriptive 

in this respect.  It plainly is not.” 

25. The wording of policy and guidance is entirely consistent with disaggregation being 

appropriate in appropriate circumstances.  

26. The requirement of NPPF paragraph 87 to demonstrate flexibility on issues such as 

format and scale is “so that opportunities to utilise suitable town centre or edge of centre 

sites are fully explored.”  We emphasise the reference to “sites” [plural].       

27. The NPPG is even clearer in contrasting “site” [singular] with “sites” [plural].  Thus: 

“is there scope for flexibility in the format and/or scale of the proposal?  It is 

not necessary to demonstrate that a potential town centre or edge of centre site 

[singular] can accommodate precisely the scale and form of development being 

proposed, but rather to consider what contribution more central sites [plural] 

are able to make individually to accommodate the proposal.”2 

28. Several Inspectors have considered it appropriate to apply a disaggregated approach to 

the sequential test in the particular circumstances of the cases before them.  Thus, by 

 
2 NPPG on Town centres and retail (Paragraph: 011 Reference ID: 2b-011-20190722).  Emphasis added. 

222



 

7 
UKMATTERS:59819096.1 

way of examples: Pasteur Road, Great Yarmouth;3 Threemilestone, Truro;4 

Kingswood, Hull;5 and Leamington Shopping Park.6   

29. We are unaware of any Court judgment to the effect that a disaggregated approach can 

never be applied.  A simple desire to be on an out of centre site adjacent to retail uses 

cannot suffice to preclude disaggregation.  Were it to be otherwise, planning 

applications could easily be devised in such a way as to circumvent the objectives of 

planning policy and guidance on ensuring the vitality of town centres. 

30. In the case of the Downtown Scheme there are various uses which are not only not 

required as part of the designer outlet centre, but which may reduce the benefits of the 

designer outlet centre.  We have not in the material before us seen any convincing 

argument as to why disaggregation of those elements should not be considered in the 

circumstances of this case.  

Conclusion 

31. In short: 

a. It is necessary in considering the Downtown Scheme application to compare the 

advantages and disadvantages of the two alternatives, both in terms of 

accordance with the development plan as a whole and in terms of other material 

considerations. 

b. If the result of the comparison leads to the conclusion that granting permission 

for the Downtown Scheme would be likely to reduce or eliminate the net 

 
3 APP/U2615/W/15/3136604, 22 September 2016.  
4 APP/D0840/W/15/3137929, 27 October 2016. 
5 APP/V2004/W/17/3171115, 20 December 2017. 
6 APP/T3725/W/18/3204311, 22 March 2019. 

223



 

8 
UKMATTERS:59819096.1 

benefits of a Tier 1 designer outlet centre at Grantham, then refusal would be 

justified.  

c. There is nothing in policy or guidance that would justify omitting such a 

comparison. 

d. We have not in the material before us seen any convincing argument as to why 

disaggregation of those elements of the Downtown Scheme that are not an 

integral part of a Tier 1 designer outlet centre should not be considered.   

 

 

 

WILLIAM HICKS Q.C. 

STEPHEN WHALE 

LANDMARK CHAMBERS, LONDON 

23 DECEMBER 2020 

 

          

 

 

224



Appendix NTR2 

Impact Assessment 

  

 

225



Table 1 - Comparison Goods Expenditure Table 4 - PCA Main Town Centre Comparison Goods Market Shares (%)

Zone Pop. 2025

Per Capita 

Comparison 

Exp.2020 (inc.SFT)

Per Capita 

Exp.2027 (inc.SFT)

Per Capita 

Exp.2027 

(excl.SFT)

Comparison 

Expenditure 2027 

(£m)

Zone 

1

Zone 

2

Zone 

3

Zone 

4

Zone 

5

Zone 

6

Zone 

7

Zone 

8

Zone 

9

Zone 

10

Zone 

11

Zone 

12

Zone 

13

Zone 

14

Zone 

15

Zone 

16

Zone 

17

Zone 

18

Zone 

19

Zone 

20

1 73005 3917 4407.58 3270.42 238.76 Bingham 0.0 0.0 0.0 5.0 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

2 97773 4119 4634.88 3439.08 336.25 Bourne 0.3 0.0 14.2 2.9 0.0 0.0 0.2 0.0 0.5 1.6 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

3 70980 3946 4440.21 3294.64 233.85 Grantham 61.7 0.4 4.3 0.2 8.2 1.3 1.8 0.5 0.0 0.0 0.3 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.2 0.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.4

4 34284 4416 4969.08 3687.06 126.41 Melton Mowbray 0.6 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 59.4 1.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

5 93136 4083 4594.37 3409.02 317.50 Newark-on-Trent 1.9 2.4 0.0 0.2 34.1 0.2 0.0 0.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.7

6 46283 4220 4748.53 3523.41 163.07 Oakham 0.2 0.0 0.2 0.3 0.0 1.1 39.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.0

7 36324 4230 4759.78 3531.76 128.29 Sleaford 1.3 0.0 24.6 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.2 1.8 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

8 144032 3989 4488.60 3330.54 479.70 Stamford 2.3 0.4 2.6 59.1 0.0 0.1 7.6 0.0 0.4 1.3 0.7 0.5 0.0 2.0 0.0 2.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

9 170052 3810 4287.18 3181.09 540.95 Other (%) 31.7 96.8 54.1 32.3 57.6 37.9 48.6 97.5 99.0 97.1 99.0 99.5 100.0 97.9 98.8 97.3 100.0 100.0 99.9 98.9

10 156977 3299 3712.18 2754.44 432.38 Total (%) 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100

11 238975 3977 4475.10 3320.52 793.52

12 236337 4220 4748.53 3523.41 832.71 Table 5 - Comparison Goods Expenditure 2027 Excluding SFT (£m)
13 326753 3404 3830.33 2842.11 928.67 Zone Zone Zone Zone Zone Zone Zone Zone Zone Zone Zone Zone Zone Zone Zone Zone Zone Zone Zone Zone Total

14 419436 3848 4329.94 3212.81 1347.57 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 (£m)

15 335369 3961 4457.09 3307.16 1109.12 Bingham 0.0 0.0 0.0 6.3 0.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 7.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 14.4

16 338848 3435 3865.21 2867.99 971.81 Bourne 0.7 0.0 33.2 3.7 0.0 0.0 0.3 0.0 2.7 6.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 47.5

17 221578 3935 4427.83 3285.45 727.98 Grantham 147.3 1.3 10.1 0.3 26.0 2.1 2.3 2.4 0.0 0.0 2.4 0.0 0.0 1.3 2.2 1.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 2.3 202.0

18 179235 3574 4021.62 2984.04 534.85 Melton Mowbray 1.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 96.9 2.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 100.7

19 293704 3856 4338.94 3219.49 945.58 Newark-on-Trent 4.5 8.1 0.0 0.3 108.3 0.3 0.0 1.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 3.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 4.1 129.8

20 191556 3622 4075.63 3024.12 579.29 Oakham 0.5 0.0 0.5 0.4 0.0 1.8 50.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.9 0.0 55.0

Total 11768.27 Sleaford 3.1 0.0 57.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.3 8.6 0.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 70.1

Stamford 5.5 1.3 6.1 74.7 0.0 0.2 9.7 0.0 2.2 5.6 5.6 4.2 0.0 27.0 0.0 24.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 166.3

Table 2 - Expenditure Growth Rates Per Capita

Year  % Multiplier

2021 1.7 1.017

2022 1.7 1.017

2023 1.7 1.017

2024 1.7 1.017

2025 1.7 1.017

2026 1.7 1.017

2027 1.7 1.017

Table 5 Turnover of Floorspace (£m)

2020 2027

DOC 66.58 74.92

@Home 10.79 12.14

Total 77.37 87.06

Table 6 - Trade Draw to Proposed Development

Scenario 1 Scenario 2 Scenario 3 Scenario 4

Trade draw % Turnover Turnover (£m) % Turnover Turnover (£m) % Turnover Turnover (£m) % Turnover Turnover (£m)

PCA 37.50 32.65 47.50 41.35 57.50 50.06 67.50 58.77

SCA 55.00 47.88 45.00 39.18 35.00 30.47 25.00 21.77

Inflow 7.50 6.53 7.50 6.53 7.50 6.53 7.50 6.53

Total 87.06 87.06 87.06 87.06

Table 7 - Trade Diverion of Commitments in 2025

Total 

Trade diversion Trade diversion Trade diversion Trade diversion Trade diversion cumulative 

of commitment of commitment of commitment of commitment of commitments trade diversion 

1 in 2025 (£m) 2 in 2025 (£m) 3 in 2025 (£m) 4 in 2026 (£m) in 2026 (£m) in (£m)

Bingham 0.19 0.19 0.19

Bourne 0.47 0.05 0.52 0.52

Grantham 5.39 1.64 7.03 7.03

Melton 2.43 2.43 2.43

Newark 3.81 4.54 1.33 9.68 9.68

Oakham 0.66 0.66 0.66

Sleaford 0.74 1.92 2.66 2.66

Stamford 2.40 2.40 2.40

Table 8 - Solus and Cumulative Impact (Scenario 1)

Turnover 2027 Trade Trade Total 

Scenario 1 without diversion of diversion of Resultant Solus Trade diversion Trade diversion Trade diversion Trade diversion Trade diversion cumulative Cumulative

commitments proposals proposals Turnover impact of commitment of commitment of commitment of commitment of commitments trade diversion impact

(£m) % in 2027 (£m) in 2027 (£m) % 1 in 2027 (£m) 2 in 2027 (£m) 3 in 2027 (£m) 4 in 2027 (£m) in 2027 (£m) in 2027 (£m) %

Bingham 14.4 0.50 0.44 14.0 3.02 0.20 0.20 0.63 4.39

Bourne 47.5 1.50 1.31 46.2 2.75 0.49 0.05 0.54 1.84 3.88

Grantham 202.0 8.00 6.96 195.1 3.45 5.57 1.67 7.24 14.21 7.03

Melton 100.7 4.50 3.92 96.8 3.89 2.51 2.51 6.43 6.38

Newark 129.8 6.00 5.22 124.6 4.02 3.94 4.70 1.35 9.99 15.21 11.72

Oakham 55.0 2.50 2.18 52.8 3.96 0.68 0.68 2.86 5.20

Sleaford 70.1 2.50 2.18 67.9 3.11 0.77 1.95 2.72 4.89 6.99

Stamford 166.3 5.50 4.79 161.5 2.88 2.48 2.48 7.27 4.37

Sub total 31.00 26.99

Other 6.50 5.66

Total 37.50 32.65

Table 9 - Solus and Cumulative Impact (Scenario 2)

Solus Impact Turnover 2027 Trade Trade Total 

Scenario 2 without diversion of diversion of Resultant Solus Trade diversion Trade diversion Trade diversion Trade diversion Trade diversion cumulative Cumulative

commitments proposals proposals Turnover impact of commitment of commitment of commitment of commitment of commitments trade diversion impact

(£m) % in 2027 (£m) in 2027 (£m) % 1 in 2025 (£m) 2 in 2027 (£m) 3 in 2027 (£m) 4 in 2027 (£m) in 2027 (£m) in 2027 (£m) %

Bingham 14.4 0.63 0.55 13.9 3.83 0.20 0.20 0.75 5.19

Bourne 47.5 1.90 1.65 45.8 3.48 0.49 0.05 0.54 2.19 4.62

Grantham 202.0 10.13 8.82 193.2 4.37 5.57 1.67 7.24 16.06 7.95

Melton 100.7 5.70 4.96 95.8 4.93 2.51 2.51 7.48 7.42

Newark 129.8 7.60 6.62 123.2 5.10 3.94 4.70 1.35 9.99 16.61 12.79

Oakham 55.0 3.17 2.76 52.2 5.01 0.68 0.68 3.44 6.25

Sleaford 70.1 3.17 2.76 67.3 3.93 0.77 1.95 2.72 5.47 7.81

Stamford 166.3 6.97 6.07 160.2 3.65 2.48 2.48 8.55 5.14

Sub total 39.27 34.19

Other 8.23 7.17

Total 47.50 41.35

Table 10 - Solus and Cumulative Impact (Scenario 3)

Solus Impact Turnover 2027 Trade Trade Total 

Scenario 3 without diversion of diversion of Resultant Solus Trade diversion Trade diversion Trade diversion Trade diversion Trade diversion cumulative Cumulative

commitments proposals proposals Turnover impact of commitment of commitment of commitment of commitment of commitments trade diversion impact

(£m) % in 2027 (£m) in 2027 (£m) % 1 in 2027 (£m) 2 in 2027 (£m) 3 in 2027 (£m) 4 in 2027 (£m) in 2027 (£m) in 2027 (£m) %

Bingham 14.4 0.77 0.67 13.7 4.63 0.20 0.20 0.86 6.00

Bourne 47.5 2.30 2.00 45.5 4.22 0.49 0.05 0.54 2.54 5.35

Grantham 202.0 12.27 10.68 191.4 5.29 5.57 1.67 7.24 17.92 8.87

Melton 100.7 6.90 6.01 94.7 5.96 2.51 2.51 8.52 8.46

Newark 129.8 9.20 8.01 121.8 6.17 3.94 4.70 1.35 9.99 18.00 13.87

Oakham 55.0 3.83 3.34 51.7 6.07 0.68 0.68 4.02 7.31

Sleaford 70.1 3.83 3.34 66.7 4.76 0.77 1.95 2.72 6.06 8.64

Stamford 166.3 8.43 7.34 158.9 4.42 2.48 2.48 9.82 5.91

Sub total 47.53 41.38

Other 9.97 8.68

Total 57.50 50.06

Table 11 - Solus and Cumulative Impact (Scenario 4)

Turnover 2027 Trade Trade Total 

Scenario 4 without diversion of diversion of Resultant Solus Trade diversion Trade diversion Trade diversion Trade diversion Trade diversion cumulative Cumulative

commitments proposals proposals Turnover impact of commitment of commitment of commitment of commitment of commitments trade diversion impact

(£m) % in 2027 (£m) in 2027 (£m) % 1 in 2027 (£m) 2 in 2027 (£m) 3 in 2027 (£m) 4 in 2027 (£m) in 2027 (£m) in 2027 (£m) %

Bingham 14.4 0.90 0.78 13.6 5.44 0.20 0.20 0.98 6.81

Bourne 47.5 2.70 2.35 45.1 4.95 0.49 0.05 0.54 2.89 6.08

Grantham 202.0 14.40 12.54 189.5 6.21 5.57 1.67 7.24 19.78 9.79

Melton 100.7 8.10 7.05 93.7 7.00 2.51 2.51 9.57 9.50

Newark 129.8 10.80 9.40 120.4 7.24 3.94 4.70 1.35 9.99 19.39 14.94

Oakham 55.0 4.50 3.92 51.1 7.12 0.68 0.68 4.60 8.37

Sleaford 70.1 4.50 3.92 66.1 5.59 0.77 1.95 2.72 6.64 9.47

Stamford 166.3 9.90 8.62 157.7 5.18 2.48 2.48 11.10 6.68

Sub total 55.80 48.58

Other 11.70 10.19

Total 67.50 58.77

Commitments

1. Castle Acres Shopping Centre, Leicester

2. The Malting, Newark

3. GDOV, Grantham

4. St Mark's, Lincoln

226



Appendix NTR3 

St. Mark’s, Lincoln Retail Assessment Extract 

 

227



STANDARD LIFE INVESTMENTS
St Marks Redevelopment

Table 9

Trade Diversion to Scheme 2026 £ million 3.58        10.12      4.77        8.48        9.10        8.50        7.54        7.95        2.44        4.34        2.78        2.39        0.90        2.43        0.22        

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 Total

Within Study Area

Zone 1

Bassetlaw

Retford 1.51        0.01        -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         0.36        0.00        -         -         -         1.88        

Bawtry 0.02        -         0.01        -         -         -         -         -         -         -         0.03        -         -         -         -         0.06        

Tuxford 0.03        -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         0.03        

Other Bassetlaw Stores 0.01        -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         0.01        

Sub-Total 1.57      0.01      0.01      -        -        -        -        -        -        -        0.39      0.00      -        -        -        1.98      

Zone 2

West Lindsey

Welton -         0.20        -         -         -         -         -         0.01        -         -         -         0.00        -         0.00        -         0.21        

Torksey -         0.04        -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         0.04        

Hemswell -         -         0.01        -         -         -         -         0.01        -         -         -         -         0.00        -         -         0.02        

Nettleham -         0.13        -         -         -         -         0.01        -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         0.15        

Other West Lindsey Stores -         0.12        -         -         -         0.05        0.01        0.01        -         -         -         -         -         -         0.00        0.18        

Sub-Total -        0.48      0.01      -        -        0.05      0.02      0.03      -        -        -        0.00      0.00      0.00      0.00      0.60      

Zone 3

East Lindsey

Horncastle 0.01        0.01        0.42        0.32        -         -         -         0.01        -         -         -         -         -         -         0.00        0.76        

Louth -         -         1.34        0.14        -         0.06        -         -         -         -         -         -         0.00        0.02        0.00        1.55        

Wragby -         -         0.01        -         -         -         0.01        -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         0.01        

Other East Lindsey -         -         0.01        -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         0.01        

West Lindsey Stores -         -         0.01        -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         0.00        0.01        

Sub-Total 0.01      0.01      1.79      0.45      -        0.06      0.01      0.01      -        -        -        -        0.00      0.02      0.00      2.35      

Zone 4

East Lindsey

Woodhall  Spa -         -         0.01        1.59        -         0.02        -         0.01        0.00        -         -         -         -         -         -         1.64        

Coningsby -         -         0.01        0.12        -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         0.13        

Other East Lindsey -         -         -         0.01        -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         0.01        

Metheringham -         -         -         -         0.01        0.05        0.01        -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         0.08        

North Kesteven Stores -         -         -         -         -         -         0.02        -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         0.02        

Sub-Total -        -        0.02      1.73      0.01      0.08      0.03      0.01      0.00      -        -        -        -        -        -        1.89      

Zone 5 -         -         

Newark and Sherwood -         -         

Collingham -         -         0.01        -         0.12        -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         0.13        

North Hykenham -         0.02        0.04        0.04        0.73        0.10        0.16        0.04        0.00        -         -         0.00        -         0.00        -         1.13        

Whisby -         0.01        -         -         0.01        -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         0.02        

Other North Kesteven 0.01        -         -         0.06        0.22        0.03        0.12        0.01        -         -         0.00        -         -         -         0.00        0.46        

Sub-Total 0.01      0.03      0.04      0.10      1.09      0.13      0.28      0.05      0.00      -        0.00      0.00      -        0.00      0.00      1.75      

Zone 6

Lincoln

Out-of-centre Lincoln -         -         -         -         -         0.01        -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         0.01        

Branston -         -         -         -         -         0.06        -         0.01        -         -         -         -         -         -         -         0.07        

Other North Kesteven Stores -         -         0.01        -         0.01        0.27        0.03        0.01        -         -         -         0.00        -         -         -         0.33        

Cherry Willingham -         -         -         -         -         0.18        -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         0.18        

Fiskerton -         -         -         -         -         0.02        -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         0.02        

Sub-Total -        -        0.01      -        0.01      0.54      0.03      0.03      -        -        -        0.00      -        -        -        0.62      

Zone 7

Lincoln

Lincoln City Centre 0.25        2.90        0.64        1.88        2.51        3.11        2.71        2.96        0.31        0.73        0.04        0.09        0.07        0.24        0.00        18.44      

Lincoln West Retail Park -         0.06        -         -         0.14        0.08        0.08        0.05        -         -         -         -         -         -         -         0.41        

Lindis Retail Park -         0.16        0.01        0.03        0.56        0.10        0.45        0.05        0.01        -         0.00        0.01        -         0.02        0.00        1.41        

Tritton Retail Park 0.01        0.39        0.05        0.05        0.29        0.28        0.48        0.49        0.01        0.02        -         0.01        0.00        0.01        -         2.08        

Valentine Retail Park 0.02        0.45        0.05        0.16        0.53        0.39        0.54        0.33        0.01        0.04        0.00        0.01        0.00        0.01        -         2.55        

Other out-of-centre Lincoln -         0.05        0.00        -         0.04        0.09        0.14        0.08        -         0.01        -         0.00        -         -         -         0.42        

Birchwood -         -         0.01        -         0.12        -         0.05        -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         0.18        

Sub-Total 0.28      4.01      0.75      2.12      4.19      4.05      4.46      3.96      0.34      0.79      0.05      0.12      0.08      0.28      0.00      25.49    

Zone 8

Lincoln

Lincoln City Cente 0.23        2.66        0.61        1.77        2.33        2.94        2.29        2.57        0.27        0.66        0.05        0.08        0.07        0.25        0.00        16.78      

Other out-of-centre Lincoln -         0.53        0.08        0.05        0.07        0.28        0.09        0.69        0.01        -         -         0.00        -         0.02        -         1.82        

Coningsby -         -         -         0.01        -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         0.01        

Sub-Total 0.23      3.19      0.70      1.83      2.40      3.22      2.38      3.26      0.27      0.66      0.05      0.08      0.07      0.27      0.00      18.62    

Zone 9

Boston

Swineshead -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         0.03        -         -         -         -         -         -         0.03        

Heckington -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         0.04        -         0.00        -         -         -         -         0.04        

Ruskington -         -         -         0.03        -         0.01        -         -         0.09        0.02        -         -         -         -         -         0.15        

Other North Kesteven Stores -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         0.01        0.00        -         -         -         -         -         0.01        

Billington -         -         0.01        -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         0.01        

Sub-Total -        -        0.01      0.03      -        0.01      -        -        0.16      0.03      0.00      -        -        -        -        0.24      

Zone 10

North Kesteven

Sleaford -         -         -         0.04        -         -         -         -         0.45        1.43        -         -         0.00        -         -         1.92        

Other out-of-centre Sleaford -         -         -         0.01        -         -         -         -         0.01        0.02        -         -         -         -         -         0.05        

Cranwell -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         0.01        -         -         -         -         -         0.01        

Silk Willoughby -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         0.00        0.01        -         -         -         -         -         0.01        

South Kesteven Stores -         0.01        -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         0.01        

Sub-Total -        0.01      -        0.05      -        -        -        -        0.46      1.47      -        -        0.00      -        -        1.99      

Zone 11

Doncaster

Auckley -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         0.01        -         -         -         -         0.01        

Haxey -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         0.01        -         -         -         -         0.01        

Sub-Total -        -        -        -        -        -        -        -        -        -        0.02      -        -        -        -        0.02      

Zone 12

North Lincolnshire

Epworth -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         0.02        0.08        -         -         -         0.09        

Mesingham -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         0.03        0.00        -         -         0.03        

Gainsborough 0.13        1.33        -         0.01        -         -         0.03        0.03        0.00        0.01        0.29        0.84        0.02        0.00        0.00        2.69        

Other out-of-centre Gainsborough -         0.05        -         -         0.01        -         -         -         -         -         0.02        0.02        -         -         -         0.10        

Kirton Lindsey -         0.01        -         -         0.01        -         -         -         -         -         -         -         0.00        0.00        -         0.02        

Other West Lindsey -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         0.01        -         -         -         0.01        

Sub-Total 0.13      1.40      -        0.01      0.02      -        0.03      0.03      0.00      0.01      0.32      0.97      0.03      0.00      0.00      2.95      

Zone 13 -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         

Nothing -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         

Zone 14

North East Lincolnshire

Waltham -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         0.03        -         0.03        

Market Rasen -         0.11        0.10        0.04        0.03        0.02        0.01        -         -         -         -         -         0.01        0.33        0.00        0.65        

Casitor -         -         -         0.01        -         -         -         -         -         -         0.00        -         -         0.06        0.00        0.08        

Nettleton -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         0.00        -         0.00        

Sub-Total -        0.11      0.10      0.05      0.03      0.02      0.01      -        -        -        0.00      -        0.01      0.43      0.00      0.76      

Zone 15

North Lincoln

Brigg -         0.02        0.03        -         0.01        0.01        -         0.01        0.00        -         0.02        0.02        0.18        0.08        0.05        0.41        

Keelby -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         0.00        0.00        

Sub-Total -        0.02      0.03      -        0.01      0.01      -        0.01      0.00      -        0.02      0.02      0.18      0.08      0.05      0.41      

Sub Total Study Area 2.23       9.26       3.46       6.37       7.76       8.17       7.25       7.39       1.25       2.96       0.86       1.21       0.37       1.08       0.06       59.67     

Outside Study Area

Boston

Boston -         -         0.10        1.50        -         0.04        -         -         0.67        0.05        -         -         0.00        0.00        -         2.37        

Kirton Lindsey -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         0.03        0.00        -         0.03        

Sub-Total -        -        0.10      1.50      -        0.04      -        -        0.67      0.05      -        -        0.03      0.01      -        2.40      

Doncaster

Doncaster 0.26        0.01        -         0.02        0.03        -         0.01        -         0.00        -         1.34        0.14        0.01        0.02        0.00        1.85        

Sub-Total 0.26        0.01        -         0.02        0.03        -         0.01        -         0.00        -         1.34        0.14        0.01        0.02        0.00        1.85        

Newark and Sherwood

Newark 0.42        -         -         -         0.71        0.01        0.03        0.05        0.02        0.08        -         -         -         -         -         1.33        

South Hykeham -         -         -         -         0.03        -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         0.03        

Sub-Total 0.42      -        -        -        0.74      0.01      0.03      0.05      0.02      0.08      -        -        -        -        -        1.36      

North East Lincolnshire

Grimsby -         0.01        0.91        0.05        -         -         0.01        -         -         0.01        -         0.01        0.03        1.15        0.08        2.27        

Cleethorpes -         0.04        0.07        -         -         -         -         0.04        -         -         -         -         -         0.07        0.00        0.23        

Immingham -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         0.01        -         -         -         0.00        0.01        

Laceby -         -         0.01        -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         0.01        

Humberston -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         0.00        -         0.00        

Sub-Total -        0.05      1.00      0.05      -        -        0.01      0.04      -        0.01      0.01      0.01      0.03      1.22      0.08      2.52      

North Lincolnshire

Scunthorpe -         0.35        -         -         -         -         0.02        0.01        -         -         0.17        0.88        0.42        0.03        0.06        1.94        

Barton-upon-Humber -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         0.00        0.00        

Other North Lincolnshire -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         0.00        0.00        -         0.00        0.01        

Sub-Total -        0.35      -        -        -        -        0.02      0.01      -        -        0.17      0.88      0.42      0.03      0.06      1.94      

Sheffield

Sheffield 0.08        0.02        0.02        0.07        0.01        0.03        -         0.05        -         0.03        0.13        0.01        0.00        0.01        0.00        0.45        

Meadowhall 0.09        0.08        -         -         -         -         0.02        0.02        -         0.00        0.07        0.07        0.01        0.02        0.00        0.39        

Sub-Total 0.17      0.09      0.02      0.07      0.01      0.03      0.02      0.07      -        0.03      0.20      0.08      0.01      0.02      0.00      0.84      

South Kesteven

Grantham 0.02        0.03        0.03        0.10        0.14        0.06        0.09        0.03        0.24        0.89        0.00        0.01        0.00        0.00        0.00        1.64        

Bourne -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         0.05        -         -         -         -         -         -         0.05        

Stamford -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         0.00        -         -         -         -         -         -         0.00        

Other South Kesteven -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         0.01        0.01        -         -         -         -         -         0.02        

Sub-Total 0.02      0.03      0.03      0.10      0.14      0.06      0.09      0.03      0.30      0.90      0.00      0.01      0.00      0.00      0.00      1.71      

Other Outside Catchment Area

Other Outside Catchment Stores 0.47        0.33        0.16        0.37        0.41        0.19        0.11        0.34        0.20        0.31        0.21        0.05        0.03        0.04        0.01        3.24        

Sub-Total 0.47      0.33      0.16      0.37      0.41      0.19      0.11      0.34      0.20      0.31      0.21      0.05      0.03      0.04      0.01      3.24      

Sub-Total Outside Study Area 1.35       0.87       1.31       2.11       1.34       0.33       0.29       0.56       1.19       1.38       1.92       1.18       0.53       1.35       0.15       15.86     

Total 3.58       10.12     4.77       8.48       9.10       8.50       7.54       7.95       2.44       4.34       2.78       2.39       0.90       2.43       0.22       75.53     

Source: Table 4 and Table 9

228



 

 
Taylor Wessing LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales, registered number OC322935. A list of members is available for inspection at our registered office: 5 New 

Street Square, London EC4A 3TW.  

Any reference to a partner in relation to Taylor Wessing LLP is to a member of Taylor Wessing LLP or an employee or consultant of Taylor Wessing LLP with equivalent standing as the 

members of Taylor Wessing LLP. Taylor Wessing LLP is authorised and regulated by the Solicitors Regulation Authority. 

Taylor Wessing is the trading name used by a number of distinct legal entities.  Further information can be found on our regulatory page at www.taylorwessing.com  

  

UKMATTERS:59836799.1  
 

 

  

Mr William Richards 
Head of Development Management  
South Kesteven District Council 
St Peters Hill 
Grantham 
Lincolnshire 
NG31 6PZ 
 
 
BY EMAIL: w.richards@southkesteven.gov.uk 

Taylor Wessing LLP 

5 New Street Square 

London EC4A 3TW 

 

Tel +44 (0)20 7300 7000 

Fax +44 (0)20 7300 7100 

DX 41 London 

www.taylorwessing.com 

 

 

 

 

Date Our reference Your reference 

23 December 2020 UASW/UJTB/THE172.U2 S17/2155 

 
 

 
Dear Mr Richards 
 
Application S17/2155 - Letter of objection following consultation regarding new 
application documents 
 

1. Introduction 

1.1 We write further to the consultation letter dated 2 December 2020 which advised that a 
series of new and amended reports relating to the above referenced application had 
been received by SKDC on 17 August 2020 (the "Consultation Letter"), our letter of 19 
March 2020 (the "March Objection"), the correspondence referred to in the March 
Objection and the letter sent to you by Rioja Estates on 16 December 2020. We adopt 
the definitions used in that correspondence.  

1.2 You will be aware that our client, Buckminster, is a significant investor in Grantham and 
Grantham Town Centre and is also developing a consented Tier 1 DOC, known as the 
GDOV. Our previous correspondence has set out in detail our and our client's core 
concerns with the proposed DGDO. The updated documents serve only to heighten 
those concerns.  

1.3 We request that you review our previous correspondence on this matter and treat it as 
part of this objection - particularly our March Objection. We do not propose to reiterate 
the concerns previously raised and refer to them below only where necessary to 
demonstrate where the updated documents fail to alleviate those concerns, or where we 
expand on the points previously raised within this letter. 

1.4 This letter will focus on the following: 

229

mailto:w.richards@southkesteven.gov.uk


2 
 
 
 
 
 

UKMATTERS:59836799.1 
 

 

(a) a request that a full list of the documents provided by the applicant to SKDC 
earlier this year is shared with us so we can ensure that we have reviewed all of 
the relevant information, and also a request that the most up to date draft section 
106 agreement is uploaded to SKDC's website. We wish for these requests to be 
treated as requests pursuant to the Freedom of Information Act 2000 (the "FOIA") 
or the Environmental Information Regulations 2004 (the "EIR"); 

(b) the relevance of the GDOV as a material consideration to the determination of 
the application, applying the advice received in the enclosed legal opinion 
provided by William Hicks QC and Stephen Whale (the "Opinion"); 

(c) why disaggregation of the application is appropriate when applying the sequential 
test, again incorporating the advice received in the Opinion and why the GDOV 
site is sequentially preferable to the application site. 

(d) our specific concerns with the revised application documents; 

(e) the need for the application to be assessed in light of the new Class E and for the 
applicant to submit revised application documents which weigh the benefits and 
harm of the application in light of the new Class E; 

(f) the need for the application documents to be updated to take into account the 
short and longer-term impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on the high street; and 

(g) our further comments on the non-poaching clause proposed in the Draft S106. 

2. FOIA/EIR Request 

2.1 It is not clear from the Consultation Letter precisely what revised documents have been 
received by SDKC, only that "a series of new and amended reports as well as additional 
plans received on 17th August 2020" have been received. It has not been possible for us 
to comprehensively identify which documents are new, and accordingly we request that a 
full list of those documents is provided which enables them to be clearly identified on 
SKDC's website. If any of those documents are not available on SKDC's website we 
request that they are uploaded to the relevant page, and also shared with us by email. 

2.2 Further, in the new documents which we have been able to identify, we note that the 
applicant describes the section 106 agreement to be entered into as "finalised". We 
therefore request that a copy of the latest draft section 106 agreement is placed on 
SKDC's website, and a compared version is produced which shows the changes against 
the latest draft currently available on SKDC's website.  

2.3 For the avoidance of doubt, the requested information relates to the development of land 
which necessarily concerns the state of the elements of the environment. Therefore, we 
consider that the requested information is environmental information for the purposes of 
Regulation 2(1) of the EIR and this request is made pursuant to the EIR. However, to the 
extent that SKDC determines that the requested information is not environmental 
information, then this request is made pursuant to the FOIA and all references to the EIR 
should be taken to refer to any corresponding provision in the FOIA. 

2.4 Regulation 12(2) of the EIR establishes a strong presumption in favour of disclosure of 
environmental information. There is clearly a strong public interest in the disclosure of the 
requested information for the following reasons: 

230



3 
 
 
 
 
 

UKMATTERS:59836799.1 
 

 

(a) the details of the new documents submitted to the Council is clearly crucial in 
ensuring that proper consultation is carried out on the application in accordance 
with the Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) 
(England) Order 2015. Proper consultation is vital to maintaining transparency, 
accountability and public confidence in the planning system; and 

(b) the original resolution to grant the application was made on the basis that a 
section 106 agreement would be entered into which would secure a Tier 1 
scheme occupied by high end brands only. Following this, two draft section 106 
agreements have been uploaded to SKDC's website, neither of which secure a 
scheme which may be occupied by high end brands only. As the applicant 
continues to describe the scheme applied for as a "Tier 1" scheme, we assume 
the section 106 agreement is still intended to secure this. Therefore it is of 
fundamental importance that the latest draft agreement is shared on SKDC's 
website so consultees can assess whether that draft does in fact secure a Tier 1 
scheme.   

2.5 We do not consider that there are any exceptions to the duty to disclose which would 
apply to the requested information. Accordingly, we are of the firm view that the EIR 
imposes an obligation on SKDC to disclose the requested information for the reasons set 
out above. While Regulation 5 of the EIR requires a response no later than 20 working 
days from the date of this letter, we would kindly ask that you treat this request as urgent 
and provide the requested information at the earliest opportunity.  

2.6 Further, we request that SKDC separately confirms whether the section 106 agreement 
is in "final" form as described by the applicant. If it is not in final form, we request that 
SKDC advises which areas of the draft section 106 agreement are still under negotiation 
and, if our suggested amendments to the draft section 106 agreement have not been 
incorporated, why SKDC has determined that these are not necessary or appropriate.  

2.7 Following the release of the requested information by SKDC, we consider that a further 
consultation period will be necessary to enable consultees to properly consider those 
documents. We consider that this is reasonable, particularly as the updated application 
documents were received on 17 August 2020, over three months before they were 
placed on SKDC's website. No reason has been provided as to why SKDC's five-day 
target to publish application documents was not met and the failure to share these 
documents has clearly deprived our client (and other consultees) of a considerable 
amount of time to review and assess those documents.  In any event, as you will see 
from the following, we anticipate that a number of further revisions to the application 
documents will be required before SKDC can be expected to reach a sound decision as 
to whether the application should be granted.  

3. The relevance of the GDOV as a material consideration when determining the 
application 

3.1 The scheme being applied for is, purportedly, a Tier 1 DOC. It is agreed that Grantham 
only has capacity to accommodate one Tier 1 DOC. 

3.2 We have taken advice from William Hicks QC and Stephen Whale, both of Landmark 
Chambers, in relation to this. The enclosed Opinion advises that it must "be necessary in 
considering the Downtown Scheme application to compare the advantages and 
disadvantages of the two alternatives" and that that comparison should include: 

231



4 
 
 
 
 
 

UKMATTERS:59836799.1 
 

 

(a) "the application of site-specific development plan policies, the likely effect on the 
benefits referred to in the development plan and the objectives of the 
development plan, and the sequential test; 

(b) the likely practical effects of granting two permissions in terms of uncertainty, 
investor confidence, and delay;  

(c) the implications for benefits of differences in the quality of each designer outlet 
centre proposal and the quality of links to the town centre; and  

(d) the implications arising from colocation with non-specialist retail for the relative 
impact on, and linked trips to, town centre(s) for each scheme." 

3.3 SKDC envisages only one Tier 1 DOC at Grantham, and one Tier 1 DOC has been 
consented and incorporated into the Local Plan. Consenting the DGDO would put the 
delivery of the GDOV at risk. If granted, the only way the benefits of the GDOV referred 
to in the Local Plan could be realised in full would be if the DGDO fails, which would 
defeat the object of granting the DGDO. 

3.4 In our March Objection we considered in detail what the impact on Grantham and 
surrounding town centres of rival DOCs would be. That analysis incorporated advice from 
Ken Gunn, a leading designer outlet consultant whose experience embraces more than 
200 outlet projects. It is clear that the impacts of two rival DOCs can be devastating both 
to each other, and the town centres surrounding those projects. 

3.5 The Ken Gunn Report and Part 3 of the March Objection dealt with how the DGDO 
differs to the GDOV and why those differences mean a Tier 1 scheme is not achievable 
at the DGDO. This should lead not only to a conclusion that the DGDO would bring no 
greater benefits than those brought by the GDOV, but also to a refusal of the DGDO 
application. Further, Part 5 of the March Objection (and in particular, paragraphs 21 and 
22) considers the net benefits of the DGDO application, particularly in relation to the jobs 
which would purportedly be brought by the DGDO. It is clear from that analysis that the 
DGDO would not bring a net gain in terms of jobs, nor would it serve to preserve existing 
jobs at Downtown. 

3.6 Turning to the quality of links to the town centre, the GDOV is clearly better connected to 
Grantham. The February 2019 Officer Report provided that "The Downtown application is 
further from the town centre and travel distance by all means of transport are longer and 
take more time [than they would to the GDOV]" at 8.7.7 and the FSP Report identifies 
that "The road connection from Gonerby Moor to Grantham town centre…is narrow and 
has a number of commercial, social and community facilities fronting it…These activities 
slow traffic, raise concerns about user conflicts and make the journey into Grantham 
town centre less convenient." We refer in paragraph 7 of the March Objection to the road 
improvements since February 2019 which further improve the transport links between the 
GDOV site and Grantham town centre. The Grantham Southern Relief Road ("GSRR") is 
at an advanced stage and Phase 2 (from which the GDOV site will be accessible) is on 
target to complete in Autumn 2021. 

3.7 This is relevant when considering the likely effect of the colocation of a DOC and non-
specialist retail at Downtown on town centres within the Primary Catchment Area (the 
"PCA") and Secondary Catchment Area (the "SCA"). The co-location of non-specialist 
retail will lead to a greater impact on town centres than the GDOV would because the 
Downtown facilities as a whole will be more closely aligned to a town centre offering. 

232



5 
 
 
 
 
 

UKMATTERS:59836799.1 
 

 

Thus it will reduce the need for visitors to make linked trips to the town centre and will 
therefore have an increased impact on the vitality of a town centre.  

3.8 For all of these reasons, and those expressed in our past correspondence, we consider 
that the GDOV is the scheme which brings the greatest benefit to Grantham, and the 
least harm to other town centres within the PCA and SCA. As Grantham can only 
accommodate one Tier 1 scheme, we consider that it would only be appropriate to grant 
a DOC at Downtown if it would be more preferable in all of the circumstances than the 
GDOV. We do not consider that this is a conclusion which can sensibly and reasonably 
be reached. 

4. The correct application of the sequential test 

4.1 We have also taken advice from Counsel on the correct application of the sequential test 
to the Downtown application. You will see from the enclosed Opinion that Counsel has 
confirmed that the wording of the relevant policy and guidance is entirely consistent with 
disaggregation in appropriate circumstances, and several Inspectors have considered it 
appropriate to continue to apply a disaggregated approach to the sequential test,  
following updates to the NPPF and NPPG. 

4.2 We consider that the DOC part of the Downtown application consists of the following 
floorspace: 

(a) the DGDO (20,479sqm GEA); 

(b) A3 Leisure (1,252sqm GIA of the DGDO floorspace);  

(c) D2 Leisure (2,096sqm GEA provided that it is conditioned to permit only leisure 
uses which properly complement a Tier 1 DOC); and 

(d) such office space as is necessary to accommodate the management office space 
for the DGDO. 

4.3 Contrary to the claims made by the applicant when applying the sequential assessment 
in the Environmental Statement Addendum July 2020 (the "July ESA") there is no link 
between the full price bulky goods store (Downtown @Home) or the replacement Garden 
Centre and the DGDO. Nor is there a functional relationship between the existing retail 
offer at Downtown and the DGDO. By contrast, the existing and proposed non-DGDO 
retail elements are to the detriment of the establishment of a Tier 1 DOC. Further, there 
is no need for Oldrids to locate its head office at the DGDO. In much the same way as 
the applicant identifies that the distribution warehouse currently located at the Downtown 
site does not need to be located there (see 4.1.4 of the Non-Technical Summary to the 
Environmental Statement July 2020 (the "ES NTS")), nor do offices for Oldrids staff who 
are not required to be physically present at the DGDO.  

4.4 Following receipt of the Consultation Letter, our client's team have discussed the 
application with NSDC. Officers at NSDC have confirmed their view that the scheme 
should be disaggregated in applying the sequential test. They have again raised the fact 
that the applicant has not considered the former Nottinghamshire County Council 
Highways Depot on Great North Road, Newark. That site is allocated for B1/B2/B8 use 
through the Allocations & Development Management DPD and could accommodate the 
office element of the scheme. Further, NSDC have highlighted the allocated employment 
land at the "Land around Fernwood" strategic site allocation, which they consider should 
also form part of the sequential assessment.  

233



6 
 
 
 
 
 

UKMATTERS:59836799.1 
 

 

4.5 The applicant continues to rely on reviewing only the sites which were considered for the 
GDOV, a fundamentally different scheme to that applied for by the applicant and one 
which was determined almost three years ago. For that scheme disaggregation was not 
appropriate, but that is because it was a bespoke scheme for a DOC only. We consider it 
highly unlikely that a proper application of the sequential test, taking into account 
disaggregation and the flexibility brought by the new Use Class E (see paragraph 6 
below) would not reveal additional sites which, at the very least, must be considered.  

4.6 Further, the sequential assessment carried out by the applicant's advisers (see Appendix 
C of the July ESA) confirms that the GDOV site is suitable and available for a DOC, save 
that "it would be unsuitable for the new DGDO given its clear functional relationship with 
the existing offer at the Downtown site." In the same manner as Counsel has concluded 
that "A simple desire to be an out of centre site adjacent to retail uses cannot suffice to 
preclude disaggregation", nor can it be sufficient to render other sites unsuitable. If that 
were the case, no site proposal which constituted an expansion or evolution of existing 
out of centre facilities could ever fail the sequential test. This would undermine the 
objective of the sequential test which is to ensure the vitality of town centres. 

4.7 For the reasons set out in our March Objection, we consider that the GDOV site is 
sequentially preferable to the Downtown site based on its accessibility with the town 
centre alone. We also consider that other sites may be sequentially preferable. 

5. Further concerns with the revised application documents 

5.1 We are disappointed with the quality of the updated application documents, which 
contain a number of material inconsistencies and gaps which call into question the 
veracity of assessments which have been carried out, and/or are already out of date. In 
this section we focus on the following: 

(a) inconsistency between the construction timetable and the design year forecasts; 

(b) the failure, without explanation, to apply the trade draw figures agreed in 
November 2018 when calculating the impact of the DGDO on nearby town 
centres; 

(c) the increase in the expected impact on Newark Town Centre; 

(d) the failure to consider the impact of a 30% reduction in sales at the DGDO on the 
viability of the DGDO; 

(e) the failure to attach a precise number of FTE jobs to the office development, 
despite Oldrid being the proposed tenant; and 

(f) the failure to consider updated local plan documents other than SKDC's Local 
Plan. 

5.2 The construction timetable and design year forecasts  

5.3 Paragraph 7.1.4 of the July ESA provides that "it is envisaged that the proposed 
development will be delivered in a single phase, by 2022/23". Paragraph 7.6.2 of the 
same document provides that "the proposed development is envisaged to be delivered in 
a single phase, by 2023." The reference to the scheme being delivered "by 2023" is 
repeated in the ES NTS. We take this to mean that the DGDO will be delivered at the 
start of 2023 and certainly before 2024.  

234



7 
 
 
 
 
 

UKMATTERS:59836799.1 
 

 

5.4 However, paragraph 4.1.28 of the ES NTS refers to an estimated overall construction 
period for the redevelopment of the proposal site of "133 to 136 weeks; or just over two 
and a half years." The socio economic and retail impacts are then assessed based on a 
construction period of "30 months (2.5 years)" (see paragraph 6.2.1).  

5.5 The applicant has not provided a timeframe detailing how long it expects it to be before 
construction starts on site. Once time is factored in to allow for pre-commencement steps 
to be carried out, it becomes clear that it is not possible for the development to be 
delivered before or during 2023. Realistically, it could not be forecast to open before 
2024 as shown in the table below. 

5.6 We have tested this by assuming a very ambitious timetable for the delivery of the 
proposed development. We preface that timetable by reminding SKDC that we consider 
the only correct decision can be to refuse this application for all the reasons set out within 
this letter and our previous correspondence. Further, it is clear from our assessment of 
the application documents that significant further updates are required before this 
application is brought before Committee. Accordingly, we consider it unlikely that the 
application will be ready to be re-considered by Committee until well into next year. 
However, in order to demonstrate the inconsistency between the forecast opening date 
and design year and the construction timetable, we have considered a scenario where 
the application is brought before Committee as soon as March 2021, and the Committee 
grant the application. 

Pre-commencement/development stage Timeline 

Grant of planning permission (using March Committee date) Assume 3 March 2021 

Preparation of reserved matters applications By 2 April 2021 

8-week determination period for reserved matters 
applications 

By 28 May 2021 

Assume 2 weeks to prepare documents to discharge pre-
commencement conditions to the reserved matters approval. 

By 11 June 2021 

8-week determination period for determination of reserved 
matters, pre-commencement conditions, and any outstanding 
pre-commencement conditions and obligations. 

By 6 August 2021 

Assume development commences immediately upon 
approval of the final conditions and meets 30-month timetable 

Completion 6 February 
2024 

Tenant fit out, commencement of tenancies and pre-opening 
staff training 

Opening June 2024 

 

5.7 The above timetable would realistically be challenging. It assumes that a reserved 
matters application will be ready for submission almost immediately, and that the 
applicant has the tenant commitment and financial backing to commence development 
as quickly as possible. However, it serves to demonstrate that even in that scenario, 
either the scheduled opening date for the development or the construction timetable 
referred to in the application documents is inaccurate. This is of fundamental importance. 
The environmental, socio-economic and retail impact assessments assumes a 30-month 

235



8 
 
 
 
 
 

UKMATTERS:59836799.1 
 

 

construction timetable. If the construction timetable is expected to be far shorter than this, 
those assessments will need to be re-run.  

5.8 If the 30 month construction timetable for the development of the scheme is accurate, the 
retail impact assessment ("RIA") must be re-run as once the time between now and a 
start on site is factored in, it becomes impossible to open before 2024. At paragraph 5 of 
the July ESA under the heading "Assessment Years" the applicant provides that "On the 
basis the proposed development is planned to be delivered in a single phase and trading 
by no later than 2023, our design year for impact testing is 2025 (i.e. the second full 
calendar year of trading)". A footnote directs the reader to the Planning Practice 
Guidance Paragraph 018 Reference ID: 2b-018-20190722. That guidance confirms that:  

"The design year for impact testing will need to be selected to represent the year 
when the proposal has achieved a 'mature' trading pattern. This is conventionally 
taken as the second full calendar year of trading after the opening of each phase 
of a new retail development, but it may take longer for some developments to 
become established." 

5.9 We know from the above that even taking a very ambitious construction timetable, as a 
minimum the design year should be taken as 2026. A more realistic view would be to 
take the design year as 2027 or later, to ensure a realistic period is factored in for 
obtaining reserved matters approvals, discharging pre-commencement conditions and 
obligations, and securing a sufficient level of tenant interest and financial backing to 
justify commencement.  

5.10 At present the application documents contradict themselves and must be updated to 
ensure accurate assessments have been carried out. In particular, the RIA must be re-
run. 

5.11 The catchment area of the development 

5.12 The forecast trade draw figures used are 37.5% from the PCA and 55% from the SCA. 
These figures are inconsistent with the additional Retail Impact Sensitivity Testing 
undertaken in November 2018.  

5.13 That assessed a pattern of trade draw to the proposed development of 42.5% from the 
PCA and 50% from the SCA. No reason is given for why these figures have not been 
used for the updated RIA. Instead the July ESA simply provides that that pattern of trade 
draw "has not been modelled for the purpose of this updated RIA." PCA's reasoning for 
the amended figures was that the DGDO would be smaller than the GDOV, it included 
new comparison retail floorspace for both full price and outlet goods, and that PCA 
considered that the DGDO would be more likely [than the GDOV] to attract mid-market 
operators whose offer may more clearly overlap with that of nearby town centres. Those 
concerns were shared by Carter Jonas and the GDOV team. PCA's advice to SKDC was 
that this pattern of trade draw would "provide a more robust basis on which to consider 
the impacts of the proposed development" (see footnote 25 in the July ESA). 

5.14 Given that no substantive changes are proposed to the scheme we cannot see any 
reason why PCA and SKDC's preferred figures should not be applied again. Accordingly 
when the RIA is re-run it must not only use a later design year, the PCA and SCA split 
should also be adjusted to reflect the approach taken in the November 2018 additional 
Retail Impact Sensitivity Testing. 

5.15 The impact on Newark Town Centre 

236



9 
 
 
 
 
 

UKMATTERS:59836799.1 
 

 

5.16 In preparing this letter we have again reviewed the February 2019 Report, and in 
particular the analysis regarding the impact on Newark Town Centre. At that time, the 
"worst case" impact on Newark was estimated to be 6.5% using the lower PCA figure, or 
6.79% using the higher PCA figure. Newark's own retail advisers, Carter Jonas, 
estimated a higher figure of between 7.1% and 8.6% in 2022.  

5.17 The officer at the time advised that the main reason for these higher trade impacts was 
that "CJ makes an allowance for uplift in the turnover of the existing retail floorspace at 
the application site which adds additional retail turnover of almost £24 million in 2022. 
The Council's retail consultant has advised that if the additional turnover included by CJ 
is removed they would expect that their model would indicate similar levels of trade 
impact to the applicant's revised assessment." It was considered appropriate to take 
steps to "limit the potential for the scenario modelled by CJ materialising" through a 
section 106 planning obligation restricting the use of an area of floorspace in the existing 
store equivalent to the sales area of the proposed Downtown@Home unit to bulky goods 
sales only. SKDC then concluded that the proposed development would not impact the 
vitality and viability of adjacent town centres "subject to the control measures outlined in 
this report being imposed on any planning consent." 

5.18 In light of the increased cumulative trading impacts on Newark identified in the updated 
RIA, which is based on a lower PCA trade draw than was previously agreed, we consider 
that the same conclusion can no longer be reached as even with the proposed section 
106 obligation the anticipated impact is between 7.8% and 8.1%, taking what are 
described as the two most realistic scenarios – a 25% or 30% reduction in DOC sales.  

5.19 No explanation is provided to justify why a figure of a 30% reduction in sales has been 
reached, nor why the anticipated impact has increased from the 25% scenario applied in 
the past. The applicant fails to model a scenario where there is no competition factor 
between the GDOV and the DGDO. Such a scenario must be modelled, particularly given 
the flexibility within the proposed section 106 obligations and planning conditions for the 
DGDO to operate at a lower Tier than the GDOV (resolving much of the competition 
factor between the two DOCs) and thereby more directly compete with the town centres 
within the PCA and the SCA. 

5.20  A scenario where the GDOV is delivered but operates in a higher tier than the DGDO 
has not been modelled, but if that situation materialised (and as the package of 
conditions and obligations suggested do not prevent this scenario from occurring, we 
consider that situation to be very likely) we would expect the impact to be even greater. 
The applicant should be required to produce an impact assessment for that scenario too.  

5.21 The impact of a 30% reduction in trading on the viability for the DGDO 

5.22 We have consistently held that a scenario where there are two Tier 1 DOCs located 
within ten minutes of each other will lead to damage to both schemes. Realistically only 
one Tier 1 scheme can be expected to survive. This has been agreed by all parties, and 
the applicant states in the application documents that the result of the DGDO and GDOV 
both operating at Tier 1 will be a 30% reduction in sales at each.   

5.23 The applicant applies that 30% reduction only when assessing the impact on town 
centres within the PCA and SCA. It fails to consider the impact of a 30% reduction in 
sales on the viability of the DGDO or achieving the benefits it purports that the scheme 
would bring.  

237



10 
 
 
 
 
 

UKMATTERS:59836799.1 
 

 

5.24 The socio-economic impact assessment ("S-EIA") has not been carried out using an 
assumption that the DGDO will operate at 70% of its capacity. Indeed, the S-EIA (update) 
expressly provides the jobs figures "assume a 100% occupancy of the scheme and 
therefore shows the maximum quantum of additional jobs upon full occupation." The 
number of FTE jobs claimed totals 1,350. In the absence of any analysis by the applicant, 
the simplest way to apply the impact of a 30% reduction in turnover is to assume a 30% 
reduction in jobs associated with the DGDO floorspace. We take this to be the Retail 
Village, Leisure, Tourist Information Centre and DGDO Administration 
Space/Management Suite. Those parts are currently estimated to provide a maximum of 
1,051 FTE jobs. A reduction of 30% brings this down to 735.7. 

5.25 There will of course also be impacts on vacancy rates and the quality of brands 
persuaded to occupy the DGDO to consider. The list of approved retailers included in the 
July ESA is extremely long and varies considerably in the quality of brand. Premium 
brands are unlikely to want to take space at an under-leased DOC meaning that the 
applicant will need to resort to leasing to the lower quality retailers on the approved list. 
This will result in the DGDO operating below a Tier 1 level, and result in greater 
competition with and therefore harm to nearby town centres. 

5.26 The purported planning benefits for the proposed developments must be re-assessed to 
reflect the impact of a 30% reduction in sales at the DGDO – an impact which the 
applicant describes as "the most realistic". There can be no logic in developing a scheme 
doomed to trade at a maximum of 70% of its capacity, and the applicant must fully 
assess the benefits of the application if the DGDO element is to only achieve a maximum 
of 70% of its potential turnover. It is neither efficient nor sustainable for a scheme 30% 
larger than necessary to be developed. Further, we would expect this to open up 
opportunities to find smaller sequentially preferable sites which could host a Tier 1 DOC. 

5.27 Use of the office floorspace for Oldrid 

5.28 The applicant now seeks to justify the retention of the full office floorspace by providing 
that it will be for Oldrids and staff functions. Accordingly we expect that Oldrid can 
provide a definite figure for the number of FTE jobs to be offered within the purpose built 
office facility, rather than the estimate of 182 FTE. This should be updated and the 
estimated number of FTE jobs adjusted based on the additional information provided.  

5.29 The failure to consider updated local plan documents other than SKDC's Local Plan 

5.30 We are aware of four development plan documents to which our client's planning 
advisors have not found any reference in the application documents: 

(a) the Newark & Sherwood Amended Core Strategy (adopted March 2019); 

(b) the Rushcliffe Local Plan Part 2: Land and Planning Policies (October 2019); 

(c) the Melton Local Plan 2011-2036 (adopted October 2018); and 

(d) the Central Lincolnshire Local Plan (adopted April 2017). 

5.31 These development plans may well allocate new sites that will require consideration 
under the sequential test or provide more up-to-date information on centres that have not 
been considered in the RIA, such as planned investment. The application documents 
must be revisited to ensure adequate consideration is given to these development plans. 

238



11 
 
 
 
 
 

UKMATTERS:59836799.1 
 

 

6. Impact of the new Class E 

6.1 Prior to the revised application documents being submitted, the "most radical reforms to 
our planning system since the Second World War", as described by the Prime Minister 
Boris Johnson, were announced. These included a new Use Class E which incorporates 
what was previously Use Classes A1, A2 and A3, Class B1 and certain uses which would 
have fallen within Class D1 and D2. The new Class E came into effect on 1 September 
2020, and whilst transitional provisions provide that for the time being the application may 
be determined by reference to the old Use Classes Order, they do not provide that the 
application must be assessed in a vacuum as if the new Class E does not exist. 

6.2 The new Class E clearly has significant implications when assessing this application. 
Matters which need to be considered include: 

(a) what impact the new Class E could have on the surrounding town centres as 
existing edge of centre and out of centre developments could now change from 
an office (for example) to retail use without the need for planning permission. This 
needs to be factored in when assessing whether it is appropriate to permit even 
more out of centre development, particularly given the objective in the Local Plan 
to reduce expenditure leakage from Grantham town centre; 

(b) the availability and suitability of sites which now benefit from the new Class E as 
potential alternative sites when applying the sequential test; and 

(c) the changes needed to the proposed package of planning conditions and 
obligations to ensure the proposed development is sufficiently restrained to 
prevent it and the other buildings at Downtown from taking advantage of the new 
Class E in a manner which would be detrimental to town centres within the PCA 
and SCA. 

6.3 We further note that there are a number of light industrial buildings located close to the 
application site. It is possible that these may be able to take advantage of the new Class 
E to convert to an unrestricted retail use, and that doing so may become a more 
attractive option if there is an expanded retail destination at Downtown.  

6.4 The radical changes to our planning system clearly constitute a material change in 
circumstances and warrant significant revisions to the application documents. The 
applicant should have considered the new Class E in the documents submitted in August 
but failed to do so. The applicant must prepare revised application documents which put 
the application within the context of today's planning system.  

7. The need for the application documents to be updated to take into account the 
impact of COVID-19 on town centres within the PCA and SCA  

7.1 This year has brought seismic change to England's high streets. Not only has the new 
Class E been created, but the COVID-19 pandemic which has swept the globe has 
drastically reduced footfall on the high street, forced shops and restaurants to close for 
extended periods of time, and accelerated the trend towards online shopping. Due to the 
furlough scheme, forfeiture moratorium and other measures put in place to shield 
businesses, the full impact of the COVID-19 restrictions is not yet reflected on the high 
street. However, with trading significantly restricted in what is typically the busiest time of 
year for the retail and hospitality sector, we expect to see a rise in vacancies in the new 
year. 

239



12 
 
 
 
 
 

UKMATTERS:59836799.1 
 

 

7.2 The RIA states that the levels of impact on town centres are not considered to be 
significantly adverse "taking into account their general health". However, we are mindful 
that, nationally, vacancy rates have increased over the period since the determination of 
the GDOV. The latest Experian Retail Planner Briefing Note (Note 18, October 2020) 
identifies that "according to figures from Experian's Goad database, the UK vacancy rate 
in July 2020 rose up to 15% from 14.2% in 2019, and well above the previous high of 
2012 (14.4%). The applicant's health checks are now too old to be relied upon and are 
not based upon physical surveys of the centres. Instead they rely on pre-pandemic 
Experian Goad surveys and Google Streetview (which is not considered to be good 
practice). Given the changes in vacancy rates in 2020 and the impact that the pandemic 
has so far had on the high street, it is not possible to rely on the judgments and 
conclusions in the July ESA. 

7.3 By way of example, our client's team have liaised with planners at NSDC and understand 
that vacancy rates in Newark's Primary Shopping Area increased from 8.07% in 2018/19 
to 17.39% in 2019/20. The base date was June 2020, which was still relatively early in 
the pandemic. The applicant should produce robust, up-to-date health checks in the new 
year following the January sales (to ensure a reliable result).  

7.4 The COVID-19 pandemic clearly represents a material change of circumstances since 
the application was first submitted, and indeed since the updated application documents 
(which do not consider the impacts of this in any serious way) were submitted. The 
Experian briefing note referred to above provides more up to date growth forecasts and 
forecasts for Special Forms of Trading ("SFT") than assessed to date by the applicant, 
including in the new application documents. 

7.5 Table 2 of Appendix D of the RIA sets out comparison goods expenditure for the 20 
zones projected to 2024 and 2025, with a deduction for SFT of 21.3% for 2024 and 22% 
for 2025. However, the latest note estimates comparation goods SFT to be 24% in 2024 
and 24.6% in 2025. The RIA therefore relies on inputs which are already outdated. 
Looking forward to a design year of 2026 or 2027, the comparison goods SFT is 
estimated to be 25.2% and 25.8% respectively.  

7.6 We are entering a period of even greater uncertainty for the high street, with the impacts 
of Brexit not yet known, nor the medium and longer-term impacts of COVID-19. It is of 
vital importance that schemes such as this, which are expected to further harm town 
centres, are not consented. The minimum we would expect from the applicant would be 
an update to the application documents to fully consider the impact of the proposed 
development in light of COVID-19 and Brexit. 

8. Non-poaching  

8.1 We have previously expressed our concern at the proposed 'non-poaching' clause in the 
Draft S106 which only requires existing town centre retailers in Grantham, Newark and 
Balderton to retain a presence in those town centres for five years if they also occupy a 
unit at the proposed development.  

8.2 The Handforth Dean decision referred to by the applicant in the July ESA 
(APP/R0660/V/17/3179610) considered a non-poaching clause which was limited to five 
years (in that case from practical completion) in detail. Both obligations permitted 
concurrent trading from the town centre and the retail park for five years. The Inspector 
considered that "Inevitably, some retailers will be looking to expand their sphere of 
influence by complementing their town centre presence with an out of centre location with 
the intention of the two stores trading successfully in tandem. However, dual 

240



13 
 
 
 
 
 

UKMATTERS:59836799.1 
 

 

representation also poses the risk of the newer outlet out-trading, and weakening, its 
sister store, leading ultimately to the demise of the latter and closure at some point after 
the 5-year obligation." The Inspector concluded that: "This could have the effect of 
weakening retailer and investor confidence in an established centre" and ultimately 
considered that the benefits advanced in support of the scheme were insufficient to 
outweigh the overwhelming harm.  We would also draw attention to the Secretary of 
State’s agreement with the Inspector in paragraph 24 of his decision letter.  

8.3 The same reasoning would apply to the DGDO. The non-poaching clause is just one 
example of how the clauses in the Draft S106 do not go far enough to offset the harm 
from the DGDO to town centres within the PCA and SCA. 

8.4 The Draft S106 must be revised to ensure that it would not be possible to operate a DOC 
below Tier 1 from the application site, and that sufficient provisions are built in to prevent 
the DGDO or the other Downtown facilities from trading in a way which would harm the 
town centres in the PCA and SCA. 

9. Conclusion 

9.1 We consider that the application itself, and the documents supporting it, are 
fundamentally flawed. A comparison between the DGDO and the GDOV must be carried 
out in reaching a decision on the application in question, and if the GDOV is the most 
suitable scheme the DGDO should be rejected. The enclosed Opinion confirms that the 
existence of the GDOV is a material consideration in the assessment of the DGDO, and 
that no policy or guidance precludes a comparison between the two schemes and sites. 
Further, we and Counsel are not aware of any Court judgment to the effect that a 
disaggregated approach to the sequential test can never be applied and the applicant 
has not presented any evidence which precludes disaggregation of appropriate schemes. 
The DOC elements of the application at hand should be disaggregated from the non-
DOC elements when applying the sequential test. 

9.2 We have significant concerns with the revised application documents which go to the 
heart of that application. The assessments which have been carried out do not assess 
the application in a consistent manner. Where it serves the applicant to produce 
modelling which limits the forecast impact of the DGDO, the scheme is assumed to 
achieve only 70% of its potential turnover. However that is not carried through to the 
assessment of what benefits the scheme would bring, nor consideration of whether the 
application would be an effective use of land. We consider that it would not be. 

9.3 The RIA is flawed. The figures used for the anticipated trade draw differ from what has 
previously been agreed, the chosen design years are incompatible with the construction 
timetable, it fails to consider impact of Class E and Covid-19 on town centres in the PCA 
and SCA, and several development plan documents have not been considered.  

9.4 We have requested full details of the updated application documents, and a copy of the 
most up to date draft of the section 106 agreement. In light of the potential impact of the 
new Class E the planning conditions and obligations will inevitably need to have been 
updated against the last version of these documents which has been shared publicly. We 
are concerned that our comments on the Draft S106 made in the past may not have been 
incorporated, and we need to understand what parts of the section 106 agreement 
remain to be agreed in order to fully assess the impact of the scheme. We have written 
extensively on this in the past and in this letter offer further comments on just one 
example of the risks associated with the Draft S106 currently available – the risks 
associated with the proposed non-poaching clause. 

241



14 
 
 
 
 
 

UKMATTERS:59836799.1 
 

 

9.5 We ask that you consider our letter and the enclosed Opinion carefully. Our view, based 
on the documentation provided, the planning advice provided to our client, and the 
Opinion, is that it is clear that the application should be refused. We also consider that a 
decision to the contrary based on the application in the form currently presented to SKDC 
would be open to challenge. 

9.6 We look forward to receiving the information requested in paragraph 2 in line with the 
requirements of the FOIA and the EIR. 

Yours sincerely, 

Taylor Wessing LLP 
*Sent electronically on behalf of Taylor Wessing LLP 

242



 

 
Taylor Wessing LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales, registered number OC322935. A list of members is available for inspection at our registered office: 5 New 

Street Square, London EC4A 3TW.  

Any reference to a partner in relation to Taylor Wessing LLP is to a member of Taylor Wessing LLP or an employee or consultant of Taylor Wessing LLP with equivalent standing as the 

members of Taylor Wessing LLP. Taylor Wessing LLP is authorised and regulated by the Solicitors Regulation Authority. 

Taylor Wessing is the trading name used by a number of distinct legal entities.  Further information can be found on our regulatory page at www.taylorwessing.com  

  

UKMATTERS:60955887.2  
 

 

  

Phil Jordan 
Case Officer 
South Kesteven District Council 
St Peters Hill 
Grantham 
Lincolnshire 
NG31 6PZ 
 
 
BY EMAIL  

Taylor Wessing LLP 

5 New Street Square 

London EC4A 3TW 

 

Tel +44 (0)20 7300 7000 

Fax +44 (0)20 7300 7100 

DX 41 London 

www.taylorwessing.com 

 

 

 

 

Date Our reference Your reference 

16 April 2021 UASW/UJTB/THE172.U2 S17/2155 

 
 

 
Dear Mr Jordan 
 
Application S17/2155 - Letter of objection following consultation regarding new 
application documents 
 

1. Introduction 

1.1 We write further to our letter of 23 December 2020 (our "December Objection"), Rioja's 
letter of 16 December 2020 (the "Rioja Objection"), our call on 3 March 2021, the 
consultation letter sent by SKDC dated 12 March 2021 (the "Consultation Letter") and 
our subsequent emails extending the deadline for consultation responses to 18 April 
2021. Save where otherwise defined or the context otherwise requires, we adopt the 
definitions used in our previous correspondence with you on this matter. 

1.2 We have reviewed the additional documents placed on the planning portal up to and 
including 26 March 2021, which we understand were prepared at your request following 
advice received by SKDC from Barton Willmore and Stantec. We look forward to 
receiving a copy of that advice once it has been finalised, and we hope that the enclosed 
report prepared by NTR Planning (the "NTR Report"), will be of assistance. 

1.3 We are disappointed to see that the comments submitted by us to date have not been 
dealt with in the additional documents prepared by the applicant, and that those 
documents only deal very superficially with the requests made by SKDC and its advisors 
(so far as we can glean from the references within the documents that have been 
shared). 

1.4 In this letter we deal with the following: 

243



2 
 
 
 
 
 

UKMATTERS:60955887.2 
 

 

(a) our comments on the letter from Fisher German disclosed by SKDC in response 
to our FOI request in our December Objection; 

(b) our comments on the February 2021 "Response to the Review by Barton 
Willmore on the 2020 ES Addendum" (the "ES Review Response"), and in 
particular, the design year forecasts; 

(c) the findings of the NTR Report appended to this letter; and 

(d) the inadequacy of the applicant's comments on the impact of the application on 
SKDC's successful Future High Streets Fund ("FHSF") bid, which constitutes 
committed public investment into the town centre, and the adverse impact the 
DGDO would have on that committed investment.  

2. Response to the Fisher German Letter dated 14 August 2020 (the "FG Letter") 

2.1 Thank you for sharing the FG Letter with us following the freedom of information request 
in our December Objection. The majority of the points raised by Fisher German ("FG") 
have been dealt with either within our December Objection or through previous 
representations made by our client and Rioja1. Those comments still stand, however 
there are a limited number of additional points raised in the FG Letter that we consider 
we have no option but to respond to directly. 

2.2 On page 3 of the FG Letter, FG write that "the Council is required to assess the 
proposals on the basis of both DOCs being constructed and fully operational and 
consider their cumulative effects." We agree with this, and it is the cumulative effects of 
two designer outlets competing for the same brands and visitors within a ten minute drive 
of each other that we have made representations on and have presented expert advice 
from Ken Gunn, the UK's foremost expert on the designer outlet retail market. One of 
those cumulative impacts is the anticipated failure of the weaker designer outlet to 
achieve a Tier 1 status, which would then inevitably seek to resort to operating at a Tier 
3, 4 or 5 level in order to distinguish itself from its rival, thereby competing more directly 
with high street retailers. We drew out in our December Objection the absurdity of the 
applicant predicting a 25% impact on sales at both designer outlets due to a competition 
factor, yet failing to reduce the size of its scheme to account for this impact. 

2.3 Another of those impacts is the impact the DGDO may have on the GDOV, which is 
enshrined in SKDC's Local Plan, and therefore the impact it may have on SKDC's ability 
to achieve its objectives under the Local Plan. We are pleased to see that FG accepts 
that the grant of the GDOV is a material consideration (page 4 of the FG Letter) and 
agree that SKDC will need to assign weight to that material consideration.  

2.4 We are disappointed with the misleading statements made in the FG Letter, and in the 
application documents. The majority of these have been dealt with elsewhere, however 
we wish to highlight three points:  

(a) since February 2019 the applicant has been describing the draft section 106 
agreement as ready to sign or having an agreed final form. In our call on 3 March 
2020 we were reassured that the section 106 agreement is still very much in a 
draft form and negotiations continue. Given the importance of the representations 

 
1 see letters to SKDC dated: 1 October 2018 (from Rioja); 1 October 2018 (from Buckminster); 20 December 
2018 (from Buckminster); 4 February 2019 (from TW); 5 April 2019 (from Buckminster); 13 June 2019 (from 
Buckminster); 9 January 2020 (from TW); 6 March 2020 (from TW); 19 March 2020 (from TW); the Rioja 
Objection; and our December Objection. 

244



3 
 
 
 
 
 

UKMATTERS:60955887.2 
 

 

we have made on the efficacy of the section 106 agreement in securing a Tier 1 
scheme, and the role of the section 106 in securing a scheme that is occupied by 
only premium retailers, we are pleased to hear this. However the applicant's 
continued attempts to mislead consultees, SKDC, committee members and even 
the Secretary of State2 as to the status of the section 106 agreement is deeply 
concerning and reflective of the applicant's tendency to make statements which 
sound reassuring, but cannot be true (see our comments on the proposed 
completion date and construction programme for the DGDO);  

(b) at the top of page 5 of the FG Letter, FG assert that "It should also be noted 
however, that Rioja Developments Ltd., Buckminster Estates' delivery partner for 
the Grantham Designer Outlet Village (GDOV) scheme, previously made 
representations (1st October 2018) acknowledging that it is not the function of the 
UK planning system to regulate market competition issues and that the "market 
should decide."" FG have removed some key words and context from what was 
written in that October 2018 letter. Firstly, Rioja explained in detail why the 
DGDO and the GDOV are fundamentally different. Rioja then wrote that "if the 
two schemes were similar it could be considered right to grant permission for 
both and 'let the market decide'. However, for the reasons explained in this 
representation and the attached appendices the two schemes are not similar" 
(emphasis added). Rioja are clearly stating that in this case the market should 
not decide. Further, the issues are planning issues and go beyond market 
competition issues, and where there are market competition issues, these are 
necessarily relevant to the determination of the DGDO, for all the reasons we 
have detailed in this letter and in our past correspondence on this matter; and 

(c) on page 11, FG point to the fact that Oldrids and Downtown have traded from the 
site "for over 30 years", and argue that "their history and heritage, carries 
significant weight, as does their clear intention to remain a significant local 
business and employer in the area." FG then states (as fact) that "the GDOV is 
just a development land deal for Buckminster and Rioja, to be sold on to 
someone without an interest in Grantham." FG provide no evidence for this, and 
in Rioja's letter of 16 December 2020 it confirmed that "one of our stated 
conditions for future investors to take part is that Rioja and Buckminster continue 
as investors with such a joint venture partner." Further, to the extent that the 
"history and heritage" of an applicant carries weight, we would remind the 
applicant that Buckminster's history of holding and investing in property interests 
in Grantham dates back hundreds of years and our client has a direct interest in 
securing the ongoing viability of Grantham town centre. Downtown appear to 
have no investment in the town centre. 

2.5 Finally, FG boast of a total net additional FTE jobs figure of 1,214, which is just 14 FTE 
jobs higher than the figure anticipated for the GDOV (see page 15). As detailed in our 
December Objection, the applicant's figure includes an estimated 182 FTE jobs for the 
office floorspace. We maintain that the offices do not have a functional relationship with 
the DGDO and would fail the sequential test. Further, as the offices would be for Oldrid's 
use only, it should be in a position to provide a definitive jobs figure. It should also be 
noted that as staff would presumably be re-located from existing offices, it does not follow 
that these positions would be filled by local people. In any event, even taking the 
applicant's maximum figure, it is clear that given only one Tier 1 outlet can survive, the 
DGDO would not produce a net benefit in terms of jobs as those offered by the GDOV 

 
2 In a letter to the Senior Planning Manager at the Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government (which 
was considering whether the application should be referred to the Secretary of State) dated 22 February 2019 the 
applicant stated "We are ready to sign the S106 Agreement…" 

245



4 
 
 
 
 
 

UKMATTERS:60955887.2 
 

 

would necessarily not materialise for the DGDO to succeed. There is only one 'set' of 
jobs to be gained from a designer outlet village in the region, and the GDOV has been 
granted planning and is supported and relied upon by SKDC's Local Plan. 

3. Comments on the ES Review Response 

3.1 Design year forecasts and construction timetable 

3.2 In the ES Review Response, the applicant asserts that "With a conservative 30 month 
programme the DGDO can be opened in Autumn 2023." With respect, that programme is 
neither achievable nor conservative. 

3.3 The 30 month programme starts when construction work commences. 30 months from 
the date of this letter takes us through to October 2023. Before construction can 
commence the section 106 agreement needs to be completed, planning permission 
granted, pre-commencement obligations and conditions discharged and reserved matters 
applications approved. The applicant claims that the reserved matters and pre-
commencement condition discharge applications are ready to be submitted, although we 
note that certain pre-commencement conditions are unlikely to be able to be discharged 
prior to reserved matters approvals being granted. Accordingly, taking into account that 
our original timetable assumed a permission on 3 March which of course has passed, we 
would now expect the DGDO to open no earlier than September 2024, still a very 
ambitious target.  

3.4 Therefore, it cannot be the case that "the 2017 ES and 2020 ES Addendum provide 
accurate assessments and design year forecasts" as the design years used must be no 
earlier than the second full year of trading. Taking into account further uncertainty as to 
when an application fit for determination will be provided, design year forecasts using 
2027 should be prepared. NTR have adopted 2027 for the design year forecasts included 
in the NTR Report. 

3.5 2017 baseline highways data 

3.6 We note that, contrary to DfT guidance, the applicant seeks to justify the use of baseline 
data collected in June 2017 on the basis that data following the lockdown in March 2020 
would not be representative. However, the applicant does not explain why no efforts were 
made to source data from 2019 or early 2020. That data informs a number of documents 
submitted in support of the application and accordingly it is vital that the most up-to-date 
representative data is used.  

3.7 As we have expressed before, so much time has passed since the application was 
submitted, and circumstances have changed so materially in that time (new development 
plans for SKDC and surrounding areas, Covid, significant planning reforms) that the 
application needs a complete overhaul to ensure it represents a true picture of the 
impacts of what is proposed. 

3.8 Retail impact updates following advice from Stantec 

3.9 Throughout part 4.2 the ES Review Response consistently refers to updates to retail 
analysis following SKDC's advice from Stantec. The documents now being consulted 
upon were prepared in February 2021, as a response to SKDC's advice from Barton 
Willmore and Stantec following the information submitted in August 2020. It therefore 
appeared to us that a further RIA update dealing with those points must have been 
carried out after August 2020. 

246



5 
 
 
 
 
 

UKMATTERS:60955887.2 
 

 

3.10 However, we have not seen any new RIA documents, save for the Retail Impacts Table 
and the letter concerning the FHSF (see below) and you have confirmed to us by email 
that "There is not an updated retail impact assessment beyond the update submitted in 
August 2020. The comments made in 4.2 refer to that update." 

3.11 We therefore understand that advice from Stantec must have been received both prior to 
and following the August 2020 submission. The later advice must have requested only 
the Retail Impacts Table and the letter concerning the FHSF.  

3.12 You have kindly agreed to share the advice from Stantec with us when it is finalised. As 
the advice received prior to July 2020 must have now been finalised, we request that it is 
now shared, as it has been with the applicant. We look forward to receiving the later 
advice in due course.  

3.13 As detailed in our December Objection, below, and the NTR Report, we nonetheless 
consider  that a great number of errors exist in the retail analysis carried out in July 2020, 
and we do not consider that the additional documents now submitted allay our concerns. 

4. Findings of the NTR Report 

4.1 As detailed in the NTR Report, the updated RIA prepared by the applicant in July 2020 
(the "RIA Update") is deeply flawed for the following key reasons: 

(a) it fails to consider updated development plan policies beyond SKDC's Local Plan; 

(b) the sequential assessment has not been properly carried out; 

(c) the design year of 2025 is now impossible to meet, and a design year of 2027 
should be adopted; 

(d) the percentage deductions for Special Forms of Trading ("SFT") are outdated; 

(e) the market share data is five years old; 

(f) it artificially reduces turnover as a result of "competition" with the GDOV; 

(g) the town centre health checks were carried out in 2017 and have not been 
updated (NTR have carried out in January 2021 proper up-to-date health checks 
for Grantham and Newark); and 

(h) the PCA/SCA trade draw adopted is unrealistic.  

4.2 The limited additional information provided by the applicant at SKDC's request only deals 
with (f) above, by producing a table of cumulative impacts where no competition factor is 
assumed. It does not then carry those increased impacts through to the wider retail 
impacts analysis. As identified by NTR in Part 8 of the NTR Report, when up-to-date data 
is used to inform the cumulative impact assessment, the impact under all scenarios 
tested is significantly higher than that identified by the applicant. 

4.3 Taking Scenario 1 from the NTR Report, which adopts the forecast trade draw figures 
used by the applicant in the RIA Update, the cumulative impact on Grantham and 
Newark is assessed to be 7.03% and 11.72% respectively. This is 1.33% and 2.02% 
(respectively) higher than the figures produced in the Retail Impact Table submitted by 
the applicant in February this year. 

247



6 
 
 
 
 
 

UKMATTERS:60955887.2 
 

 

4.4 Further, for all the reasons we and SKDC's own advisers have detailed before, we do not 
consider that the trade draw figures adopted by the applicant are accurate. The DGDO is 
likely to draw a far higher percentage of trade from the PCA, and less from the SCA due 
to the difficulty the DGDO would face in attracting the premium retailers necessary to 
draw trade from the SCA (please see further reasoning for this in our previous 
correspondence). As a result, the cumulative impacts identified by NTR range from 
7.03% - 9.79% for Grantham and 11.72% - 14.94% for Newark. NTR assess the highest 
figures to be representative of the most likely impacts. 

4.5 The on-foot health checks for Grantham and Newark carried out by NTR found both 
centres to be in poor health with high vacancy rates. In January 2021 the vacancy rate 
for Grantham was 18.9% and for Newark it was 15.5%. Both figures are above the 
national average of 15%. As SKDC will be aware, those vacancy rates are likely to rise 
as the mid to long-term effects of Covid on the economy are realised.  

4.6 The health of a town centre is relevant when assessing whether the cumulative impact of 
a proposed development would be "significantly adverse". As the NTR Report identifies, 
a cumulative impact of 6.9% was assessed not to be "significantly adverse" in the Scotch 
Corner inquiry, in the context of a centre in "good health and with a high level of vitality 
and viability". However, in refusing planning permission for an extension to the Mall at 
Cribbs Causeway the Secretary of State considered the impact of 6.4% would "be likely 
to result in a significant adverse impact on the vitality and viability of Bristol city centre", 
despite the city centre being judged to be overall "a vital and viable shopping centre." It is 
notable that in both of those cases, the centres were judged by contrast to be in good 
health, and the impact assessed was lower than any of the impacts forecast by NTR. We 
agree with NTR's conclusion that the cumulative impact of the DGDO on Grantham and 
Newark would be significantly adverse. 

4.7 Accordingly, we consider that not only does the NTR Report demonstrate that the RIA 
Update fails to properly assess the impact of the DGDO, but that the impacts of the 
DGDO are such that the application must be refused. When the implications of the new 
Class E, and the impact of Covid on shopping habits and confidence3, and the economy, 
are factored in, the risk the DGDO would pose to Grantham and Newark only deepens. 

5. Impact on planned investment: the FHSF  

5.1 We understand that following advice from Stantec, SKDC asked the applicant to provide 
a commentary on how the DGDO may impact the FHSF award of £5.56m for the town 
centre. 

5.2 We are disappointed to note that the applicant and FG have adopted their own 
interpretation of what the award is for in their letter of 4 February 2021 (the "FHSF 
Letter"). As an out-of-town retailer with no town centre interests (unlike Buckminster), the 
applicant has no incentive to secure the viability of the town centre. Downtown, which 
currently hosts retail outlet "Boundary Mill" which competes directly with town centre 
retailers4, contributes to the expenditure leakage which the FHSF is seeking to address, 
and is therefore fundamentally incompatible with SKDC's objectives for the award. 

5.3 On page two of the FHSF Letter, FG specifically reference InvestSK's "Grantham Future 
High Street Fund Film" and state that that film notes the "opportunities to maximise 

 
3 See our December Objection in respect of the impact of Class E and Covid, and the NTR Report for further 
detail on changing shopper habits, for example the increase in SFT. 
4 We understand that the wide range of goods on offer have put Grantham town centre retailing at a 
disadvantage for years. 

248



7 
 
 
 
 
 

UKMATTERS:60955887.2 
 

 

driving people towards Grantham and its wider area." This is not the case. The film very 
specifically and repeatedly refers to the need to "drive people into the town centre", not 
the "wider area". Further, FG state that one of the three areas the FHSF award focuses 
on is "strengthening external links to the Town Centre, notably the station and the A1." 
The documents we have seen, and the presentation by InvestSK available on Youtube, 
do not refer to the strengthening of the A1 as a focus of the FHSF: the comment 
therefore appears to be a fabrication. 

5.4 Further, FG states that it does not "consider that the proposals cause significant adverse 
impact to the aspirations within the Town Centre outlined in the FHSF, especially when a 
key part of the bid is repurposing retail space towards other uses." This fails to recognise 
the objective of repurposing some existing retail space. The intention is not to remove 
retail uses from the town centre, it is to drive people to the town centre through other 
uses (e.g. residential, expected mainly in the upper floors of properties which retain a 
retail use at ground floor level) so that the town centre is literally on their doorstep.  

5.5 The applicant's own calculations, which for the reasons we have detailed in the past and 
in this letter are seriously flawed, predict a retail impact on Grantham of 5.7%. NTR's 
calculations predict an impact of 7.03% - 9.79% and this is before the true impact of the 
pandemic has been felt due to government measures such as rent moratoriums and 
furlough. It is therefore preposterous of the applicant to argue that the DGDO will help to 
claw back expenditure leakage and "enhance opportunities" and we even note that the 
impact of proposed out-of-town retail is listed as a threat to the town centre in the SWOT 
analysis commissioned by InvestSK5.  

6. Conclusion 

6.1 The core concerns we and our client share regarding the DGDO remain unchanged since 
the application was first submitted in November 2017. At the time of the original 
committee decision in February 2019 we expressed through correspondence with SKDC 
and the Ministry for Housing, Community & Local Government our view that the 
resolution to grant was a mistake, and one that committee members would live to regret if 
permission was ultimately granted. 

6.2 In the 26 months since that resolution circumstances have changed such that the DGDO 
becomes an ever-greater threat to Grantham, Newark and other town centres in the PCA 
and SCA. The applicant has persisted in failing to engage with SKDC's new Local Plan, 
(and in particular the role the Local Plan recognises the GDOV has in realising its policy 
objectives) the consequences of Covid on town centre health and shopping habits, and 
the need to comprehensively update the application documents, including the baseline 
data and design year forecasts. 

6.3 In the absence of a proper RIA, NTR have prepared the NTR Report which demonstrates 
that the impact of the DGDO on Grantham and Newark would be significantly adverse. 
The existence of the FHSF grant emphasises the need to properly consider the impact of 
the DGDO on Grantham and whether it is appropriate to spend taxpayers' money 
reviving a town centre, whilst at the same time granting a scheme which threatens that 
town centre's viability. 

6.4 For the reasons expressed in our and Rioja's past correspondence and the Ken Gunn 
Report, the DGDO will not function as a Tier 1 designer outlet, and the draft section 106 
agreement fails to limit the DGDO to operating as a Tier 1 designer outlet only. In any 

 
5 See page 22 of the "Grantham Future High Street Fund (FHSF) Town Centre Spatial Masterplan" prepared for 
InvestSK in March 2020. 

249



8 
 
 
 
 
 

UKMATTERS:60955887.2 
 

 

event, a Tier 1 designer outlet at Downtown would offer no benefits beyond those that will 
be brought by the GDOV as only one Tier 1 designer outlet at Grantham can survive. 
Further, the NTR Report demonstrates that if the DGDO was delivered as a Tier 1 
designer outlet, the impact on Grantham and Newark would nonetheless be significantly 
adverse and accordingly the application must be refused. 

6.5 We look forward to receiving the advice provided by Stantec prior to the August 2020 
submission documents, and the latest advice from Stantec and Barton Willmore in due 
course. 

6.6 Should you have any questions in relation to the above, please do not hesitate to contact 
Joanna Bassett of this firm, or Niall Roberts in relation to the NTR Report. 

Yours sincerely, 

Taylor Wessing LLP 
*Sent electronically on behalf of Taylor Wessing LLP 

Enc. The NTR Report 

250



 1  

 

Appendix E – CIL Regulation 122 compliance table 

S106 item Purpose  Detail Reg 122 
assessment - 
necessary to 
make the 
development 
acceptable 

Reg 122 
assessment -   
directly related to 
the development 

Reg 122 
assessment – 
fairly and 
reasonably 
related in scale 
and kind 

Trigger 

Provision of a 
Training 
Academy on site 
or a contribution 
to support the 
delivery of a 
training scheme 
targeted at 
assisting 
residents of the 
District to 
develop the skills 
and experience 
required to 
secure a job or 
apprenticeship in 
the retail or 
fashion or leisure 
industry 

Provision of a 
Training 
Academy or 
payment of 
training scheme 
funding will help 
expand the 
number of local 
residents with 
relevant skills 
helping to 
mitigate the 
pressure on the 
local labour 
market and help 
to address 
unemployment 
levels and skills 
issues especially 
those between 
the ages 18 and 
24. 

Provision of a Training 
Academy or funding of a 
training package in 
conjunction with 
Grantham College or 
another training provider.  

If the Training Academy is 
not provided funding of 
£65,000 with payment 
spread over three years 
with first payment due 12 
months from 
commencement of the 
development or such 
other time limit as may be 
agreed with the Council 
(the end date). 

The obligation 
accords with 
SKDC's planning 
obligations SPD 
and Local Plan 
Policies SD1, SP1 
and SP2.  The 
contribution 
accords with 
relevant 
development plan 
policies together 
with the NPPF 
including para 81 
(supporting 
economic growth 
through the 
planning system).   

The obligation will 
provide the 
opportunity for 
learners to develop 
the skills and 
experience needed 
to secure a job or 
apprenticeship in 
the retail, fashion 
or leisure industry, 
and is in 
compliance with 
the planning 
obligations SPD. It 
is intended that the 
obligation would 
assist local 
residents to 
develop the skills 
required to take 
advantage of 
employment 
opportunities at the 
DOC and stimulate 
the take up of 
apprenticeships by 
DOC retail and 
leisure tenants. 

The obligation is 
fairly and 
reasonably 
related in scale 
and kind to the 
development 
because it 
secures an 
appropriate level 
of contribution 
towards skills and 
learning in 
proportion to the 
level of 
employment 
opportunities 
likely to be 
generated by the 
DOC and staffing 
requirements,  
and the obligation 
will play its part in 
meeting policy 
objectives for 
economic growth 
such as those in 
Local Plan 

Provision of the 
Training Academy 
(ready for 
occupation) within 
30 months  of 
commencement 
(unless extended) 
or a financial 
contribution of 
£65,000 payable  

£21,450 12 
months from 
commencement of 
development or 
such other time as 
agreed with the 
Council (the end 
date), 

£21,450 on or 
before the first 
anniversary of the 
end date  

£22,100 on or 
before the third 
anniversary of the 
end date. 

251



 2  

 

Policies SD1, SP1 
and SP2.  

 

Town Centre 
improvements to 
encourage linked 
trips 

Encourage 
linked trips by 
visitors to the 
DOC to visit and 
spend in the 
town centre.   

Initiatives delivered 
directly by the 
development  
(a) Provision of 
minimum 62 sq. metres 
within the DOC Tourist 
and Visitor Information 
Centre for the purposes of 
supporting tourism 
initiatives, to promote 
town centre events and to 
encourage tourists and 
visitors to extend their 
stay and visit Grantham 
town centre and the 
surrounding area. To be 
provided for the duration 
of the development in 
accordance with a 
scheme approved by the 
Local Planning Authority.  

The proposal will 
impact on the 
town centre.  The 
proposal  is also 
considered to 
have wider 
benefits. It is 
proposed to 
mitigate the 
impacts and 
secure the wider 
benefits of linked 
trips through the 
identified package 
of measures.   

Local Plan 
Objective 4 
states: “ To 
strengthen the 
economic vitality 
and viability of 
town centres by 
adapting to 
changing 
consumer 
patterns in 
shopping, living 
and leisure.” 

The proposal will 
impact on the town 
centre. The 
proposal will attract 
a large number of 
visitors to the DOC.  
It is intended that a 
proportion of them 
will also visit and 
spend in Grantham 
Town centre and 
thus increase its 
footfall allowing 
existing retailers to 
provide better 
services to local 
people. Further, the 
measures will 
provide the 
opportunity for 
promoting the town 
centre to achieve 
the intended 
benefits of linked 
trips. 

The initiatives are 
fairly and 
reasonably 
related in scale 
and kind to the 
Grantham DOC. 
The development 
will impact on the 
town centre and 
the measures are 
required in order 
to achieve the 
identified benefits 
from linked trips in 
a proportionate 
manner. 

Scheme to be 
approved before 
occupation of the 
development. 
Ongoing 
requirement to 
deliver obligation 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  (b) A dedicated “pop up 
shop” (minimum size 90 
sq. metres gross internal 
area) or similar display 

The Local Plan 
acknowledges in 
3.24 that  part of 
Grantham town 

  Scheme to be 
approved before 
occupation  

252



 3  

 

area for the purposes of 
showcasing Grantham 
town centre retailers and 
Grantham events etc. on 
a rotating basis. To be 
provided for the duration 
of the development in 
accordance with a 
scheme approved by the 
Local Planning Authority. 

centre’s under 
achievement is 
due to significant 
expenditure 
leakage into 
centres such as 
Peterborough, 
Nottingham and  
Leicester. 

Ongoing 
requirement to 
deliver obligation 

  (c)  requirement to 
submit a scheme for the 
delivery of 
improvements to the 
existing Bus Service 
between the 
Development and the 
Town Centre to the 
District Council for 
approval prior to the 
Occupation of the 
Development, where 
the details of such 
scheme shall include 
the following: 

The proposed timetable 
for the improved Bus 
Services, which shall 
operate for a minimum of 
three years (from first 
occupation) at a minimum 
frequency of: 

(i) One service every 
30 minutes during the 
peak am and pm periods  

Local Plan Policy 
ID2 states that: “ 
New development 
will be required to 
contribute to 
transport 
improvements in 
line with 
appropriate 
evidence, including 
the Infrastructure 
Delivery Schedule, 
the Local Transport 
Plan and local 
transport 
strategies.” 

Policy ID2 c states 
proposals should:  
“Seek to generate 
or support the level 
of demand required 
to improve, 
introduce or 
maintain public 
transport services, 
such as rail and 
bus services”; 

  Scheme to be 
approved before 
occupation of the 
development.  

Improvements to 
the Bus service to 
be secured before 
occupation of first 
unit 253



 4  

 

(ii) One service every 
60 minutes during the off 
peak periods  

The proposed route of 
the Bus Service, which 
shall link the 
Development with 
Grantham Town Centre 
(peak services and off 
peak services). 

A requirement for Bus 
Service Security to ensure 
that in the event that the 
enhanced Bus Service is 
not fully delivered the 
Council can call upon the 
security as appropriate to 
help secure the bus 
service 

Some of the 
benefits of the DOC 
scheme rely upon 
creating linked trips 
to Grantham 
centre.  

In order to achieve 
the increased 
visitor footfall some 
of the issues that 
currently deter 
visitors from visiting 
the town centre 
need to be 
addressed.  

The initiatives 
accord with SKDC's 
planning obligations 
supplementary 
planning 
documents (2012), 
namely: Paragraph 
1.2.3 which lists 
possible initiatives 
(page 5); Table1b:  

Contributions 
Threshold Guide 
(Commercial) (page 
12), 1.9.1 (page 13) 
and paragraph 
2.3.31 (page 42). 

  Initiatives delivered by 
the Local Authority 
using funding secured 
from the development  

   

254



 5  

 

(total financial 
contributions of £480,000 
to be paid for the 
purposes set out in the 
table below). 

  (a) £30,000 towards 
improvements to car 
parking signage and 
directions in Grantham 
town centre to facilitate 
linked trips by car. To be 
paid 12 months after start 
on site.  

  12 months from 
commencement of 
development and 
in any event prior 
to first occupation 

  (b) £150,000 contribution 
towards Town Centre live 
car parking availability 
interactive signage at five 
car parking sites including 
installation and 
maintenance costs. To be 
paid 12 months after start 
on site.  

  12 months from 
commencement of 
development and 
in any event prior 
to first occupation 

  (c) £75,000 towards 
promoting activities aimed 
at tourists within the town 
centre (events, festivals, 
markets etc).  

  First occupation 

  (d) £150,000  towards 
other physical 
improvements to make 
Grantham town centre 
more attractive as a linked 
destination (eg pedestrian 
way finding signage,  

  First occupation 

255



 6  

 

public realm 
improvements, 
improvements to the 
railway station, the shop 
front improvement 
scheme, improvements to 
attractions within the town 
centre such as signage 
for heritage assets etc). 

  (e) £75,000 contribution 
towards the town centre 
tourism manager given 
number of visitors to 
district as result of DOC.  

  First occupation 

Travel Plan  In considering 
development 
proposals within 
the District, 
SKDC will 
ensure that the 
objectives of the 
most recent local 
transport plan for 
Lincolnshire are 
met.  

Local Plan 
Objective 8 
“seeks to retain 
and improve 
accessibility for 
all to 
employment and 
leisure activities” 

Implement the Travel 
Plan.  Comply with 
ongoing requirements as 
to implementation of 
measures, monitoring 
and periodic review.  

Ongoing future target of 
10% reduction in car 
travel over a 5 year 
period.  

The delivery of a 
Travel Plan is 
necessary to 
accord with SKDC’s 
planning obligations 
SPD (2012) and 
Local Plan Policy 
ID2. 

The 
implementation of 
a Travel Plan for 
the Development is 
required to meet 
the Councils aims 
to encourage the 
creation of a 
sustainable, 
modern transport 
network across the 
district by 
promoting and 
assisting journeys 

The Travel Plan 
will contain 
measures 
specifically related 
to the 
development. It will 
encourage staff to 
consider alternative 
modes of transport 
to travel to and 
from the 
Development, in 
order to meet 
targets in reducing 
the need to travel 
by motor car. 

Planned measures 
are to be 
implemented which 
are to be monitored 

The Travel Plan 
has been 
prepared to 
specifically relate 
to the scale and 
form of 
development and 
the measures are 
prepared to 
minimise the 
transport impact 
of the 
development.  

To be 
implemented from 
first occupation 

256



 7  

 

by public transport, 
cycling, mobility 
aids and walking, 
by making them 
accessible, safe, 
convenient and as 
attractive as 
possible. 

against the agreed 
targets. 

Occupancy 
requirements for 
Class A1 retail 
units 

Controls on 
occupancy of 
the Class A1 
retail units to 
ensure that the 
designer outlet 
element of the 
development 
operates as a 
Designer Outlet 
Centre only and 
is occupied by 
permitted 
retailers  with 
appropriate 
controls relating 
to those 
retailers within 
the DOC or the 
Existing 
Building who 
occupy space in 
specified 
centres and 
thus reduce 
adverse impacts 
on those town 
centres. 

The occupancy 
requirements would be as 
follows: 

(a) No Class A1 unit shall 
be occupied other than by 
a permitted retailer.  A 
permitted retailer will be a 
retailer / brand on an 
agreed list. The list has 
been generated by 
reference to the Javelin 
Group Venuescore 
Rankings to ensure the 
retailers are suitable tier 
one outlet village. The 
restriction will allow for the 
list of potential occupiers 
to be expanded (to be 
approved by the LPA) 
where specific criteria are 
met. 

In addition to the criteria 
at (a): 

(b) No Class A1 unit shall 
be occupied by a 
permitted retailer which 

To ensure high 
end occupiers as 
proposed by the 
application which 
do not directly 
compete with 
existing  town 
centre retailers 
and to control 
retail occupiers of 
the development, 
without which, 
retailers who are 
currently located in 
the identified town 
centre could 
relocate to the 
outlet village 
resulting in an 
adverse effect on 
the vitality and 
viability of the town 
centre. 

This restriction on 
the type of retailer 
who can occupy the 
new retail units at 
the outlet village 
only relates to the 
outlet village itself. 

Without this 
restriction on the 
occupiers there 
would be a risk 
that current 
retailers in the 
town centre 
would relocate to 
the outlet village 
resulting in an 
adverse effect on 
the town centre. 
A mechanism for 
review will form 
part of the 
obligation 

 

257



 8  

 

occupies a retail unit in 
Grantham town centre, 
Newark or Balderton as 
at the date of the section 
106 agreement; as at the 
date of the intended 
occupation; or within a 
period six months prior to 
the intended date of 
occupation unless that 
permitted retailer has 
entered into a binding 
commitment with the 
Owner to retain their 
presence as a retailer 
within that town centre (to 
be submitted to and 
approved by the Local 
Planning Authority). Such 
binding commitment shall 
require the retailer to 
continue to operate from 
Grantham town centre, 
Newark or Balderton for a 
period of five years from 
first occupation of a unit 
by that retailer within the 
DOC. 

The occupancy 
restrictions above would 
not apply to the proposed 
“pop up shop” in the 
development. 

The obligation will include 
monitoring arrangements 

258



 9  

 

to ensure the obligation 
can be enforced. 

Restrictions on 
the existing 
Downtown Store 

1. Restrict the 
existing 
floorspace in 
order to prevent 
any significant 
increase in the 
proportion of 
floorspace that 
can be used for 
the sale of 
nonbulky goods 

A total area equivalent to 
3,149 sqm of the existing 
floorspace in the 
Downtown/ Boundary Mill 
building shall be restricted 
to use only for the sale of 
bulky goods and 
homeware, restaurant or 
storage uses. 

To ensure that the 
existing store 
operates at it 
currently does in 
line with the Retail 
Impact 
Assessment 
submitted in 
support of this 
planning 
application. 

To ensure that the 
area of bulky 
goods floorspace 
released as part of 
the approval of the 
new @Home store 
is not used for the 
sale of other non-
bulky comparison 
goods which could 
result in a greater 
adverse impact on 
Grantham Town 
Centre 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The restricted 
floorspace relates 
directly to the area 
currently available 
in the existing store 
and being used for 
the sale of bulk 
goods. 

The obligation is 
fairly and 
reasonably 
related in scale 
and kind to the 
development 
because the 
restricted 
floorspace only 
relates to the 
existing 
floorspace 
available in the 
existing store and 
currently used for 
the sale of bulk 
goods. 

From 
commencement of 
the development 

259



 10  

 

 

 2. Prevent use 
of floorspace for 
convenience 
retail goods 
(other than 5% 
of floorspace 
that can be 
used for sale of 
ancillary goods) 

3. Control 
users/occupiers 
of the existing 
Downtown store 
in the same way 
as the control 
on uses of the 
proposed DOC 
through the “no 
poaching” 
obligation at 
limb (b) above 
(Occupancy 
requirements for 
Class A1 retail 
units 

None of the floorspace 
shall be used for 
convenience retail goods 

 

 

 

 

The occupiers shall be 
controlled as per limb (b) 
above (Occupancy 
requirements for Class A1 
retail units) 

To ensure that the 
operation of the 
proposed 
development and 
the existing store 
do not adversely 
impact the vitality 
and viability of 
nearby town 
centres in 
accordance with 
the requirements 
of the NPPF and 
Local Plan 
Objective 4. 

The proposed 
development will 
operate in 
conjunction with the 
existing retail 
operations on site.  
This obligation is 
required in order to 
ensure that the 
combined existing 
and proposed 
development does 
not impact on the 
vitality and viability 
of nearby centres. 

The obligation is 
fairly and 
reasonably 
related in scale 
and kind to the 
development 
because it only 
seeks to avoid 
direct competition 
with existing town 
centre locations. 

 

Prevent any 
future 
subdivision of 
the existing 
Downtown / 
Boundary Mill 
store into smaller 
retail units 

Restrict any 
future 
subdivision of 
the existing store 
in order to 
protect the 
vitality and 
viability of 
Grantham, 
Newark and 

Restrict any future 
subdivision of the existing 
store so that no retail unit 
within the building can be 
less than 929 sqm in size. 

To ensure that the 
operation of the 
proposed 
development and 
the existing store 
do not adversely 
impact the vitality 
and viability of 
nearby town 
centres in 

The proposed 
development will 
operate in 
conjunction with the 
existing retail 
operations on site.  
This obligation is 
required in order to 
ensure that the 
combined existing 

The obligation is 
fairly and 
reasonably 
related in scale 
and kind to the 
development 
because it only 
seeks to avoid 
direct competition 
for smaller retail 

From 
commencement of 
development 

260



 11  

 

 

Balderton 
Centres   

accordance with 
the requirements of 
the NPPF and 
Local Plan 
Objective 4. 

and proposed 
development does 
not impact on the 
vitality and viability 
of nearby centres. 

units which would 
be better located 
within existing 
town centre 
locations. 

 
Further restrictions to control use - The planning regime allows for certain changes of use without the need for an application for planning permission, 
either through permitted development rights or through operation of the Use Classes Order. In this case, it is considered necessary to disapply the operation 
of certain permitted development rights and the Use Classes Order to ensure that certain changes of use cannot occur. In order to achieve this, a series of 
conditions and S106 planning obligations are proposed to control and restrict the uses of certain parts of the development (and existing Downtown store) so 
as to ensure that the scheme that is delivered is consistent with that which has been assessed. 

261



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Application S17/2155
	Appendix A
	Appendix D1
	Appendix D2

	Appendix B
	Appendix C
	Appendix D
	Appendix C 1
	Appendix C 2
	Appendix C 3
	Appendix C 4
	Appendix C 5
	1. Introduction�
	2. FOIA/EIR Request�
	3. The relevance of the GDOV as a material consideration when determining the application�
	4. The correct application of the sequential test�
	5. Further concerns with the revised application documents�
	5.2 The construction timetable and design year forecasts�

	6. Impact of the new Class E�
	7. The need for the application documents to be updated to take into account the impact of COVID-19 on town centres within the PCA and SCA�
	8. Non-poaching�
	9. Conclusion�

	Appendix C 6
	1. Introduction�
	2. Response to the Fisher German Letter dated 14 August 2020 (the "FG Letter")�
	3. Comments on the ES Review Response�
	3.1 Design year forecasts and construction timetable�
	3.5 2017 baseline highways data�
	3.8 Retail impact updates following advice from Stantec�

	4. Findings of the NTR Report�
	5. Impact on planned investment: the FHSF�
	6. Conclusion�


	Appendix E




